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India 1s a pluralist society that creates magic with democracy, rule of law and individual freedom,
community relations and [cultural] diversity. What a place to be an intellectual! . . . I wouldn’t mind
being born ten times to rediscover India.

Rogert Brackwiie, departing US ambassador, in 2003

Nobody could be more conscious than I am of the pitfalls which lie in the path of the man who wants
to discover the truth about contemporary India.

NiraAD CHAUDHURI,

The Autobiography of an Unknown Indian (1950)
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Prologue



Unnatural Nation

I

Because they are so many, and so various, the people of India are also divided. It appears to have
always been so. In the spring of 1827 the poet Mirza Asadullah Khan Ghalib set out on a journey from
Delhi to Calcutta. Six months later he reached the holy Hindu city of Banaras. Here he wrote a poem
called ‘Chirag-i-Dair’ (Temple Lamps), which contains these timeless lines:

Said I one night to a pristine seer

(Who knew the secrets of whirling Time),
‘Sir, you well perceive,

That goodness and faith,

Fidelity and love

Have all departed from this sorry land.
Father and son are at each other’s throat;
Brother fights brother. Unity

and Federation are undermined.

Despite these ominous signs

Why has not Doomsday come?

Why does not the Last Trumpet sound?
Who holds the reins of the Final Catastrophe?’!

Ghalib’s poem was composed against the backdrop of the decline of the Mughal Empire. His home
territory, the Indo-Gangetic plain, once ruled by a single monarch, was now split between contending
chiefdoms and armies. Brother was fighting brother; unity and federation were being undermined. But
even as he wrote, a new (and foreign) power was asserting its influence across the land in the form of
the British, who were steadily acquiring control of the greater part of the subcontinent. Then in 1857
large sections of the native population rose up in what the colonialists called the Sepoy Mutiny and
Indian nationalists later referred to as the First War of Indian Independence.

Some of the bloodiest fighting was in Ghalib’s home town, Delhi — still nominally the capital of
the Mughals and in time to become the capital of the British Raj as well. His own sympathies were
divided. He was the recipient of a stipend from the new rulers, yet a product of Mughal culture and
refinement. He saw, more clearly than the British colonialist did then or the Indian nationalist does
now, that it was impossible here to separate right from wrong, that horrible atrocities were being
committed by both sides. Marooned in his home, he wrote a melancholy account of how ‘Hindustan
has become the arena of the mighty whirlwind and the blazing fire’. ‘To what new order can the
Indian look with joy?’ he asked.2

An answer to this question was forthcoming. After the events of 1857 the Crown took over
control of the Indian colonies. A sophisticated bureaucracy replaced the somewhat ad-hoc and
haphazard administration of the old East India Company. New districts and provinces were created.



The running of the state was overseen by the elite cadre of the Indian Civil Service supported by
departments of police, forests, irrigation, etc. Much energy (and money) was spent on building a
railway network that criss-crossed the land. This contributed enormously to the unity of British India,
as well as to its stability, for now the rulers could quickly move troops to forestall any repeat of
1857.

II

By 1888 the British were so solidly established in India that they could anticipate, if not a thousand-
year Raj, at least a rule that extended well beyond their own lifetimes. In that year a man who had
helped put the Raj in place gave a series of lectures in Cambridge which were later published in
book form under the simple title /ndia. The man was Sir John Strachey. Strachey had spent many
years in the subcontinent, ultimately becoming amember of the Governor General’s Council. Now in
retirement in England, he set his Indian experience against the background of recent political
developments in Europe.

Large chunks of Strachey’s book are taken up by an administrative history of the Raj; of its army
and civil services, its land and taxation policies, the peculiar position of the ‘native states’.This was
a primer for those who might work in India after coming down from Cambridge. But there was also a
larger theoretical argument to the effect that ‘India’ was merely alabel of convenience, ‘a name which
we give to a great region including a multitude of different countries’.

In Strachey’s view, the differences between the countries of Europe were much smaller than
those between the ‘countries’ of India. ‘Scotland is more like Spain than Bengal is like the Punjab.’ In
India the diversities of race, language and religion were far greater. Unlike in Europe, these
‘countries’ were not nations; they did not have a distinct political or social identity. This, Strachey
told his Cambridge audience, ‘is the first and most essential thing to learn about India — that there is
not, and never was an India, or even any country of India possessing, according to any European
ideas, any sort of unity, physical, political, social or religious’.

There was no Indian nation or country in the past; nor would there be one in the future. Strachey
thought it ‘conceivable that national sympathies may arise in particular Indian countries’, but ‘that
they should ever extend to India generally, that men of the Punjab, Bengal, the North-western
Provinces, and Madras, should ever feel that they belong to one Indian nation, is impossible. You
might with as much reason and probability look forward to a time when a single nation will have
taken the place of the various nations of Europe.’3

Strachey’s remarks were intended as a historical judgement. At the time, new nations were
vigorously identifying themselves within Europe on the basis of a shared language or territory,
whereas none of the countries that he knew in India had displayed a comparable national awakening,
But we might also read them as a political exhortation, intended to stiffen the will of those in his
audience who would end up in the service of the Raj. For the rise of every new ‘nation’ in India
would mean a corresponding diminution in the power and prestige of Empire.

Ironically, even as he spoke Strachey’s verdict was being disputed by a group of Indians. These
had set up the Indian National Congress, a representative body that asked for a greater say for natives
in the running of their affairs. As the name suggests, this body wished to unite Indians across the
divisions of culture, territory, religion, and language, thus to construct what the colonialist thought
inconceivable — namely, a single Indian nation.



Very many good books have been written on the growth of the Indian National Congress, on its
move from debating club through mass movement to political party, on the part played by leaders such
as Gokhale, Tilak and (above all) Gandhi in this progression. Attention has been paid to the building
of bridges between linguistic communities, religious groupings and castes. These attempts were not
wholly successful, for low castes and especially Muslims were never completely convinced of the
Congress’s claims to be a truly ‘national’ party. Thus it was that when political independence finally
came 1n 1947 1t came not to one nation, but two — India and Pakistan.

This 1s not the place to rehearse the history of Indian nationalism.2 I need only note that from the
time the Congress was formed right up to when India was made free — and divided — there were
sceptics who thought that Indian nationalism was not a natural phenomenon at all. There were, of
course, British politicians and thinkers who welcomed Indian self-rule and, in their own way, aided
its coming into being. (One of the prime movers of the Indian National Congress was a colonial
official of Scottish parentage, A. O. Hume.) Yetthere were many others who argued that, unlike
France or Germany or Italy, there was here no national essence, no glue to bind the people and take
them purposively forward. From this perspective stemmed the claim that it was only British rule that
held India and the Indians together.

Among those who endorsed John Strachey’s view that there could never be an independent
Indian nation were writers both famous and obscure. Prominent in the first category was Rudyard
Kipling, who had spen this formative years in — and was to write some of his finest stories about — the
subcontinent. In November 1891 Kipling visited Australia, where a journalist asked him about the
‘possibility of self-government in India’. ‘Oh no!” he answered: ‘They are 4,000 years old out there,
much too old to learn that business. Law and order is what they want and we are there to give it to
them and we give it them straight.’s

Where Kipling laid emphasis on the antiquity of the Indian civilization, other colonialists
stressed the immaturity of the Indian mind to reach the same conclusion: namely, that Indians could
not govern themselves. A cricketer and tea planter insisted, after forty years there, that

[c]haos would prevail in India if we were ever so foolish to leave the natives to run their own
show. Ye gods! What a salad of confusion, of bungle, of mismanagement, and far worse, would
be the instant result.

These grand people will go anywhere and do anything if led by us.

Themselves they are still infants as regards governing or statesmanship. And their so-called
leaders are the worst of the lot.¢

Views such as these were widely prevalent among the British in India, and among the British at home
as well. Politically speaking, the most important of these ‘Stracheyans’ was undoubtedly Winston
Churchill. In the 1940s, with Indian independence manifestly round the corner, Churchill grumbled
that he had not become the King’s first minister in order to preside over the liquidation of the British
Empire.

A decade previously he had tried to rebuild a fading political career on the plank of opposing
self-government for Indians. After Gandhi’s ‘salt satyagrafra’ of 1930 in protest against taxes on
salt, the British government began speaking with Indian nationalists about the possibility of granting
the colony dominion status. This was vaguely defined, with no timetable set for its realization. Even
so, Churchill called the idea ‘not only fantastic in itself but criminally mischievous in its effects’.
Since Indians were not fit for self-government, it was necessary to marshal ‘the sober and resolute



forces of the British Empire’ to stall any such possibility.

In 1930 and 1931 Churchill delivered numerous speeches designed to work up, in most unsober
form, the constituency opposed to independence for India. Speaking to an audience at the City of
London in December 1930, he claimed that if the British left the subcontinent, then ‘an army of white
janissaries, officered if necessary from Germany, will be hired to secure the armed ascendancy of the
Hindu’. Three months later, speaking at the Albert Hall on ‘Our Duty to India’ — with his kinsman the
Duke of Marlborough presiding — Churchill argued that ‘to abandon India to the rule of the Brahmins
[who 1n his opinion dominated the Congress Party] would be an act of cruel and wicked negligence’.
If the British left, he predicted, then the entire gamut of public services created by them — the judicial,
medical, railway and public works departments — would perish, and ‘India will fall back quite
rapidly through the centuries into the barbarism and privations of the Middle Ages’.Z

11

A decade and a half after Winston Churchill issued these warnings, the British left India. A time of
barbarism and privation did ensue, the blame for which remains a matter of much dispute. But then
some sort of order was restored. No Germans were necessary to keep the peace. Hindu ascendancy,
such as it was, was maintained not by force of arms but through regular elections based on universal
adult franchise.

Yet, throughout the sixty years since India became independent, there has been speculation about
how long it would stay united, or maintain the institutions and processes of democracy. With every
death of a prime minister has been predicted the replacement of democracy by military rule; after
every failure of the monsoon there has been anticipated country wide famine; in every new
secessionist movement has been seen the disappearance of India as a single entity.

Among these doomsayers there have been many Western writers who, after 1947, were as likely
to be American as British. Notably, India’s existence has been a puzzle not just to casual observers or
commonsensical journalists; it has also been an anomaly for academic political science, according to
whose axioms cultural heterogeneity and poverty do not make a nation, still less a democratic one.
That India ‘could sustain democratic institutions seems, on the face of it, highly improbable’, wrote
the distinguished political scientist Robert Dahl, adding: ‘It lacks all the favourable conditions.’
‘India has a well-established reputation for violating social scientific generalizations’, wrote another
American scholar, adding: ‘Nonetheless, the findings of this article furnish grounds for skepticism
regarding the viability of democracy in India.’$

The pages of this book are peppered with forecasts of India’s imminent dissolution, or of its
descent into anarchy or authoritarian rule. Here, let me quote only a prediction by a sympathetic
visitor, the British journalist Don Taylor. Writing in 1969, by which time India had stayed united for
two decades and gone through four general elections, Taylor yet thought that

the key question remains: can India remain in one piece — or will it fragment? . . . When one
looks at this vast country and its 524 million people, the 15 major languages in use, the
conflicting religions, the many races, it seems incredible that one nation could ever emerge.

It is difficult to even encompass this country in the mind — the great Himalaya, the wide
Indo-Gangetic plain burnt by the sun and savaged by the fierce monsoon rains, the green flooded



delta of the east, the great cities like Calcutta, Bombay and Madras. It does not, often, seem like
one country. And yet there is a resilience about India which seems an assurance of survival.
There is something which can only be described as an Indian spirit.

I believe it no exaggeration to say that the fate of Asia hangs on its survival.2

The heart hoped that India would survive, but the head worried that it wouldn’t. The place was too
complicated, too confusing — a nation, one might say, that was unnatural.

In truth, ever since the country was formed there have also been many Indians who have seen the
survival of India as being on the line, some (the patriots) speaking or writing in fear, others (the
secessionists or revolutionaries) with anticipation. Like their foreign counterparts, they have come to
believe that this place i1s far too diverse to persist as a nation, and much too poor to endure as a
democracy.

IV

In the last decade of the last century I became a resident of Ghalib’s native city. I lived, however, not
in the old walled town where his family iaveli, or mansion, still stands, but in New Delhi, built as an
imperial capital by the British. As in the poet’s day, Indian was fighting Indian. On my way to work |
had to pass through Rajpath (formerly Kingsway), the road whose name and location signal the
exercise of state power. For about a mile, Rajpath runs along flat land; on either side are spacious
grounds meant to accommodate the thousands of spectators who come for the annual Republic Day
parade. The road then ascends a hill and reaches the majestic sandstone buildings known as the North
and South Blocks, which house the offices of the Government of India. The road ends in the great
house where the Viceroy of British India once lived.

By the time I moved to New Delhi the British had long departed. India was now a free and
sovereign republic. But not, it seemed, an altogether happy one. The signs of discord were
everywhere. Notably on Rajpath, where the grounds meant to be empty except on ceremonial days
had become a village of tents, each with colourful placards hung outside it. One tent might be
inhabited by peasants from the Uttarak-hand Himalaya, seeking a separate province; a second by
farmers from Maharashtra, fighting for a higher price for their produce; a third by residents of the
southern Konkan coast, urging that their language be given official recognition by inclusion in the
Eighth Schedule of the Constitution of India.

The people within these tents and the causes they upheld were ever changing. The hill peasants
might be replaced by industrial workers protesting retrenchment; the Maharashtra farmers by Tibetan
refugees asking for Indian citizenship; the Konkani speakers by Hindu monks demanding a ban on cow
slaughter.

In the early nineties, these tents were summarily dismantled by a government worried about the
impression made on foreign visitors by such open expression of dissent. Rajpath was vacated of
encroachments and the lawns restored to their former glory. But the protesters regrouped, and
relocated. They now placed themselves a mile to the north-west, next to the Jantar Mantar
observatory in Connaught Place. Here they were away from the eyes of the state, but directly in view
of the citizens who daily passed through this busy shopping district. In 1998 the police decided this
would not do either. The shanties were once again demolished, but, as a newspaper report had it, ‘as



far as the authorities are concerned, only the venue has changed — the problem persists. The squatters
are merely to be shifted to an empty plot at the Mandir Marg—Shankar Road crossing, where they are
likely to draw less attention.’10

When I lived in Delhi, in the 1990s, I wished I had the time to walk on Rajpath every day from
the first of January to the thirty-first of December, chronicling the appearance and disappearance of
the tents and their residents. That would be the story of India as told from a single street, and in a
single year. The book that is now 1n your hands follows a different method. Its narrative extends over
six decades, from 1947 to the present. However, like the book that I once intended to write — based
on a year spent walking up and down Rajpath — this too is a story, above all, of social conflicts, of
how these arise, how they are expressed, and how their resolution is sought.

These conflicts run along many axes, among which we may — for the moment — single out four as
pre-eminent. First, there is cast, a principal identity for many Indians, defining whom they might
marry, associate with and fight against. ‘Caste’ is a Portuguese word that conflates two Indian words:
jati, the endogamous group one is born into, and varna, the place that group occupies in the system of
social stratification mandated by Hindu scripture. There are four varnas, with the former
‘Untouchables’ constituting afifth (and lowest) strata. Into these varnas fit the 3,000 and more jatis,
each challenging those, in the same region, that are ranked above it, and being in turn challenged by
those below.

Then there is /language. The Constitution of India recognizes twenty-two languages as ‘official’.
The most important of these is Hindi, which in one form or another is spoken by upwards of 400
million people. Others include Telugu, Kannada, Tamil, Malayalam, Marathi, Gujarati, Oriya,
Punjabi, Bengali and Assamese, each of which is written in a distinct script and boasts many millions
of native speakers. Naturally, national unity and linguistic diversity have not always been seen to be
compatible. Indians speaking one tongue have fought with Indians who speak another.

A third axis of conflict is religion. A vast majority of the billion-plus Indians are Hindus. But
India also has the second largest population of Muslims in the world — about 140 million (only
Indonesia has more). In addition there are substantial communities of Christians, Sikhs, Buddhists,
and Jains. Since faith is as fundamental a feature of human identity as language, it should scarcely be
a surprise that Indians worshipping one variation of God have sometimes quarrelled with Indians
worshipping another.

The fourth major axis of conflict is class. India is a land of unparalleled cultural diversity but
also, less appealingly, of massive social disparities. There are Indian entrepreneurs who are
fabulously wealthy, owning huge homes in London and New York. Yet fully 26 per cent of the
country’s population, about 300 million individuals, are said to live below the official poverty line.
In the countryside there are deep inequalities in landholding; in the city, wide divergences in income.
Not unexpectedly, these asymmetries have fuelled many movements of opposition.

These axes of conflict operate both singly and in tandem. Sometimes a group professing a
particular faith also speaks a separate language. Often the low castes are the subordinate classes as
well. And to these four central axes one should perhaps add a fifth that cuts right across them: that of
gender. Here,again, India offers the starkest contrasts. A woman served as prime minister for a full
fifteen years, yet in some parts of India female infanticide is still very common. Landless labourers
are paid meagre wages, the women among them the lowest of all. Low castes face social stigma, the
women among them most of all. And the holy men of each religion tend to assign their women an
inferior position in both this world and the next. As an axis of discrimination, gender is even more
pervasive than the others, although it has not so often expressed itself in open and collective protest.



As a laboratory of social conflict the India of the twentieth century is — for the historian — at least
as interesting as the Europe of the nineteenth. In both the conflicts were produced by the conjunction
of two truly transformative processes of social change: industrialization and the making of modern
nation-states. In India the scope for contention has been even greater, given the diversity of competing
groups across religion, caste, class and language. Conflicts are also more visible in the subcontinent
since, unlike nineteenth-century Europe, contemporary India is a democracy based on adult suffrage,
with a free press and a largely independent judiciary. At no other time or place in human history have
social conflicts been so richly diverse, so vigorously articulated, so eloquently manifest in art and
literature, or addressed with such directness by the political system and the media.

One way of summarizing the history of independent India — and the contents of this book — would
be through a series of ‘conflict maps’. One might draw a map of India for each decade, with the
conflicts then prevalent marked in various colours depending on their intensity: blue for those that
democratically advance the interests of a particular group; red for those that more aggressively, yet
still non-violently, ask for a major change in the law; black for those that seek the destruction of the
Indian state by armed insurrection.

Reading these maps chronologically, one would find major variations across the decades, with
red areas becoming black, black areas becoming red, and blue and red areas becoming white, that
being the colour of those parts of India where there appears to be no major conflict at all. These maps
would present a vivid kaleidoscope of changing colours. But amid all the changes the discerning
observer would also notice that two things remain constant. The first is that the shape of the map does
not change through all its iterations. This is because no part of India has successfully /eft India. The
second is that at no time do the blue, red and black areas, taken together, anywhere approximate the
extent of the white areas of the map. Even in what were once known as its ‘dangerous decades’, much
more than 50 per cent of India was comfortably at peace with itself.

The press nowadays — broadsheet and tabloid, pink and white, Indian and Western —is chock full
of stories of India’s economic success, this reckoned to be so much at odds with its past history of
poverty and deprivation. However, the real success story of modern India lies not in the domain of
economics butin that of politics. The saluting of India’s ‘software boom’ might be premature. We do
not yet know whether this will lead to amore general prosperity among the masses. But that India is
still a single nation after sixty testing years of independence, and that it is still largely democratic —
these are facts that should compel our deeper attention. A recent statistical analysis of the relationship
between democracy and development in 135 countries found that ‘the odds against democracy in
India were extremely high’. Given its low levels of income and literacy, and its high levels of social
conflict, India was ‘predicted as [a] dictatorship during the entire period’ of the study (1950-90).
Since, in fact, it was a democracy practically the entire period studied, there was only one way to
characterize India, namely as ‘a major outlier’ .11

To explain this anomaly, this paradox, one needs perhaps to abandon the methods of statistical
social science — in which India will always be the exception to the rule — in favour of the more
primitive techniques of the narrative historian. The forces that divide India are many. This book pays
due attention to them. But there are also forces that have kept India together, that have helped
transcend or contain the cleavages of class and culture, that — so far, at least — have nullified those
many predictions that India would not stay united and not stay democratic. These moderating
influences are far less visible; it is one aim of this book to make them more so. I think it premature
now to identify them; they will become clearer as the narrative proceeds. Suffice it to say that they
have included individuals as well as institutions.



\V

‘[The] period of Indian history since 1947°, writes the political theorist Sunil Khilnani, ‘might be
seen as the adventure of apolitical idea: democracy.” Viewed thus, independent India appears as the
‘third moment in the great democratic experiment launched at the end of the eighteenth century by the
American and French revolutions’. Each of these experiments ‘released immense energies; each
raised towering expectations; and each has suffered tragic disappointments’. While the Indian
experiment is the youngest, says Khilnani, ‘its outcome may well turn out to be the most significant of
them all, partly because of its sheer human scale, and partly because of its location, a substantial
bridgehead of effervescent liberty on the Asian continent’.12

As an Indian, I would like to think that democracy in India will turn out to be ‘more significant’
than comparable experiments in the West. As a historian, I know only that it is much less studied.
There are hundreds, perhaps thousands, of books on the French and American revolutions:
biographies of their leaders famous and obscure, studies of the social background of those who
participated in them, assessments of their deepening or degradation in the decades and centuries that
followed. By contrast, the works by historians on any aspect of Indian democracy can be counted on
the fingers of one hand — or, if one is more open-minded, two.

The educationist Krishna Kumar writes that ‘for Indian children history itself comes to an end
with Partition and Independence. As a constituent of social studies, and later on as a subject in its
own right, history runs right out of content in 1947 . . . All that has happened during the last 55 years
may filter through them easly civics syllabus, popular cinema and television; history as formally
constituted knowledge of the past does not cover it.’13

If, for Indian children, history comes to an end with Independence and Partition, this is because
Indian adults have mandated it that way. In the academy, the discipline of history deals with the past,
while the disciplines of political science and sociology deal with the present. This is a conventional
and in many ways logical division. The difficulty is that in the /ndian academy the past is defined as a
single, immovable date: 15 August 1947. Thus, when the clock struck midnight and India became
independent, history ended, and political science and sociology began.

In the decades since 1947, the present has moved on. Political scientists studied the first general
election of 1952, and then the next one held five years later. Social anthropologists wrote accounts of
Indian villages in the 1950s, and then some more in the 1960s. The past, however, has stayed fixed.
By training and temperament, historians have restricted themselves to the period before
Independence. A vast literature grew — and 1s still growing — on the social, cultural, political and
economic consequences of British colonialism. A even more vast literature grew — and it too is still
growing — on the forms, functions, causes and consequences of the opposition to colonial rule.
Leading that opposition was the social reformer, spiritualist, prophet and political agitator Mohandas
Karamchand Gandhi.

Gandhi was, and remains, greatly admired by some and cordially detested by others. Much the
same could be said of the monumental edifice he opposed, the British Raj. The British finally left
India in August 1947; Gandhi was assassinated by a fellow Indian a bare five and a half months later.
That the demise of the Raj was followed so quickly by the death of its most celebrated opponent has
had a determining influence on the writing of history. One cannot say whether, 1f Gandhi had lived on
much longer, historians would have shown greater interest in the history of free India. As it turned
out, by custom and convention Indian history is seen as ‘ending’ on 15 August 1947 — although
biographers of the Mahatma are allowed a six-month extension. Thus many fine, as well as



controversial, books have been written on the last intense, conflict-filled years of British India. That
great institution, the British Raj, and that great individual, Mahatma Gandhi, continue to be of
absorbing interest to historians. But the history of independent India has remained a field mostly
untilled. If history is ‘formally constituted knowledge of the past’, then for the period since 1947 this
knowledge practically does not exist.

And yet, as this book shows, the first years of freedom were as full of dramatic interest as the
last years of the Raj. The British had formally handed over power, but authority had to be created
anew. Partition had not put an end to Hindu—Muslim conflict, nor Independence to class and caste
tension. Large areas of the map were still under the control of the Maharajas; these had to be brought
into the Indian Union by persuasion or coercion. Amidst the wreckage of a decaying empire a new
nation was being born — and built.

Of his recent history of postwar Europe, Tony Judt writes that ‘a book of this kind rests, in the
first instance, on the shoulders of other books'. He notes that ‘for the brief sixty-year period of
Europe’s history since the end of the Second World War — indeed, for this period above all — the
secondary literature in English is inexhaustible’.!# The situation in India is all too different. Here the
gaps in our knowledge are colossal. The Republic of India is a union of twenty-eight states, some
larger than France. Yet not even the bigger or more important of these states have had their histories
written. In the 1950s and 60s India pioneered a new approach to foreign policy, and to economic
policy and planning as well. Authoritative or even adequate accounts of these experiments remain to
be written. India has produced entrepreneurs of great vision and dynamism — but the stories of the
institutions they built and the wealth they created are mostly unwritten. Again, there are no proper
biographies of some of the key figures in our modern history: such as Sheikh Abdullah or Master Tara
Singh or M. G. Ramachandran, ‘provincial’ leaders each of whose province is the size of a large
European country.

Unlike a history of postwar Europe, a history of postwar India cannot simply rest on the
shoulders of other books on more specialized subjects. In matters great and small it must fill in the
blanks using materials picked up by the author. My first mentor, a very wise old civil servant named
C. S. Venkatachar, once told me that every work of history is ‘interim’, to be amplified, amended,
contested, and overthrown by works written in its wake. Despite the range of subjects it covers, this
book cannot hope to have treated any of them comprehensively. Individual readers will have their
own particular grouses; some might complain, for instance, that I have not said enough here about
tribals, others that I should have written even more pages on Kashmir.

My own hopes for this book are best expressed in the words of Marc Bloch, writing about
another country in another time:

I could liken myself to an explorer making a rapid survey of the horizon before plunging into
thickets from which the wider view is no longer possible. The gaps in my account are naturally
enormous. | have done my best not to conceal any deficiencies, whether in the state of our
knowledge in general or in my own documentation . . . When the time comes for my own work to
be superseded by studies of deeper penetration, I shall feel well rewarded if confrontation with
my false conjectures has made history learn the truth about herself.12

V1



The great Cambridge historian F. W. Maitland liked to remind his students that ‘what is now in the
past was once in the future’. There could be no better maxim for the historian, and especially the
historian of the recent past, who addresses an audience with very decided views on the subjects about
which he presumes to inform them. An American historian of the Vietnam War is read by those who
have mostly made up their minds on whether the war was just or not. A French historian of the student
movement of 1968 knows that his readers shall have forceful, if mutually contradictory, opinions
about that particular upsurge.

Those who write contemporary history know that the reader is not a passive vessel to receive
the text placed before him or her. The reader is also a citizen, a critical citizen, with individual
political and ideological preferences. These preferences direct and dictate the reader’s view of the
past, and of leaders and lawmakers most particularly. We live with the consequences of decisions
taken by modern politicians, and often presume that an alternate politician — someone modelled on
oneself — would have taken better or wiser decisions.

The furtherback we go in time, the less of a problem this 1s. Historians of the eighteenth century
seek to interpret and understand that time, and so, following them, do their readers. A biographer of
Jefferson or Napoleon can count on more frusting readers — they do not presume to know the things
those men did, or wish they should have done them differently. Here, the reader is usually happy to be
led and guided by the expert. But the biographer of John F. Kennedy or Charles de Gaulle is not so
fortunate. Some, perhaps many, potential readers already know the ‘truth’ about these men, and are
less willing to hear alternative versions of it, even if they are backed up by copious footnotes.

Contemporary historians thus face a challenge from their readers which their more backward-
looking colleagues avoid. But there is also a second, and perhaps less commonly acknowledged,
challenge. This is thatthe historian too is a citizen. The scholar who chooses to write on the
Vietnam War already has strong views on the topic. The scholar who writes on the American Civil
War would have less strong views, and one who writes on the Revolutionary War weaker views still.
For the historian as well as the citizen, the closer one gets to the present, the more judgement alone
tends to become.

In writing this book I have tried to keep Maitland’s maxim always in front of me. I have been
driven by curiosity rather than certainty, by the wish to understand rather than the desire to pass
judgement. I have sought to privilege primary sources over retrospective readings, thus to interpret an
event of, say, 1957 in terms of what was known in 1957 rather than in 2007. This book is, in the first
instance, simply an attempt to tell the modern history of one-sixth of humankind. It is an account, as
well as analysis, of the major characters, controversies, themes and processes in independent India.
However, the manner of the story’s telling has been driven by two fundamental ambitions: to pay
proper respect to the social and political diversity of India, and to unravel the puzzle that has for so
long confronted scholar and citizen, foreigner as well as native — namely, why is there an India at all?
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PART ONE



PICKING UP THE PIECES



FREEDOM AND PARRICIDE

The disappearance of the British Raj in India is at present, and must for along time be, simply
inconceivable. That it should be replaced by a native Government or Governments is the wildest
of wild dreams . . . As soon as the last British soldier sailed from Bombay or Karachi, India
would become the battlefield of antagonistic racial and religious forces . . . [and] the peaceful
and progressive civilisation, which Great Britain has slowly but surely brought into India,
would shrivel up in a night.

J. E. WeLLbon, former Bishop of Calcutta, 1915

I have no doubt that if British governments had been prepared to grant in 1900 what they refused
in 1900 but granted in 1920; or to grant in 1920 what they refused in 1920 but granted in 1940;
or to grant in 1940 what they refused in 1940 but granted in 1947 — then nine-tenths of the
misery, hatred, and violence, the imprisonings and terrorism, the murders, flogging, shootings,
assassinations, even the racial massacres would have been avoided; the transference of power
might well have been accomplished peacefully, even possibly without Partition.

Leonarp WooLr, 1967

I

Freepom came 1o Inpia On 15 August 1947, but patriotic Indians had celebrated their first
‘Independence Day’ seventeen years before. In the first week of January 1930 the Indian National
Congress passed a resolution fixing the last Sunday of the month for countrywide demonstrations in
support of purna swaraj, or complete independence. This, it was felt, would both stoke nationalist
aspirations and force the British seriously to consider giving up power. In an essay in his journal
Young India, Mahatma Gandhi set out how the day should be observed. ‘It would be good’, said the
leader, ‘if the declaration [of independence] is made by whole villages, whole cities even . . . It
would be well if all the meetings were held at the identical minute in all the places.’

Gandhi suggested that the time of the meeting be advertised in the traditional way, by drum-
beats. The celebrations would begin with the hoisting of the national flag. The rest of the day would
be spent ‘in doing some constructive work, whether it is spinning, or service of “untouchables”, or
reunion of Hindus and Mussalmans, or prohibition work, or even all these together, which is not
impossible’. Participants would take a pledge affirming that it was ‘the inalienable right of the Indian
people, as of any other people, to have freedom and to enjoy the fruits of their toil’, and that ‘if any
government deprives a people of these rights and oppresses them, the people have a further right to
alter it or abolishit’.1

The resolution to mark the last Sunday of January 1930 as Independence Day was passed in the
city of Lahore, where the Congress was holding its annual session. It was here that Jawaharlal Nehru
was chosen President of the Congress, in confirmation of his rapidly rising status within the Indian
national movement. Born in 1889, twenty years after Gandhi, Nehru was a product of Harrow and
Cambridge who had become a close protégé of the Mahatma. He was intelligent and articulate,



knowledgeable about foreign affairs, and with a particular appeal to the young.

In his autobiography Nehru recalled how ‘Independence Day came, January 26th, 1930, and it
revealed to us, as in a flash, the earnest and enthusiastic mood of the country. There was something
vastly impressive about the great gatherings everywhere, peacefully and solemnly taking the pledge of
independence without any speeches or exhortation.’2 In a press statement that he issued the day after,
Nehru ‘respectfully congratulate[d] the nation on the success of the solemn and orderly
demonstrations’. Towns and villages had ‘vied with each other in showing their enthusiastic
adherence to independence’. Mammoth gatherings were held in Calcutta and Bombay, but the
meetings in smaller towns were well attended too.2

Every year after 1930, Congress-minded Indians celebrated 26 January as Independence Day.
However, when the British finally left the subcontinent, they chose to hand over power on 15 August
1947. This date was selected by the Viceroy, Lord Mountbatten, as it was the second anniversary of
the Japanese surrender to the Allied Forces in the Second World War. He, and the politicians waiting
to take office, were unwilling to delay until the date some others would have preferred — 26 January
1948.

So freedom finally came on a day that resonated with imperial pride rather than nationalist
sentiment. In New Delhi, capital of the Raj and of free India, the formal events began shortly before
midnight. Apparently, astrologers had decreed that 15 August was an inauspicious day. Thus it was
decided to begin the celebrations on the 14th, with a special session of the Constituent Assembly, the
body of representative Indians working towards a new constitution.

The function was held in the high-domed hall of the erstwhile Legislative Council of the Ra;.
The room was brilliantly lit and decorated with flags. Some of these flags had been placed inside
picture frames that until the previous week had contained portraits of British viceroys. Proceedings
began at 11 p.m. with the singing of the patriotic hymn ‘Vande Matram’ and a two-minute silence in
memory of those ‘who had died in the struggle for freedom in India and elsewhere’. The ceremonies
ended with the presentation of the national flag on behalf of the women of India.

Between the hymn and the flag presentation came the speeches. There were three main speakers
that night. One, Chaudhry Khaliquz-zaman, was chosen to represent the Muslims of India; he duly
proclaimed the loyalty of the minority to the newly freed land. A second, the philosopher Dr
Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan, was chosen for his powers of oratory and his work in reconciling East and
West: appropriately, he praised the ‘political sagacity and courage’ of the British who had elected to
leave India while the Dutch stayed on in Indonesia and the French would not leave Indo-China.4

The star turn, however, was that of the first prime minister of free India, Jawaharlal Nehru. His
speech was rich in emotion and rhetoric, and has been widely quoted since. ‘At the stroke of the
midnight hour, when the world sleeps, India will awake to life and freedom,” said Nehru.2 This was
‘a moment which comes but rarely in history, when we step out from the old to the new, when an age
ends, and when the soul of a nation, long suppressed, finds utterance’.

This was spoken inside the columned Council House. In the streets outside, as an American
journalist reported,

bedlam had broken loose. Hindus, Muslims, and Sikhs were happily celebrating together . . . It
was Times Square on New Year’s Eve. More than anyone else, the crowd wanted Nehru. Even
before he was due to appear, surging thousands had broken through police lines and flowed right
to the doors of the Assembly building. Finally, the heavy doors were closed to prevent a
probably souvenir-hunting tide from sweeping through the Chamber. Nehru, whose face reflected



his happiness, escaped by a different exit and after a while the rest of us went out.

No event of any importance in India 1s complete without a goof-up. In this case, it was relatively
minor. When, after the midnight session at the Constituent Assembly, Jawaharlal Nehru went to
submit his list of cabinet ministers to the governor general, he handed over an empty envelope.
However, by the time of the swearing-in ceremony the missing piece of paper was found. Apart from
Prime Minister Nehru, it listed thirteen other ministers. These included the nationalist stalwarts
Vallabhbhai Patel and Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, as well as four Congress politicians of the
younger generation.

More notable perhaps were the names of those who were not from the Congress. These included
two representatives of the world of commerce and one representative of the Sikhs. Three others were
lifelong adversaries of the Congress. These were R. K. Shanmukham Chetty, a Madras businessman
who possessed one of the best financial minds in India; B. R. Ambedkar, a brilliant legal scholar and
an ‘Untouchable’ by caste; and Shyama Prasad Mookerjee, a leading Bengal politician who belonged
(at this time) to the Hindu Mahasabha. All three had collaborated with the rulers while the Congress
men served time in British jails. But now Nehru and his colleagues wisely put aside these
differences. Gandhi had reminded them that ‘freedom comes to India, not to the Congress’, urging the
formation of a Cabinet that included the ablest men regardless of party affiliation.¢

The first Cabinet of free India was ecumenical in ways other than the political. Its members
came from as many as five religious denominations (with a couple of atheists thrown in for good
measure), and from all parts of India. There was a woman, Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, as well as two
Untouchables.

On 15 August the first item on the agenda was the swearing-in of the Governor General, Lord
Mountbatten, who until the previous night had been the last viceroy. The day’s programme read:

8.30 a.m. Swearing in of governor general and ministers at Government House
9.40 a.m. Procession of ministers to Constituent Assembly
9.50 a.m. State drive to Constituent Assembly
9.55 a.m. Royal salute to governor general
10.30 a.m. Hoisting of national flag at Constituent Assembly
10.35 am. State drive to Government House
6.00 p.m. Flag ceremony at India Gate
7.00 p.m. [Iluminations
7.45 p.m. Fireworks display
8.45 p.m. Official dinner at Government House
10.15 p.m. Reception at Government House

It appeared that the Indians loved pomp and ceremony as much as the departing rulers. Across Delhi,
and in other parts of India, both state and citizen joyously celebrated the coming of Independence.
Three hundred flag-hoisting functions were reported from the capital alone. In the country’s
commercial hub, Bombay, the city’s mayor hosted a banquet at the luxurious Ta; Mahal hotel. At a
temple in the Hindu holy town of Banaras, the national flag was unfurled by, significantly, a Muslim.



In the north-eastern hill town of Shillong, the governor presided over a function where the flag was
hoisted by four young persons — two Hindu and Muslim boy/girl pairings — for ‘symbolically it is
appropriate for young India to hoist the flag of the newIndia that is being born’.

When the first, so to say fantastical, Independence Day was observed on 26 January 1930 the
crowds were ‘solemn and orderly’ (as Nehru observed). But, in 1947, when the real day of
Independence came, the feelings on display were rather more elemental. To quote a foreign observer,
everywhere, ‘in city after city, lusty crowds have burst the bottled-up frustrations of many years in an
emotional mass jag. Mob sprees have rolled from mill districts to gold coasts and back again . . .
[T]he happy, infectious celebrations blossomed in forgetfulness of the decades of sullen resentment
against all that was symbolized by a sahib’s sun-topi.’

The happenings in India’s most populous city, Calcutta, were characteristic of the mood. For the
past few years the city had been in the grip of a cloth shortage, whose signs now miraculously
disappeared in a ‘rash of flags that has broken out on houses and buildings . . ., on cars and bicycles
and in the hands of babes and sucklings’. Meanwhile, in Government House, a new Indian governor
was being sworn in. Not best pleased with the sight was the private secretary of the departing British
governor. He complained that ‘the general motley character of the gathering from the clothing point of
view detracted greatly from its dignity’. There were no dinner jackets and ties on view: only
loincloths and white Gandhi caps. With ‘the throne room full of unauthorized persons’, the ceremony
was ‘a foretaste of what was to come’ after the British had left India. Its nadir was reached when the
outgoing governor of Bengal, Sir Frederick Burrows, had a white Gandhi cap placed on his head as
he made to leave the room.

II

In Delhi there was ‘prolonged applause’ when the president of the Constituent Assembly began the
meeting by invoking the Father of the Nation — Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi. Outside, the crowds
shouted ‘Mahatma Gandhi ki jai’. Yet Gandhi was not present at the festivities in the capital. He was
in Calcutta, but did not attend any function or hoist a flag there either. The Gandhi caps were on
display at Government House with neither his knowledge nor permission. On the evening of the 14th
he was visited by the chief minister of West Bengal, who asked him what form the celebrations
should take the next day. ‘People are dying of hunger all round,” answered Gandhi. ‘Do you wish to
hold a celebration in the midst of this devastation?’Z

Gandhi’s mood was bleak indeed. When are porter from the leading nationalist paper, the
Hindustan Times, requested a message on the occasion of Independence, he replied that ‘he had run
dry’. The British Broadcasting Corporation asked his secretary to help them record a message from
the one man the world thought really represented India. Gandhi told them to talk to Jawaharlal Nehru
instead. The BBC were not persuaded: they sent the emissary back, adding, as inducement, the fact
that this message would be translated into many languages and broadcast around the globe. Gandhi
was unmoved, saying: ‘Ask them to forget I know English.’

Gandhi marked 15 August 1947 with a twenty-four-hour fast. The freedom he had struggled so
long for had come at an unacceptable price. Independence had also meant Partition. The last twelve
months had seen almost continuous rioting between Hindus and Muslims. The violence had begun on
16 August 1946 in Calcutta and spread to the Bengal countryside. From there it moved on to Bihar,
then on to the United Provinces and finally to the province of Punjab, where the scale of the violence



and the extent of the killing exceeded even the horrors that had preceded it.

The violence of August-September 1946 was, in the first instance, instigated by the Muslim
League, the party which fuelled the movement for a separate state of Pakistan. The League was led by
Mohammad Ali Jinnah, an austere, aloof man, and yet a brilliant political tactician. Like Nehru and
Gandhi, he was a lawyer trained in England. Like them, he had once been a member of the Indian
National Congress, but he had left the party because he felt that it was led by and for Hindus. Despite
its nationalist protestations, argued Jinnah, the Congress did not really represent the interests of
India’s largest minority, the Muslims.

By starting a riot in Calcutta in August 1946, Jinnah and the League hoped to polarize the two
communities further, and thus force the British to divide India when they finally quit. In this
endeavour they richly succeeded. The Hindus retaliated savagely in Bihar, their actions supported by
local Congress leaders. The British had already said that they would not transfer power to any
government ‘whose authority is directly denied by large and powerful elements in the Indian national
life’ .8 The blood shed of 1946—7 seemed to suggest that the Muslims were just such an element, who
would not live easily or readily under a Congress government dominated by Hindus. Now ‘each
communal outbreak was cited as a further endorsement of the two-nation theory, and of the
inevitability of the partition of the country’.2

Gandhi was not a silent witness to the violence. When the first reports came in from rural
Bengal, he set everything else aside and made for the spot. This 77-year-old man walked in difficult
terrain through slush and stone, consoling the Hindus who had much the worse of the riots. In a tour of
seven weeks he walked 116 miles, mostly barefoot, addressing almost a hundred village meetings.
Later he visited Bihar, where the Muslims were the main sufferers. Then he went to Delhi, where
refugees from the Punjab had begun to pour in, Hindus and Sikhs who had lost all in the carnage. They
were filled with feelings of revenge, which Gandhi sought to contain, for he was fearful that it would
lead to retributory violence against those Muslims who had chosen to stay behind in India.

Two weeks before the designated day of Independence the Mahatma left Delhi. He spent four
days in Kashmir and then took the train to Calcutta, where, a year after it began, the rioting had not yet
died down. On the afternoon of the 13th he set up residence in the Muslim dominated locality of
Beliaghata, in ‘a ramshackle building open on all sides to the crowds’, to see whether ‘he could
contribute his share in the return of sanity in the premier city of Calcutta’.

Gandhi decided simply to fast and pray on the 15th. By the afternoon news reached him of (to
quote a newspaper report) ‘almost unbelievable scenes of fraternity and rejoicing’ in some of the
worst affected areas of Calcutta. ‘While Hindus began erecting triumphal arches at the entrance of
streets and lanes and decorating them with palm leaves, banners, flags and bunting, Muslim
shopkeepers and householders were not slow in decorating their shops and houses with flags of the
Indian Dominion’. Hindus and Muslims drove through the streets in open cars and lorries, shouting
the nationalist slogan ‘Jai Hind’, to which ‘large, friendly crowds of both communities thronging the
streets readily and joyfully responded’.10

Reports of this spontaneous intermingling seem to have somewhat lifted the Mahatma’s mood.
He decided he would make a statement on the day, not to theBBC, butthrough his own preferred
means of communication, the prayer meeting. A large crowd — of 10,000 according to one report,
30,000 according to another — turned up to hear him speak at the Rash Bagan Maidan in Beliaghata.
Gandhi said he would like to believe that the fraternization between Hindus and Muslims on display
that day ‘was from the heart and not a momentary impulse’. Both communities had drunk from the
‘poison cup of disturbances’; now that they had made up, the ‘nectar of friendliness’ might taste even



sweeter. Who knows, perhaps as a consequence Calcutta might even ‘be entirely free from the
communal virus for ever’.

That Calcutta was peaceful on 15 August was a relief, and also a surprise. For the city had been
on edge in the weeks leading up to Independence. By the terms of the Partition Award, Bengal had
been divided, with the eastern wing going to Pakistan and the western section staying in India.
Calcutta, the province’s premier city, was naturally a bone of contention. The Boundary Commission
chose to allot it to India, sparking fears of violence on the eve of Independence.

Across the subcontinent there was trouble in the capital of the Punjab, Lahore. This, like
Calcutta, was a multireligious and multicultural city. Among the most majestic of its many fine
buildings was the Badshahi mosque, built by the last of the great Mughal emperors, Aurangzeb. But
Lahore had also once been the capital of a Sikh empire, and was more recently a centre of the Hindu
reform sect, the Arya Samaj. Now, like all other settlements in the Punjab, its fate lay in the hands of
the British, who would divide up the province. The Bengal division was announced before the 15th,
but an nouncement of the Punjab ‘award’ had been postponed until after that date. Would Lahore and
its neighbourhood be allotted to India, or to Pakistan?

The latter seemed more likely, as well as more logical, for the Muslims were the largest
community in the city. Indeed, a new governor had already been appointed for the new Pakistani
province of West Punjab, and had moved into Government House in Lahore. On the evening of the
15th he threw a party to celebrate his taking office.

As he later recalled, this ‘must have been the worst party ever given by anyone . . . The electric
current had failed and there were no fans and no lights. The only light which we had was from the
flames of the burning city of Lahore about half a mile away. All around the garden, there was firing
going on — not isolated shots, but volleys. Who was firing at who, no one knew and no one bothered
to ask.’L

No one bothered to ask. Not in the governor’s party, perhaps. In Beliaghata, however, Mahatma
Gandhi expressed his concern that this ‘madness still raged in Lahore’. When and how would it end?
Perhaps one could hope that ‘the noble example of Calcutta, if it was sincere, would affect the Punjab
and the other parts of India’.

11

By November 1946 the all-India total of deaths in rioting was in excess of 5,000. As an army memo
mournfully observed: ‘Calcutta was revenged in Noakhali, Noakhali in Bihar, Bihar in
Garmukteshwar, Garmukteshwar in ?7?7?7?’12

At the end of 1946 one province that had escaped the rioting was the Punjab. In office there were
the Unionists, a coalition of Muslim, Hindu and Sikh landlords. They held the peace uncertainly, for
ranged against themwere the militant Muslim Leaguers on the one side and the no less militant Sikh
political party, the Akali Dal, on the other. Starting in January, episodic bouts of violence broke out
in the cities of Punjab. These accelerated after the first week of March, when the Unionists were
forced out of office. By May the epicentre of violence had shifted decisively from the east of India to
the north-west. A statement submitted to the House of Lords said that 4,014 people were killed in
riots in India between 18 November 1946 and 18 May 1947. Of these, as many as 3,024 had died in
the Punjab alone.13

There were some notable similarities between Bengal and Punjab, the two provinces central to



the events of 1946—7. Both had Muslim majorities, and thus were claimed for Pakistan. But both also
contained many millions of Hindus. In the event, both provinces were divided, with the Muslim
majority districts going over to East or West Pakistan, while the districts in which other religious
groups dominated were allotted to India.

But there were some crucial differences between the two provinces as well. Bengal had along
history of often bloody conflict between Hindus and Muslims, dating back to (at least) the last
decades of the nineteenth century. By contrast, in the Punjab the different communities had lived more
or less in peace — there were no significant clashes on religious groundsbefore 1947. In Bengal large
sections of the Hindu middle class actively sought Partition. They were quite happy to shuftle off the
Muslim-dominated areas and make their home in or around the provincial capital. For several
decades now, Hindu professionals had been making their way to the west, along with landlords who
sold their holdings and invested the proceeds in property or businesses in Calcutta. By contrast, the
large Hindu community in the Punjab was dominated by merchants and moneylenders, bound by close
ties to the agrarian classes. They were unwilling to relocate, and hoped until the end that somehow
Partition would be avoided.

The last difference, and the most telling, was the presence in the Punjab of the Sikhs. This third
leg of the stool was absent in Bengal, where it was a straight fight between Hindus and Muslims. Like
the Muslims, the Sikhs had one book, one formless God, and were a close-knit community of
believers. Sociologically, however, the Sikhs were closer to the Hindus. With them they had a roti-
beti rishta — a relationship of inter-dining and inter-marriage — and with them they had a shared
history of persecution at the hands of the Mughals.

Forced to choose, the Sikhs would come down on the side of the Hindus. But they were in no
mood to choose at all. For there were substantial communities of Sikh farmers in both parts of the
province. At the turn of the century, Sikhs from eastern Punjab had been asked by the British to settle
areas in the west, newly served by irrigation. In a matter of a few decades they had built prosperous
settlements in these ‘canal colonies’. Why now should they leave them? Their holy city, Anritsar, lay
in the east, but Nankana Saheb (the birthplace of the founder of their religion) lay in the west. Why
should they not enjoy free access to both places?

Unlike the Hindus of Bengal, the Sikhs of Punjab were slow to comprehend the meaning and
reality of Partition. At first they doggedly insisted that they would stay where they were. Then, as the
possibility of division became more likely, they claimed a separate state for themselves, to be called
‘Khalistan’. This demand no one took seriously, not the Hindus, not the Muslims, and least of all the
British.

The historian Robin Jeffrey has pointed out that, at least until the month of August 1947, the
Sikhs were ‘more sinned against than sinning’. They had been ‘abandoned by the British, tolerated by
the Congress, taunted by the Muslim League, and, above all, frustrated by the failures of their own
political leadership . . .’4 It was the peculiar (not to say tragic) dilemma of the Sikhs that best
explains why, when religious violence finally came to the Punjab, it was so accelerated and
concentrated. From March to August, every month was hotter and bloodier than the last. Nature
cynically lent its weight to politics and history, for the monsoon was unconscionably late in coming in
1947. And, like the monsoon, the boundary award was delayed as well, which only heightened the
uncertainty.

The task of partitioning Bengal and the Punjab was entrusted to a British judge named Sir Cyril
Radcliffe. He had no prior knowledge of India (this was deemed an advantage). However, he was
given only five weeks to decide upon the lines he would draw in both east and west. It was, to put it



mildly, a very difficult job. He had, in the words of W. H. Auden, to partition a land ‘between two
people fanatically at odds / with their different diets and incompatible gods’, with ‘the maps at his
disposal . . . out of date’, and ‘the Census Returns almost certainly incorrect’.13

Radcliffe arrived in India in the first week of July. He was assigned four advisers for the
Punjab: two Muslims, one Hindu, and one Sikh. But since these fought on every point, he soon
dispensed with them. Still, as he wrote to his nephew, he knew that ‘nobody in India will love me for
the award about the Punjab and Bengal and there will be roughly 80 million people with a grievance
who will begin looking for me. I do not want them to find me . . .’1¢

On 1 August a Punjab Boundary Force was setup to control the violence. The force was headed
by a major general, T. W. ‘Pete’ Rees, a Welshman from Abergavenny. Under him were four advisers
of the rank of brigadier: two Muslims, one Hindu, and one Sikh. In his first report Rees predicted that
the boundary award ‘would please no one entirely. It may well detonate the Sikhs’.1Z This was said
on 7 August; on the 14th, the commander-in-chief of the British Indian Army, Field Marshal Sir
Claude Auchinleck, observed that ‘the delay in announcing the award of the Border Commission is
having a most disturbing and harmful effect. It is realised of course that the announcement may add
fresh fuel to the fire, but lacking the announcement, the wildest rumours are current, and are being
spread by mischief makers of whom there is no lack.’18

The rains still held off, and the temperature was a hundred degrees in the shade. This was
especially trying to Muslims, both soldiers and civilians, observing the dawn-to-dusk fast on the
occasion of Ramzan, which that year fell between 19 July and 16 August. Rees asked his Muslim
driver why the monsoon had failed, and he replied, ‘God too is displeased’.

The boundary award was finally announced on 16 August. The award enraged the Muslims, who
thought that the Gurdaspur district should have gone to Pakistan instead of India. Angrier still were
the Sikhs, whose beloved Nankana Sahib now lay marooned in an Islamic state. On both sides of the
border the brutalities escalated. In eastern Punjab bands of armed Sikhs roamed the countryside,
seeking out and slaying Muslims wherever they were to be found. Those who could escaped over the
border to West Punjab, where they further contributed to the cycle of retribution and revenge.
Muslims from Amritsar and around streamed into the (to them) safe haven of Lahore. The ‘stories of
these Refugees, oriental and biblical in exaggeration, are in deed founded on very brutal fact, and they
do not lack handless stumps etc., which they can and doparade before their fellow Muslims in Lahore
and further west . . .

According to Pete Rees’s own figures, from March to the end of July, the casualties in the
Punjab were estimated at 4,500 civilians dead and 2,500 wounded. But in the month of August alone,
casualties as reported officially by the troops were estimated at 15,000 killed, and Rees admitted that
the actual figure ‘may well have been two or three times the number'.)

The Indian prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru, was deeply worried about the Punjab troubles and
their wider repercussions. In the last fortnight of August he visited the province three times, talking to
people on either side of the border and taking aerial sorties. Nehru did not think that there was
‘anything to choose between the brutality of one side or the other. Both sides have been incredibly
inhuman and bar-barous’.l2 The adjective that Rees himself used for the savagery was ‘pre-
medieval’. In truth, it was also medieval and modern. For the arms used by the rioters ‘varied from
primitive axe, spear, and club to the most modern tommy-gun and light machine-gun’.

On 2 September the Punjab Boundary Force was disbanded. It had not been especially effective
anyway. It was hampered by the problem of dual authority: by having to report to civilian officers in
the absence of martial law. With the exit of the Punjab Boundary Force, responsibility for law and



order was now vested in the governments of India and Pakistan. The riots continued, as did the two-
way exodus. West Punjab was being cleansed of Hindus and Sikhs, East Punjab being emptied of
Muslims. The clinical even-handedness of the violence was described by the Punjab correspondent of
the respected Madras-based weekly Swatantra. He wrote of seeing

an empty refugee special steaming into Ferozepur Station late one afternoon. The driver was
incoherent with terror, the guard was lying dead in his van, and the stoker was missing. I walked
down the platform — all but two bogeys were bespattered with blood inside and out; three dead
bodies lay in pools of blood in a third-class carriage. An armed Muslim mob had stopped the
train between Lahore and Ferozepur and done this neat job of butchery in broad daylight.

There is another sight I am not likely to easily forget. A five-mile-long caravan of Muslim
refugees crawling at a snail’s pace into Pakistan over the Sutlej Bridge. Bullock-carts piled high
with pitiful chattels, cattle being driven alongside. Women with babies in their arms and
wretched little tin trunks on their heads. Twenty thousand men, women and children trekking into
the promised land — not because it is the promised land, but because bands of Hindus and Sikhs
in Faridkot State and the interior of Ferozepur district had hacked hundreds of Muslims to death
and madelife impossible for the rest.2

Ten million refugees were on the move, on foot, by bullock-cart, and by train, sometimes travelling
under army escort, at other times trusting to fate and their respective gods. Jawaharlal Nehru flew
over one refugee convoy which comprised 100,000 people and stretched for ten miles. It was
travelling from Jullundur to Lahore, and had to pass through Amritsar, where there were 70,000
refugees from West Punjab ‘in an excited state’. Nehru suggested bulldozing a road around the town,
so that the two convoys would not meet.2

This was without question the greatest mass migration in history. ‘Nowhere in known history
ha[d]the transfer of so many millions taken place in so few days’. They fled, wrote an eyewitness,

through heat and rain, flood and bitter Punjab cold. The dust of the caravans stretched low
across the Indian plains and mingled with thes cent of fear and sweat, human waste and
putrefying bodies. When the cloud of hate subsided the roll of the dead was called and five
hundred thousand names echoed across the dazed land — dead of gunshot wounds, sword, dagger
and knife slashes and others of epidemic diseases. While the largest number died of violence,
there were tired, gentle souls who looked across their plundered gardens and then lay down and
died. For what good is life when reason stops and men run wild? Why pluck your baby from the
spike or draw your lover from the murky well?22

The trouble in the province was made worse by the noticeably partisan attitude of the governor of
West Punjab, Sir Francis Mudie. He was ‘inveterate against the Congress’. Mudie thought he ‘could
govern himself. Thus he thwarts his Cabinet, above all in their attempts to bridge the gulf between
West and East Punjab, and therefore between Pakistan and India’. Tragically, no Pakistani politician
was willing to take on religious fanaticism. Whatever their private thoughts, they were unwilling to
speak out in public. As for Pakistan’s new governor general, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, he was
headquartered in the coastal city of Karachi (the country’s capital), and had ‘only visited Lahore in
purdah and most carefully guarded’. This timidity was in striking contrast to the brave defence of



their minorities by the two pre-eminent Indian politicians. Indeed, as a British observer wrote,
‘Nehru’s and Gandhi’s stock has never been so high with the Muslims of West Punjab’.2

Meanwhile, trouble had flared up once more in Bengal. There were reports of fresh rioting in
Noakhali. In Calcutta itself the peace was broken in Gandhi’s own adopted locality of Beliaghata.
Here, on 31 August, a Hindu youth was attacked by Muslims. Retaliatory violence followed and
spread. By dusk on 1 September more than fifty people lay dead. That night, Gandhi decided he
would go on a fast. ‘But how can you fast against the goondas [hooligans]?’ asked a friend. Gandhi’s
answer, according to an eyewitness, ran as follows: ‘I know I shall be able to tackle the Punjab too if
I can control Calcutta. But if I falter now, the conflagration may spread and soon. Icanseeclearly two
or three [foreign] Powers will be upon us and thus will end our short-lived dream of independence.’
‘But if you die the conflagration will be worse,” replied the friend. ‘At least I won’t be there to
witness it,” said Gandhi. ‘I shall have done my bit.’24

Gandhi began his fast on 2 September. By the next day Hindu and Muslim goondas were coming
to him and laying down their arms. Mixed processions for communal harmony took place in different
parts of the city. A deputation of prominent politicians representing the Congress, the Muslim League
and the locally influential Hindu Mahasabha assured Gandhi that there would be no further rioting.
The Mahatma now broke his fast, which had lasted three days.

The peace held, prompting Lord Mountbatten to remark famously that one unarmed man had been
more effective than 50,000 troops in Punjab. But the Mahatma and his admirers might have treasured
as much this tribute from the Statesman, a British-owned paper in Calcutta that had long opposed him
and his politics: ‘On the ethics of fasting as a political instrument we have over many years failed to
concur with India’s most renowned practitioner of it . . . But never in a long career has Mahatma
Gandhi, in our eyes, fasted in a simpler, worthier cause than this, nor one calculated for immediate
effective appeal to the public conscience.’2

On 7 September, having spent four weeks in Beliaghata, Gandhi left for Delhi. He hoped to
proceed further, to the Punjab. However, on his arrival in the capital he was immediately confronted
with tales of strife and dispossession. The Muslims of Delhi were frightened. Their homes and places
of worship had come under increasing attack. Gandhi was told that no fewer that 137 mosques had
been destroyed in recent weeks. Hindu and Sikh refugees had also forcibly occupied Muslim homes.
As a Quaker relief worker reported, ‘the Muslim population of Delhi of all classes — civil servants,
businessmen, artisans, tongawallahs, bearers — had fled to a few natural strongholds’ — such as the
Purana Qila, the greathigh-walled fort in the middle of the city, and the tomb of the Mughal emperor
Humayun. In the Purana Qila alone there were 60,000 refugees, huddled together in tents, ‘in the
corners of battlements and in the open, together with their camels and tongas and ponies, battered old
taxis and luxury limousines’ .26

Gandhi now put his Punjab programme on hold. He visited the camps in the capital and outside
it. In the plains around Delhi lived a farming community called Meos, Muslims by faith, but who had
adopted many of the practices and rituals of their Hindu neighbours. In the madness of the time this
syncretism was forgotten. Thousands of Meos were killed or driven out of their homes, whether these
lay in Indian territory or in the princely states of Alwar and Bharatpur.2Z

Through September and October, writes his biographer D. G. Tendulkar, Gandhi ‘went round
hospitals and refugee camps giving consolation to distressed people’. He ‘appealed to the Sikhs, the
Hindus and the Muslims to forget the past and not to dwell on their sufferings but to extend the right
hand of fellowship to each other, and to determine to live in peace . . .” He ‘begged of them all to
bring about peace quickly in Delhi, so that he might be able to proceed to both East and West Punjab’.



Gandhi said ‘he was proceeding to the Punjab in order to make the Mussalmans undo the wrong that
they were said to have perpetrated there [against the Hindus and the Sikhs]. But he could not hope for
success, unless he could secure justice for the Mussalmans in Delhi.’28

Gandhi also spoke at a camp of the Rash triya Swayamsevak Sangh. Founded by a Maharashtrian
doctor in 1925, the RSS was a cohesive and motivated body of Hindu young men. Gandhi himself
was impressed by their discipline and absence of caste feeling, but less so by their antagonism to
other religions. He told the RSS members that ‘if the Hindus felt that in India there was no place for
any one except the Hindus and if non-Hindus, especially Muslims, wished to live here, they had to
live as the slaves of the Hindus, they would kill Hinduism’. Gandhi could see that the RSS was ‘a
well-organized, well-disciplined body’. But, he told its members, ‘its strength could be used in the
interests of India or against it. He did not know whether there was any truth in the allegations [of
inciting communal hatred] made against the Sangha. It was for the Sangha to showby their
uniformbehaviour that the allegations were baseless.’22

Unlike Gandhi, Jawaharlal Nehru was not inclined to give the Sangh the benefit of doubt. ‘It
seems to me clear’, he told his home minister, Vallabhbhai Patel, ‘that the RSS have a great deal to
do with the disturbances not only in Delhi but elsewhere. In Amritsar their activities have been very
obvious’. Nehru’s feelings about the RSS stemmed from his deeper worries about the communal
situation. He thought that there was ‘a very definite and well-organized attempt of certain Sikh and
Hindu fascist elements to overturn the government, or at least to break up its present character. It has
been something more than a communal disturbance. Many of these people have been brutal and
callous in the extreme. They have functioned as pure terrorists.’30

The worry was the greater because the fanatics were functioning in ‘a favourable atmosphere as
far as public opinion was concerned’. In Delhi, especially, the Hindu and Sikh refugees from Pakistan
were baying for blood. But the prime minister insisted that India must be a place where the Muslims
could live and work freely. An Englishman on the governor general’s staff wrote in his diary of how
‘to see Nehru at close range during this ordeal is an inspiring experience. He vindicates one’s faith in
the humanist and the civilised intellect. Almost alone in the turmoil of communalism, with all its
variations, from individual intrigue to mass madness, he speaks with the voice of reason
andcharity.’3l

At the initiative of Gandhi and Nehru, the Congress now passed a resolution on ‘the rights of
minorities’. The party had never accepted the ‘two-nation theory’; forced against its will to accept
Partition, it still believed that ‘India is a land of many religions and many races, and must remain so’.
Whatever be the situation in Pakistan, India would be ‘a democratic secular State where all citizens
enjoy full rights and are equally entitled to the protection of the State, irrespective of the religion to
which they belong’. The Congress wished to ‘assure the minorities in India that it will continue to
protect, to the best of its ability, their citizen rights against aggression’.32

However, the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh was actively sceptical of this viewpoint. Its
sarsanghchalak,or head, was a lean, bearded science graduate named M. S. Golwalkar. Golwalkar
was strongly opposed to the idea of a secular state that would not discriminate on the basis of
religion. In the India of his conception,

The non-Hindu people of Hindustan must either adopt Hindu culture and language, must learn
and respect and hold in reverence the Hindu religion, must entertain no idea but of those of
glorification of the Hindu race and culture . . . in a word they must cease to be foreigners, or may
stay in the country, wholly subordinated to the Hindu nation, claiming nothing, deserving no



privileges, far less any preferential treatment — not even citizens’ rights.33

On Sunday 7 December 1947 the RSS held a large rally at the Ramlila Grounds in the heart of Delhi.
The main speech was by M. S. Golwalkar. As the Hindustan Times reported, Golwalkar denied that
the RSS aimed at the establishment of a Hindu Raj, but nevertheless insisted: ‘We aim at the
solidarity of the Hindu society. With this ideal in view, the Sangh will march forward on its path, and
will not be deterred by any authority or personality.’34

The authorities being alluded to were the Congress Party and the government of India; the
personalities, Nehru and Gandhi, towards whom there was much hostility among those sections of the
refugees sympathetic to the RSS. Gandhi had his meetings disrupted by refugees who objected to
readings from the Quran, or who shouted slogans asking why he did not speak of the sufferings of
those Hindus and Sikhs still living in Pakistan. In fact, as D. G. Tendulkar writes, Gandhi ‘was
equally concerned with the sufferings of the minority community in Pakistan. He would have liked to
be able to go to their succour. But with what face could he now go there, when he could not guarantee
full redress to the Muslims in Delhi?’

With attacks on Muslims continuing, Gandhi chose to resort to another fast. This began on 13
January, and was addressed to three different constituencies. The first were the people of India. To
them he simply pointed out that if they did not believe in the two-nation theory, they would have to
show in their chosen capital, the ‘Eternal City’ of Delhi, that Hindus and Muslims could live in peace
and brotherhood. The second constituency was the government of Pakistan. ‘How long’, he asked
them, ‘can I bank upon the patience of the Hindus and the Sikhs, in spite of my fast? Pakistan has to
put a stop to this state of affairs’ (that is, the driving out of minorities from their territory).

Gandhi’s fast was addressed, finally, to the government of India. They had withheld Pakistan’s
share of the ‘sterling balance’ which the British owed jointly to the two dominions, a debt incurred on
account of Indian contributions during the Second World War. This amounted to Rs550 million, a fair
sum. New Delhi would not release the money as it was angry with Pakistan for having recently
attempted to seize the state of Kashmir. Gandhi saw this as unnecessarily spiteful, and so he made the
ending of his fast conditional on the transfer to Pakistan of the money owed to it.

On the night of 15 January the government of India decided to release the money owed to the
government of Pakistan. The next day more than 1,000 refugees signed a declaration saying they
would welcome back the displaced Muslims of Delhi and allow them to return to their homes. But
Gandhi wanted more authoritative assurances. Meanwhile, his health rapidly declined. His kidney
was failing, his weight was dropping and he was plagued by nausea and headache. The doctors
issued a warning of their own: ‘It is our duty to tell the people to take immediate steps to produce the
requisite conditions for ending the fast without delay.’

On 17 January a Central Peace Committee was formed under the leadership of the president of
the Constituent Assembly, Rajendra Prasad. Other Congress Party members were among its members,
as were representatives of the RSS, the Jamiat-ul-Ulema and Sikh bodies. On the morning of the 18th
they took a joint declaration to Gandhi which satisfied him enough to end his fast. The declaration
pledged ‘that we shall protect the life, property and faith of Muslims and that the incidents which
have taken place in Delhi will not happen again’.32

Would the ‘miracle of Calcutta’ be repeated in Delhi? The leaders of the militant groupings
seemed chastened by Gandhi’s fast. But their followers remained hostile. On previous visits to Delhi
Gandhi had stayed in the sweepers colony; this time, however, he was put up at the home of his
millionaire follower G. D. Birla. Even while his fast was on, bands of refugees marched past Birla



House, shouting, ‘Let Gandhi die'. Then, on 20 January, a Punjabi refugee named Madan Lal threw a
bomb at Gandhi in Birla House while he was leading a prayer meeting. It exploded at some distance
from him; luckily no one was hurt.

Gandhi was undaunted by the attempt on his life. He carried on meeting people, angry refugees
included. On 26 January he spoke at his prayer meeting of how that day was celebrated in the past as
Independence Day. Now freedom had come, but its first few months had been deeply disillusioning.
However, he trusted that ‘the worst is over’, that Indians would work collectively for the ‘equality of
all classes and creeds, never the domination and superiority of the major community over a minor,
however insignificant it may be in numbers or influence’. He also permitted himself the hope ‘that,
though geographically and politically India 1s divided into two, at heart we shall ever be friends and
brothers helping and respecting one another and be one for the outside world’.

Gandhi had fought a lifelong battle for a free and united India; and yet, at the end, he could view
its division with detachment and equanimity. Others were less forgiving. On the evening of 30
January he was shot dead by a young man at his daily prayer meeting. The assassin, who surrendered
afterwards, was a Brahmin from Poona named Nathuram Godse. He was tried and later sentenced to
death, but not before he made a remarkable speech justifying his act. Godse claimed that his main
provocation was the Mahatma’s ‘constant and consistent pandering to the Muslims’, ‘culminating in
his lastpro-Muslim fast [which] at last goaded me to the conclusion that the existence of Gandhi
should be brought to an end immediately’.3¢

IV

Gandhi’s death brought forth an extraordinary outpouring of grief. There were moving tributes from
Albert Einstein, who had long held Gandhi to be the greatest figure of the twentieth century, and from
George Orwell, who had once thought Gandhi to be a humbug but now saw him as a saint. There was
a characteristically flippant reaction from George Bernard Shaw — It shows you how dangerous it is
to be good’ — and a characteristically petty one from Mohammad Ali Jinnah, who said that the death
of hi sold rival was a loss merely to ‘the Hindu community’.

However, the two most relevant public reactions were from Gandhi’s two most distinguished,
not to say most powerful, followers, Vallabhbhai Patel and Jawaharlal Nehru. Patel who was now
home minister in the government of India, was a fellow Gujarati who had joined Gandhi as far back
as 1918. He was a superb organizer and strategist who had played a major role in making the
Congress a national party. In the Indian Cabinet, he was second only to the prime minister, Jawaharlal
Nehru. Nehru had come to Gandhi a couple of years later than Patel, and could converse with him in
only two of his three languages (Hindi and English). But he had a deep emotional bond with the
Mahatma. Like Patelhegenerally called Gandhi ‘Bapu’, or ‘Father’. But he was, in many ways, the
favourite son (dearer by far than the four biological children of the Mahatma), and also his chosen
political heir.

Now, in an India caught in the throes of civil strife, both men told the nation that while their
master had gone, his message remained. Speaking on All-India Radio immediately after Gandhi’s
death, Patel appealed to the people not to think of revenge, but ‘tocarry the message of love and non-
violence enunciated by Mahatmaji. It is a shame for us that the greatest man of the world has had to
pay with his life for the sins which we have committed. We did not follow him when he was alive; let
us at least follow his steps now he is dead.’3Z Speaking at Allahabad after immersing Gandhi’s ashes



in the Ganga, Nehru observed that ‘we have had our lesson at a terrible cost. Is there anyone amongst
us now who will not pledge himself after Gandhi’s death to fulfil his mission . . .?” Indians, said
Nehru, had now ‘to hold together and fight that terrible poison of communalism that has killed the
greatest man of our age’.38

Nehru and Patel both called for unity and forgiveness, but as it happened the two men had
recently been involved in a bitter row. In the last fortnight of December Nehru had planned to visit the
riot-hit town of Ajmer. At the last minute he called off his trip and sent his personal secretary instead.
Patel took serious offence. He felt that since the Home Ministry had sent its own enquiry team to
Ajmer, the tour of the prime minister’s underling implied a lack of faith. Nehru explained that he had
been forced to cancel his own visit because of a death in the family, and had thus sent his secretary —
mostly so as not to disappoint those who had expected him to come. But in anycase, as the head of
government he had the right to go wherever he wished whenever he wished, or to send someone else
to deputize for him. Patel answered that in a cabinet system the prime minister was merely the first
among equals; he did not stand above and dominate his fellow ministers.

The exchange grew progressively more contentious, and at one stage both men offered to resign.
Then it was agreed that they would put their respective points of view before Gandhi. Before a
suitable time could be found the Mahatma began his final fast. The next week Patel was out of Delhi,
but the matter lay very much on his mind, and on Nehru’s. Indeed, on 30 January Gandhi met Patel just
before the fateful prayer meeting and asked that he and Nehru sort out their differences. He also said
he would like to meet both of them the next day.

Three days after Gandhi’s assassination Nehru wrote Patel a letter which said that ‘with Bapu’s
death, everything is changed and we have to face a different and more difficult world. The old
controversies have ceased to have much significance and it seems to me that the urgent need of the
hour 1s for all of us to functionas closely and co-operatively as possible . . .” Patel, in reply, said he
‘fully and heartily reciprocate[d] the sentiments you have so feelingly expressed . . . Recent events
had made me very unhappy and I had written to Bapu . . . appealing to him to relieve me, but his death
changes everything and the crisis that has overtaken us must awaken in us afresh realisation of how
much we have achieved together and the need for further joint effortsin our grief-strickencountry’s
interests.’32

Gandhi could not reconcile, in life, Hindu with Muslim, but he did reconcile, through hisdeath,
Jawaharlal Nehru with Vallabhbhai Patel. It was apatch-up of rather considerable consequence for
the newand very fragile nation.



THE LOGIC OF DIVISION

It was India’s historic destiny that many human races and cultures should flow to her, finding a
home in her hospitable soil, and that many a caravan should find rest here . . . Eleven hundred
years of common history [of Islam and Hinduism] have enriched India with our common
achievements. Our languages, our poetry, our literature, our culture, our art, our dress, our
manners and customs, the innumerable happenings of our daily life, everything bears the stamp of
our joint endeavour . . . These thousand years of our joint life have moulded us into a common
nationality . . . Whether we like it or not, we have now become an Indian nation, united and
indivisible. No fantasy or artificial scheming to separate and divide can break this unity.

Maurana Asur Karam Azap,
Congress Presidential Address, 1940

The problem in India 1s not of an intercommunal but manifestly of an international character, and
must be treated as such . . . It is a dream that Hindus and Muslims can evolve a common
nationality, and this misconception of one Indian nation has gone far beyond the limits, and 1s the
cause of most of our troubles, and will lead India to destruction, i1f we fail to revise our actions
in time. The Hindus and Muslims belong to two different religious philosophies, social customs,
and literature. They neither intermarry, nor interdine together, and indeed they belong to two
different civilizations which are based mainly on conflicting ideas and conceptions. Their
aspects on and of life are different.

M. A. JinNaH,
Muslim League Presidential Address, 1940

D> Inpia mavE To be partitioned? When the British left, could they not have left a single country
behind? Ever since 1947 such questions have been asked. And in the process of being answered, they
bring forth the supplementary question — Why was India partitioned?

The nostalgia for an undivided India has been mostly manifest among people on the Indian side
of the border. But there has sometimes been a sense of loss displayed in what has become Pakistan
too. Indeed, on 15 August 1947 itself, a veteran Unionist politician wrote of how he wished he

could do anything to save the unity of the Punjab . . . It is heartbreaking to see what is happening
... It is all due to the policy of liquidating and quitting before any real agreement has been
arrived at . . . The fixing of a date for transference of power ruled out any adjustment and
vivisection was the only course left . . . We will have to start afresh [but] there is hardly any
hope of building things on old lines as communal hatred and mutual destruction are now
uppermost in everybody’s mind.!

Why could not the unity of Punjab, or of India, be saved? There have been three rather different



answers on offer. The first blames the Congress leadership for underestimating Jinnah and the
Muslims. The second blames Jinnah for pursuing his goal of a separate country regardless of human
consequences. The third holds the British responsible, claiming that they promoted a divide between
Hindus and Muslims to perpetuate their rule.2

All three explanations, or should one say accusations, carry an element of truth. It is true that
Nehru and Gandhi made major errors of judgement in their dealings with the Muslim League. In the
1920s Gandhi i1gnored Jinnah and tried to make common cause with the mullahs. In the 1930s Nehru
arrogantly and, as it turned out, falsely, claimed that the Muslim masses would rather follow his
socialist credo than a party based on faith. Meanwhile, the Muslims steadily moved over from the
Congress to the League. In the 1930s, when Jinnah was willing to make a deal, he was ignored; in the
1940s, with the Muslims solidly behind him, he had no reason to cut a deal at all.

It 1s also true that some of Jinnah’s political turns defy any explanation other than that of
personal ambition. He was once known as an ‘ambassador of Hindu—Muslim unity’ and a practitioner
of constitutional politics. Even as he remade himself as a defender of Islam and Muslims, in his
personal life he ignored the claims of faith. (He liked his whisky and, according to some accounts, his
ham sandwiches too.)2 However, from the late 1930s he assiduously began to stoke religious
passions. The process was to culminate in his calling for Direct Action Day, the day that set in train
the bloody trail of violence and counter-violence that made Partition inevitable.

Finally, it is also true that the British did welcome and further the animosities between Hindus
and Muslims. In March 1925, by which time the anti-colonial struggle had assumed a genuinely
popular dimension, the secretary of state for India wrote to the viceroy: ‘I have always placed my
highest and most permanent hopes upon the eternity of the Communal Situation.’* Within England the
growth of liberal values placed a premium on the sovereignty of the individual; but in the colonies the
individual was always seen as subordinate to the community. This was evident in government
employment, where care was taken to balance numbers of Muslim and Hindu staff, and in politics,
where the British introduced communal electorates, such that Muslims voted exclusively for other
Muslims. Most British officials were predisposed to prefer Muslims, for, compared with Hindus,
their forms of worship and ways of life were less alien. Overall, colonial policy deepened religious
divisions, which helped consolidate the white man’s rule.

The short-sightedness of Congress, Jinnah’s ambition, Britain’s amorality and cynicism — all
these might have played their part, but at least by the early 1940s Partition was written into the logic
of Indian history. Even if the British had not encouraged communal electorates, the onset of modern
electoral politics would have encouraged the creation of community vote banks. Muslims were
increasingly persuaded to think of themselves as, indeed, ‘Muslims’. As late as 1927 the Muslim
League had a mere 1,300 members. By 1944 it had more than half a million in Bengal alone (Punjab
had 200,000). Muslims of all classes flocked to the League. Artisans, workers, professionals,
businessmen — all rallied to the call of ‘Islam in Danger’, fearing the prospect, in a united India, of a
‘Brahmin Bania Raj’.3

The call for Pakistan was first made formally by the Muslim League in March 1940. The Second
World War had kept the question of Pakistan (as of Indian independence more generally) on hold.
After the war a Labour government came to power in Great Britain. Unlike the Conservatives, the
Labour Party ‘regarded itself as morally committed to speed up the process of independence for
India’. On the subject of India, Prime Minister Clement Attlee showed ‘a decisiveness and passion
unusual during hiscareer’.¢

Some leading Labour politicians had close ties to Congress. These included Sir Stafford Cripps,



who in the beginning of 1946 was sent as part of a three-member Cabinet Mission to negotiate the
terms of Indian independence. Cripps, and other Labour leaders, would have liked to leave behind a
united India for the Congress to govern and guide. But a note prepared for the Mission in December
1945 showed how unlikely this would be. Its author was Penderel Moon, a Fellow of All Souls and
sometime member of the Indian Civil Service. Moon pointed out that ‘there is more likelihood of
obtaining Hindu consent to Division than Muslim consent to Union’. From the British point of view,
‘to unite India against Muslim wishes would necessarily involve force. To divide India against Hindu
wishes would not necessarily involve force; and at worst the force required is likely to be less. The
Hindus of Madras, Bombay, U. P, and C. P. may loudly lament their brethren in Bengal and the Punjab
being torn from the embrace of Mother India, but they are not likely to have the will or the power to
undertake a Crusade on their behalf.’Z

The next few months bore out the cold wisdom of these remarks. Early in 1946 elections were
held to the various provincial assemblies. These were conducted on a franchise restricted by
education and property. About 28 per cent of the adult population was eligible to vote — but this, in a
land the size of British India, still amounted to some 41 million people.8

The world over, the rhetoric of modern democratic politics has been marked by two rather
opposed rhetorical styles. The first appeals to hope, to popular aspirations for economic prosperity
and social peace. The second appeals to fear, to sectional worries about being worsted or swamped
by one’s historic enemies. In the elections of 1946 the Congress relied on the rhetoric of hope. It had
a strongly positive content to its programme, promising land reforms, workers’ rights, and the like.
The Muslim League, on the other hand, relied on the rhetoric of fear. If they did not get a separate
homeland, they told the voters, then they would be crushed by the more numerous Hindus in a united
India. The League sought, in effect, a referendum on the question of Pakistan. As Jinnah put it in a
campaign speech, ‘Elections are the beginning of the end. If the Muslims decide to stand for Pakistan
in the coming elections half the battle would have been won. If we fail in the first phase of our war,
we shall be finished.’

The leader’s message was energetically carried by the cadres. In Bihar the provincial Muslim
League asked the voters to ‘judge whether the bricks of votes should be used in the preparation of a
fort of “Ram Raj” or for the construction of a building for the independence of Muslims and Islam’. A
League election poster in Punjab offered some meaningful pairs of contrasts: din (the faith) versus
dunya (the world); zamir (conscience) versus jagir (property); haqq-koshi (righteousness) versus
sufedposhi (office). In each case, the first item stood for Pakistan, the second for Hindustan.

League propaganda also urged voters to overcome sectarian divisions of caste and clan. ‘Unite
on Islam — Become One’, declared one poster. The Muslims were asked to act and vote as a single
gaum, or community. A vital role was played by student volunteers, who traversed the countryside
canvassing votes from house to house.

The election results were a striking vindication of the League’s campaign. Across India, in
province after province, the Congress did exceedingly well in the general category, but the Muslim
seats were swept by the League, fighting on the single issue of a separate state for Muslims. In the
province of Bengal, for example, the League won 114 out of 119 seats reserved for Muslims; since
the strength of the assembly was 250, it required little effort to cobble together a majority. In the
United Provinces the Congress won 153 seats out of a total of 228, and so formed the government. But
within this larger victory there was a significant defeat, for of the 66 Muslim seats on offer in the
United Provinces the League won a resounding 54. Even more striking were the results in the southern
province of Madras, which even the most devoted follower of Jinnah would not claim for a



prospective Pakistan. Here the Congress won 165 out of 215 seats, but the League won all 29 seats
reserved for Muslims. Overall, in the general constituencies, the Congress won 80.9 per cent of the
votes, whereas in the seats reserved for Muslims the League garnered74.7 per cent.

After the results had come in, the League’s paper, Dawn, proclaimed that ‘Those who have been
elected this time to the Legislatures have been charged by the voters with the duty . . . of winning
Pakistan. Within and outside the Provincial and Central Assemblies and Councils that and that alone
1s now the “priority job”. The time for decision is over; the time for action has come.’

This was written on 7 April 1946. Three days later Jinnah convened a meeting in Delhi of the
400 legislators elected on the Muslim League ticket. This convention reiterated the call for an
independent Pakistan. However, in early May Jinnah attended a conference in Simla, where attempts
were being made by the Cabinet Mission to find a unitary solution. Through the next two months
various drafts were passed round, allowing for one nation-state but with provinces having the option
to leave if they so desired. The Congress and the League could not agree on the conditions under
which provinces would join or leave the projected union. Another sticking point was Jinnah’s
contention that the Congress could not nominate a Muslim as one of its representatives to the talks.2

Jinnah bargained hard, knowing now that he had Muslim popular sentiment behind him. By the
end of June 1946 it was clear that no settlement could be reached. The Cabinet Mission returned to
London. The League leaders met on 29 July and affirmed that ‘the time has now come for the Muslim
nation to resort to direct action in order to achieve Pakistan and assert their just rights and to
vindicate their honour and to get rid of the present slavery under the British and contemplated future
of Caste Hindu domination’.

Two weeks later was Direct Action Day, and the beginning of the end of the dream of United
India.

II

Gandhi was not alone in choosing to mark the day of Independence for India, 15 August 1947, as a
day of mourning rather than celebration. Across the border in Pakistan, where independence had
come a day earlier, the poet Faiz Ahmad Faiz wrote of

This leprous daybreak, dawn night’s fangs have mangled —
This is not that long-looked for break of day,

Not that clear dawn in quest of which those comrades

Set out, believing that in heaven’s wide void

Somewhere must be the stars’ last halting-place,
Somewhere the verge of night’s slow-washing tide,
Somewhere the anchorage for the ship of heartache.0

The lament here was not so much for the fact of Partition, as for its bloody costs. For at least by the
end of 1945, and possibly earlier, some form of Pakistan seemed inevitable. It could not now be
stopped by Congress magnanimity or a sudden show of modesty on the part of Jinnah. But the poet’s
lament impels us to ask one further question — if Partition had to happen, did it necessarily have to
cause so much loss of life?



To answer this, we need to briefly rehearse the events of the last six months of the Raj. On 20
February 1947 the Labour government in London announced that the British would quit India by June
1948, and that the viceroy, Lord Wavell, would be replaced. On 22 March the new viceroy, Lord
Mountbatten, assumed office. Over the next few weeks he discussed the terms of the British
withdrawal with the relevant parties. He found that most Congress leaders were coming round to the
inevitability of Partition. They saw that the ‘immediate independence of the major part of India was
preferable to the postponement of the independence of the whole of India’.l Gandhi made a last-ditch
effort to save unity by asking Jinnah to head the first government of free India. But this offer did not
have the backing of Congress, and Jinnah did not accept it in any case.

On 2 May the viceroy’s chief of staff, Lord Ismay, was sent to London with a plan for Partition.
He obtained Cabinet approval, but the plan had to be redrafted several times on his return, so as to
satisfy both Congress and the League. (At one stage Jinnah, brazen to the last, asked for an 800-mile-
long corridor through India to link the eastern and western wings of Pakistan.) The revised plan was
taken by Mountbatten to the British Cabinet.

All this took the better part of a month. On 3 June Mountbatten, back from London, announced the
Partition plan on All-India Radio. He was followed on the microphone by Nehru, Jinnah and Baldev
Singh (speaking for the Sikhs). The next morning the viceroy addressed a press conference in the
Legislative Assembly building. It was here that he suggested, for the first time, that the British would
leave not by June 1948 but by the middle of August 1947, that is, in less than ten weeks.

The decision so dramatically to shorten the time frame of the British withdrawal was taken by
Mountbatten himself. His biographer, Philip Ziegler, justified the decision as follows:

Once the principle of partition had been accepted, it was inevitable that communalism would
rage freely. The longer the period before the transfer of power, the worse the tension and the
greater the threat that violence would spread.Today it was the Punjab, tomorrow Bengal,
Hyderabad, or any of the myriad societies in the sub-continent where Hindu and Muslim lived
cheek by jowl. Two hundred thousand [dead] could have become two million, even twenty
million.12

In fact, even while Ziegler wrote (in 1985), the toll of the Partition violence was estimated at a
million dead; some later scholars have suggested the figure is closer to 2 million. How many would it
have been if the British had left, as planned, in June 19487 In a blistering attack on Mountbatten’s
reputation, Andrew Roberts accuses him of sofiness and vacillation — ‘whenever he had to exhibit
toughness, Mountbatten took the most invertebrate line possible’ — of being unwilling to crack down
effectively on communal violence and, more specifically, of understaffing the Punjab Boundary Force
and not supplying it with air cover. Contra Ziegler, Roberts is convinced that the ‘over-hasty
withdrawal’ led ‘to more rather than fewer deaths’.13

Some contemporary observers also felt that the decision to undo in two months flat an empire
built over two centuries was poorly conceived. In the summer of 1947 the man occupying the hottest
of hot seats was the governor of the still undivided Punjab, Sir Evan Jenkins. In early May Jenkins
wrote to Mountbatten urging him to ‘reconsider the terms of any early announcement embodying a
solution of the Indian political problem. In the Punjab we are going to be faced with a complete
refusal of the communities to cooperate on any basis at all. It would clearly be futile to announce a
partition of the Punjab which no community would accept.’4 The decision was made regardless, and
the governor was left with thet task of maintaining law and order while the Punjab was divided. On



30 July he wrote to Mountbatten again, explaining that the prospect of Independence with Partition
evoked anger rather than enthusiasm. The Muslims had hoped for the whole of the Punjab, whereas
the Sikhs and Hindus were fearful that they would lose Lahore. ‘It would be difficult enough’, archly
commented the governor, ‘to partition with in six weeks a country of 30 million people which has
been governed as a unit for 98 years, even if all concerned were friendly and anxious to
makeprogress.’ 13

Jenkins did in fact ask several times for more troops and for a ‘Tactical Reconnaissance
Squadron’. One reason there were too few troops available to deal with rioters was that they were
busy guarding the paranoid rulers, who were convinced that British civilians would be attacked as
soon as the decision to leave was made public. This feeling was widespread among all sections of
Europeans in India: among officers, priests, planters, and merchants. In the summerof1946, a young
English official wrote to his family that ‘we shall virtually have the whole country against us (for long
enough at all events to wipe out our scattered European population) before the show becomes, as
inevitably it will, a communal scrap between Hindusand Muslims’.16

To make the protection of British lives the top priority was pretty much state policy. In February
1947 the governor of Bengal said that his ‘first action in the event of an announcement of a date for
withdrawal of British power . . . would be to have the troops “standing to” and prepare for a
concentration of outlying Europeans at very short notice as soon as hostile reactions began to
showthemselves’.lZ In fact, in the summer of 1947 white men and women were the safest people in
India. No one was interested in killing them.l8 But their insecurity meant that many army units were
placed near European settlements instead of being freed for riot control elsewhere.

The instinct of self-preservation also lay behind the decision to postpone the Punjab boundary
award until after the date of Independence. On 22 July, after a visit to Lahore, Lord Mountbatten
wrote to Sir Cyril Radcliffe asking himto hurry things up, for ‘every extra day’ would lessen the risk
of disorder. The announcement of the boundary award before Independence would have allowed
movements of troops to be made in advance of the transfer of power. The governor of Punjab was
also very keen that the award be announced as soon as it was finalized. As it happened, Radcliffe
was ready with the award on 9 August itself. However, Mountbatten now changed his mind, and
chose to make the award public only after the 15th. His explanation for the delay was strange, to say
the least: ‘Without question, the earlier it was published, the more the British would have to bear
responsibility for the disturbances which would undoubtedly result.” By the same token, ‘the later we
postponed publication, the less would the inevitable odium react upon the British’.12

As a rule, one must write of history only as it happened, not how it might have happened. Would
amore extended time frame — an announcement in April 1947 that the British would quit in a year’s
time — have allowed for a less painful process of division? Would more active troop deployments
and an earlier announcement of the Radcliffe award have led to less violence in the Punjab? Perhaps.
Or perhaps not. As it turned out, the most appropriate epitaph on the last days of the Raj was
provided by the Punjab official who told a young social worker from Oxford: ‘You British believe in
fair play. You have left India in the same condition of chaos as you found it.’20

While the debates continue to rage about the causes of Partition, somewhat less attention has
been paid to its consequences. These were quite considerable indeed — as this book will demonstrate.
The division of India was to cast a long shadow over demography, economics, culture, religion, law,
international relations, and party politics.



APPLES IN THE BASKET

The Indian States are governed by treaties . . . The Indian States, if they do not join this Union,
will remain in exactly the same situation as they are today.

sik Starrorp Cripps, British politician, 1942

We shall have to come out in the open with [the] Princes sooner or later. We are at present being
dishonest in pretending we can maintain all these small States, knowing full well in practice we
shall be unable to.

Lorp WaveLL, Viceroy of India, 1943

I

Few men nave Been so concerned about how history would portray them as Lord Mountbatten, the last
viceroy and governor general of India. As a veteran journalist once remarked, Mountbatten appeared
to act as ‘his own Public Relations Officer’.l An aide of Mountbatten was more blunt, calling his
boss ‘the vainest man alive’. The viceroy always instructed photographers to shoot him from six
inches above the eyeline because his friend, the actor Cary Grant, had told him that this way the
wrinkles didn’t show. When Field Marshal Montgomery visited India, and the press clamoured for
photos of the two together, Mountbatten was dismayed to find that Monty wore more medals than
himself.2

Altogether, Mountbatten had a personality that was in marked contrast to that of his predecessor,
Lord Wavell. A civil servant who worked under Wavell noticed that ‘vanity, pomposity and other
such weaknesses never touched him', another way of saying that he did not look to, or care about, how
history would judge him.2 Yet it is Wavell who should get most of the credit for initiating the end of
British rule in India. While sceptical of the political class, he was, despite the reserve which he
displayed to them, deeply sympathetic to Indian aspirations.4 It was he who set in motion the
discussions and negotiations at the end of the war, and it was he who pressed for a clear timetable for
withdrawal. But it was left to his flamboyant successor to make the last dramatic gestures that
announced the birth of the two newnations.

After Mountbatten left India he worked hard to present the best possible spin on his tenure as
viceroy. He commissioned or influenced a whole array of books that sought to magnify his successes
and gloss his failures. These books project an impression of Mountbatten as a wise umpire
successfully mediating between squabbling school boys, whether India and Pakistan, the Congress
and the Muslim League, Mahatma Gandhi and M. A. Jinnah, or Jawaharlal Nehru and Vallabhbhai
Patel.s His credit claims are taken at face value, sometimes absurdly so, as in the suggestion that
Nehru would not have included Patel in his Cabinet had it not been for Mountbatten’s
recommendation.¢

Curiously, Mountbatten’s real contribution to India and Indians has been rather underplayed by
his hagiographers. This was his part in solving a geopolitical problem the like of which no newly



independent state had ever faced (or is likely to face in the future). For when the British departed the
subcontinent they left behind more than 500 distinct pieces of territory. Two of these were the newly
created nations of India and Pakistan; the others comprised the assorted chiefdoms and states that
made up what was known as ‘princely India’. The dissolution of these units is a story of extraordinary
interest, told from a partisan point of view half a century ago in V. P. Menon’s [Integration of the
Indian States, but not else where or since.Z

II

The princely states were so many that there was even disagreement as to their number. One historian
puts it at 521; another at 565. They were more than 500, by any count, and they varied very widely in
terms of size and status. At one end of the scale were the massive states of Kashmir and Hyderabad,
each the size of a large European country; at the other end, tiny fiefdoms or jagirs of a dozen or less
villages.

The larger princely states were the product of the longue durée of Indian history as much as of
British policy. Some states made much of having resisted the waves of Muslim invaders who swept
through north India between the eleventh and sixteenth centuries. Others owed their very history to
association with these invaders, as for instance the Asaf Jah dynasty of Hyderabad, which began life
in the early eighteenth century as a vassal state of the great Mughal Empire. Yet other states, such as
Cooch Behar in the east and Garhwal in the Himalayan north, were scarcely touched by Islamic
influence at all.

Whatever their past history, these states owed their mid-twentieth-century shape and powers —
or lack thereof — to the British. Starting as a firm of traders, the East India Company gradually moved
towards a position of overlordship. They were helped here by the decline of the Mughals after the
death of Aurangzeb in 1707. Indian rulers were seen by the Company as strategic allies, useful in
checking the ambitions of their common enemy, the French. The Company forced treaties on these
states, which recognized it as the ‘paramount power’. Thus, while legally the territories the various
Nawabs and Maharajas ruled over were their own, the British retained to themselves the right to
appoint ministers and control succession, and to extract a large subsidy for the provision of
administrative and military support. In many cases the treaties also transferred valuable areas from
the Indian states to the British. It was no accident that, except for the states comprising Kathia-war
and two chiefdoms in the south, no Indian state had a coastline. The political dependence was made
more acute by economic dependence, with the states relying on British India for raw materials,
industrial goods, and employment opportunities.8

The larger native states had their own railway, currency and stamps, vanities allowed them by
the Crown. Few had any modern industry; fewer still modern forms of education. A British observer
wrote in the early twentieth century that, taken as a whole, the states were ‘sinks of reaction and
incompetence and unrestrained autocratic power sometimes exercised by vicious and deranged
individuals’.2 This, roughly, was also the view of the main nationalist party, the Congress. From the
1920s they pressed the state rulers to at least match the British in allowing a modicum of political
representation. Under the Congress umbrella rested the All-India States Peoples Conference, to which
in turn were affiliated the individual praja mandals (or peoples’ societies) of the states.

Even in their heyday the princes got a bad press. They were generally viewed as feckless and
dissolute, over-fond of racehorses and other men’s wives and holidays in Europe. Both the Congress



and the Raj thought that they cared too little for mundane matters of administration. This was mostly
true, but there were exceptions. The maharajas of Mysore and Baroda both endowed fine universities,
worked against caste prejudice and promoted modern enterprises. Other maharajas kept going the
great traditions of Indian classical music.

British India and the Princely States
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Good or bad, profligate or caring, autocratic or part-democratic, by the 1940s all the princes
now found themselves facing a common problem: their future in a free India. In the first part of 1946
British India had a definitive series of elections, but these left untouched the princely states. As a
consequence there was a ‘growing antipathy towards princely governments’.l0 Their constitutional
status, however, remained ambiguous. The Cabinet Mission of 1946 focused on the Hindu—Muslim or
United India versus Pakistan question; it barely spoke of the states at all. Likewise the statement of 20
February 1947, formally announcing that the Raj was to end, also finessed the question. On 3 June the
British announced both the date of their final withdrawal and the creation of two dominions — but this
statement also did not make clear the position of the states. Some rulers began now ‘to luxuriate in
wild dreams of independent power in an India of many partitions’.1L

Now, just in time, came the wake-up calls.



1

In 1946-7 the president of the All-India States Peoples Conference was Jawaharlal Nehru. His
biographer notes that Nehru ‘held strong views on this subject of the States. He detested the feudal
autocracy and total suppression of popular feeling, and the prospect of these puppet princes . . .
setting themselves up as independent monarchs drove him into intense exasperation.’'2 The prospect
was encouraged by the officials of the Political Department, who led the princes to believe that once
the British had left they could, if they so wished, stake their claims to independence.

On their part, the princes disliked and even feared Nehru. Fortunately the Congress had assigned
the problem of the states to the pragmatic administrator Vallabhbhai Patel. Through the spring of 1947
Patel threw a series of lunch parties, where he urged his princely guests to help the Congress in
framing a new constitution for India. This they could do by sending delegates to the Constituent
Assembly, whose deliberations had begun in Delhi in December 1946. At the same time Patel wrote
to the more influential dewans (chief ministers), urging them to ask their rulers to come to terms with
the party which would now rule India.3

One of the first princes to come over to Patel’s side was the Maharaja of Bikaner. His dewan
was K. M. Pannikar, awidely respected historian who, more clearly than otherpeople, could see that
the ‘Vasco da Gama epoch of Asian history’ 4 was swiftly coming to an end. The forces of
nationalism were irresistible; if one did not compromise with them, one would be swept away.
Accordingly, in the first week of April 1947 Bikaner issued a public appeal to his fellow princes to
join the Constituent Assembly. Their entry into the Assembly, he said, would ‘make quite clear to
everyone that the Indian Princes are not only workingfor the good of their States and for their mother
country but are above all patriotic and worthy sons of India’.13

The first chiefdom to join the Constituent Assembly, back in February, had in fact been the state
of Baroda. After Bikaner’s appeal a dozen more states joined, many of them from Rajasthan. Pannikar
and Bikaner had ‘led the Rajput princes in a fresh act of traditional obeisance to Delhi, where in
place of Mogul or British, a Pandit now rules. They have made acompact with Congress — probably,
from their point of view, rightly.’16

Several states in Rajasthan,Bikaner included, would share aborder withPakistan; this, and
ancient memories of battles withMuslim kings, predisposed them to an early compromise with
Congress. But other states in the hinterland were less sure how far Delhi’s writ would run after the
British left. Might not the situation revert tothat of the eighteenth century, when the peninsula
wasdivided up among dozens of more-or-less sovereign states?

On 27 June a newStates Department was set up by the government of India. This replaced the old
Political Department, whose pro-princes, anti-Congress tenor had caused so much mischief.lZ Patel
wouldbethe minister in charge. As hissecretary he chose V. P. Menon, asmall, alert and ferociously
intelligent Malayali from Malabar. Unusually for a man in his position, Menon had come from the
ranks.Far from being a member of the elite Indian Civil Service — as other secretaries to government
were — he had joined the government of India asaclerk and steadily worked hisway up. He had been
reforms commissioner and constitutional adviser to successive viceroys, and had played a key role in
drafting the Indian Independence Bill.

His peers in the ICS derisively called him ‘babu Menon’, in reference to his lowly origins. In
fact, as British Raj gave way to Congress Raj, there could have been no better man to supervise this
most tricky aspect of the transition. Menon’s first act was to urge the British government not to



support fanciful claims to independence. ‘Even an inkling that HM.G. would accord independent
recognition’, he told London, ‘would make infinitely difficult all attempts to bring the States and the
new Dominions together on all vital matters of common concern.’18

Menon was also ideally placed to mediate between his old boss, Mountbatten, and his new boss,
Vallabhbhai Patel. Between them they worked on a draft Instrument of Accession whereby the states
would agree to transfer control of defence, foreign affairs and communications to the Congress
government. On 5 July Patel issued a statement appealing to the princes to accede to the Indian Union
on these three subjects and join the Constituent Assembly. As he put it, the ‘alternative to co-
operation in the general interest’ was ‘anarchy and chaos’. Patel appealed to the princes’ patriotism,
asking for their assistance in raising ‘this sacred land to its proper place among the nations of the
world’.12

On 9 July Patel and Nehru both met the viceroy, and asked him ‘what he was going to do to help
India in connection with her most pressing problem — relations with the [princely] States’.
Mountbatten agreed to make this matter ‘his primary consideration’. Later that same day Gandhi came
to meet Mountbatten. As the viceroy recorded, the Mahatma ‘asked me to do everything in my power
to ensure that the British did not leave a legacy of Balkanisation and disruption on the 15th August by
encouraging the States to declare their independence . . . *20

Mountbatten was being urged by the Congress trinity to bat for them against the states. This he
did most effectively, notably in a speech to the Chamber of Princes delivered on 25 July, for which
the viceroy had decked out in all his finery, rows of military medals pinned upon his chest. He was,
recalled an adoring assistant, ‘in full uniform, with an array of orders and decorations calculated to
astonish even these practitioners in Princely pomp’.2L

Mountbatten began by telling the princes that the Indian Independence Act had released ‘the
States from all their obligations to the Crown’. They were now technically independent, or, put
another way, rudderless, on their own. The old links were broken, but ‘if nothing can be put in its
place, only chaos can result’ — a chaos that ‘will hit the States first’. He advised them to forge
relations with the new nation closest to them. As he brutally put it, ‘you cannot run away from the
Dominion Government which is your neighbour any more than you can run away from the subjects for
whose welfare you are responsible’.

The Instrument of Accession the princes were being asked to sign would cede away defence —
but in any case, said Mountbatten, the states would, by themselves, ‘be cut off from any source of
supplies of up-to-date arms or weapons’. It would cede away external affairs, but the princes could
‘hardly want to go to the expense of having ambassadors or ministers or consuls in all these foreign
countries’. And it would also cede away communications, but this was ‘really a means of maintaining
the life-blood of the whole sub-continent’. The Congress offer, said the viceroy, left the rulers ‘with
great internal authority’ while divesting them of matters they could not deal with on their own.22

Mountbatten’s talk to the Chamber of Princes was a four de force. In my opinion it ranks as the
most significant of all his acts in India. It finally persuaded the princes that the British would no
longer protect or patronize them, and that independence for them was a mirage.

Mountbatten had prefaced his speech with personal letters to the more important princes.
Afterwards he continued to press them to sign the Instrument of Accession. If they did so before 15
August, said the viceroy, he might be able to get them decent terms with the Congress. But if they did
not listen, then they might face an ‘explosive situation’ after Independence, when the full might of
nationalist wrath would turn against them.23

By 15 August virtually all the states had signed the Instrument of Accession. Meanwhile the



British had departed, never to return. Now the Congress went back on the undertaking that if the
princes signed up on the three specified subjects, ‘in other matters we would scrupulously respect
their autonomous existence’.2 The praja mandals grew active once more. In Mysore a movement
was launched for ‘full democratic government’ in the state. Three thousand people courted arrest.2 In
some states in Kathiawar and Orissa, protesters took possession of government offices, courts and
prisons.

Vallabhbhai Patel and the Congress Party cleverly used the threat of popular protest to make the
princes fall in line. They had already acceded; now they were being asked to integrate, that is to
dissolve their states as independent entities and merge with the Union of India. In exchange they
would be allowed to retain their titles and offered an annual allowance in perpetuity. If they desisted
from complying, they faced the threat of uncontrolled (and possibly uncontrollable) agitation by
subjects whose suppressed emotions had been released by the advent of Independence.2Z

Through the latter part of 1947 V. P. Menon toured India, cajoling the princes one by one. His
progress, wrote the New York Times correspondent in New Delhi,

could be measured from the ensuing series of modest newspaper items, each series running about
like this:

First, a small headline, ‘Mr V. P. Menon Visits Stateof Chhota Hazri’;

Then, in the Governor-General’s daily Court Circular, a brief notice, ‘H. H. the Maharajah
of Chhota Hazr1 has arrived’;

And soon, a banner headline, ‘CHHOTA HAZRI MERGED’ .28

As this account makes clear, the groundwork was done by Patel and V. P. Menon; but the finishing
touch was applied by Mountbatten, a final interview with whom was sometimes a necessary
concession to princely vanity. The governor general also visited the more important chiefdoms,
where he saluted their ‘most wise and Statesmanlike decision’ to link up with India.22

Mountbatten dealt with the symbolism of the princes’ integration with India; V. P. Menon with
the substance. In his book, Menon describes in some detail the tortuous negotiations with the rulers.
The process of give and take involved much massaging of egos: one ruler claimed descent from Lord
Rama, another from Sri Krishna, while a third said his lineage was immortal, as it had been blessed
by the Sikh Gurus.

In exchange for their land each ruler was offered a ‘privy purse’, its size determined by the
revenue earned by the state. The bigger, more strategically placed states had to be given better deals,
but relevant too were such factors as the antiquity of the ruling dynasty, the religious halo which might
surround it, and their martial traditions. Apart from an annual purse, the rulers were allowed to retain
their palaces and other personal properties and, as significantly, their titles. The Maharaja of Chhota
Hazri would still be the Maharaja of Chhota Hazri, and he could pass on the title to his son as well.3®

To reassure the princes, Patel sought to include a constitutional guarantee with regard to the
privy purses. But, as V. P. Menon pointed out, the pay-off had been trifling compared to the gains. In
addition to securing the political consolidation of India, the integration of the states was, in economic
terms, a veritable steal. By Menon’s calculation, while the government would pay out some Rs150
million to the princes, in ten years’ time the revenue from their states would amount to at least ten
times as much.3!

Acquiring the territory of the States was followed by the scarcely less difficult job of
administrative integration. In most states, the land revenue and judicial systems were archaic, and



there was no popular representation of any kind. The Ministry of States transferred officials trained in
British India to put the new systems in place. It also oversaw the swearing-in of interim ministries
prior to the holding of full-fledged elections.

Patel and Menon took more than one leaf out of the British book. They played ‘divide-and-rule’,
bringing some princes on side early, unsettling the rest. They played on the childlike vanities of the
maharajas, allowing them to retain their titles and sometimes giving them new ones. (Thus several
maharajas were appointed governors of provinces.) But, like the British in the eighteenth century, they
kept their eye firmly on the main chance: material advantage. For, as Patel told the officials of the
states ministry, ‘we do not want their women and their jewellery — we want their land’ .32

In a mere two years, over 500 autonomous and sometimes ancient chiefdoms had been dissolved
into fourteen new administrative units of India. This, by any reckoning, was a stupendous
achievement. It had been brought about by wisdom, foresight, hard work and not a little intrigue.

IV

When Vallabhbhai Patel had first discussed the states problem with Mountbatten, he had asked him to
bring in ‘a full basket of apples’ by the date of Independence. Would he be satisfied with a bag of 560
instead of the full 565, wondered the viceroy. The Congress strongman nodded his assent.33 As it
turned out, only three states gave trouble before 15 August, and three more afterthat date.

Travancore was the first state to question the right of the Congress to succeed the British as the
paramount power. The state was strategically placed, at the extreme southern tip of the subcontinent.
It had the most highly educated populace in India, a thriving maritime trade, and newly discovered
reserves of monazite, from which is extracted thorium, used in the production of atomic energy and
atomic bombs. The dewan of Travancore was Sir C. P. Ramaswamy Aiyar, a brilliant and ambitious
lawyer who had been in his post for sixteen years. It was commonly believed that he was the real
ruler of the state, whose maharaja and maharani were like putty in his hands.

As early as February 1946 Sir C. P. had made clear his belief that, when the British left,
Travancore would become a ‘perfectly independent unit’, as it had been before 1795, when it first
signed a treaty with the East India Company. In the summer of 1947 he held a series of press
conferences seeking the co-operation of the people of Travancore in his bid for independence. He
reminded them of the antiquity of their ruling dynasty and of Travancore’s sinking of a Dutch fleet
back in the year 1741 (this apparently the only naval defeat ever inflicted by an Asian state on a
European power). This appeal to a past redolent in regional glory was meant to counter the pan-
Indian nationalism of the present. For the Congress had a strong presence in the state, as did the
Communist Party of India. Still, the dewan insisted that from 15 August 1947 ‘Travancore will
become an independent country’. ‘There was no particular reason’, he defiantly added, ‘why she
should be in a worse position than Denmark, Switzerland, and Siam.’

Interestingly, Travancore’s bid for independence was welcomed by Mohammad Ali Jinnah. On
20 June he sent Sir C. P. a wire indicating that Pakistan was ‘ready to establish relationship with
Travancore which will be of mutual advantage’. Three weeks later the dewan wrote to the Madras
government informing them that Travancore was taking steps to ‘maintain herself as an independent
entity’. It was, however, ready to sign a treaty between the ‘independent Sovereign State’ of
Travancore and the ‘Dominion Governments’ of both India and Pakistan.

On 21 July the dewan of Travancore had an appointment to meet the viceroy in Delhi. The



previous evening he met a senior British diplomat and told him that he hoped to get recognition from
his government. If India refused to supply Travancore with textiles, he asked, would the United
Kingdom step in? Sir C. P. had, it seems, been encouraged in his ambitions by politicians in London,
who saw an independent Travancore as a source of a material crucial to the coming Cold War. In
fact, the Travancore government had already signed an agreement with the UK government for the
supply of monazite. In London, the minister of supply advised his government to avoid making any
statement that would ‘give the Indian Dominions leverage in combating Travancore’s claim for
independence’. Since the state had the ‘richest known deposit of monazite sand’, said the minister,
from the British point of view ‘it would be an advantage if Travancore retained political and
economic independence, at least for the time being.’

On the 21st Sir C. P. had his scheduled interview with Mountbatten. They were together for
more than two hours, which time the dewan used to launch an excoriating attack on Gandhi, Nehru and
the Congress. After he ‘had worked off his emotional upset’, the viceroy ‘let him go and sent V. P.
Menon to work on him’. Menon urged him to sign the Instrument of Accession, but the dewan said he
would prefer to negotiate a treaty with India instead.

Sir C. P. returned to Travancore, his mind still apparently firm on Independence. Then, while on
his way to a music concert on 25 July, he was attacked by a man in military shorts, knifed in the face
and body and taken off for emergency surgery. (The would-be assassin turned out to be a member of
the Kerala Socialist Party.) The consequences were immediate, and from the Indian point of view,
most gratifying. As the viceroy put it in his weekly report to London, ‘The States Peoples organisation
turned the heat on and Travancore immediately gave in’. From his hospital bed Sir C. P. advised his
maharaja to ‘follow the path of conciliation and compromise’ which he,‘being autocratic and over-
decisive’, had not himself followed. On 30 July the maharaja wired the viceroy of his decision to
accede to the Indian Union.3

A second state that wavered on the question of accession was Bhopal. This lay in central India,
and had the not unusual combination of a mostly Hindu population and a Muslim ruler. Since 1944 the
Nawab of Bhopal had served as chancellor of the Chamber of Princes. He was known to be a bitter
opponent of the Congress, and correspondingly close to Jinnah and the Muslim League. When, after
the war, the British made clear their intention to leave India, the prospect filled the Nawab with
despair. He saw this as ‘one of the greatest, if not the greatest, tragedies that has ever befallen
mankind’. For now the ‘States, the Moslems, and the entire mass of people who relied on British
justice . . . suddenly find themselves totally helpless, unorganised and unsupported’. The only course
left to the Nawab now was to ‘die in the cause of the Moslems of the world’.

These lines are from a letter of November 1946, written to the political adviser to Lord Wavell.
Four months later Wavell was replaced as viceroy by Mountbatten, who, as it happens, was an old
polo-playing buddy of the Nawab of Bhopal. Their friendship went back twenty-five years;
Mountbatten once claimed that the Nawab was his ‘second-best friend in India’.3> But it was soon
clear that they now stood in different camps. In mid-July 1947 Mountbatten wrote to Bhopal, as he
had to all other princes, advising him to accede to India. He got along and self-confessedly
‘sentimental’ letter in reply. This began by professing ‘unbroken and loyal friendship’ with the Crown
of England; a link now being broken by the unilateral action of HMG. And to whom had they
delivered Bhopal and his colleagues? The hated party of Gandhi and Nehru. ‘Are we’, asked Bhopal
angrily, ‘to write out a blank cheque and leave it to the leaders of the Congress Party to fill in the
amount?’

From accusations of betrayal the letter then issued a warning. In India, said the Nawab, the main



bulwarks against the ‘rising tide of Communism’ were men of property. The Congress had already
stated their intention to liquidate landlords. To that party’s left stood the Communist Party of India,
which controlled the unions of transport workers; if they so chose, the communists could paralyse and
starve the subcontinent. ‘I tell you straight’, said Bhopal to his friend, ‘that unless you and His
Majesty’s Government support the States and prevent them from disappearing from the Indian
political map, you will very shortly have an India dominated by Communists . . . If the United Nations
one day find themselves with 450 million extra people under the heel of Communist domination they
will be quite justified in blaming Great Britain for this disaster, and I naturally would not like your
name associated with it.’

Bhopal hinted that he, like Travancore, would declare his independence; in any case he would
not attend the meeting of the Chamber of Princes scheduled for 25 July. On the 31st Mountbatten
wrote back to Bhopal inviting him once more to sign the Instrument of Accession. He reminded him of
what he had said in the speech: that no ruler could ‘run away’ from the dominion closest to him. And
he shrewdly turned the argument about communism on its head. Yes, he told Bhopal, there was indeed
a Red threat, but it would be best met if the Congress and the princes joined hands. For men like Patel
were ‘as frightened of communism as you yourself are. If only they had support from all other stable
influences such as that of the Princely Order, it might be possible for them to ward off the communist
danger.’3¢

By this time Bhopal had received reports of the meeting of 25 July. He had heard of the terrific
impression his old friend had made, and also of the increasing tide of accessions by his fellow
princes. And so he capitulated, asking only for a small sop to his pride. Would the viceroy press
Patel to extend the deadline by ten days, so that his accession would be announced after 15 August
instead of before? That, said Bhopal, ‘would enable me to sign our death warrant with a clear
conscience’. (In the event, Patel said he could not make any exceptions; instead Mount-batten offered
to Bhopal that if he would sign the Instrument of Accession on 14 August, he would keep it under lock
and key and hand it over to Patel only after the 25th.)3Z

A case more curious still was that of Jodhpur, an old and large state with a Hindu king as well
as a largely Hindu population. At a lunch hosted by Mountbatten in mid-July, the young Maharaja of
Jodhpur had joined the other Raj put princes in indicating his willingness to accede to India. But soon
afterwards someone — it is not clear who — planted the idea in his head that since his state bordered
Pakistan, he might get better terms from that dominion. Possibly at Bhopal’s initiative, a meeting was
arranged between him and Jinnah. At this meeting the Muslim League leader offered Jodhpur full port
facilities in Karachi, unrestricted import of arms and supply of grain from Sindh to his own famine-
stricken districts. In one version, Jinnah is said to have handed the maharaja a blank sheet and a
fountain pen and said, ‘You can fill in all your conditions.’

If Jodhpur had defected to Pakistan, this would have opened up the possibility that states
contiguous to it — such as Jaipur and Udaipur — would do likewise. However, K. M. Pannikar got
wind of the plan and asked Vallabhbhai Patel to intervene. Patel contacted Jodhpur and promised him
free import of arms too, as well as adequate grain. Meanwhile, his own nobles and village headmen
had told the maharaja that he could not really expect them to be at ease in a Muslim state. The ruler of
an adjoining state, Jaisalmer, also asked him what would happen if he joined Pakistan and a riot
broke out between Hindus and Muslims. Whose side would he then take?

And so the Maharaja of Jodhpur also came round, but not before a last-minute theatrical show of
defiance. When presented with the Instrument of Accession in the anteroom of the viceroy’s office,
Jodhpur took out a revolver and held it to the secretary’s head, saying, ‘I will not accept your



dictation.” But in a few minutes he cooled down and signed on the line.38

v

Among the states that had not signed up by 15 August was Junagadh, which lay in the peninsula of
Kathiawarin western India. This, like Bhopal, had a Muslim Nawab ruling over a chiefly Hindu
population. On three sides Junagadh was surrounded by Hindu states or by India, but on the fourth —
and this distinguished it from Bhopal — it had a long coastline. Its main port, Veraval, was 325
nautical miles from the Pakistani port city (and national capital) of Karachi. Junagadh’s ruler in 1947,
Mohabat Khan, had one abiding passion: dogs. His menagerie included 2,000 pedigree canines,
including sixteen hounds specially deputed to guard the palace. When two of his favourite hounds
mated, the Nawab announced a public holiday. On their ‘marriage’ he expended three lakh (300,000)
rupees, or roughly a thousand times the average annual income of one of his subjects.

Within the borders of Junagadh lay the Hindu holy shrine of Somnath, as well as Girnar, a hill
top with magnificent marble temples built by, and for, the Jains. Both Somnath and Girnar attracted
thousands of pilgrims from other parts of India. The forests of Junagadh were also the last refuge of
the Asiatic lion. These had been protected by Mohabat Khan and his forebears, who discouraged
even high British officials from hunting them.3

In the summer of 1947 the Nawab of Junagadh was on holiday in Europe. While he was away,
the existing dewan was replaced by Sir Shah Nawaz Bhutto, a leading Muslim League politician from
Sindh who had close ties to Jinnah.42 After the Nawab returned, Bhutt opressed him to stay out of the
Indian Union. On 14 August, the day of the transfer of power, Junagadh announced that it would
accede to Pakistan. This it was legally allowed to do, although geographically it made little sense. It
also flew in the face of Jinnah’s ‘two-nation’ theory, since 82 per cent of Junagadh’s population was
Hindu.

Pakistan sat on the Nawab’s request for a few weeks, but on 13 September it accepted the
accession. It seems to have done this in the belief that it could then use Junagadh as a bargaining
counter to secure Jammu and Kashmir. That state too had not acceded to either dominion by 15
August. It had a Hindu maharaja and a majority Muslim population: in structural terms, it was a
Junagadh in reverse.

The acceptance by Pakistan of Junagadh’s accession enraged the Indian leaders. Touched in a
particularly ‘tender spot” was Vallabhbhai Patel, who came from the same region and spoke the same
language (Gujarati) as the residents of Junagadh.4l His first response was to secure the accession of
two of Junagadh’s tributary states, Mangrol and Babariawad. Their Hindu chiefs claimed that they
had the right to join India; the Nawab of Junagadh denied this, claiming that as his vassals they had to
seek his consent first. The Indian government went with the vassals, and sent in a small military force
to support them.

In the middle of September V. P. Menon went to Junagadh to negotiate with the Nawab, but the
ruler would not see him, feigning illness. Menon had to make do with meeting the dewan instead. He
told Sir Shah Nawaz that from both cultural and geographical points of view Junagadh really should
join India. Sir Shah Nawaz did not dispute this, but complained that local feelings had been inflamed
by the ‘virulent writings in the Gujarati Press’. He said that he personally would favour the issue
being decided by a referendum.#2

Meanwhile, a ‘provisional government of Junagadh® was set up in Bombay. This was led by



Samaldas Gandhi, a nephew of the Mahatma, and a native of the kingdom. This ‘government’ became
the vehicle of popular agitation within Junagadh. In panic, the Nawab fled to Karachi, taking a dozen
of his favourite dogs with him. The dewan was left holding the baby. On 27 October Sir Shah Nawaz
wrote to Jinnah that, while ‘immediately after accession [to Pakistan], His Highness and myself
received hundreds of messages chiefly from Muslims congratulating us on the decision, today our
brethren are indifferent and cold. Muslims of Kathiawar seem to have lost all their enthusiasm for
Pakistan.’

Ten days later Sir Shah Nawaz informed the Indian government that he would like to hand over
the administration of Junagadh. The formal transfer took place on 9 November. Back in Delhi,
however, Mount-batten was cross that he had not been consulted before the territory was taken over.
Partly to placate him, but also to establish its own legitimacy, the Indians then organized a plebiscite.
A referendum held on 20 February 1948 resulted in 91 per cent of the electorate voting for accession
to India.%2

VI

The state of Hyderabad also had a Muslim ruler and a mostly Hindu population; but it was a prize
greater by far than Bhopal or Junagadh. The state ran right across the Deccan plateau, in the centre of
the subcontinent. Its area was in excess of 80,000 square miles, and its population more than 16
million, these distributed among three linguistic zones: Telugu, Kannada and Marathi. Hyderabad was
surrounded by Central Provinces in the north, by Bombay in the west, and by Madras in the south and
east. Although landlocked, it was self-sufficient in food, cotton, oilseed, coal and cement. Petrol and
salt, however, had to be imported from British India.

Hyderabad began life as a Mughal vassal state in 1713. Its ruler was conventionally known as
the Nizam. Eighty-five per cent of its population was Hindu, but Muslims dominated the army, police
and civil service. The Nizam himself owned about 10 per cent of the land of the state; much of the rest
was controlled by large landowners. From his holdings the ruler earned Rs25 million a year in rent,
while another Rs5 million were granted him from the state treasury. There were some very rich
nobles, but the bulk of the Muslims, like the bulk of the Hindus, worked as factory hands, artisans,
labourers and peasants.

In power in 19467 was the seventh Nizam, Mir Usman Ali, who had ascended to the throne as
far back as 1911. He was one of the richest men in the world, but also one of the most miserly. He
rarely wore new clothes, his preferred mode of dress being an un-ironed pyjama and shirt and a faded
fez. He ‘generally drove in an old, rattling, tin-pot of a car, a 1918 model; he never offered any kind
of hospitality to a visitor’.4

This Nizam was determined to hang on to more than his personal wealth. What he wanted for his
state, when the British left, was independence, with relations forged directly between him and the
Crown. To help him with his case he had employed Sir Walter Monckton, a King’s Counsel and one
of the most highly regarded lawyers in England. (Among Monckton’s previous clients was King
Edward VIII, whom he had advised during his abdication.) For the Englishman’s services the Nizam
was prepared to pay a packet: as much as 90,000 guineas a year, it was rumoured. In a meeting with
the viceroy, Monckton ‘emphasized that His Exalted Highness would have great difficulty in taking
any course likely to compromise his independent sovereignty’. When Mountbatten suggested that
Hyderabad should join the Constituent Assembly, the Nizam’s lawyer answered that if India pressed



too hard his client might ‘seriously consider the alternative of joining Pakistan’.46

The Nizam’s ambitions, if realized, would virtually cut off the north of India from the south.
And, as the constitutional expert Reginald Coupland pointed out, ‘India could live if its Moslem
limbs in the northwest and north-east were amputated, but could it live without its midriff?” Sardar
Patel put it more directly, saying that an independent Hyderabad constituted a ‘cancer in the belly of
India’ .4

In this face-off between the Nizam and the government of India, each side had a proxy of its own.
The Indians had the Hyderabad State Congress, formed in 1938, which pressed hard for
representative government with in the state. The Nizam had the Ittthad-ul-Muslimeen, which wished
to safeguard the position of Muslims in administration and politics. Another important actor was the
Communist Party of India, which had a strong presence in the Telengana region of the state.

In 19467 all three voices grew more strident. The State Congress demanded that Hyderabad
fall into line with the rest of India. Its leaders organized street protests, and courted arrest.
Simultaneously, the Ittthad was being radicalized by its new leader, Kasim Razvi, an Aligarh-trained
lawyer and a passionate believer in the idea of ‘Muslim pride’. Under Razvi the Ittthad had promoted
a paramilitary body called the ‘Razakars’, whose members marched up and down the roads of
Hyderabad, carrying swords and guns.28

In the countryside, meanwhile, there was a rural uprising led and directed by the communists.
Across Telengana large estates were confiscated and redistributed to land-hungry peasants. The
insurrectionists first seized all holdings in excess of 500 acres, bringing the limit down successively
to 200 and then 100 acres. They also abolished the institution of forced labour. In the districts of
Nalgonda, Warangal and Karimnagar the communists ran what amounted to aparallel government.
More than 1,000 villages were ‘practically freed from the Nizam’s rule’.£

On 15 August the national flag was hoisted by Congress workers in different parts of Hyderabad
state. The offenders were arrested and taken off to jail.32 On the other side the Razakars grew more
truculent. They affirmed their support for the Nizam’s declaration of independence, and printed and
distributed handbills which proclaimed: ‘Free Hyderabad for Hyderabadis’ and ‘No pact with the
Indian Union’ .3t

The Nizam’s ambitions were encouraged by the Conservative Party in Britain. Sir Walter
Monckton was himself a prominent Tory and he had written to his party leaders to support his client’s
case. Monckton claimed the Congress practised a kind of ‘power politics’ that was an ‘exact replica
of those in which Hitler and Mussolini indulged’. Since Mountbatten was hand-in-glove with Nehru
and Patel, it was up to the Tories to ‘see to it that if this shameful betrayal of our old friends and
allies cannot be prevented, at least it does not go uncastigated before the conscience of the world’ .32

To see the Nizam’s Hyderabad as Poland and the Congress as the equivalent to Hitler’s Nazis
boggles the imagination. Even Winston Churchill allowed himself to be persuaded of the analogy,
perhaps because he had along standing dislike for Mahatma Gandhi. Speaking in the House of
Commons, Churchill argued that the British had a ‘personal obligation . . . not to allow a state, which
they had declared a sovereign state, to be strangled, starved out or actually overborne by violence’.
The party’s rising star, R. A. Butler, weighed in on Churchill’s side, saying that Britain should press
for the ‘just claims of Hyderabad to remain independent’.33

The Nizam, and more so the Razakars, also drew sustenance from the support to their cause from
Pakistan. Jinnah had gone so far as to tell Lord Mountbatten that if the Congress ‘attempted to exert
any pressure on Hyderabad, every Muslim throughout the whole of India, yes, all the hundred million
Muslims, would rise as one man to defend the oldest Muslim dynasty in India’.3



The Nizam now said he would sign a treaty with India, but not an Instrument of Accession. In
late November 1947 he agreed to sign a ‘Stand still Agreement’, under which the arrangements forged
between Hyderabad and the British Raj would be continued with its successor government. This
bought both parties time; the Nizam to reconsider his bid for independence, the Indians to find better
ways of persuading him to accede.

Under this agreement, the Nizam and the Indian government deputed agents to each other’s
territory. The Indian agent was K. M. Munshi, a trusted ally of Vallabhbhai Patel. In November the
Nizam had appointed a new dewan, Mir Laik Ali, who was a wealthy businessman and a known
Pakistan sympathizer. Laik Ali offered some Hindu representation in his government, but it was seen
by the State Congress as a case of too little, too late. In any case, by now the real power had passed
on to the Razakars and its leader, Kasim Razvi. By March 1948 the membership of the Ittthad had
reached a million, with a tenth of these being trained in arms. Every Razakar had taken avow in the
name of Allah to ‘fight to the last to maintain the supremacy of Muslim power in the Deccan’.32

In April 1948 a correspondent of The Times of London visited Hyderabad. He interviewed
Kasim Razvi, and found him to be a ‘fanatical demagogue with great gifts of organization. As a
“rabble-rouser” he is formidable, and even in a féte-a-téte he is compelling.’3¢ Razvi saw himself as
a prospective leader of a Muslim state, a sort of Jinnah for the Hyderabadis, albeit amore militant
one. He had a portrait of the Pakistan leader prominently displayed in his room. Razvi told an Indian
journalist that he greatly admired Jinnah, adding that ‘whenever I am in doubt I go to him for counsel
which he never grudges giving me’.

Pictures of Razvi show him with a luxuriant beard. He looked °‘rather like an oriental
Mephistopheles’.2Z His most striking feature was his flashing eyes, ‘from which the fire of fanaticism
exudes’. He had contempt for the Congress, saying ‘we do not want Brahmin or Bania rule here’.
Asked which side they would take 1f Pakistan and India clashed, Razvi answered that Pakistan could
take care of itself, but added: ‘Wherever Muslim interests are affected, our interest and sympathy will
go out. This applies of course to Palestine as well. Even if Muslim interests are affected in hell, our
heart will go out in sympathy.’38

The Razakars saw the Delhi-Hyderabad battle in Hindu—Muslim terms. The Congress, on the
other hand, saw it as a clash between democracy and autocracy. In truth, it was a bit of both. Caught
in the cross-fire were the citizens of Hyderabad, for whom the months after August 1947 were a time
of deep insecurity.?2 Some Hindus began fleeing to the adjoining districts of Madras. Meanwhile,
Muslims from the Central Provinces were flocking to Hyderabad. Mostly illiterate, these Muslims
had heard fearful reports of attacks on their co-religionists in Bengal and Punjab. But they did not
seem to realize that in Hyderabad too they would be a minority. Perhaps, as an independent observer
put it, ‘these emigrating Muslims have more trust in the Nizam’s troops and Arabs to protect them than
in the Union provincial administration’. In turn, these CP Muslims were said to have thrown out
Hindus from their houses in Hyderabad, aided by the Nizam’s men. It was even claimed that there
was a plan to make Muslims a majority in the state: apparently, Hindu localities of cities such as
Aurangabad, Bidar and Hyderabad had come to ‘present a deserted appearance’.&

Through the spring and summer of 1948 the tension grew. There were allegations of gun-running
from Pakistan to Hyderabad — in planes flown by British mercenaries — and of the import of arms
from eastern Europe. The prime minister of Madras wrote to Patel saying he found it difficult to cope
with the flood of refugees from Hyderabad. K. M. Munshi sent lurid reports of the Nizam’s perfidy, of
his ‘fixed idea’ of independence, of his referring to the government of India as ‘the scoundrels of
Delhi’, of ‘the venomous propaganda being carried out day and night through speeches, Nizam’s



radio, newspapers, dramas etc., against the Indian Union’.&!

For the moment, the Indians temporized. In June 1948 V. P. Menon and Laik Ali held a series of
meetings in Delhi. Menon asked that the state introduce representative government, and promise a
plebiscite on accession. Various exceptions were proposed to protect the Nizam’s dignity; these
included the retention of troops. None was found acceptable. Meanwhile, the respected former dewan
of Hyderabad, Sir Mirza Ismail, attempted to mediate. He advised the Nizam not to take the
Hyderabad case to the United Nations (which Laik Ali had threatened to do), to get himself out of the
clutches of the Razakars and to accede to India. Hyderabad, he told His Exalted Highness, ‘must
realize the weakness of its own position’ .62

On 21 June 1948 Lord Mountbatten resigned from office of governor general. Three days
previously he had written to the Nizam urging him to compromise, and go down in history ‘as the
peace-maker of South India and as the Saviour of your State, your dynasty, and your people’. If he
stuck to his stand, however, he would ‘incur the universal condemnation of thinking people’.% The
Nizam chose not to listen. But, with Mountbatten gone, it became easier for Patel to take decisive
action. On 13 September a contingent of Indian troops was sent into Hyderabad. In less than four days
they had full control of the state. Those killed in the fighting included forty-two Indian soldiers and
two thousand-odd Razakars.

On the night of the 17th, the Nizam spoke on the radio, his speech very likely written for him by
K. M. Munshi. He announced a ban on the Razakars and advised his subjects to ‘live in peace and
harmony with the rest of the people in India’. Six days later he made another broadcast, where he said
that Razvi and his men had taken ‘possession of the state’ by ‘Hitlerite’ methods and ‘spread terror’.
He was, he claimed, ‘anxious to come to an honourable settlement with India but this group . . . got
me to reject the offers made by the government of India from time to time . . . *&

Whether by accident or design, the Indian action against Hyderabad took place two days after the
death of Pakistan’s governor general. Jinnah had predicted that a hundred million Muslims would rise
if the Nizam’s state was threatened. That didn’t happen, but in parts of Pakistan feelings ran high. In
Karachi a crowd of 5,000 marched in protest to the Indian High Commission. The high commissioner,
an old Gandhi an, came out on the street to try to pacify them. ‘You cowards,’ they shouted back, ‘you
have attacked us just when our Father has died.’%

Back in June, a senior Congress leader had told the Nizam that if he made peace with the Union,
His Exalted Highness of Hyderabad might even become ‘His Excellency the Ambassador of the
whole of India at Moscow or Washington’.% In the event that offer was not made, perhaps because his
dress, or his style of entertainment, or both, did not be hove a diplomatic mission. But he was
rewarded for his final submission by being made rajpramukh, or governor, of the new Indian state of
Hyderabad.

Two years after the end of the ancien régime, the Bombay journalist K. A. Abbas visited
Hyderabad. He found that in the window of the hundred-year-old photo studio of Raja Deendayal,
pictures of the city’s ‘liberator’, Colonel J. N. Chaudhuri of the Indian Army, had eclipsed portraits
of the Nizam. Now, in Hyderabad, the white Congress cap was ‘the head-gear of the new ruling class,
and inspire[d]the same awe as the conical Asafjahi dastaar (ready-to-wear turban) did before the
police action’.&Z

VII



In August 1947 an experienced British official who had served in the subcontinent published an
article with the portentous title ‘India and the Future’. British India had just been divided into two
new nations, but, the writer asked, ‘will the division stop there?’” Or would the subcontinent break up
‘into innumerable, small, warring States’? Pakistan seemed inherently unstable; there was every
chance of its north-western parts becoming an independent ‘Pathanistan’’.Nor was India necessarily
more stable. Thus ‘many competent observers believe that [the province of] Madras will ultimately
secede into virtual independence'. As for the princely states, the smaller and more vulnerable ones
would have no option but to join India. But ‘the big States of the South, however, notably Hyderabad,
Mysore and Travancore — are in an altogether different position. They could, if necessary, preserve
an independent existence, and the recent threats of the Congress Party are not likely to deter them from
deciding this matter solely on consideration of their own advantage.’

The ‘ultimate pattern of India’, concluded this prophet, ‘is likely to consist of three or four
countries in place of British India, together with a Federation of South Indian States. This will be,
approximately speaking, are turn to the pattern of sixteenth century India . . .’

Given the odds, and the opposition, the integration of these numerous and disparate states was
indeed a staggering achievement. The job was so smoothly and comprehensively done that Indians
quite quickly forgot that this was once not one country but 500. In 1947 and 1948 the threat of
disintegration was very real, what with ‘honey-combs of intrigue’ such as Bhopal and Travancore
and ‘strategic points of assault’ such as Hyderabad. But a mere five years after the last maharaja had
signed away his land, Indians had ‘come to take integrated India so much for granted that it requires
amental effort today even to imagine that it could be different’.%2

The position of the Indian princes in the Indian polity ‘afforded no parallel to or analogy with
any 1institution known in history’. Yet, through ‘peaceful and cordial negotiations’ the chiefdoms had
dissolved themselves, and become ‘hardly distinguishable from the other democratic units comprising
the [Indian] Union’.

The words are from a booklet issued by the government of India in 1950. The self-congratulation
was merited. Whereas the British-directed partition of India had exacted such a heavy toll, these 500
‘centres of feudal autocracy’ had, with little loss of life, been ‘converted into free and democratic
units of the Indian Union’. The ‘yellow dots on the map’ that marked these chiefdoms had now
‘disappeared. Sovereignty and power have been transferred to the people’.‘For the first time’, the
booklet went on, ‘millions of people, accustomed to living in narrow, secluded groups in the States,
became part of the larger life of India. They could now breathe the air of freedom and democracy
pervading the whole nation.’

This being an official booklet, the credit for the job was naturally given to the man in charge.
‘What the British pro-consuls failed to achieve after two centuries of ceaseless efforts’, wrote the
publicists, ‘Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel accomplished through his persuasive appeal to the nobler
feelings of the Princely Order.’20

Patel’s guiding hand was indeed wise and sure; another Congress politician, even (or
especially) Nehru, might not have supervised the princes’ extinction with such patience and foresight.
But he could scarcely have done the job without V. P. Menon, who made hundreds of trips to the
chiefdoms, chipping away at their rulers. In turn, Menon could have done little without the officials
who effected the actual transition, creating the conditions for financial and social integration with the
rest of India.

In truth, both politicians and bureaucrats had as their indispensable allies the most faceless of all
humans: the people. For some decades, the people of the princely states had been clamouring in



numbers for the rights granted to the citizens of British India. Many states had vigorous and active
praja mandak. The princes were deeply sensible of this; indeed, without the threat of popular protest
from below, they would not have ceded power so easily to the Indian government.

In the unification of India Vallabhbhai Patel had plenty of helpers. Most of them are now
unknown and unhonoured. One who is not completely forgotten is V. P. Menon, who was both the
chief draughtsman of princely integration as well as its first chronicler. Let us listen now to the lesson
he drew from the process:

To have dissolved 554 States by integrating them into the pattern of the Republic; to have
brought order out of the nightmare of chaos whence we started, and to have democratized the
administration in all the erstwhile States, should steel us to the attainment of equal success in
other spheres.Z

We shall, in time, turn our attention to those ‘other spheres’ of nation-building. But we have first to
investigate the case of the princely state that gave the Indian Union the most trouble of all. This
particular apple stayed perilously placed on the rim of the basket; never in it, but never out of it
either.



A VALLEY BLOODY AND BEAUTIFUL

My love of the mountains and my kinship with Kashmir especially drew me to them, and I saw
there not only the life and vigour and beauty of the present but also the memoried loveliness of
ages past . . . When I think of India, I think of many things . . . [but] above all, of the Himalayas,
snowcapped, or some mountain valley in Kashmir in the spring, covered with new flowers, and
with a brook bubbling and gurgling through it.

JawanarLaL NEHRU, 1946

I

Tuere were More THAN 500 princely states that joined the Indian Union. Of these the most important
was, and is, the state of Jammu and Kashmir. At 84,471 square miles it was even larger than
Hyderabad. However, its population of just over 4million was more thinly spread. The state was
marked by a great deal of cultural heterogeneity. There were five main regions. The province of
Jammu, abutting Punjab, had low hills and large areas of arable land. Before Partition the Muslims
were in a slight majority (53 per cent), but with the wave of panic migrations that year Jammu came
to be dominated by Hindus. In contrast, the Valley of Kashmir, which lay to Jammu’s north, had a
substantial Muslim majority. The Valley was, by common consent, one of the most beautiful parts of
India, its lakes and slopes visited in the summer by wealthy tourists from Delhi and the Punjab. It was
also home to a body of sophisticated craftsmen working with silk, wool, wood and brass, making
exquisite artefacts that were exported to all parts of India and beyond. In both Jammu and the Valley
there was also a fair sprinkling of Sikhs.

To the Valley’s east lay the high mountains of Ladakh, bordering Tibet, and peopled mostly by
Buddhists. Further west lay the thinly populated tracts of Gilgit and Baltistan. The people here were
mostly Muslim, but from the Shia and Ismaili branches of Islam, rather than (as was the case in the
Valley) from the dominant Sunni tradition.

These disparate territories were brought under a single state only in the nineteenth century. The
unifiers were a clan of Dogra Rajputs from Jammu who conquered Ladakh in the 1830s, acquired the
vale of Kashmir (hereafter ‘the Valley’) from the British in the 1840s and moved into Gilgit by the
end of the century. And thus the state of Jammu and Kashmir (hereafter ‘Kashmir’ came to share
borders with Afghanistan, Chinese Sinkiang and Tibet. Only a very narrow tract of Afghan territory
separated 1t from the Soviet Union.!

Its location gave the state a strategic importance quite out of proportion to its population. This
importance increased after 15 August 1947, when Kashmir came to share borders with both the new
dominions. The anomaly of a Hindu ruling a mostly Muslim population was compounded by an
accident of geography: unlike the other disputed chiefdoms, such as Junagadh and Hyderabad,
Kashmir was contiguous with both India and Pakistan.

The Maharaja of Kashmir in 1947 was Hari Singh. Having ascended the throne in September
1925, he spent much time at the racecourse in Bombay, and much time hunting in the vast and



plentifully stocked jungles of his domain. In one other respect he was typical of his ilk. As his fourth
and youngest queen complained, he ‘never meets the people — that’s the trouble. He just sits
surrounded by fawning courtiers and favourites, and never really gets to know what is going on
outside.’2

For much of his rule, the maharaja’s béte noire was a Muslim from the Valley named Sheikh
Muhammad Abdullah. Born in 1905, the son of a shawl merchant, Abdullah graduated with a master’s
degree in science from the Aligarh Muslim University. Despite his qualifications he was unable to
find a government job in Kashmir, for the state administration was dominated by Hindus. Abdullah
began to question ‘why Muslims were being singled out for such treatment. We constituted the
majority and contributed the most towards the State’s revenues, still we were continually oppressed .
.. Was it because a majority of Government servants were non-Muslims? . . . I concluded that the 111-
treatment of Muslims was an outcome of religious prejudice.’3

Denied a job by the state, Abdullah became a schoolteacher instead. He started a reading club
and spoke out on behalf of his fellow subjects. His was an inspiring presence: he stood 6’ 4 tall and
was a witty and compelling orator. Although he smoked the odd cigarette he did not drink. He visited
the mosque every Friday, and had a deep knowledge of the Quran.2

In the summer of 1931 Abdullah was chosen as part of a delegation of Muslims that hoped to
place their case before the maharaja.5 Before they could meet with him, an activist named Abdul
Qadir was arrested and put on trial. This led to a clash between protesters and the police in which
twenty-one people died. This was followed by a wave of communal violence in the Valley, in which
many Hindu shops were looted and burnt.

The next year, 1932, an All-Jammu Kashmir Muslim Conference was formed to give shape to the
growing opposition to the maharaja. Among its leading lights were Sheikh Abdullah and Ghulam
Abbas, a lawyer from Jammu. Six years later, Abdullah took the lead in transforming the organization
into a ‘National Conference’, which would also include Hindus and Sikhs. The newbody asked for
representative government based on universal suffrage.

At about this time Abdullah also made the acquaintance of Jawaharlal Nehru. They hit it off
instantly. Both were impulsive and had strong views, but fortunately these were the same — a
commitment to Hindu—Muslim harmony and to socialism. The National Conference grew closer to the
Indian National Congress, alienating some of its members, most notably Ghulam Abbas, who left the
party and sought to organize Kashmiri Muslims on their own. This was the beginning of a bitter
rivalry with Sheikh Abdullah, a feud which was as much personal as it was 1deological.

In the mid-1940s Abdullah was winning this popularity contest hands-down. He was, recalled
one contemporary, ‘greatly loved by the people of Kashmir at the time’.¢ He had been in and out of
jail since 1931, and in 1946 he was incarcerated once more after he asked the Dogra dynasty to ‘quit
Kashmir’ and hand over power to the people. In the ensuing unrest more than twenty people died. The
maharaja declared martial law and had the Sheikh sentenced to three years’ imprisonment for
‘sedition’. This particularly angered Jawaharlal Nehru, who dashed to the state in his friend’s
defence. Nehru was prevented from entering by the maharaja’s men, who stopped him at the border
and sent him back to British India.z

Now that it was clear that the British would soon leave the subcontinent, Hari Singh’s prime
minister, Ramchandra Kak, encouraged him to think of independence for his state. On 15 July 1946
the maharaja stated that the Kashmiris would ‘work out our own destiny without dictation from any
quarter which is not an integral part of the State’® In November the British Resident in Srinagar
observed that the



Maharaja and Kak are seriously considering the possibility of Kashmir not joining the [Indian]
Union if it is formed. On a previous occasion Kak hinted to me that Kashmir might have to stay
out of the Union in view of the antagonism likely to be displayed by a Congress Central
Government towards Kashmir. The Maharaja’s attitude 1s, I suspect, that once Paramountcy
disappears Kashmir will have to stand on its own feet, that the question of loyalty to the British
Government will not arise and that Kashmir will be free to ally itself with any power — not
excluding Russia — she chooses.2

The 1dea of independence had taken strong hold over the maharaja. He loathed the Congress, so he
could not think of joining India. But if he joined Pakistan the fate of his Hindu dynasty might be
sealed.1®

In April 1947 a new viceroy took over in New Delhi. As it turned out, he was an old
acquaintance of Maharaja Hari Singh; they had served together on the Prince of Wales’s staff back
when the prince visited India in 1921-2. In the third week of June 1947, after the decision was taken
to divide India, Lord Mountbatten setoftf for Kashmir,('largely to forestall Nehru or Gandhi from
doing so0')..l He wanted to make his own assessment of where the state might be going. In Srinagar,
the viceroy met Kak and advised him to tell the maharaja to accede to either dominion — but to
accede. The prime minister defiantly answered that they intended to stay independent.l2 The viceroy
then fixed a private meeting with the maharaja. On the appointed day, the last of Mountbatten’s visit,
Hari Singh stayed in bed with an attack of colic, this most probably a ruse to avoid what would
certainly have been an unpleasant encounter.12

Nehru now told Mountbatten that ‘your visit to Kashmir was from my particular point of view
not a success’; he wanted to go and break the political deadlock himself. Gandhi also wished to go.
Hari Singh, expectedly, wanted neither.14 In the event, Nehru was busy with other matters, so the
Mahatma went instead. At the maharaja’s request he addressed no public meetings during his three
days in Srinagar. But he met delegations of workers and students, who demanded Abdullah’s release
and Prime Minister Kak’s dismissal.13

On 15 August, Jammu and Kashmir had not acceded to either India or Pakistan. It offered to sign
a ‘stand still agreement’ with both countries which would allow the free movement of peoples and
goods across borders. Pakistan signed the agreement, but India said it would wait and watch.
However, in the middle of September the rail service between Sialkot in West Punjab and Jammu
was suspended, and lorry traffic carrying goods for the state was stopped on the Pakistan side of the
border.1¢

As relations with Pakistan deteriorated, the maharaja sacked two prime ministers in quick
succession. First Kak was replaced with a soldier named Janak Singh; then he in turn gave way to a
former judge of the Punjab High Court, Mehr Chand Mahajan, who had better relations with the
Congress bosses. Of these, the two top ones were crucial: the prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru (who
was himself an ethnic Kashmiri), and the home minister and minister of states, Vallabhbhai Patel.
Notably, while Nehru always wanted Kashmir to be part of India, Patel was at one time inclined to
allow the state to join Pakistan. His mind changed on 13 September, the day the Pakistan government
accepted the accession of Junagadh. For ‘if Jinnah could take hold of a Hindu-majority State with a
Muslim ruler, why should the Sardar not be interested in a Muslim-majority State with a Hindu
ruler?’lZ

On 27 September 1947 Nehru wrote along letter to Patel about the ‘dangerous and deteriorating’
situation in the state. He had heard that Pakistan was preparing to send infiltrators ‘to enter Kashmir



in considerable numbers’. The maharaja and his administration could hardly meet the threat on their
own, hence the need for Hari Singh to ‘make friends with the National Conference so that there might
be this popular support against Pakistan’. Releasing Abdullah, and enlisting the support of his
followers, would also help ‘bring about the accession of Kashmir to the Indian Union’.18

On 29 September Sheikh Abdullah was released from prison. The next week, in a speech at the
great Hazratbal mosque in Srinagar, Abdullah demanded a ‘complete transfer of power to the people
in Kashmir. Representatives of the people in a democratic Kashmir will then decide whether the State
should join India or Pakistan’. A popular government in Kashmir, he added, ‘will not be the
government of any one community. It will be a joint government of the Hindus, the Sikhs and the
Muslims. That is what I am fighting for.’12

Pakistan naturally expected Kashmir, with its Muslim majority, to join it. India thought that the
religious factor was irrelevant, especially since the leading political party, the National Conference,
was known to be non-sectarian. By early October, as Patel wrote to Nehru, there was no ‘difference
between you and me on matters of policy relating to Kashmir’: both wanted accession.22 What were
the feelings of the Kashmiris themselves? Shortly after Abdullah’s release, the British commander of
the state forces noted that ‘the vast majority of the Kashmiris have no strong bias for either India or
Pakistan’. However, while there was ‘no well-organized body in Kashmir advocating accession to
Pakistan’ the ‘National Conference has been pro-Congress and anti-Pakistan’ .2

As for Maharaja Hari Singh, he still clung to the dream of independence. On 12 October the
deputy prime minister of Jammu and Kashmir said in Delhi that ‘We intend to keep on friendly
relations with both India and Pakistan. Despite constant rumours, we have no intention of joining
either India or Pakistan . . . The only thing that will change our mind is if one side or the other decides
to use force against us . . . The Maharaja has told me that his ambition is to make Kashmir the
Switzerland of the East — a State that is completely neutral.’22

I

The only thing that will change our mind is if one side or the other decides to use force against us.
Two weeks after these words were spoken a force of several thousand armed men invaded the state
from the north. On 22 October they crossed the border that separated the North-West Frontier
Provinces from Kashmir and briskly made their way towards the capital, Srinagar.

Most of these raiders were Pathans from what was now a province of Pakistan. This much is
undisputed; what is not so certain is why they came and who was helping them. These two questions
lie at the heart of the Kashmir dispute; sixty years later, historians still cannot provide definitive
answers to them. One reason for this was that the northern extremity of Kashmir was both obscure and
inaccessible. No railways or roads penetrated these high mountains. No anthropologists had come
here, nor any journalists either. There are thus no independent eyewitness accounts of what came to
be known as the ‘tribal invasion of Kashmir’.

There are, however, plenty of loaded accounts, biased in one direction or the other. At the time,
and later, Indians believed that the tribals were pushed across the border by Pakistan, who also
supplied them with rifles and ammunition. The Pakistanis disclaimed any involvement in the invasion
-they insisted that it was a ‘spontaneous’ rushing of Pathan Muslims to the aid of co-religionists
persecuted by a Hindu king and a Hindu administration.2

There was, indeed, discontent in one part of Kashmir. This was the district of Poonch, which lay



to the west of Srinagar. Until 1936 Poonch had been ruled by a subsidiary clan of the Dogra ruling
family, but in that year the district came directly under the control of the maharaja in Srinagar. The
loss of autonomy hurt, as did the new taxes imposed by the king. There were cesses on individual
goats, sheep and cattle and a tax on entering the forest. Hardest hit were the pastoralists of Poonch,
almost all of whom were Muslim.24

During the Second World War many Muslims from Poonch served in the British Indian Army.
They came back, as demobilized soldiers tend to do, as highly conscious political beings. The rule of
the Maharaja of Kashmir had already been challenged in the Valley by Sheikh Abdullah and his party.
To that was now added the independent challenge of the men of Poonch.

On 14 August several shops and offices in Poonch had flown Pakistani flags, indicating that their
allegiance lay to that country, and not to the still unaffiliated state of Kashmir. In the following weeks
clashes between Dogra troops and local protesters were reported. By the beginning of September
dozens of Poonch men had equipped themselves with rifles obtained from ‘informal sources in
Pakistan’. They had also established a base in the Pakistani town of Murree; here were collected
arms and ammunition to be smuggled across the border to Kashmir. Pakistani accounts acknowledge
that both the prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, and a senior Punjab Muslim League leader, Mian
Iftikharuddin, knew and sanctioned assistance to the Poonch rebels. Overseeing the operation was
Abkar Khan, a colonel in the Pakistan Army. Khan had collected 4,000 rifles from army supplies and
diverted them for use in Kashmir. More fancifully, he had adopted the nom de guerre ‘General Tariq’,
after a medieval Moorish warrior who had fought the Christians in Spain.22

Within Poonch, Muslim officials and soldiers had left their jobs in the state administration and
joined the rebels. So, by the end of September, there were intimations of a serious conflict between a
dissenting district and the government of Maharaja Hari Singh. But, although there were clashes here
and there, there was no major eruption, no head-on battle. Poonch bordered West Punjab; Pakistani
cities such as Rawalpindi were easily reached from there. However, the North-West Frontier
Province is some distance to the west. Did the raiders from that province hear of the brewing
insurrection in Poonch? Or were they planning to come anyway?

For these questions too one cannot supply uncontested answers. All we know for certain is that
after the Pathan raiders crossed the border on 22 October they made remarkably swift progress in
their march southwards. ‘The principal characteristics of the tribal invasion’, writes the historian
Michael Brecher, ‘were the surprise tactics of the tribesmen, the absence of the most rudimentary
defence by the Kashmir State Army, and the pillage, loot and rapine of the tribesmen inflicted on
Hindus and Muslims alike.” Or, as a British social worker familiar with Kashmir laconically put it,
the invading Pathans had sensed ‘an opportunity of gaining both religious merit and rich booty’.

Once in Kashmir the tribesmen moved quickly down the Jhelum valley. Their first stop was the
town of Muzaffarabad, on the Kishanganga, just seven miles from the border. A battalion of the
Jammu and Kashmir Infantry was stationed here, but it was split down the middle, with half the men,
Muslims from Poonch, now asserting their disenchantment with the maharaja. The garrison fell, but
not before a few men escaped and phoned Srinagar to tell them what had happened. This allowed the
acting commandant of the state forces, Brigadier Rajinder Singh, to gather a couple of hundred men
and rush towards Uri, a town that lay roughly halfway between Srinagar and Muzaffarabad.

The raiders were on their way to Uri too. Brigadier Rajinder Singh got there first, and as a
precaution blew up the bridge that linked the town to the north. This held up the invaders for forty-
eight hours, but they were eventually able to cross the river and decimate the brigadier’s men. From
Uri they made their way to Mahuta, the site of the power station that supplied electricity to the Valley.



There they turned off the switches, plunging Srinagar into darkness.2¢

It should not surprise us that estimates of the number of invaders vary. Some said that they were
as few as 2,000, others that they were as many as 13,000. We do know that they had rifles and
grenades, and that they travelled in lorries. Their incursion into Kashmir was openly encouraged by
the prime minister of the North-West Frontier Provinces, Abdul Qayyum. The British governor, Sir
George Cunningham, turned a blind eye. So did the British officers who then served with the Pakistan
army. As Jinnah’s American biographer observes, ‘trucks, petrol, and drivers were hardly standard
tribal equipment, and British officers as well as Pakistani officials all along the northern Pakistan
route they traversed knew and supported, even if they did not actually organize and instigate, the
violent October operation by which Pakistan seems to have hoped to trigger the integration of
Kashmir into the nation’.2

After taking the Mahuta power station on the 24th, the raiders headed down the open road to
Srinagar. En route lay the town of Baramula. Here, for the first time, we can draw upon actual
eyewitness accounts of what happened. A British manager of a timber firm in Baramula saw the
raiders come, ‘well supplied with lorries, petrol, and ammunition. They also have both two — and
three-inch mortars.’

This manager was relieved of the Rs1,500 he had just drawn from the bank. The next target was
the Convent of St Joseph. Here the visitors smashed the machinery in the hospital and shot and
wounded the mother superior. A colonel who lived in the compound was killed outright. According to
one report, the nuns were then lined up to be shot, but an Afridi who had studied in a convent school
in Peshawar stopped his men from applying the finishing touches.2

‘There can be no doubt that for those in the way, Pathans on the warpath are bad news.” So
writes one historian of the Kashmir dispute, Alastair Lamb. He tells us that, apart from the attack on
the convent, the Pathans also burnt shops owned by Hindus and Sikhs. Lamb says they did ‘what might
be expected from warriors engaged on what they saw as ajihad, a holy war’2 However, at
Baramula the greed of the tribesmen conclusively triumphed over religious identity. For here they
‘invaded the houses of the peace-loving Kashmiri Moslems as well. They looted and plundered the
latter’s houses and raped their young girls. Shrieks of terror and agony of those girls resounded
across the town of Baramula.’3?

The incidents at Baramula were a strategic and propaganda disaster for the invaders. They
showed that ‘once the first fanaticism of jehad had passed, there was left only the incentive of loot’.
There was now a ‘stampede to stuff the lorries full of the spoils of the Kashmir bazaars and send them
back to their homes in Waziristan’.3! By stopping to steal and rape, the raiders had lost sight of their
principal objective: the capture of Srinagar. And by attacking Muslims as well as Hindus, they had
undermined their case that they were fighting a holy war. It was especially damaging that among those
they killed were apolitical Christian priests doing ‘good works’, and that a British correspondent was
around to takedown the testimony of those who survived.32

On 24 October, when the tribesmen were en route from Uri to Baramula, Maharaja Hari Singh
wired the Indian government for military assistance. The next morning the government’s Defence
Committee met in New Delhi, and decided to depute V. P. Menon for an on-spot inspection. Menon
flew to Srinagar later that day; when he landed at the airport he was ‘oppressed by the stillness of a
graveyard all around. Over everything hung an atmosphere of impending calamity.” He went straight
to M. C. Mahajan’s house and learnt that the raiders were in Baramula, less than fifty miles away. He
also met the maharaja, and advised him to move to the safety of Jammu.

On the morning of the 26th Menon flew back to Delhi, accompanied by the prime minister of



Kashmir. Another meeting of the Defence Committee was convened. In attendance, apart from
Mountbatten, Nehru and Patel, was Sheikh Abdullah, who happened to be in Delhi that day. Both he
and Mahajan urged that India immediately send troops to push back the invaders. Mountbatten
suggested, however, that it would be best to secure Hari Singh’s accession to India before committing
any forces to his defence.

Menon flew now to Jammu, where the Maharaja had taken refuge. On arrival at the palace he
‘found it in a state of utter turmoil with valuable articles strewn all over the place’. The maharaja
was asleep, recovering from the all-night drive from Srinagar. He was woken, and agreed to accede
at once. Menon took the signed Instrument of Accession back with him to Delhi.33

At dawn on the 27th the first plane left Delhi for Srinagar with troops and arms aboard. In all
twenty-eight Dakotas flew to Srinagar that day. In the days following, more than a hundred planes
took off from Delhi for the Valley, carrying soldiers and supplies and bringing back refugees and the
wounded.3

Some of the planes that flew to Srinagar on the 27th belonged to the army or air force. Others
were commandeered by the government of India from private airlines. As one officer who flew in one
of these passenger planes recalled, ‘the luxury fittings were ripped out, comfortable chairs pulled out
of their fixtures, and within minutes fully armed troops clambered aboard — as many as could fit in’.
They flew over the Punjab, seeing ‘long strings of refugee caravans below them’, with ‘an odd house
or village still smouldering’. They landed in Srinagar airport to ‘the sound of small-arms and
machine-gun fire’ .33

With his troops in the Valley the Indian prime minister breathed a sigh of relief. ‘If we had
vacillated and delayed by a day’, wrote Nehru to his sister, ‘Srinagar might have been a smoking ruin.
We got there in the nick of time.” He thought that they had succeeded ‘in warning off Pakistan from
Kashmir. We have agreed that the future of Kashmir must be determined by the people. Meanwhile,
Sheikh Abdullah is being entrusted with the formation of a Ministry. For my part, I do not mind if
Kashmir becomes more or less independent, but it would have been a cruel blow if it had become just
an exploited part of Pakistan.’3¢

The view from the other side was all too different. The news that Indian troops had landed in
Srinagar infuriated the governor general of Pakistan. Jinnah first fortified himself with several
brandies and then ordered his generals to march their troops into Kashmir.3Z His British commander-
in-chief refused to follow the order. So, for the moment, the Pakistani troops kept out of the conflict,
although their officers remained in close contact with the raiders.

When the Indian troops landed in Srinagar the maharaja had already left. There was not much
sign of his administration, either. The police were nowhere in sight; substituting for them were
volunteers of the National Conference, who stood guard at street corners and bridges and generally
supervised the movement of men and goods. A journalist who had covered the Punjab violence
confessed that he was ‘not prepared for the incredible sights of amity and indeed fraternity that I saw
in Srinagar. Hindus and Sikhs moved about with complete unselfconsciousness among Muslims who
constituted the vast majority of the population of the town; they marched shoulder to shoulder with
them down Srinagar’s streets as volunteers engaged in a common task.’3® Another reporter recalled
the happy relationship between the National Conference and the army, as symbolized in the drives
taken together by Sheikh Abdullah and the divisional commander, Major General Thimayya.3?

As the Indians prepared to push back the raiders, Lord Mountbatten flew to Lahore on a peace
mission. On 1 November 1947 he had a contentious meeting with Jinnah, in which he was told that it
India gave up its claim to Kashmir, Pakistan would relinquish its claim on that other disputed state,



Junagadh. Jinnah described Kashmir’s accession to India as based on ‘fraud and violence’.
Mountbatten suggested that the violence had come from raiders who were Pakistani citizens; he knew
for a fact that Maharaja Hari Singh wanted independence, and had been forced to accede to India only
after his state was attacked. Jinnah countered by saying that the maharaja had brought this upon
himself by his ill treatment of Muslims in Poonch.42

In Kashmir, meanwhile, the Indian army had thrown a protective ring around Srinagar. There
were now 4,000 troops in position, armed with machine guns. The safety of the city had been
secured.4! And with Srinagar no longer vulnerable, the Indians began to clear other parts of the Valley
of infiltrators. Baramula was taken on 8 November, and four days later Mahuta was captured, just in
time to save the power station from being blown up. The town of Uri fell the next day.22

With the on set of winter, the military operations were temporarily suspended. Attention now
returned to the internal affairs of Kashmir. Mahajan was still prime minister, but he was being
actively assisted by National Conference leaders. On 11 November Nehru wrote to Hari Singh asking
him to place ‘full confidence’ in Sheikh Abdullah, that is to formally make him head of the
administration instead of Mahajan. The ‘only person who can deliver the goods in Kashmir 1s Sheikh
Abdullah’, insisted Nehru. ‘He 1s obviously the leading popular personality in Kashmir. The way he
has risen to grapple with the crisis has shown the nature of the man. I have a high opinion of his
integrity and general balance of mind. He has striven hard and succeeded very largely in keeping
communal peace. He may make any number of mistakes in minor matters, but I think he is likely to be
right in regard to major decisions.’4

Mahatma Gandhi was equally impressed with the Sheikh. In the last week of November 1947
Abdullah visited Delhi, where he accompanied Gandhi to a meeting held on the birthday of the
founder of the Sikh faith, Guru Nanak. As Gandhi told the gathering;

You see Sheikh Abdullah Saheb with me. I was disinclined to bring him with me, for I know that
there is a great gulf between the Hindus and the Sikhs on one side, and the Muslims on the other.
But the Sheikh Saheb, known as the Lion of Kashmir, although a pucca Muslim, has won the
hearts of both, by making them forget that there is any difference between the three . . . Even
though in Jammu, recently, the Muslims were killed by the Hindus and Sikhs, he went to Jammu
and invited the evil-doers to forget the past and repent over the evil they had done. The Hindus
and the Sikhs listened to him. Now the Muslims and the Hindus and the Sikhs . . . are fighting
together to defend the beautiful valley of Kashmir.44

For Gandhi as well as Nehru the Sheikh had become a symbol of secularism, a practitioner of inter-
faith harmony whose deeds in Kashmir were a stirring refutation of the two-nation theory. On the
other hand, the Pakistani prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, contemptuously dismissed Abdullah as a
‘quisling’. On 27 November Khan met with Nehru in Delhi, with Mountbatten playing the role of
umpire. When a plebiscite was suggested as away out of the impasse, Khan stated that first ‘an
entirely new administration should be setup in Kashmir, which the people of Pakistan would accept
as impartial’ .43

By now, Nehru was of the opinion that India must come to some ‘rapid and more or less final
decisions about Kashmir with the Pakistan Government’. For continuing military operations would
mean ‘grave difficulties and suffering for the people of the State’. In a letter to Maharaja Hari Singh,
the Indian prime minister outlined the various forms a settlement could take. There could be a
plebiscite for the whole state, to decide which dominion it would join. Or the state could survive as



an independent entity, with its defence guaranteed by both India and Pakistan. A third option was of a
partition, with Jammu going to India and the rest of the state to Pakistan. A fourth option had Jammu
and the Valleystaying with India, with Poonch and beyond being ceded to Pakistan. Nehru himself
inclined to this last alternative. He saw that in Poonch ‘the majority of the population is likely to be
against the Indian Union’. But he was loath to give up the vale of Kashmir, a National Conference
stronghold whose population seemed to be inclined towards India. From the Indian point of view,
said Nehru to the maharaja,

it 1s of the most vital importance that Kashmir should remain within the Indian Union . . . But
however much we may want this, it cannot be done ultimately except through the goodwill of the
mass of the population. Even if military forces held Kashmir for a while, a later consequence
might be astrong reaction against this.Essentially, therefore, this is a problem of psychological
approach to the mass of the people and of making them feel they will be benefited by being in the
Indian Union. If the average Muslim feels that he hasno safe or secure place in the Union, then
obviously he will look elsewhere. Our basic policy must keep this in view, or else we fail.4¢

This letter of Nehru’s is much less well known than it should be. Excluded (for whatever reason)
from his own Selected Works, it lies buried in the correspondence of Vallabhbhai Patel, to whom he
had sent a copy. It shows that, contrary to received wisdom, the Indian prime minister was quite
prepared to compromise on Kashmir. Indeed, the four options he outlined in December 1947 remain
the four options being debated today.

11}

On 1 January 1948 India decided to take the Kashmir issue to the United Nations. This was done on
the advice of the governor general, Lord Mountbatten. Since Kashmir had acceded to it, India wanted
the UN to help clear the northern parts of what it said was an illegal occupation by groups loyal to
Pakistan.4Z

Through January and February the Security Council held several sittings on Kashmir. Pakistan,
represented by the superbly gifted orator Sir Zafrullah Khan, was able to present a far better case than
India. Khan convinced the delegates that the invasion was a consequence of the tragic riots across
northern India in 1946-7; it was a ‘natural’ reaction of Muslims to the sufferings of their fellows. He
accused the Indians of perpetrating ‘genocide’ in East Punjab, forcing 6 million Muslims to flee to
Pakistan. The Kashmir problem was recast as part of the unfinished business of Partition. India
suffered asignificant symbolic defeat when the Security Council altered the agenda item from the
‘Jammu and Kashmir Question’ to the ‘India-Pakistan Question’.

Pakistan now suggested the withdrawal of all armed forces in the state, and the holding of a
plebiscite under an ‘impartial interim administration.” Ironically, Pakistan had rejected the idea of a
plebiscite in the case of junagadh. Jinnah’s position then was that the will of the ruler would decide
which dominion a princely state would join. India instead referred the matter to the will of the
people. Having done this in junagadh, they could not now so easily duck the questionin Kashmir.
However, the Indian government insisted a plebiscite could be conducted under a National
Conference administration whose leader, Sheikh Abdullah, was the ‘most popular political leader in



the State’.48

So said the Sheikh himself, when he spoke at the UnitedNations on 5 February 1948.
Hislanguage, recalled one observer, ‘was blunt, direct, and devoid of diplomatic language’. ‘There is
no power on earth which can displace me from the position which I have [in Kashmir]’, he told the
Security Council. ‘As long as the people are behind me I will remain there. 4

A striking feature of the UN discussions on Kashmir was the partisanship of the British. Their
representative, Philip Noel-Baker, vigorously supported the Pakistani position. The British bias was
deeply resented by the Indians. Some saw it as a hangover from pre-Independence days, a conversion
for support to the Muslim League to support for Pakistan. Others thought it was in compensationfor
the recent creation of the state of Israel, after which there was a need to placate Muslims worldwide.
A third theory was that in the ensuing struggle with Soviet Russia, Pakistan would be the more
reliable ally. It was also better placed, with easy access to British air bases in the Middle East.3

In the first week of March 1948, the editor of the Sunday Times wrote to Noel-Baker that, ‘in the
world struggle for and against Communism, Kashmir occupies a place more critical than most people
realise. It is the one corner at which the British Commonwealth physically touches the Soviet Union.
It 1s an unsuspected soft spot, in the perimeter of the Indian Ocean basin, on whose inviolability the
whole security of the Commonwealth and indeed world peace depend.’st

By now, Nehru bitterly regretted going to the United Nations. He was shocked, he told
Mountbatten, to find that ‘power politics and not ethics were rulingan organization which ‘was being
completely run by the Americans’, who, like the British, ‘had made no bones of [their] sympathy for
the Pakistan case’.32 Within the Cabinet, pressure grew for the renewal of hostilities, for the throwing
out of the invaders from northern Kashmir. But was this militarily feasible? A British general with
years of service in the subcontinent warned that

Kashmir may remain a ‘Spanish Ulcer . I have not found an Indian familiar with the Peninsular
War’s drain on Napoleon’s manpower and treasure: and I sometimes feel that Ministers areloath
to contemplate such a development in the case of Kashmir — I feel they still would prefer to think
that the affair is susceptible of settlement, in a short decisive campaign, by sledge-hammer
blows by vastly superior Indian forces which should be ‘thrown’ into Kashmir.23

Meanwhile, in March 1948 Sheikh Abdullah replaced Mehr Chand Mahajan as the prime minister of
Jammu and Kashmir. Then, in the middle of May, when the snows had melted, the war recommenced.
An infantry brigade advanced north and west from Uri. It took the town of Tithwal, butmet with sharp
resistance en route to the key town of Muzaffarabad.

On the otherside of an ever-shiftingline of control, Pakistan had sponsored a government of Azad
(Free) Kashmir. They had also created an Azad Kashmir army, manned by men from these parts of the
state, helped and guided by Pakistan army officers. These forces were skilful in their use of the
terrain. In the late summerof 1948 they took the towns of Kargil and Dras, and threatened the capital
of Ladakh, Leh, which is at an altitude of 11,000 feet. However, an Indian air force squadron was
successful in bringing supplies to Leh. It was also the air force that brought relief to the town of
Poonch, in the west, whose surroundings were under the control of the raiders.33

The two armies battled on through the later months of 1948. In November both Dras and Kargil
were recaptured by the Indians, making Leh and Ladakh safe for the moment.In the same month the
hills around Poonch were also cleared. However, the northern and western parts of Kashmir were
still in the control of Pakistan. Some Indian commanders wanted to move on, and asked for the



redeployment of three brigades from the plains. Their request was not granted. For one thing, winter
was about to set in. For another, the offensive would have required not merely troop reinforcements,
but also massive air support.3¢ Perhaps it was as well that the Indian Army halted its forward
movement. For, as a scholar closely following the Kashmir question commented at the time,‘either it
must be settled by partitionor India will have to walk into West Punjab. Amilitary decision can never
be reached in Kashmir itself.’3Z
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At the United Nations a Special Commission had been appointed for Kashmir. Its members made
an extensive tour of the region, visiting Delhi, Karachi and Kashmir. In Srinagar they were
entertained by Sheikh Abdullah at the famous Shalimar Gardens. Later, Abdullah had a long talk with
one of the UN representatives, the Czech diplomat and scholar Josef Korbel. The prime minister
dismissed both a plebiscite and independence, arguing that the ‘only solution’ was the partition of
Kashmir. Otherwise, said Abdullah, ‘the fighting will continue; India and Pakistan will prolong the
quarrel indefinitely, and our people’s suffering will go’.

In Srinagar Korbel went to hear Abdullah speak at a mosque. The audience of 4,000 listened
‘with rapt attention, their faith and loyalty quite obvious in their faces. Nor could we notice any
police, so often used to induce such loyalty.” The Commission then visited Pakistan, where they found
that it would not consider any solution which gave the vale of Kashmir, with its Muslim majority, to



India.38

IV

By March 1948 Sheikh Abdullah was the most important man in the Valley. Hari Singh was still the
state’s ceremonial head — now called ‘sadr-i-riyasat’ — buthe had no real powers. The government of
India completely shut him out of the UN deliberations. Their man, as they saw it, was Abdullah. Only
he, it was felt, could ‘save’ Kashmir for the Union.

At this stage Abdullah himself was inclined to stress the ties between Kashmir and India. In May
1948 he organized a week-long ‘freedom’ celebration in Srinagar, to which he invited the leading
lights of the Indian government. The events on the calendar included folk songs and poetry readings,
the remembrance of martyrs and visits to refugee camps. The Kashmiri leader commended the
‘patriotic morale of our own people and the gallant fighting forces of the Indian Union’. ‘Our
struggle’, said Abdullah, ‘is not merely the affair of the Kashmir people, it is the war of every
sonanddaughter of India.’32

On the first anniversary of Indian independence Abdullah sent a message to the leading Madras
weekly, Swatantra. The message sought to unite north and south, mountain and coast, and, above all,
Kashmir and India. It deserves to be printed in full:

Through the pages of SWATANTRA I wish to send my message of fraternity to the people of the
south. Farback in the annals of India the south and north met in the land of Kashmir. The great
Shankaracharya came to Kashmir to spread his dynamic philosophy but here he was defeated in
argument by a Panditani. This gave rise to the peculiar philosophy of Kashmir — Shaivism. A
memorial to the great Shankaracharya in Kashmir stands prominent on the top of the
Shankaracharya Hill in Srinagar. It is a temple containing the Murti of Shiva.

More recently it was given to a southerner to take the case of Kashmir to the United Nations
and, as the whole of India knows, with the doggedness and tenacity that is sousualto the
southerner, he defended Kashmir.

We in Kashmir expect that we shall continue to receive support and sympathy from the
people of the south and that some day when we describe the extent of our country we shall use
the phrase ‘from Kashmir to Cape Comorin’.%

The Madras journal, for its part, responded by printing alyrical paean to the union of Kashmir with
India. ‘The blood of many a brave Tamilian, Andhra, Malayalee and Coorgi’, it said, ‘has soaked into
the fertile soil of Kashmir and mixed with the blood ofthe Kashmiri patriots, cementing for ever the
unity of the North and the South.” Sheikh Abdullah’s Id perorations, noted the journal, were
attentively heard by many Muslim soldiers from Kerala and Tamil Nadu. In Uri, sixty miles from
Srinagar, there was a grave of a Christian soldier from Travancore, which had the Vedic swastika
and a verse from the Quran inscribed on it. There could be ‘no more poignant and touching symbolof
the essential oneness and unity of India’.&t

Whether or not Abdullah was India’s man, he certainly was not Pakistan’s.In April 1948 he
described that country as ‘an unscrupulous and savage enemy’.®2 He dismissed Pakistan as a
theocratic state and the Muslim League as ‘pro-prince’ rather than ‘pro-people’. In his view, ‘Indian



and not Pakistani leaders . . . had all along stood for the rights of the States’ people’.2 When a
diplomat in Delhi asked Abdullah what he thought of the option of independence, he answered that it
would never work as Kashmir was too small and too poor. Besides, said the Sheikh, ‘Pakistan would
swallow us up. They have tried it once. They would do it again. &

Within Kashmir Abdullah gave top priority to the redistribution of land. Under the maharaja s
regime, a few Hindus and fewer Muslims had very large holdings, with the bulk of the rural
population serving as labourers or as tenants-at-will. In his first year in power Abdullah transferred
40,000 acres of surplus land to the landless. He also outlawed absentee ownership, increased the
tenant s share from 25 per cent to 75 per cent of the crop and placed a moratorium on debt.His
socialistic policies alarmed some elements in the government of India, especially as he did not pay
compensation to the dispossessed landlords. But Abdullah saw this as crucial to progress in Kashmir.
As he told a press conference in Delhi, if he was not allowed to implement agrarian reforms, he
would not continue as prime minister of Jammu and Kashmir. Asked what he would doif reactionary
elements got the upper hand in the central government, Abdullah answered: ‘Don’t think I will desert
you, even if you desert me. I will resign and join those people in the Indian Union who will also fight
for economic betterment of the poor.’%

At this press conference Abdullah also made some sneering remarks about Maharaja HariSingh.
He pointed out that the maharaja had run away from Srinagar when it was in danger. In April 1949
Abdullah won a major victory when Hari Singh was replacedas sadr-i-riyasat by his eighteen-year-
old son, Karan Singh. The next month Abdullah and three other National Conference men were chosen
to represent Kashmir in the Constituent Assembly in Delhi, in a further affirmation of the state’s
integration with India.®¢ That summer the Valley opened itself once more for tourists. As a
sympathetic journalist putit, ‘every tourist who goes to Kashmir this summer will be rendering as
vital a service to Kashmir — and to India — as a soldier fighting at the front’.&Z

In the autumn came a visitor more important than a million tourists — Jawaharlal Nehru. Nehru
and Abdullah took aleisurely two-hour ride down Srinagar’s main thoroughfare, the river Jhelum. As
their barge rode on, commented the correspondent of 7ime magazine, ‘hundreds of shikaras
(gondolas) milled around; their jampacked passengers wanted a good look, and they pelted Nehru
withflowers’. Thousands watched the procession from the riverbanks, firing crackers from time to
time. ‘Carefully coached schoolchildren’ shouted slogans in praise of Nehru and Abdullah. Seizing
the chance, merchants had hung out their wares, alongside banners which advertised ‘best Persian and
Kashmiri carpets’.

‘All the portents’, concluded Time, were that ‘India considered that the battle for Kashmir had
been won — and that India intended to keep the prize.’ &

v

The battle for Kashmir was, and is, not merely or even mostly a battle for territory. It is, as Josef
Korbel put it half a century ago, an ‘uncompromising and perhaps uncompromisable struggle of two
ways of life, two concepts of political organization, two scales of values, two spiritual attitudes’.&2
On one side was the idea of India; on the other side, the idea of Pakistan. In the spring of 1948
the British journalist Kingsley Martin visited both countries to see how Kashmir looked from each.
Indians, he found, were utterly convinced of the legality of the state s accession, and bitter in their
condemnation of Pakistan’s help to the raiders. To them the religion of the Kashmiris was wholly



irrelevant. The fact that Abdullah was the popular head of an emergency administration was
‘outstanding proof that India wasnot “Hindustan” and that there are Muslims who have voluntarily
chosen to come to an India which, as Nehru emphasised, should be a democracy in which minorities
can live safely and freely’.

When Martin crossed the border he found ‘how completely different the situation looks from the
Pakistan angle’. Most people he met had friends or relatives who had died at the hands of Hindus and
Sikhs. The dispute for the Pakistanis started with the rebellion in Poonch, which in India had been
‘largely and undeservedly forgotten’. In Karachi and Lahore the people were ‘completely
sympathetic’ to the raiders from the Frontier who, in their eyes, were fighting ‘a holy war against the
oppressors of Islam’.Z2 Martin’s conclusions were endorsed by the veteran Australian war
correspondent Alan Moorehead. On a visit to Pakistan he too found that the Kashmir conflict was
looked upon ‘as a holy Moslem war . . . Some of them, I have seen, talk wildly of going on to Delhi.
Everywhere recruiting is going on and there is much excitement at the success of the Moslems.’Zt

The fragility of the Pakistani state and its ideology was personalized in the ambivalent identities
of its main leaders. The governor general, M. A. Jinnah, was a Gujarati who had married a Parsi. The
prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, was an aristocrat from the United Provinces who was married to
aChristian. Neither was, in any sense of the term, apractising Muslim. The top civil servants of
Pakistan were, like Jinnah and Liaqat, ‘mohajirs’, migrants whose ancestral homes lay on the Indian
side of the border. The ruling class had no roots in what was now their state. This, one suspects,
made them even more fervent in their desire to make Kashmir part of Pakistan.

However, the new Indian nation-state was not so robusteither. Its insecurity was manifest in its
anointing, as a secular hero, of a Muslim officer who had died fighting in Kashmir. True, unlike the
Pakistani army, the Indian army was drawn from men of all religions. Among its senior commanders
were a Sikh, a Parsi and two Coorgs, these last from a south Indian hill community that likes to see
itself as ‘not-Hindu’. Yet the commander who was to be venerated most was a Muslim. This man,
Brigadier Usman, was educated in Allahabad and Sandhurst, and chose to stay with India at the time
of Partition. It was claimed that Pakistan had dubbed hima ‘kaffir’, and that the Azad Kashmir
government had puta price of Rs50,000 on his head, dead or alive.

In January—February 1948 Brigadier Usman and his men repulsed a fierce attack on Nowshera.
In July of that year he died in action.An Indian journalist wroteof his death that ‘a precious life, of
imagination and unswerving patriotism, has fallen a victim to communal fanaticism. Brigadier
Usman’s brave example will be an abiding source of inspiration for Free India.’2 His death was
publicly mourned by Congress leaders, from Jawaharlal Nehru downwards. The tributes that poured
in praised not merely his bravery but also his character: he was, the Indian public was told, an army
officer who was withal ‘a vegetarian,a non-smoker, and a teetotaller . His body was brought back
from Kashmir to Delhi and buried with full military honours. His grave was placed next to that of Dr
M. A. Ansari, a legendary Nationalist Muslim of the previous generation.Z2 One might say that
Brigadier Usman was to the Indian army what Sheikh Abdullah was to Indian politics, the symbol of
its putatively inclusive secularism, the affirmation of it being, if it was anything at all, the Other of
atheologically dogmatic and insular Pakistan.

Both sides had invested men and money in the battle for Kashmir. More crucially, they had
invested their respective ideologies of nationhood. The clash of these ideologies was captured in a
debate on the future of Kashmir organized by a leading Bombay weekly, the Current. The
protagonists were both young journalists — both Muslim, but one Indian,the other Pakistani. Both were
asked to answer the question: which way would the Kashmiris vote if the United Nations did succeed



in holdinga plebiscite?

Speaking on India s behalf was the gifted novelist and scriptwriter Khwaja Ahmad Abbas. One-
fourth of Kashmir’s population, he said, were squarely behind Sheikh Abdullah and hisNational
Conference — these were the politically conscious, ‘progressive’ elements. Another quarter were just
as resolutely opposed to the Sheikh — these consisted of those ‘fully indoctrinated by the
Pakistanideology’. Half the voters were undecided — they could go either way.These were attracted to
the person of Abdullah, but also ‘susceptible to the cry of Islam in Danger’. When the day of
reckoning came, Abbas thought that the memories of the raiders brutalities and the appeal of the
progressive ideology of secularism would tilt the balance in favour of India. However, if India
‘wanted to make absolutely sure of a comfortable and convincing majority , then the maharaja and his
dynasty had to be removed, and the Sheikh allowed to implement fully his economic programme.Z

The next week Abbas was answered by a Karachi-based journalist named Wares Ishaq. He
thought that the pull of religion would ensure a Pakistani victory in any plebiscite in Kashmir. Islam,
he argued, was not just areligion, but aculture and a way of life. There was only one circumstance in
which the Kashmiris would disregard the call of the faith — if India actually lived up to its claim of
being a secular state. However, after the death of Mahatma Gandhi, the position of minorities was
fraught with danger. In particular, wrote Ishaq, the lifting of the ban on the Hindu chauvinist body, the
Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, ‘has finally convinced Muslims all over India, and specially in
Kashmir, that their position in India will always be that of a downtrodden minority’. Thus, when the
crunch came, the bulk of the Kashmiris would vote to join ‘the Islamic comity of nations’ .23

VI

One might say of the conflict of 1947—8 that it had only losers. The indecision — with neither nation
succeeding in acquiring the whole of the state — hurt bothsides then, and it hurts them now. Hence the
prevalence and persistence of conspiracy theories. On the Indian side the finger is pointed at the
British governor general, who dragged the case to the UN,and at the British general in command of
the Indian army, who is believed to have stopped his troops from going into northern Kashmir.Z¢ But
the Pakistanis blame Mountbatten too; they think he conspired with Sir Cyril Radcliffe to gift the
district of Gurdaspur to the Indians, so as to allow them a road into Kashmir.ZZ And they chastise their
own government for not helping the raiders even more. As a senior civil servant lamented in 1998:

[ T]he only chance of Pakistan obtaining Kashmir was by ablitzkrieg, combining the call of jihad,
speed, and surprise, to present the enemy with a fait accompli before it could recover from the
shock. The tribal invasion was well conceived as the only means to counter the Indian designs
and compensate forPakistan’s military weakness . . . The one single element which decided the
issue against Pakistan was the faulty leadership of the tribal horde . . . This was the only
mistake, and a decisive one at that, for which those who organized the invasion . . . should bear
responsibility.Z8

This book will return to Kashmir at regular intervals. But let me end this investigation of the dispute’s
origins with some prophetic statements made at the time.The quotes below come from observers
speaking not in 1990 or 2000, but in the very early years of the conflict.2



Kashmir is the one great problem that may cause the downfall of India and Pakistan (Henry
Grady, United States Ambassador to India, January 1948).

So long as the dispute over Kashmir continues it is a serious drain on the military, economic
and, above all, on the spiritual strength of these two great countries (General A. G. L.
McNaughton, UN mediator, February 1950).

So vital seems its possession for economic and political security to Pakistan that her whole
foreign and defence policy has largely revolved around the Kashmir dispute . . . Far more than
the Punjab massacres, which, though horrible, were short lived, it is the Kashmir dispute which
haspoisoned every aspect of Indo-Pakistan relations (Richard Symonds, British social worker
and author, 1950).

Kashmir is one situation you could never localize if it should flare up. It would influence the
whole Muslim world. [It is] potentially the most dangerous in the world (Ralph Bunche, senior
UN official, February 1953).



REFUGEES AND THE REPUBLIC

Refugees are [being] sent all over India. They will scatter communal hatred on a wide scale and
will churn up enormous ill-will everywhere. Refugees have to be looked after, but we have to
take steps to prevent the infection of hatred beyond the necessary minimum which cannot be
prevented.

C. Raiacoraracuari, governor of Bengal, 4 September 1947

May the blood that flowed from Gandhiji’s wounds and the tears that flowed from the eyes of the
women of India everywhere they learnt of his death serve to lay the curse of 1947, and may the
grisly tragedy of that year sleep in history and not colour present passions.

C. Rajacopraracuari, 20 March 1948

I

In TaE Inpian imacinaTiON Kurukshetra occupies a special place. It was the venue for the bloody battles
described in the epic Mahabharata. According to the epic, the fighting took place on an open plain
northwest of the ancient city of Indraprastha (now known as Delhi). The plain was called
Kurukshetra, a name it retains to this day.

Several thousand years after the Mahabharata was composed, the place of its enactment became
the temporary home of the victims of another war.This, too, was fought between closely related kin:
India and Pakistan, rather than Pandava and Kaurava. Many of the Hindus and Sikhs fleeing West
Punjab were directed by the government of India to a refugee camp in Kurukshetra. A vast city of
tents had grown up on the plain, to house waves of migrants, sometimes up to 20,000 a day. The camp
was initially planned for 100,000 refugees, but it came to accommodate three times that number. As
an American observer wrote, ‘the army worked miracles to keep the tents rising ahead of the last
refugees’. The new inhabitants of Kurukshetra consumed 100 tons of flour daily, along with large
quantities of salt, rice, lentils, sugar and cooking oil — all provided free of charge by the government.
Helping the state in their effort was a network of Indian and foreign social workers, the United
Council for Relief and Welfare (UCRW).

The refugees had to be housed and fed, but also clothed and entertained. With winter
approaching, the ‘Government soon recognized that the evenings and nights were hardest to bear’. So
the UCRW commandeered a bunch of film projectors from Delhi, and set them up in Kurukshetra.
Among the movies shown were Disney specials featuring Mickey Mouse and Donald Duck. With
large cloth screens allowing for two-way projection, crowds of up to 15,000 could watch a single
show. This ‘two-hour break from reality’, commented asocial worker, ‘was a lifesaver. The refugees
forgot their shock experiences and misery for two golden hours of laughter. Yes, they who had been
bruised and beaten, were homeless and wounded, could laugh. Here was hope.’1

Kurukshetra was the largest of the nearly 200 camps set up to house refugees from West Punjab.
Some refugees had arrived before the date of transfer of power; among them prescient businessmen



who had sold their properties in advance and migrated with the proceeds. However, the vast majority
came after15 August 1947, and with little more than the clothes on their skin. These were the farmers
who had ‘stayed behind till the last moment, firmly resolved to remain in Pakistan if they could be
assured of an honourable living’. But when, in September and October, the violence escalated in the
Punjab, they had to abandon that idea. The Hindus and Sikhs who were lucky enough to escape the
mobs fled to India by road, rail, sea and on foot.2

Camps such as Kurukshetra were but a holding operation. The refugees had to be found
permanent homes and productive work. A journalist visiting Kurukshetra in December 1947
described it as a city in itself, with 300,000 people, all ‘sitting idle like mad’. ‘The one thought that
dominates the peasant-refugees of Kurukshetra’, he wrote,is ‘““Give us some land. We will cultivate
it”. That is what they shouted. These land-hungry peasants told us that they did not very much care
where land was given to them provided [it] was cultivable. Their passion for land appeared to be
elemental .2

As it happened, a massive migration had also taken place the other way, into Pakistan from
India. Thus, the first place to resettle the refugees was on land vacated by Muslims in the eastern part
of the Punjab. If the transfer of populations had been ‘the greatest mass migration’ in history, now
commenced ‘the biggest land resettlement operation in the world’. As against 2.7 million hectares
abandoned by Hindus and Sikhs in West Punjab, there were only 1.9 million hectares left behind by
Muslims in East Punjab. The shortfall was made more acute by the fact that the areas in the west of
the province had richer soils, and were more abundantly irrigated. Indeed, back in the late nineteenth
century, hundreds of Sikh villages had migrated en masse to the west to cultivate land in the newly
created ‘canal colonies’. There they had made the desert flourish, but one fine day in 1947 they were
told that their garden now lay in Pakistan. So, in a bare two generations, these dispossessed Sikhs
found themselves back in their original homes.

To begin with, each family of refugee farmers was given an allotment of four hectares,
regardless of its holding in Pakistan. Loans were advanced to buy seed and equipment. While
cultivation commenced on these temporary plots, applications were invited for permanent allotments.
Each family was asked to submit evidence of how much land it had left behind. Applications were
received from 10 March 1948; within a month, more than half a million claims had been filed. These
claims were then verified in open assemblies consisting of other migrants from the same village. As
each claim was read out by a government official, the assembly approved, amended, or rejected it.

Expectedly, many refugees were at first prone to exaggeration. However, every false claim was
punished, sometimes by a reduction in the land allotted, in extreme cases by a brief spell of
imprisonment. This acted as a deterrent; still, an officer closely associated with the process estimated
that there was an overall inflation of about 25 per cent. To collect, collate, verify and act upon the
claims a Rehabilitation Secretariat was set up in Jullundur. At its peak there were about 7,000
officials working here; they came to constitute a kind of refugee city of their own. The bulk of these
officials were accommodated in tents, the camp serviced by makeshift lights and latrines and with
temporary shrines, temples for Hindus and gurdwaras for Sikhs.

Leading the operations was the director general of rehabilitation, Sardar Tarlok Singh of the
Indian Civil Service. A graduate of the London School of Economics, Tarlok Singh used his
academic trainingto good effect, making two innovations that proved critical in the successful
settlement of the refugees. These were the ideas of the ‘standard acre’ and the ‘graded cut’. A
‘standard acre’ was defined as that amount of land which could yield ten to eleven maunds of rice.
(A maund 1s about 40 kilograms.) In the dry, unirrigated districts of the east, four physical acres



comprised one ‘standard’ acre, whereas in the lush canal colonies, a real acre of land more or less
equalled its standard counterpart.

The concept of the standard acre innovatively took care of the variations in soil and climate
across the province.Theidea of the ‘graded cut’, meanwhile, helped overcome the massive
discrepancy between the land left behind by the refugees and the land now available to them — a gap
that was close to a million acres. For the first ten acres of any claim, a cut of 25 percent was
implemented — thus one got only 7.5 acres instead of ten. For higher claims the cuts were steeper: 30
per cent for 10-30 acres, and on upwards, till those having in excess of 500 acres were ‘taxed at the
rate of 95 per cent. The biggest single loser was a lady named Vidyawati, who had inherited (and
lost) her husband’s estate of 11,500 acres, spread across thirty-five villages of the Gujranwala and
Sialkot districts. In compensation, she was allotted a mere 835 acres in a single village of Karnal.

By November 1949 Tarlok Singh and his men had made 250,000 allotments of land. These
refugees were then distributed equitably across the districts of East Punjab. Neighbours and families
were resettled together, although the re-creation of entire village communities proved impossible.
Refugees were invited to protest against their allotments; close to 100,000 families asked for a
review. A third of these objections were acted upon; as a result, 80,000 hectares changed hands once
again.

In exchange for their well-watered lands in the west, these refugees were given impoverished
holdings in the east. With the implementation of graded cuts, they had less of it as well. But with
characteristic ingenuity and enterprise they set to work, digging new wells, building new houses,
planting their crops. By 1950 a depopulated countryside was alive once again.4

Yet a sense of loss persisted. The economy could be rebuilt,but the cultural wrongs of Partition
could never be undone — not in, or by, either side. The Sikhs once more had land to cultivate, but they
would never get back much-loved places of worship. These included the gurdwara in Lahore where
lay buried their great warrior-chieftain, Ranjit Singh, as well as Nankana Sahib, the birthplace of the
founder of the faith, Guru Nanak.

In April 1948 the editor of the Calcutta Statesman visited Nankana Sahib, where he met the
handful of Sikhs permitted by Pakistan to stay on as guardians of the shrine. A few months later the
journalist visited the centre of the Ahmadiya sect of Islam, the town of Qadian, which lay in the Indian
Punjab. The great tower of the Ahmadiya mosque was visible from miles around, but with in its
precincts there now lived only 300 of the faithful. Otherwise, the town had been taken over by 12,000
Hindu and Sikh refugees. In both Qadian and Nankana Sahib there was ‘the conspicuous dearth of
daily worshippers, the aching emptiness, the sense of waiting, of hope and . . . of faith fortified by
humbling affliction’.3

I

The bulk of the migrants from West Punjab were farmers; but there were also many who were
artisans, traders and labourers. To accommodate them the government built brand-new townships.
One, Farida-bad, lay twenty miles south of the nation’s capital, Delhi. Among the groups active here
was the Indian Cooperative Union (ICU), an organization headed by Kamaladevi Chattopadhyaya, a
socialist and feminist who had been closely associated with Mahatma Gandhi.

The residents of Faridabad were mostly Hindu refugees from the North-West Frontier Province.
A social worker named Sudhir Ghosh encouraged them to construct their own homes. However, the



government wished to build the houses through its Public Works Department (PWD), notorious for its
sloth and corruption, widely known both as the ‘Public Waste Department’ and as ‘Plunder Without
Danger’. In protest a group of refugees besieged the prime minister’s house in Delhi. They were a
‘nuisance’ to Nehru, who encountered them as he went to work every morning, but at least they made
him ‘think furiously of the problems’ facing the refugees. In atypically Indian compromise, the
refugees were allowed to build about 40 per cent of the houses, with the PWD constructing the rest.

In Faridabad, the ICU organized co-operatives and self-help groups, setting up shops and small
production units. To power these, and to light up the homes, a diesel plant was erected at short notice.
This plant lay in ashed in Calcutta, where it had come as part of German war reparations. No one
wanted it in that city, so it was sent to Faridabad instead. Sudhir Ghosh located the German engineer
who had built the plant in Hamburg, and persuaded him to come to India. The engineer came, but to
his dismay no cranes were available to erect it. So he trained the Faridabad men to operate 15-tonne
jack screws, which helped raise the equipment inch-by-inch. In ten months the plant was ready. In
April 1951 Nehru himself came to commission it, and as he ‘pressed the button, the lights came on
and lifted the spirits of all in Faridabad. The township had power in its hands to fashion its industrial
future.’®

Meanwhile, thousands of refugees had made their homes in Delhi itself. Till 1911 that city had
been Muslim in character and culture. In that year, the British shifted their capital there from Calcutta.
After 1947 New Delhi became the seat of the government of free India. Urdu-speaking Muslims went
away to Pakistan, many unwillingly, while Punjabi-speaking Hindus and Sikhs arrived in their place.
They set up house, and shop, wherever they could. In the middle of the city lay Connaught Circus, a
majestic shopping arcade designed by R. T. Russell. Had Russell ever seen what became of his
creation, he would perhaps have been ‘spinning in his grave like a dervish’. In 1948 and 1949, ‘stalls
and push-carts of every size and shape’ had been set up along the pavements. Thus, ‘what was once a
shaded walk where the stopper could stroll at leisure, inspecting the goods on offer and not meeting
an insistent salesman, unless he or she went into a store, has become pandemonium . . . All in all, the
exclusive shopping district of New Delhi, which in pre-independence days catered to the elite and
wealthy, is now just a glorified bazaar.’Z

Almost half amillion refugees came to settle in Delhi after Partition. They flooded the city,
‘spreading themselves out wherever they could. They thronged in camps, schools, colleges, temples,
gurdwaras, dharamshalas, military barracks, and gardens. They squatted on railway platforms,
streets, pavements, and every conceivable space.” In time, these squatters built houses on land
allotted to them to the west and south of Lutyens’s Delhi.Here rose colonies that to this day are
dominated by Punjabis: nagars or townships named after Patel, Rajendra (Prasad) and Lajpat (Rai),
Hindu Congress leaders they particularly admired.

Like their counterparts settled on the farms of East Punjab, the refugees in Delhi displayed much
thrift and drive. In time they came to gain ‘a commanding influence in Delhi’, dominating its trade and
commerce. Indeed, a city that was once a Mughal city, then a British city, had by the 1950s
emphatically become a Punjabi city.?

1

Like Delhi, the city of Bombay also had its culture and social geography transformed by Partition. By
July 1948 there were half a million refugees in the city, these arriving from Sindh, Punjab and the



Frontier. The refugees further intensified what was already the most acute of Bombay’s problems: the
housing shortage. Almost a million people were now sleeping on the pavements. Slums were growing
apace. In crowded tenements, people lived fifteen or twenty to a room.2

One journalist claimed that the total losses of Sindh refugees were Rs4,000—5,000 million, since
back home they had owned large amounts of land, dominated the public services and controlled
business and trade. Whereas the Punjabi refugees now had East Punjab as their own, to fulfil there
‘the essentials of an independent corporate existence and the attributes of an autonomous
Government’, the Sindh is had nothing similar on which to rebuild.2 Some looked beseechingly or
angrily to the state; others took matters into their own hands. Thus, in Bombay, it was ‘a sight to see
even little Sindhi boys hawking pieces of cloth in the thoroughfares of the city. They have got
salesmanship in their blood. That is why the Gujaratis and Maharashtrians have not taken kindly to the
Sindhi invader. Even little urchins from the backwoods of Sind are able to make a living by selling
trinkets in suburban trains.1

There were five refugee camps in Bombay. Their condition left much to be desired. The
Kolwada camp had 10,400 people living in barracks. The average space allotted to each family was
thirty-six square feet. There were only twelve water taps in the entire camp, no doctors, only one
school and no electricity. The place was run in dictatorial fashion by a man named Pratap Singh. In
April 1950 a minor riot broke out when some tenants refused to pay rent, protesting their living
conditions. Pratap Singh had them served with an eviction order, and when they resisted, called in the
police. In the ensuing affray a young man was killed. The journalist reporting the story appropriately
called the residents of the camp ‘inmates’; as he noted, ‘other inmates [were] huge cat-sized ugly rats,
bugs, mosquitoes, and snakes’.12

The refugees from Sindh spread themselves across the towns and cities of western India. Apart
from Bombay, there were substantial communities in Pune and Ahmedabad. A social psychologist
visiting them in the autumn of 1950 found the Sindh is deeply dissatisfied. The ‘complaints of
crowded, filthy quarters, inadequate water, insufficient rations, and above all, insufficient support
from the government, are almost universal’. A refugee in Ahmedabad said that ‘we are eating stuff
which we used to throw away in Pakistan for the birds to eat’. Others complained of ill treatment by
the local Gujaratis, and were particularly hostile towards the Muslims. And they fulminated against
the Indian state, although they exonerated Nehru himself. ‘Our government is useless,’ they said. ‘All
are thieves collected together. Only Pandit [Nehru] 1s all right; the rest are all worthless and self-
serving. The Pandit himself says what he can do; the rest of the machinery does not work.’13

IV

The influx of refugees also transformed the landscape of India’s third great metropolis, Calcutta.
Before Partition, the more prosperous Hindu families of eastern Bengal had begun moving with their
assets to the city. After Partition the immigration was chiefly of working-class and farming families.
Unlike in the Punjab, where the exodus happened in one big rush, in Bengal it was spread out.
However, in the winter of 1949-50 there was a wave of communal riots in East Pakistan which
forced many more Hindus across the border. In previous years about 400,000 refugees came into
West Bengal; in 1950 the number jumped to 1.7 million.

Where did these people seek refuge? Those who could, stayed with relatives. Others made a
home on the city’s railway stations, where their beds, boxes and other accessories lay spread out on



the platform. Here ‘families lived, slept, mated, defecated and ate on the concrete amidst flies, lice,
infants and diarrhoea. Victims of cholera would lie exhausted staring at their vomit, women were kept
busy delousing each other, beggars begged.’ Still others lived on the street, ‘with the stray cattle, like
the stray cattle, drinking gutter-water, eating garbage, sleeping on the curb . . .’14

So wrote the Manchester Guardian correspondent in India. In truth, the refugees were a good

deal less passive than this description suggests.
Early in 1948 a ‘large number of refugees, disgusted with their miserable existence at Sealdah
station, occupied the Lake military barracks, Jodhpur military barracks, the Mysore House and other
large unoccupied houses and military barracks at Shahpur, Durgapur, Ballygunge Circular Road and
Dharmatala. Almost overnight these deserted houses swarmed with refugee men, women and
children. These were deliberate acts of trespass.’12

Where some refugees took possession of empty houses, others colonized vacant land along roads
and railway lines, as well as freshly cleared shrub jungle and recently drained marshes. The squatters
‘would stealthily enter these plots at night, and under cover of darkness rapidly put up makeshift
shelters. They would then refuse to leave, while offering in many instances to pay a fair price for the
land.’16

It was the government of West Bengal that willy-nilly forced the refugees to take the law into
their own hands. For one thing, there had been no massive migration in the other direction — as there
had been in the Punjab — leaving untended fields and farms for the refugees to be settled in. For
another, the government liked to believe — or hope — that this influx was temporary, and that when
things settled down the Hindus would return to their homes in the east. Buttressing this belief was the
claim that the Bengalis were somehow less ‘communal-minded’ than the Punjabis. Here, the Muslim
spoke the same language and ate the same food as his Hindu neighbour; thus he might more readily
continue to live cheek-by-jowl with him.

This latter argument was vigorously rejected by the refugees themselves. For them there was no
going back to what they saw as an Islamic state. They found support for their views in the person of
the historian Sir Jadunath Sarkar, arguably the most influential Bengali intellectual of his generation.
Addressing a mammoth public meeting of refugees, held on 16 August 1948, Sir Jadunath compared
the migration of East Bengal Hindus to the flight of French Huguenots in the time of Louis XIV. He
urged the people of West Bengal to absorb and integrate the migrants, thus to nourish their culture and
economy. With the help of the refugees, said the historian, ‘we must make our West Bengal what
Palestine under Jewish Rule will be, a light in darkness, an oasis of civilisation in the desert of
medieval ignorance and obsolete theocratic bigotry’..Z

In September 1948 an All-Bengal Refugee Council of Action was formed. Marches and
demonstrations were organized demanding thatthe refugees be given fair compensation and
citizenship rights. The leaders of the movement aimed to throw ‘regimented bands of refugees in the
streets of Calcutta and to maintain a relentless pressure on the Government . . . Processions,
demonstrations and meetings, traffic jams, brickbats and teargas shells and /athis [bamboo sticks
used by the police as weapons]coming down in showers, burning tramcars and buses, and occasional
firings — these became the hallmark of the city.’18

Displaced from their homes by forces outside their control, refugees everywhere are potential
fodder for extremist movements. In Delhi and the Punjab it was the radical Hindu organization, the
Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, that very early on got a foothold among the migrants. In Bengal the
RSS’s sister organization, the Hindu Mahasabha, also worked hard at giving a religious colour to the
problem. The Bengali Hindus, they said, ‘have been made sacrificial goats in the great Yajna of



India’s freedom’. In asking them to return to East Pakistan, the government was guilty of
‘appeasement’ and of abetting ‘genocide’ While the state asked them to submit, what the refugees
needed was a stiff dose of ‘the virility of man’. ‘One only wishes’, wrote one angry Hindu in March
1950, that ‘a Shivaji or a Rana Pratap emerged from their ranks’.12

This invocation of medieval Hindu warriors who had fought Muslim kings found more takers in
Delhi and the Punjab. In Bengal, however, it was the communists who most successfully mobilized
the refugees. It was they who organized the processions to government offices, and it was they who
orchestrated the forcible occupation of fallow land in Calcutta, land to which the refugees ‘had no
sanction other than organized strength and dire necessity’. Thus in differentparts of the city grew
numerous impromptu settlements, ‘clusters of huts with thatch, tile or corrugated-iron roofs, bamboo-
mat walls and mud floors, built in the East Bengal style’.20

By early 1950 there were about 200,000 refugees in these squatter colonies. In the absence of
state support, the refugees ‘formed committees of their own, framed rules for the administration of the
colonies and organised themselves into a vast united body’.2l A ‘South Calcutta Refugee
Rehabilitation Committee’ claimed to represent 40,000 families who, in their respective colonies,
had constructed a total of 500 miles of road, sunk 700 tube wells and started 45 high schools as well
as 100 primary schools — all at their own expense and through their own initiative. The Committee
demanded that the government make these colonies ‘legal by formally bringing them under the
Calcutta Municipality, that it similarly regularize private plots and school buildings, and help
develop markets and arrange loans.22

Those who spoke for these migrants frequently complained about the preferential treatment given
to the Punjabi refugees. A team of Bengali social workers visiting north India found the camps there
‘of a superior kind’. The houses were permanent, with running water and adequate sanitation;
whereas in West Bengal the refugees had to make do with ‘decaying bamboo hutments” where ‘lack
of privacy and of kitchen space is notorious’. Cash and clothing allowances were also higher in the
north. 23

On the whole, the resettlement process was far less painful in the Punjab. By the early 1950s the
refugees in the north had found new homes and new jobs. But in the east the insecurity persisted. So
long as the Bengali refugees remained ‘unsettled and unemployed, wrote one correspondent in July
1954, ‘economic and political discontent will grow; the Communists will succeed in exploiting their
grievances’.24

\%

Unquestionably the main victims of Partition were women: Hindu, Sikh, and Muslim. As the
respected Sindhi Congress politician Choitram Gidwani put it, ‘in no war have the women suffered
so much’. Women were killed, maimed, violated and abandoned. After Independence the brothels of
Delhi and Bombay came to be filled with refugee women, who had been thrown out by their families
after what someone else had done to them — against their will.z

In the summer of 1947, as the violence in the Punjab spread from village to village, Hindus and
Sikhs in the east of the province abducted and kept Muslim women. On the other side the compliment
— 1f it may be called that — was returned, with young Hindu and Sikh girls seized by Muslim men.
However, after the dust had settled down and the blood dried, the governments of India and Pakistan
agreed that these captured women must be returned to their original families.



On the Indian side, the operation to recover abducted women was led by Mridula Sarabhai and
Rameshwari Nehru. Both came from aristocratic homes and both had sturdily nationalist credentials.
Their work was encouraged and aided by Jawaharlal Nehru, who took a deep personal interest in the
process. In a radio broadcast to the refugees, the prime minister spoke especially ‘to those women
who are the victims of all these hardships’. He assured them that ‘they should not feel that we have
any hesitation whatsoever in bringing them back or that we have any doubts about their virtue. We
want to bring them back with affection because it had not been their fault. They were forcefully
abducted and we want to bring them back respectfully and keep them lovingly. They must not doubt
that they will come back to their families and be given all possible help.’2¢

The abducted women were tracked down singly, case by case. When a person had been located,
the police would enter the village at sunset, after the men had returned from the fields. An ‘informer’
would lead them to the home of the abductor. The offender would usually deny that the woman in his
possession had been seized. After his objections were overcome -sometimes by force — the woman
would be taken away, at first to a government camp, and then across the border.2

By May 1948 some 12,500 women had been found and restored to their families. Ironically, and
tragically, many of the women did not want to be rescued at all. For after their seizure they had made
some kind of peace with their new surroundings. Now, as they were being reclaimed, these women
were deeply unsure about how their original families would receive them. They had been ‘defiled’
and, in a further complication, many were pregnant. These women knew that even if they were
accepted, their children — born out of a union with the ‘enemy’ — would never be. Often, the police
and their accomplices had to use force to take them away. ‘You could not save us then’, said the
women, ‘what right have you to compel us now?’28

V1

Compounding the refugee crisis were serious shortages of food. After the end of the war imports of
grain were steadily on the rise, increasing from 0.8 million tons (mt) in 1944 to 2.8 mt four years
later. On the eve of Independence a politician traveling through the district of East Godavari found
men and women surviving on tamarind seeds, palmyra fruits, and the bark of the jee/ugu tree — these
boiled together into gruel, eating which led to bloated stomachs, diarrhoea and sometimes death. The
following year the rainsfailed in the western province of Gujarat, leading to acute waterandfodder
scarcity. Wells and river beds ran dry, and cattle and goats died othunger and disease.2

In some places farmers were starving; in other places they were restive. In the uncertainty
following the Indian takeover of Hyderabad, the communists moved swiftly to assume control of the
Telengana region. They were aided by a pile of .303 rifles and Mark V guns left behind by the
retreating Razakars. The communists destroyed the palatial homes of landlords and distributed their
land to tillers of the soil. Dividing themselves into several dalams,or groups, each responsible for a
number of villages, the communists asked peasants not to pay land revenue, and enforced law and
order themselves.2 In districts such as Warangal and Nalgonda, their work at getting rid of feudalism
won the Reds much support. A Congress politician visiting the area admitted that ‘every housewife
silently rendered valuable assistance to the communists. Innocent looking villagers extended active
sympathy to [them].’3L

Their successes in Hyderabad had encouraged the communists to think of a countrywide peasant
revolution. Telengana, they hoped, would be the beginning of a Red India. The party unveiled its new



line at a secret conference held in Calcutta in February 1948. The mood was set by a speaker who
said that the ‘heroic people of Telengana’ had shown the way ‘to freedom and real democracy’; they
were the ‘real future of India and Pakistan’. If only the communist cadres could ‘create this spirit of
revolution among the masses, among the toiling people, we shall find reaction collapsing like ahouse
of cards’.32

At the Calcutta meeting, the party elected anewgeneral secretary, with P. C. Joshi giving way to
B. T. Ranadive. By character, Ranadive was solemn and studious, unlike the playful and likeable
Joshi. (Both, notably, were upper caste Hindus — as was typical of communist leaders of the day.)33

Joshi was a friend of Nehru who urged ‘loyal opposition’ to the ruling Congress Party. He
argued that after the murder of Gandhi the survival of free India was at stake. He supervised the
production of a party pamphlet whose title proclaimed, We Shall Defend the Nehru Government
(against the forces of Hindu revivalism). Ranadive, however, was a hardliner who believed that India
was controlled by a bourgeois government that was beholden to the imperialists. Now, in a complete
about-turn, the party described Nehru as alackey of American imperialism. The pamphlet printed by
the former general secretary was pulped. Joshi himself was demoted to a status of an ordinary
member and a whole series of charges were levelled against him. He was dubbed a reformist who
had encouraged the growth of ‘anti-revolutionary’ tendencies in the party.34

The new line of the Communist Party of India held that Nehru’s government had joined the
Anglo-American alliance in an ‘irreconcilable conflict” with the ‘democratic camp’ led by the Soviet
Union. The scattered disillusionment with the Congress was taken by B. T. Ranadive as a sign of a
‘mounting revolutionary upsurge’. From his underground hideout he called for a general strike and
peasant uprisings across the country. Communist circulars urged their cadres to ‘fraternize with the
revolutionary labourers in the factories and the students in the streets’, and to ‘turn your guns and
bayonets and fire upon the Congress fascists’. The ultimate aim was to ‘destroy the murderous
Congress government’33

Ranadive and his men took heart from the victory of the communists in China. In September
1949, shortly after Mao Zedong had come to power, Ranadive wrote him a letter of congratulation,
saying that ‘the toiling masses of India feel jubilant over this great victory. They know it hastens their
own liberation. They are inspired by it to fight more determinedly and courageously their battle for
ending the present regime [in India] and establishing the rule of People’s Democracy.’ 3¢ The Indian
communists were also egged on by Russian theoreticians, who believed that ‘the political regime
established in India is similar in many respects to the anti-popular, reactionary regime which existed
in Kuomintang China’.3? The Soviet embassy in Delhi itself had a large staff, such that (in the words
of a senior civil servant) the Indian ‘communist movement [was] receiving first-class direction on the
spot’.38

The communists had declared war on the Indian state. The government responded with all the
force at its command. As many as 50,000 party men and sympathizers were arrested and detained. In
Hyderabad the police arrested important leaders of communist dalams, although Ravi Narayan
Reddy, ‘the father of the Communist movement in Deccan, [was] still at large’. The military governor,
J. N. Chaudhuri, launched a propaganda war against the communists. Telugu pamphlets dropped on
the villages announced that the Nizam’s private Crown lands would be distributed to the peasantry.
Theatrical companies touring the villages presented the government case through drama and
pantomime. In one play, Chaudhuri was portrayed as a Hindu deity; the communists, as demons.32

The propaganda and the repression had its effect. The membership of the party dropped from
89,000 in 1948 to a mere 20,000 two years later. The government’s counter-offensive had exposed



the ‘lack of popular empathy it experienced for its unbridled revolutionism’. It appears the party had
grossly underestimated the hold of the Congress over the Indian people.£

Even as the communists were losing their influence, a band of extremists was gathering strength
on the right. This was the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh. After the murder of Mahatma Gandhi in
January 1948, the RSS was banned by the government. Although not directly involved in the
assassination, the organization had been active in the Punjab violence, and had much support among
disaffected refugees. Their worldview was akin to Nathuram Godse’s, and it was widely rumoured
that RSS men had privately celebrated his killing of the Mahatma. Writing to the Punjab government
two weeks after Gandhi’s death, Nehru said that ‘we have had enough suffering already in India
because of the activities of the R.S.S. and like groups . . . These people have the blood of Mahatma
Gandhi on their hands, and pious disclaimers and disassociation now have no meaning.’4l

So the RSS was banned, and its cadres arrested. However, after a year the government decided
to make the organization legal once more. Its head, M. S. Golwalkar, had now agreed to ask his men
to profess loyalty to the Constitution of India and the national flag, and to restrict the Sangh’s
activities ‘to the cultural sphere abjuring violence or secrecy’. The RSS chief promised the home
minister, Vallabhbhai Patel, that ‘while rendering help to the people in distress, we have laid our
emphasis on promoting peace in the country’ . Patel himself had mixed feelings about the RSS. While
deploring their anti-Muslim rhetoric he admired their dedication and discipline. In lifting the ban on
the Sangh, he advised them ‘that the only way for them is to reform the Congress from within, if they
think the Congress 1s going on the wrong path’.42

After the RSS was made legal, Golwalkar made a ‘triumphal’ speaking tour across the country,
drawing ‘mammoth crowds’ The Sangh, wrote one observer, ‘has emerged from its recent ordeal
with a mass support that other parties, not excluding the Congress, might well envy and guard against,
while it 1s yet time, unless they wish to see the country delivered to a Hindu irredentism that will lead
it to certain disaster’. The RSS was the Hindu answer to the Muslim League, ‘imbued with
aggressively communal ideas, and with the determination that there must be no compromise with the
ideal of apure and predominant Hindu culture in Bharat-Varsh’4

Like the communist B. T. Ranadive, Golwalkar was an upper caste Maharashtrian. Both men
were relatively young — in their early forties — and both commanded the loyalty of hundreds of cadres
a good deal younger than themselves. The RSS and the communists likewise drew upon the energy
and idealism of youth, and upon its fanaticism too. In the early years of Indian independence, these
two groups were the most motivated opponents of the ruling Congress Party.

At the helm of the Congress was the Prime Minister, Jawaharlal Nehru. In confronting the
radicals of left and right, Nehru faced two major handicaps. First, he was a moderate, and the middle
ground is generally not conducive to the kind of stirring rhetoric that compels men to act. Second, he
and his colleagues were far older than their political rivals. In 1949 Nehru himself was sixty, an age
at which a Hindu male is supposed to retire from the workaday world and take sanyas.

Nehru saw the RSS as the greater of the two threats. Others in his government, notably
Vallabhbhai Patel, disagreed. Intriguingly, M. S. Golwalkar had written to Patel offering help in
battling the common enemy — the communists. ‘If we utilize the power of your government and the
cultural strength of our organization’, he wrote, ‘we will be able to get rid of the [Red] menace very
soon.’# This idea of a joint front appealed to Patel; indeed, it may have been one reason he
contemplated absorbing the RSS within the Congress.

In the event, members of the RSS were not admitted into the Congress. But Golwalkar remained
at large, free to propagate his views to those who chose to hear them. In the first week of November



1949, the RSS chief addressed a crowd of 100,000 in Bombay’s Shivaji Park. A reporter in
attendance described him as ‘a man of medium height with a sunken chest, long uncut and unkempt
hair and a flowing beard’. He looked for all the world like a harmless Hindu ascetic, except that ‘the
black piercing eyes deep in the sockets gave the [RSS] Chief the typical look of a black magician
about to pull out a blood-curdling trick’. Before he spoke, Golwalkar was presented with garlands by
clubs specializing in body-building and the martial arts. The speech itself ‘waxed hot on the virtues of
Hindu culture. As the reporter put it: ‘He had a cure-all for the ills of the nation: Make Golwalkar the
Fiihrer of All India’4

A week later Jawaharlal Nehru came to speak in Bombay. The venue was the same as for
Golwalkar: Shivaji Park, that oasis of green grass in the heart of the densely packed, middle-class,
chiefly Marathi-speaking housing colonies of central Bombay. Nehru used the same microphone as
Golwalkar, this supplied by the Motwane Chicago Telephone and Radio Company. But his message
was emphatically different, for he spoke of the need to maintain social peace within India as well as
peace between warring nations abroad.

Nehru’s talk was delivered on his sixtieth birthday, 14 November 1949. He could not have
wished for a better present: the abundant affection of his countrymen. The prime minister was due to
arrive in Bombay at 4.30 p.m. An hour before his plane landed at Santa Cruz airport, ‘people started
closing their shops and stopped working so that they might be able to see Pandit Nehru. They jammed
the sidewalks and the streets long before the open maroon car carrying Panditji sped by. As he passed
by a tumultuous waving and rejoicing was noticed.’

An hour later, after awash and a change, Nehru arrived at Shivaji Park. Here, ‘a record crowd
[had]stampeded the vast maid an grounds to hear him. More than six lakhs [600,000] assembled that
memorable evening. There was one seething mass of humanity; men, women and children who had
come . . . to hear him for they still had faith in his leadership and ability to show the way in these hard
and trying times ahead of us.’4¢

A hundred thousand people had come to hear Golwalkar espouse the idea of a Hindu theocratic
state for India. But in this Maharashtrian stronghold, six times as many came to cheer the prime
minister’s defence of democracy against absolutism, and secularism against Hindu chauvinism. In this
contest between competing ideas of India, Jawaharlal Nehru was winning hands down; for the time
being, at any rate.

VII

Like the integration of the princely states, the rehabilitation of refugees was a political problem
unprecedented in nature and scope. The migrants into India from Pakistan, wrote one of their number,
were ‘like the fallen autumn leaves in the wind or bits of stray newspaper flying hither and thither in
the blown dust’. For ‘those who have come away safe in limb and mind are without any bearings and
without any roots’.4Z

The refugees who came into India after Independence numbered close to 8 million. This was
greater than the populations of small European countries such as Austria and Norway, and as many as
lived in the colossal continent of Australia. These people were resettled with time, cash, effort and,
not least, idealism.

There was indeed much heroism and grandeur in the building of a new India. There were also
errors and mistakes, loose ends that remained untied. There was pain and suffering in the



extinguishing of the princely order, and there was pain and suffering in the resettlement of the
refugees. Yet both tasks were, in the end, accomplished.

Notably, the actors in this complicated and tortuous process were all Indian. This, at least on the
British side, was completely unanticipated. A former governor of Bengal had written in 1947 of how

The end of British political control in India will not mean the departure of the British, as
individuals, from India. It will not be possible for many years ahead for India to do without a
large number of British individuals in government service. They will remain under contract to
the Government of India and to the governments of the Provinces and States in a wide range of
administrative, legal, medical, police and professional and technical appointments. It will be
many years before India will be able to fill, from amongst her own sons, all the many senior
positions under the government that the administration of her 400 million people makes
necessary.8

In the event, that help was not asked for, nor was it needed. Admittedly, the rulers had left behind a
set of functioning institutions: the civil service and the police, the judiciary and the railways, among
others. At Independence, the government of India invited British members of the ICS to stay on; with
but the odd exception, they all left for home, along with their colleagues in the other services. Thus it
came to be that the heroes remembered in these pages were all Indians — whether politicians like
Nehru and Patel, bureaucrats like Tarlok Singh and V. P. Menon, or social workers like Kamaladevi

Chattopadhyaya and Mridula Sarabhai. So too were the countless others who were unnamed then and
continue to be unknown now: the officials who took in and acted upon applications for land allotment,
the officials who built the housesand ran the hospitals and schools, the officials who sat in courts and
secretariats. Also overwhelmingly Indian were the social workers who cajoled, consoled and cared
for the refugees.

An American architect who worked in India in the early years of Independence has written with
feeling of the calibre and idealism of those around him. ‘The number and kinds of people I’ve seen’,
wrote Albert Mayer, ‘their ability, outlook, energy, and devotion; the tingling atmosphere of plans and
expectation and uncertainty; and yet the calm and self-possession — what it adds up to is being present
at the birth of a nation.’#2

In the history of nation-building only the Soviet experiment bears comparison with the Indian.
There too, a sense of unity had to be forged between many diverse ethnic groups, religions, linguistic
communities and social classes. The scale — geographic as well as demographic — was comparably
massive. The raw material the state had to work with was equally unpropitious: a people divided by
faith and riven by debt and disease.

India after the Second World War was much like the Soviet sssUnion after the First. A nation
was being built out of its fragments. In this case, however, the process was unaided by the
extermination of class enemies or the creation of gulags.



IDEAS OF INDIA

In Governance 1s realised all the forms of renunciation; in Governance is united all the
sacraments; in Governance is combined all knowledge; in Governance is centred all the Worlds.

The Mahabharata

Constitutional morality is not a natural sentiment. It has to be cultivated. We must realize that our
people have yet to learn it. Democracy in India is only a top-dressing on an Indian soil, which is
essentially undemocratic.

B. R. AMBEDKAR

I

Wit 395 arricies anp 12 schedules the constitution of India is probably the longest in the world.
Coming into effect in January 1950, it was framed over a period of three years, between December
1946 and December 1949. During this time its drafts were discussed clause by clause in the
Constituent Assembly of India. In all, the Assembly held eleven sessions, whose sittings consumed
165 days. In between the sessions the work of revising and refining the drafts was carried out by
various committees and sub-committees.

The proceedings of the Constituent Assembly of India were printed in eleven bulky volumes.
These volumes — some of which exceed 1,000 pages — are testimony to the loquaciousness of Indians,
but also to their insight, intelligence, passion and sense of humour. These volumes are a little-known
treasure-trove, invaluable to the historian, but also a potential source of enlightenment to the
interested citizen. In them we find many competing ideas of the nation, of what language it should
speak, what political and economic systems it should follow, what moralvalues it should uphold or
disavow.

I

From the early 1930s the Congress had insisted that Indians would frame their own constitution. In
1946 Lord Wavell finally gave in to the demand. The members of the Assembly were chosen on the
basis of that year’s provincial elections. However, the Muslim League chose to boycott the early
sittings, making it effectively a one-party forum.

The first meeting of the Constituent Assembly was held on 9 December 1946. A sense of
anticipation was in the air. The leading Congress members, such as Nehru and Patel, sat on the front
benches. But to demonstrate that it was not merely a Congress Party show, known opponents such as
Sarat Bose of Bengal were given seats alongside them. A nationalist newspaper noted that ‘nine
women members were present, adding colour’ to a scene dominated by Gandhi caps and Nehru



jackets .1

Apart from the members sent by the provinces of British India, the Constituent Assembly also
had representatives of the princely states, sent as these states joined the Union one by one. Eighty-two
per cent of Assembly members were also members of the Congress. However, since the party was
itself a broad church they held a wide range of views. Some were atheists and secularists, others
‘technically members of the Congress but spiritually members of the RSS and the Hindu Mahasabha’.2
Some were socialists in their economic philosophy, others defenders of the rights of landlords. Aside
from the diversity within it, the Congress also nominated independent members of different caste and
religious groups and ensured the representation of women. It particularly sought out experts in the
law. In the event ‘there was hardly any shade of public opinion not represented in the Assembly’3

This expansion of the social base of the Assembly was in part an answer to British criticism.
Winston Churchill in particular had poured scorn on the idea of a Constituent Assembly dominated by
‘one major community in India’, the caste Hindus. In his view the Congress was not a truly
representative party, but rather a mouth piece of ‘actively organised and engineered minorities who,
having seized upon power by force, or fraud or chicanery, go forward and use that power in the name
of vast masses with whom they have long since lost all effective connection’ .4

The procefss was made more participatory by asking for submissions from the public at large.
There were hundreds of responses, a sampling of which gives a clue to the interests the law-makers
had to take account of. Thus the All-India Varnashrama Swarajya Sangh (based in Calcutta) asked that
the constitution ‘be based on the principles laid down in ancient Hindu works’. The prohibition of
cow-slaughter and the closing down of abbatoirs was particularly recommended. Low-caste groups
demanded an end to their ‘ill treatment by upper-caste people’ and ‘reservation of separate seats on
the basis of their population in legislature, government departments, and local bodies, etc.’. Linguistic
minorities asked for ‘freedom of speech in [the] mother tongue’ and the ‘redistribution of provinces
on linguistic basis’. Religious minorities asked for special safeguards. And bodies as varied as the
District Teachers Guild of Vizianagaram and the Central Jewish Board of Bombay requested
‘adequate representation . . . on all public bodies including legislatures etc.’3

These submissions testify to the baffling heterogeneity of India, but also to the precocious
existence of a rights culture among Indians. They were many; they were divided; above all, they were
vocal. The Constitution of India had to adjudicate among thousands of competing claims and
demands. The task was made no easier by the turmoil of the times. The Assembly met between 1946
and 1949, against a backdrop of food scarcity, religious riots, refugee resettlement, class war and
feudal intransigence. As one historian of the process has put it, ‘Fundamental Rights were to be
framed amidst the carnage of Fundamental Wrongs’.¢

11

The Constituent Assembly had more than 300 members. In his magisterial history of the Indian
Constitution, Granville Austin identifies twenty as being the most influential. Of these, as many as
twelve had law degrees, including the Congress stalwarts Jawaharlal Nehru, Vallabhbhai Patel and
Rajendra Prasad.

Nehru’s first major speech in the Assembly was on 13 December 1946, when he moved the
Objectives Resolution. This proclaimed India as an ‘independent sovereign republic’, guaranteeing
its citizens ‘justice, social, economic and political; equality of status; of opportunity, and before the



law; freedom of thought, expression, belief, faith, worship, vocation, association and action, subject
tolawand public morality’ — all this while assuring that ‘adequate safeguards shall be provided ssfor
minorities, backward and tribal areas, and depressed and other backward classes . . .” In moving the
resolution, Nehru invoked the spirit of Gandhi and the ‘great past of India, as well as modern
precedents such as the French, American and Russian revolutions.Z

Nine months later Nehru spoke again in that columned hall, at the midnight hour, when he asked
Indians to redeem their tryst with destiny. In between, on 22 July 1947, he had moved a resolution
proposing that the national flag of India be a ‘horizontal tricolour of saffron, white and dark green in
equal proportion, with a wheel in navy blue at the centre. On this occasion Nehru led a chorus of
competitive patriotism, with each subsequent speaker seeking to see in the colours of the flag
something special about his own community’s contribution to India.&

The speeches of symbolic importance were naturally made by Nehru. Just as naturally, the bulk
of the back-room work was done by Vallabhbhai Patel. A consummate committeeman, he played a
key role in the drafting of the various reports. It was Patel, rather than the less patient Nehru, who
worked at mediating between warring groups, taking recalcitrant members with him on his morning
walks and making them see the larger point of view. It was also Patel who moved one of the more
contentious resolutions: that pertaining to minority rights.2

The third Congress member of importance was the president of the Assembly, Rajendra Prasad.
He was nominated to the office on the day after the Assembly was inaugurated and held it with dignity
until the end of its term. His was an unenviable task, for Indians are better speakers than listeners, and
Indian politicians especially so. Prasadhad to keep the peace between quarrelsome members and (just
as difficult) keep to the clock men who sometimes had little sense of what was trifling and what
significant.

Outside this Congress trinity the most crucial member of the Assembly was the brilliant low-
caste lawyer B. R. Ambedkar. Ambedkar was law minister in the Union government; and also
chairman of the Drafting Committee of the Indian Constitution. Serving with him were two other
formidable minds: K. M. Munshi, a Gujarati polymath who was a novelist and lawyer as well as
freedom fighter, and Alladi Krishnaswami Aiyar, a Tamil who for fifteen years had served as
advocate general to the Madras presidency.

To these six men one must add a seventh who was not a member of the Assembly at all. This
was B. N. Rau, who served as constitutional adviser to the government of India. In along career in the
Indian Civil Service Rau had a series of legal appointments. Using his learning and experience, and
following a fresh study-tour of Western democracies, Rau prepared a series of notes for Ambedkar
and his team to chew upon. Rau, in turn, was assisted by the chief draughtsman, S. N. Mukherjee,
whose “ability to put the most intricate proposals in the simplest and clearest legal form can rarely be
equalled’.10

IV

Moral vision, political skill, legal acumen: these were all brought together in the framing of the Indian
Constitution. This was a coming together of what Granville Austin has called the ‘national’ and
‘social’ revolutions respectively.ll The national revolution focused on democracy and liberty — which
the experience of colonial rule had denied to all Indians — whereas the social revolution focused on
emancipation and equality, which tradition and scripture had withheld from women and low castes.



Could these twin revolutionsbe brought about by indigenous methods? Some advocated a
‘Gandhian constitution’, based on a revived panchayati raj system of village councils, with the
village as the basic unit of politics and governance. This was sharply attacked by B. R. Ambedkar,
who held that ‘these village republics have been the ruination of India’. Ambedkar was ‘surprised
that those who condemn Provincialism and communalism should come forward as champions of the
village. What is the village but a sink of localism, a den of ignorance, narrow-mindedness and
communalism?’12

These remarks provoked outrage in some quarters. The socialist H. V. Kamath dismissed
Ambedkar’s attitude as ‘typical of the urban highbrow’. The peasant leader N. G. Ranga said that
Ambedkar’s comments only showed his ignorance of Indian history. ‘All the democratic traditions of
our country has [sic] been lost on him. If he had only known the achievements of the village
panchayats in Southern India over a period of amillennium, he would not have said those things.13

However, the feisty female member from the United Provinces, Begum Aizaz Rasul, ‘entirely
agreed” with Dr Ambedkar.Asshe saw it, the ‘modern tendency is towards the rights of the citizen as
against any corporate body and village panchayats can be very autocratic’14

Ultimately it was the individual, rather than the village, that was chosen as the unit. In other
respects, too, the constitution was to look towards Euro-American rather than Indian precedents. The
American presidential system was considered and rejected, as was the Swiss method of directly
electing Cabinet ministers. Several members argued for proportional representation, but this was
never taken very seriously. Another former British colony, Ireland, had adopted PR, but when the
constitutional adviser, B. N. Rau, visited Dublin, Eamon de Valera himself told him that he wished
the Irish had adopted the British ‘first-past-the-post’ system of elections and the British cabinet
system. This, he felt, made for a strong government. In India, where the number of competing interest
groups was immeasurably larger, it made even more sense to follow the British model.ls The lower
house of Parliament, as well as the lower houses of the provinces, were to be chosen on the basis of
universal adult franchise. After much discussion Parliament, as well as most provinces, decided also
to have a second chamber to act as a check on the excesses of democratic zeal. Its members were
chosen through indirect election, in the case of the Upper House of Parliament by the state
legislatures.

While the Cabinet was headed by a prime minister, the head of state was a president elected by
a college comprising the national and provincial legislatures. The president would be the
commander-in-chief of the armed forces, and had the power to refer bills back to Parliament. This
was a position of ‘great authority and dignity’, but, like those of the British monarchy, one with’no
real power’1¢ (In the provinces a governor nominated by the ‘centre’ (as central government was
coming to be known) played a role comparable to the president’s.) The constitution provided for an
independent election commission, and an independent comptroller general of accounts. To protect the
judiciary from party politics, judges were to be appointed by the president in consultation with the
chief justice, while their salaries were not decided by Parliament but charged directly to the
Treasury. The Supreme Court in Delhi was seen both as the guardian of the social revolution and as
the guarantor of civil and minority rights. It was endowed with broad appellate jurisdiction — any
civil or criminal case could be referred to it so long as it involved an interpretation of the
constitution.

The constitution mandated for a complex system of fiscal federalism. In the case of some taxes
(for instance customs duties and company taxes) the centre retained all the proceeds; in other cases
(such as income taxes and excise duties) it shared them with the states; in still other cases (e.g. estate



duties) it assigned them wholly to the states. The states, meanwhile, could levy and collect certain
taxes on their own: these included land and property taxes, sales tax, and the hugely profitable tax on
bottled liquor.

These financial provisions borrowed heavily from the Government of India Act of 1935. The
‘conscience of the constitution’,.Z meanwhile, was contained in Parts III and IV, which outlined a
series of fundamental rights and directive principles. The fundamental rights, which were enforceable
in a court of law, derived from the obligations of the state not to encroach upon or stifle personal
liberty, and to protect individuals and groups from arbitrary state action. The rights defined included
freedom and equality before the law, the cultural rights of minorities, and the prohibition of such
practices as untouchability and forced labour.l8 The directive principles, which were not justiciable,
derived from the positive obligations of the state to provide for amore fulfilling life for the citizen.
They were a curious amalgam of contending pulls. Some principles were a concession to the socialist
wing of the Congress, others (such as the ban on cow-slaughter) to the party’s conservative faction.2

To the unprejudiced eye the constitution was an adaptation of Western principles to Indian ends.
Some patriotsdid not see it that way. They claimed that it was Indians who had invented adult
suffrage. T. Prakasam spoke about an inscription on a 1,000-year-old Conjeevaram temple which
talked of an election held with leaves as ballot papers and pots as ballot boxes.22 This kind of
chauvinism was not the preserve of the south alone. The Hindi scholar Raghu Vira claimed that
ancient India was ‘the originator of the Republican system of government’, and ‘spread this system to
the otherparts of the world’.2

Those who had looked closely at the provisions of the constitution could not thus console
themselves. Mahavir Tyagi was ‘very much disappointed [to] see nothing Gandhian in this
Constitution’.2 And K. Hanumanthaiya complained that while freedom fighters like himself had
wanted ‘the music of Veena or Sitar’, what they had got instead was ‘the music of an English band’2

\%

The Constitution of India sought both to promote national unity and to facilitate progressive social
change. There was a fundamental right to propagate religion, but the state reserved to itself the right to
impose legislation oriented towards social reform (such as a uniform civil code). The centre had the
powers, through national planning, to redistribute resources away from richer provinces to poorer
ones. The right of due process was not allowed in property legislation, another instance in which the
social good as defined by the state took precedence over individual rights. Land-reform laws were on
the anvil in many provinces, and the government wanted to close the door to litigation by disaffected
moneylenders and landlords.

Fundamental rights were qualified and limited by needs of social reform, and also by
considerations of security and public order. There were provisions for rights to be suspended in
times of ‘national emergency’. And there was a clause allowing for ‘preventive detention’ without
trial. A veteran freedom fighter called this ‘the darkest blot on this constitution’. Having spent ten
years of his own life in ‘dungeons and condemned cells in the days of our slavery under the British’,
he knew ‘the tortures which detention without trial means and I can never reconcile myself to it’24

The constitution showed a certain bias towards the rights of the Union of India over those of its
constituent states. There was already a unitary system in place, imposed by the colonial power. The
violence of the times gave a further push to centralization, now seen as necessary both to forestall



chaos and to plan for the country’s economic development.

The constitution provided for three areas of responsibility: union, state and concurrent. The
subjects in the first list were the preserve of the central government while those in the second list
were vested with the states. As for the third list, here centre and state shared responsibility.
However, many more items were placed under exclusive central control than in other federations, and
more placed on the concurrent list too than desired by the provinces. The centre also had control of
minerals and key industries. And Article 356 gave it the powerto takeovera state administration on
the recommendation of the governor.2

Provincial politicians fought hard for the rights of states, for fewer items to be put on the
concurrent and union lists. They asked for a greater share of tax revenues and they mounted an
ideological attack on the principle itself. A member from Orissa said that the constitution had ‘so
centralised power, that I am afraid, due to its very weight, the Centre is likely to break’. A member
from Mysore thought that what was proposed was a ‘unitary’ rather than ‘federal’ constitution. Under
its provisions ‘democracy is centred in Delhi and it is not allowed to work in the same sense and
spirit in the rest of the country’.26

Perhaps the most eloquent defence of states’ rights came from K. Santhanam of Madras. He
thought that the fiscal provisions would make provinces ‘beggars at the door of the Centre’. In the
UnitedStates, both centre and state could levy ‘all kinds of tax’, but here, crucial sources of revenue,
such as the income tax, had been denied the provinces. Besides, the Drafting Committee had tried ‘to
burden the Centre with all kinds of powers which it ought not to have .These included ‘vagrancy’,
which had been taken away from the states list and put on the concurrent list. ‘Do you want all India
to be bothered about vagrants?’ asked Santhanam sarcastically. As he put it, rather than place an
excessive load on the Union government, ‘the initial responsibility for the well-being of the people of
the provinces should rest with theP rovincial Governments’.2

The next day a member from the United Provinces answered these charges. Hearing Santhanam,
he wondered whether it was not ‘India’s age-old historical tendency of disintegrating that was
speaking through these stalwarts’. A strong centre was an absolute imperative in these ‘times of stress
and strain . Only a strong centre would ‘be in a position to think and plan for the well-being of the
country as a whole’.28

Members of the Drafting Committee vigorously defended the unitary bias of the constitution. In
an early session B. R. Ambedkar told the House that he wanted ‘a strong united centre (hear, hear)
much stronger than the centre we had created under the Government of India Act of 1935°.2 And K.
M. Munshi argued for the construction of ‘a federation with a centre as strong as we can make it’.32 In
some matters Munshi was close to being a Hindu chauvinist; but here he found himself on the same
side as the Muslims. For the horrific communal violence of 1946 and 1947 bore witness to the need
for a strong centre. In the words of Kazi Syed Karimuddin, ‘everybody is not Pandit Jawaharlal
Nehru’ (in respect of his commitment to inter-religious harmony). There were ‘weak and vacillating
executives in all the Provinces’, said the kazi. Thus ‘what we want today is astable Government.
What we want today i1s a patriotic Government. What we want today is a strong Government, an
impartial and unbending executive, that does not bow before popular whims.’3!

\ 4|

Much attention was paid by the Assembly to the rights of the minorities. The first extended discussion



of the subject took place a bare ten days after Partition. Here, a Muslim from Madras made a
vigorous plea for the retention of separate electorates. ‘As matters stand at present in this country’,
said B. Pocker Bahadur, it was ‘very difficult’ for non-Muslims ‘to realise the needs and
requirements of the Muslim community’. If separate electorates were abolished, then important
groups would be left feeling ‘that they have not got an adequate voice in the governance of the
country’.32

The home minister, Sardar Patel, was deeply unsympathetic to this demand. Separate electorates
had in the past led to the division of the country. ‘Those who want that kind of thing have a place in
Pakistan, not here,” thundered Patel to a burst of applause. ‘Here, we are building a nation and we are
laying the foundations of One Nation, and those who choose to divide again and sow the seeds of
disruption will have no place, no quarter, here, and I must say that plainly enough.’33

There were, however, some Muslims who fromthestart were opposedto separate electorates.
These included Begum Aizaz Rasul. It was ‘absolutely meaningless’ now to have reservation on the
basis of religion, said the begum. Separate electorates were ‘a self-destructive weapon which
separates the minorities from the majority for all time’. For the interests of the Muslims in a secular
democracy were ‘absolutely identical’ with those of other citizens.3

By 1949 Muslim members who had at first demanded separate electorates came round to the
begum’s point of view. They sensed that reservation for Muslims ‘would be really harmful to the
Muslims themselves’. Instead, the Muslims should reconstitute themselves as voting blocs, so that in
constituencies where they were numerous, no candidate could afford to ignore them. They could even
come to ‘have A decisive voice in the elections’; for ‘it may be that an apparently huge majority may
at the end . . . find itself defeated by a single vote’. Therefore, ‘the safety of the Muslims lies in
intelligently playing their part and mixing themselves with the Hindus in public affairs’.33

A vulnerable minority even more numerous than the Muslims were the women of India. The
female members of the Assembly had come through the national movement and were infected early
with the spirit of unity. Thus Hansa Mehta of Bombay rejected reserved seats, quotas or separate
electorates. ‘We have never asked for privileges’, she remarked. ‘What we have asked for is social
justice, economic justice, and political justice. We have asked for that equality which alone can be
the basis of mutual respect and understanding and without which real co-operation is not possible
between man and woman.’3¢ Renuka Roy of Bengal agreed: unlike the ‘narrow suffragist
movement[s]” of ‘many so-called enlightened nations’, the women of India strove for ‘equality of
status, for justice and for fair play and most of all to be able to take their part in responsible work in
the service of their country’. For ‘ever since the start of the Women’s Movement in this country,
women have been fundamentally opposed to special privileges and reservations’.3Z

The only voice in favour of reservation for women was a man’s. This was strange; stranger still
was the logic of his argument. From his own ‘experience as a parliamentarian and a man of the
world’,)said R. K. Chaudhuri,

I think it would be wise to provide for a women’s constituency. When a woman asks for
something, as we know, it is easy to get it and give it to her; but when she does not ask for
anything in particular it becomes very difficult to find out what she wants. If you give them a
special constituency they can have their scramble and fight there among themselves without
coming into the general constituency. Otherwise we may at times feel weak and yield in their
favour and give them seats which they are not entitled to.38



VIl

There would be no reservation for Muslims and women. But the constitution did recommend
reservation for Untouchables. This was in acknowledgement of the horrific discrimination they had
suffered, and also a bow towards Mahatma Gandhi, who had long held that true freedom, or swaraj,
would come only when Hindu society had rid itself of this evil. It was also Gandhi who had made
popular a newterm for ‘Untouchables’, which was ‘Harijans’, or children of God.

The constitution set aside seats in legislatures as well as jobs in government offices for the
lowest castes. It also threw open Hindu temples to all castes, and asked for the abolition of
untouchability in society at large. These provisions were very widely welcomed. Munis-wamyPillai
of Madras remarked that ‘the fair name of India was a slur and a blot by having untouchability . . .
[G]reat saints tried their level best to abolish untouchability but it is given to this august Assembly
and the new Constitution to say in loud terms that no more untouchability shall stay in our country. 2

As H. J. Khandekar of the Central Provinces pointed out, Untouchables were conspicuously
under-represented in the upper echelons of the administration. In the provinces, where they might
constitute up to 25 per cent of the population, there was often only one Harijan minister, whereas
Brahmins who made up only 2 per cent of the population might command two-thirds of the seats in the
Cabinet. Khandekar suggested that despite the public commitment of the Congress, ‘except for
Mahatma Gandhi and ten or twenty other [upper-caste] persons there is none to think of the uplift of
the Harijans in the true sense’.

This member eloquently defended the extension of reservation to jobs in government. He alluded
to the recent recruitment to the Indian Administrative Service, the successor to the ICS. Many
Harijans were interviewed but all were found unsuitable on the grounds that their grades were not
good enough. Addressing his upper-caste colleagues, Khandekar insisted that

You are responsible for our being unfit today. We were suppressed for thousands of years. You

engaged in your service to serve your own ends and suppressed us to such an extent that neither
our minds nor our bodies and nor even our hearts work, nor are we able to march forward. This
is the position. You have reduced us to such a position and then you say that we are not fit and
that we have not secured the requisite marks. How can we secure them?40

The argument was hard, if not impossible, to refute. But some members warned against the possible
abuse of the provisions. One thought that ‘those persons who are clamouring for these seats, for
reservation, for consideration, represent a handful of persons, constituting the cream of Harijan
society’. These were the ‘politically powerful among these groups.s For the left-wing congress
politician Mahavir Tyagi, reservation did not lead to real representation. For ‘no caste ever gets any
benefit from this reservation. It is the individual or family which gets benefits’. Instead of caste,
perhaps there might be reservation by class, such that ‘cobblers, fishermen and other such classes
send their representatives through reservation because they are the ones who do not really get any
representation’42

VI



The first report on minority rights, made public in late August 1947, provided for reservation for
Untouchables only. Muslims were denied the right, which in the circumstances was to be expected.
However, one member of the Assembly regretted that ‘the most needy, the most deserving group of
adibasis [tribals] has been completely left out of the picture’.4

The member was Jaipal Singh, himself an adivasi, albeit of a rather special kind. Jaipal was
aMunda from Chotanagpur, the forested plateau of South Bihar peopled by numerous tribes all more-
or-less distinct from caste Hindu society. Sent by missionaries to study in Oxford, he made a name
there as a superb hockey player. He obtained a Blue, and went on to captain the Indian team that won
the gold medal in the 1928 Olympic Games.

On his return to India Jaipal did not, as hissponsors no doubt hoped, preach theGospel, but came
to invent a kind of gospel of hisown. This held that the tribals were the ‘original inhabitants’ of the
subcontinent — hence the term ‘adibasi’ or ‘adivasi’, which means precisely that. Jaipal formed an
Adibasi Mahasabha in 1938 which asked for a separate state of ‘Jharkhand’, to be carved out of
Bihar. To the tribals of Chotanagpur he was their marang gomke, or ‘greatleader’ . In the Constituent
Assembly he came to represent the tribals not just of his native plateau, but of all India.#

Jaipal was a gifted speaker, whose interventions both enlivened and entertained the House. (In
this respect, the Church’s loss was unquestionably politics’ gain.) His first speech was made on 19
December 1946 when, in welcoming the Objectives Resolution, he provided a masterly summation of
the adivasi case. ‘As ajungli, as an adibasi’, said Jaipal,

I am not expected to understand the legal intricacies of the Resolution. But my common sense
tells me that every one of us should march in that road to freedom and fight together. Sir, if there
is any group of Indian people that has been shabbily treated it is my people. They have been
disgracefully treated, neglected for the last 6,000 years. The history of the Indus Valley
civilization, a child of which I am, shows quite clearly that it is the newcomers — most of you
here are intruders as far as I am concerned — it is the newcomers who have driven away my
people from the Indus Valley to the jungle fastness . . . The whole history of my people is one of
continuous exploitation and dispossession by the non-aboriginals of India punctuated by
rebellions and disorder, and yet I take Pandit Jawahar Lal Nehru at his word. I take you all at
your word that now we are going to start a new chapter, a new chapter of independent India
where there is equality of opportunity, where no one would be neglected.4

Three years later, in the discussion on the draft constitution, Jaipal made as peech that was spirited in
all senses of the word. Bowing to pressure by Gandhians, the prohibition of alcohol had been made a
directive principle. This, said the adivasi leader, was an interference ‘with the religious rights of the
most ancient people in the country’. For alcohol was part of their festivals, their rituals, indeed their
daily life itself. In West Bengal ‘it would be impossible for paddy to be transplanted if the Santhal
does not get his rice beer. These ill-clad men. . . have to work knee-deep in water throughout the day,
in drenching rain and in mud. What is it in the rice beer that keeps them alive? I wish the medical
authorities in this country would carry out research in their laboratories to find out what it is that the
rice beer contains, of which the Adibasis need so much and which keeps them [protected] against all
manner of diseases.’4

The Constituent Assembly had convened asub-committee on tribal rights headed by the veteran
social worker A. V. Thakkar. Its findings, and the words of Jaipal and company, sensitized the House
to the tribal predicament. As a member from Bihar observed, ‘the tribal people have been made a



pawn on the chessboard of provincial politics’. There had been ‘exploitation on a mass scale; we
must hang down our heads in shame’ .47 The ‘we’ referred to Hindu society as a whole. It had sinned
against adivasis by either ignoring them or exploiting them. It had done little to bring them modern
facilities of education and health; it had colonized their land and forests; and it had brought them
under a regime of usury and debt. And so, to make partial amends, tribals would also have seats in the
legislature and jobs in government ‘reserved’ for them.

IX

The most controversial subject in the Assembly was language: the language to be spoken in the
House, the language in which the constitution would be written, the language that would be given that
singular designation, ‘national’. On 10 of December 1946, while the procedures of the House were
still being discussed, R. V. Dhulekar of the United Provinces moved an amendment. When he began
speaking in Hindustani, the chairman reminded him that many members did not know the language.
This was Dhulekar’s reply:

People who do not know Hindustani have no right to stay in India. People who are present in this
House to fashion a constitution for India and do not know Hindustani are not worthy to be
members of this Assembly. They had better leave.

The remarks created acommotion in the House. ‘Order, order!” yelled the chairman, butDhulekar
continued:

I move that the Procedure Committee should frame rules in Hindustani and not in English. As an
Indian I appeal that we, who are out to win freedom for our country and are fighting for it, should
think and speak in our own language. We have all along been talking of America, Japan,
Germany, Switzerland and House of Commons. It has given me a headache. I wonder why
Indians do not speak in their own language. As an Indian I feel that the proceedings of the House
should be conducted in Hindustani. We ar enot concerned with the history of the world. We have
the history of our own country of millions of past years.

The printed proceedings continue:

The Chairman: Order, order!

Shri R. V. Dhulekar (speaking still in Hindustani): I request you to allow me to move my
amendment.

The Chairman: Order, order! I do not permit you to proceed further. The House is with me that

you are out of order.28

At this point Jawaharlal Nehru went up to the rostrum and persuaded Dhulekar to return to his seat.
Afterwards Nehru told the errant member of the need to maintain discipline in the House. He told him



that ‘this is not a public meeting in Jhansi that you should address “Bhaio aur Behno™ [brothers and
sisters] and start lecturing at the top of your voice .£2

But the issue would not go away. In one session members urged the House to order the Delhi
government to rule that all car number plates should be in Hindi script.2® More substantively, they
demanded that the official version of the Constitution be in Hindi, with an unofficial version in
English. This the Drafting Committee did not accept, on the grounds that English was better placed to
incorporate the technical and legal terms of the document. When a draft constitution was placed
before the House for discussion, members nevertheless asked for a discussion of each clause written
in Hindi. To adopt a document written in English, they said, would be ‘insulting’.3L

It is necessary, at this point, to introduce a distinction between ‘Hindustani’ and ‘Hindi’. Hindi,
written in the Devanagari script,drew heavily on Sanskrit. Urdu, written in a modified Arabic script,
drew on Persian and Arabic. Hindustani, the /ingua franca of much of northern India, was a unique
amalgam of the two. From the nineteenth century, as Hindu-Muslim tension grew in northern India, the
two languages began to move further and further apart. On the one side there arose a movement to root
Hindi more firmly in Sanskrit; on the other, to root Urdu more firmly in the classical languages from
which it drew. Especially in the literary world, a purified Hindi and a purified Urdu began to
circulate.2

Through all this, the language of popular exchange remained Hindustani. This was intelligible to
Hindi and Urdus peakers, but also to the speakers of most of the major dialects of the Indo-Gangetic
plain: Awadhi, Bhojpuri, Maithili, Marwari and so on. However, Hindustani, as well as Hindi and
Urdu, were virtually unknown in eastern and southern India. The languages spoken here were
Assamese, Bengali, Kannada, Malayalam, Oriya, Tamil and Telugu, each with a script and
sophisticated literary tradition of its own.

Under British rule, English had emerged as the language of higher education and administration.
Would it remain in this position after the British left? The politicians of the north thought that it should
be Replaced by Hindi. The politicians and people of the south preferred that English continue as the
vehicle of inter-provincial communication.

Jawaharlal Nehru himself was exercised early by the question. In a long essay written in 1937
he expressed his admiration for the major provincial languages. Without ‘infringing in the least on
their domain’ there must, he thought, still be an all-India language of communication. English was too
far removed from the masses, so he opted instead for Hindustani, which he defined as a ‘golden
mean’ between Hindi and Urdu. At this time, with Partition not even a possibility, Nehru thought that
both scripts could be used. Hindustani had a simple grammar and was relatively easy to learn, but to
make it easier still, linguists could evolve a Basic Hindustani after the fashion of Basic English, to be
promoted by the state in southern India.33

Like Nehru, Gandhi thought that Hindustani could unite north with south, and Hindu with Muslim.
It, rather than English, should be made the rashtrabhasha, or national language. As he put it, ‘Urdu
diction is used by Muslims in writing. Hindi diction is used by Sanskrit pundits. Hindustani is the
sweetmingling of the two.’24 In 1945 he engaged in a lively exchange with Purushottamdas Tandon, a
man who fought hard, not to say heroically, to rid Hindi of its foreign elements. Tandon was vice-
president of the All-India Hindi Literature Conference, which argued that Hindi with the Devanagari
script alone should be the national language. Gandhi, who had long been a member of the
Conference,was dismayed by its chauvinist drift. Since he believed that both the Nagari and Urdus
scripts should be used, perhaps it was time to resign his membership. Tandon tried to dissuade him,
but, as Gandhi put it, ‘How can I ride two horses? Who will understand me when I say that



rashtrabhasha = Hindi and rashtrabhasha = Hindi + Urdu = Hindustani?’33

Partition more or less killed the case for Hindustani. The move to further Sanskritize Hindi
gathered pace. One saw this at work in the Constituent Assembly, where early references were to
Hindustani, but later references all to Hindi. After the division of the country the promoters of Hindi
became even more fanatical. As Granville Austin observes, ‘The Hindi-wallahs were ready to risk
splitting the Assembly and the country in their unreasoning pursuit of uniformity.’3¢ Their crusade
provoked some of the most furious debates in the House. Hindustani was not acceptable to south
Indians; Hindi even less so. Whenever a member spoke in Hindi, another member would ask for a
translation into English.3Z When the case was made for Hindi to be the sole national language, it was
bitterly opposed. Representative are these remarks of T. T. Krishnamachari of Madras:

We disliked the English language in the past. I disliked it because I was forced to learn
Shakespeare and Milton, for which I had no taste at all . . . [I]f we are going to be compelled to
learn Hindi . . . I would perhaps not be able to do it because of my age, and perhaps 1 would not
be willing to do it because of the amount of constraint you put on me . . . This kind of intolerance
makes us fear that the strong Centre which we need, a strong Centre which is necessary will also
mean the enslavement of people who do not speak the language of the Centre. I would, Sir,
convey a warning on behalf of people of the South for the reason that there are already elements
in South India who want separation . . ., andmy honourable friends in U.P. do not help us in
anyway by flogging their idea [of] ‘Hindi Imperialism’ to the maximum extent possible. Sir, it is
up to my friends in U.P. to have a whole-India; it is up to them to have a Hindi-India. The choice
is theirs . . .38

The Assembly finally arrived at a compromise; that ‘the official language of the Union shall be Hindi
in the Devanagari script’; but for ‘fifteen years from the commencement of the Constitution, the
English language shall continue to be used for all the official purposes of the Union for which it was
being used immediately before such commencement’.?2 Till 1965, at any rate, the notes and
proceedings of the courts, the services, and the all-India bureaucracy would be conducted in English.

X

Mahatma Gandhi had once expressed his desire to see an Untouchable woman installed as the first
president of India. That did not happen, but some compensation was at hand when an Untouchable
man, Dr B. R. Ambedkar, was asked to serve as the chairman of the Drafting Committee of the
Constituent Assembly.

On 25 November 1949, the day before the Assembly wound up its proceedings, Ambedkar made
a moving speech summing up their work.¢2 He thanked his fellow members of the Drafting Committee,
thanked their support staff, and thanked a party of which he had been a lifelong opponent. Without the
quietwork in and out of the House by the Congress bosses, he would not have been able to render
order out of chaos. ‘It is because of the discipline of the Congress Party that the Drafting Committee
was able to pilot the Constitution in the Assembly with the sure knowledge as to the fate of each
article and each amendment.’

In a concession to patriotic nostalgia, Ambedkar then allowed that some form of democracy was



not unknown in ancient India. ‘There was a time when India was studded with republics’.
Characteristically he invoked the Buddhists, who had furthered the democratic ideal in their Bhikshu
Sanghas, which applied rules akin to those of Parliamentary Procedure — votes, motions, resolutions,
censures and whips.

Ambedkar also assured the House that the federalism of the constitution in no way denied states’
rights. It was mistaken, he said, to think that there was ‘too much centralization and that the States
have been reduced to Municipalities’. The constitution had partitioned legislative and executive
authority, but the Centre could not on its own alter the boundary of this partition. In his words, ‘the
Centre and the States are co-equal in this matter .

Ambedkar ended his speech with three warnings about the future. The first concerned the place
of popular protest in a democracy. There was no place for bloody revolution, of course, but in his
view there was no room for Gandhian methods either. ‘We must abandon the method of civil
disobedience, non-cooperation and satyagraha [popular protest]’. Under an autocratic regime, there
might be some justification for them, but not now, when constitutional methods of redress were
available. Satyagraha and the like, said Ambedkar, were ‘nothing but the grammar of anarchy and the
sooner they are abandoned, the better for us’

The second warning concerned the unthinking submission to charismatic authority. Ambedkar
quoted John Stuart Mill, who cautioned citizens not ‘to lay their liberties at the feet of even a
greatman, or to trust him with powers which enable him to subvert their institutions’. This warning
was even more pertinent here than in England, for

in India, Bhakti or what may be called the path of devotion or hero-worship, plays apart in its
politics unequalled in magnitude by the part it plays in the politics of any other country in the
world. Bhakti in religion may be the road to the salvation of a soul. But in politics, Bhakti or
hero-worship is a sure road to degradation and to eventual dictatorship.

Ambedkar’s final warning was to urge Indians not to be content with what he called ‘mere political
democracy’. India had got rid of alien rule, but it was still riven by inequality and hierarchy. Thus,
once the country formally became a republic on 26 January 1950, it was

going to enter a life of contradictions. In politics we will have equality and in social and
economic life we will have inequality. In politics we will be recognizing the principle of one
man one vote and one vote one value. In our social and economic life, we shall, by reason of our
social and economic structure, continue to deny the principle of one man one value. Howlong
shall we continue to live this life of contradictions? How long shall we continue to deny equality
in our social and economic life? If we continue to deny it for long, we will do so only by putting
our political democracy in peril.

X1

Eight months before the Constituent Assembly of India was convened a new constitution had been
presented for approval to the Japanese Parliament, the Diet. However, this document had been almost
wholly written by a group of foreigners. In early February 1946 twenty-four individuals — all



Americans, and sixteen of them military officials — met in a converted ballroom in Tokyo. Here they
sat for a week before coming up with a constitution they thought the Japanese should adopt. This was
then presented as a fait accompli to the local political leadership, who were allowed to ‘Japanize’
the draft by translating it into the local tongue. The draft was also discussed in Parliament, but every
amendment, even the most cosmetic, had to be approved beforehand by the American authorities.

The historian of this curious exercise writes that ‘no modern nation ever has rested on amore
alien constitution’.?! The contrast with the Indian case could not be more striking. One constitution
was written in the utmost secrecy; the other drafted and discussed in the full glare of the press. One
was finalized at breakneck speed and written by foreigners. The other was written wholly by natives
and emerged from several years of reflection and debate. In fairness, though, one should admit that,
despite their different provenances, both constitutions were, in essence, liberal humanist credos. One
could equally say of the Indian document what the American supervisor said of the Japanese draf,
namely, that ‘it constitutes a sharp swing from the extreme right in political thinking — yet yields
nothing to the radical concept of the extreme left’.%2

Granville Austin has claimed that the framing of the Indian Constitution was ‘perhaps the
greatest political venture since that originated in Philadelphia in 1787°. The outlining of a set of
national ideals, and of an institutional mechanism to work towards them, was ‘a gigantic step for a
people previously committed largely to irrational means of achieving other-worldly goals’. For this,
as the title of the last section of Austin’s book proclaims, ‘the credit goes to the Indians’.%3



PART TWO



NEHRU’S INDIA



THE BIGGEST GAMBLE IN HISTORY

We are little men serving great causes, but because the cause is great, something of that greatness
falls upon us also.

JawanarcaL Neuru, 1946

India means only two things to us — famines and Nehru.

American journalist, 1951

I

IN THE FIRST YEARS of freedom, the ruling Congress Party faced threats from without, and within. As
rebels against the Raj the nationalists had been sacrificing idealists, but as governors they came rather
to enjoy the fruits of office.As a veteran Madras journalist put it, ‘in the post-Gandhian war for power
the first casualty is decency’.l Time magazine commented that after independence was achieved, the
Congress ‘found itself without a unifying purpose. It grew fat and lazy, today harbors many time-
serving office-holders [and] not a few black-marketeers’.2 An influential Bombay weekly remarked
that ‘from West Bengal to Uttar Pradesh, along the Gangetic Valley, the Congress is split. The old
glamour of the premier political organization is fading, factions are becoming more acute and the
party’s unpopularity is increasing.’3

There were party factions at the district level, as well as at the provincial level. However, the
most portentous of the cleavages was between the two biggest stalwarts, Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru and
Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel. These two men, prime minister and deputy prime minister respectively, had
major differences in the first months following Independence. Gandhi’s death made them come to
gether again. But in 1949 and 1950 the differences resurfaced.

In character and personality Nehru and Patel were certainly a study in contrast. The prime
minister was a Brahmin from an upper-class background whose father had also been a prominent
figure in the nationalist movement. His deputy, on the other hand, was from a farming caste, and a
descendant of a sepoy mutineer of 1857. Nehru loved good food and wine, appreciated fine art and
literature and had travelled widely abroad. Patel was anon-smoker, vegetarian, teetotaller, and, on
the whole, ‘a hard task master with little time for play’. He got up at 4 a.m., attended to his
correspondence for an hour and then went for a walk through the dimly lit streets of New Delhi.
Besides, ‘a grave exterior and a cold and cynical physiognomy [made] the Sardar areally tough
personality’. In the words of the New York Times,hewas ‘leather tough’.

There were also similarities. Both Nehru and Patel had a daughter as their housekeeper,
companion and chief confidante. Both were politicians of a conspicuous integrity. And both were
fierce patriots. But their ideas did not always mesh. As one observer rather delicately put it, ‘the
opposition of the Sardar to the leftist elements in the country is one of the major problems of political
adjustment facing India’. He meant here that Patel was friendly with capitalists while Nehru believed
in state control of the economy; that Patel was more inclined to support the West in the emerging Cold



War; and that Patel was more forgiving of Hindu extremism and harsher on Pakistan.

In late 1949 Nehru and Patel had a major disagreement. In the New Year, India would transform
itself froma ‘dominion’, where the British monarch was head of state, to a full-fledged republic.
Nehru thought that when the governor generalship became a presidency, the incumbent, C.
Rajagopalachari, should retain the job. ‘Rajaji’ was an urbanes cholar with whom the prime minister
then got along very well. Patel, however, preferred Rajendra Prasad, who was close to him but who
also had wider acceptance within the Congress Party. Nehru had assured Rajaji that he would be
president, but much to his annoyance, and embarrassment, Patel got the Congress rank-and-file to put
Prasad’s name forward instead.2

The original date of Indian independence, 26 January, was chosen as the first Republic Day. The
new head of state, Rajendra Prasad, took the salute in what was to become an annual and ever more
spectacular parade. Three thousand men of the armed forces marched before the president. The
artillery fired a thirty-one-gun salute while Liberator planes of the Indian air force flew overhead.
Gandhi’s India was announcing itself as a sovereign nation-state.¢

Round one had gone to Patel. A few months later commenced round two, the battle for the
presidency of the Indian National Congress. For this post Patel had put forward Purushottamdas
Tandon, a veteran of the Congress from the United Provinces, indeed, from the prime minister’s own
home town of Allahabad. Tandon and Nehru were personal friends, but hardly ideological
bedfellows, for the presidential candidate was ‘a bearded, venerable orthodox Hindu . . . who
admirably represented the extreme communalist wing of the [Congress] party’. He was, in sum, ‘a
personification of political and social anachronisms’, an ‘anti-Muslim and pro-caste Hindu who
stood for ‘the resurrection of a dead culture and along extinct system of society’.z

Nehru had previously criticized Tandon for his desire to impose Hindi on regions of India which
did not know the language. He was particularly upset when his fellow Allahabadi addressed a
conference of refugees and spoke of revenge against Pakistan. India, believed Nehru, needed the
healing touch, a policy of reconciliation between Hindus and Muslims. The election of Tandon as the
president of the premier political party, the prime minister sown party, would send all the wrong
signals.

When the election for the Congress presidency was held in August 1950 Tandon won
comfortably. Nehru now wrote to Rajagopalachari that the result was ‘the clearest of indications that
Tandon’s election is considered more important than my presence in the Govt or the Congress . . . All
my instincts tell me that Thave completely exhausted my utility both in the Congress and Govt’. The
next day he wrote again to Rajaji, saying, ‘I am feeling tired out — physically and mentally. Ido not
think I can function with any satisfaction to myself in future.’$

Rajaji now tried to work out a compromise between the two factions. Patel was amenable,
suggesting a joint statement under both their names, where he and Nehru would proclaim their
adherence to certain fundamentals of Congress policy. The prime minister, however, decided to go it
alone. After two weeks of contemplation he had decided to exchange resignation for truculence. On
13 September 1950 he issued a statement to the press deploring the fact that ‘communalist and
reactionary forces have openly expressed their joy at Tandon’s victory. He was distressed, he said,
that the ‘spirit of communalism and revivalism has gradually invaded the Congress, and sometimes
affects Government policy’. But, unlike Pakistan, India was a secular state. ‘We have to treat our
minorities in exactly the same way as we treat the majority’, insisted Nehru. ‘Indeed, fair treatment is
not enough; we have to make them feel that they are so treated. Now, ‘in view of the prevailing
confusion and the threat of false doctrine, it has become essential that the Congress should declare its



policy in this matter in the clearest and most unambiguous terms.’2

Nehru felt that it was the responsibility of the Congress and the government to make the Muslims
in India feel secure. Patel, on the other hand, was inclined to place the responsibility on the minorities
themselves. He had once told Nehru that the ‘Muslims citizens in India have a responsibility to
remove the doubts and misgivings entertained by a large section of the people about their loyalty
founded largely on their past association with the demand for Pakistan and the unfortunate activities
of some of them.’12

On the minorities question, as on other matters of philosophy and policy, Nehru and Patel would
never completely see eye to eye. Now, however, in the aftermath of the bitter contest for the Congress
presidency, the older man did not press the point. For Patel knew that the destruction of their party
might very well mean the destruction of India. He thus told Congress members who visited him to ‘do
what Jawaharlal says’ and to ‘pay no attention to this controversy’. On 2 October, while inaugurating
a women’s centre in Indore, he used the occasion of Gandhi’s birth anniversary to affirm his loyalty
to the prime minister. He described himself in his speech as merely one of the many non-violent
soldiers in Gandhi’s army. Now that the Mahatma was gone, ‘Jawaharlal Nehru is our leader, said
Patel. ‘Bapu [Gandhi] appointed him as his successor and had even proclaimed him as such. It is the
duty of all Bapu’s soldiers to carry out his bequest . . . I am not a disloyal soldier.”d

Such is the evidence placed before us by Patel’s biographer, Rajmohan Gandhi. It confirms in
fact what Nehru’s biographer (Sarvepalli Gopal) had expressed in feeling: that what forestalled ‘an
open rupture [between the two men] was mutual regard and Patel’s stoic decency’.l2 Patel
remembered his promise to Gandhi to work along with Jawaharlal. And by the time of the
controversy over the Congress presidency he was also a very sick man. It was from his bed that he
sent a congratulatory handwritten letter to Nehru on his birthday, 14 November. A week later, when
the prime minister visited him at his home, Patel said: ‘I want totalk to you alone when I get a little
strength . . . I have a feeling that you are losing confidence in me.” ‘I have been losing confidence in
myself, answered Nehru.12

Three weeks later Patel was dead. It fell to the prime minister to draft the Cabinet Resolution
mourning his passing. Nehru singled out his devotion to a ‘united and strong India’, and his ‘genius in
solving the complicated problem of the princely states. To Nehru, Patel was both comrade and rival;
butto their compatriots he was ‘an unmatched warrior in the cause of freedom, a lover of India, a
great servant of the people and a statesman of genius and mighty achievement’. 14

II

Vallabhbhai Patel’s death in December 1950 removed the one Congress politician who was of equal
standing to Nehru. No longer were there two power centres within India’s ruling party. However, the
prime minister still had to contend with two somewhat lesser rivals; the president of the Congress,
Purushottamdas Tandon, and the president of the republic, Rajendra Prasad. Nehru’s biographer says
of Prasad that he was ‘prominent in the ranks of medievalism’.ls That judgement is perhaps
excessively harsh on a patriot who had sacrificed much in the cause of Indian freedom. Nonetheless,
it was clear that the prime minister and the president differed on some crucial subjects, such as the
place of religion in public life.

These differences came to a head in the spring of 1951 when the president was asked to
inaugurate the newly restored Somnath temple in Gujarat. Once fabled for its wealth, Somnath had



been raided several times by Muslim chiefs, including the notorious eleventh-century marauder
Mahmud of Ghazni. Each time the temple was razedit was rebuilt. Then the Mughal emperor
Aurangzeb ordered its total destruction. It lay in ruinsfor two and a half centuries until Sardar Patel
himself visited it in September 1947 and promised help in its reconstruction. Patel’s colleague K. M.
Munshi then took charge of the rebuilding.16

When the president of India chose to dignify the temple’s consecration with his presence, Nehru
was appalled. He wrote to Prasad advising him not to participate in the ‘spectacular opening of the
Somnath temple [which] . . . unfortunately has a number of implications. Personally, I thought that this
was no time to lay stress on large-scale building operations at Somnath. This could have been done
gradually and more effectively later. However, this has been done. [Still] Ifeel that it would be better
if you did not preside over this function.’Z

Prasad disregarded the advice and went to Somnath. To his credit, however, his speech there
stressed the Gandhian ideal of inter-faith harmony. True, he nostalgically evoked a Golden Age when
the gold in India’s temples symbolized great wealth and prosperity. The lesson from Somnath’s later
history, however, was that ‘religious intolerance only foments hatred and immoral conduct’. By the
same token, the lesson of its reconstruction was not to ‘open old wounds, which have healed to some
extent over the centuries’, but rather to ‘help each caste and community to obtain full freedom’.
Calling for ‘complete religious tolerance, the president urged his audience to ‘try to understand the
great essence of religion’, namely, ‘that it is not compulsory to follow a single path to realize Truth
and God’. For ‘just as all the rivers mingle together in the vast ocean, similarly different religions
help men to reach God’.18

One does not know whether Nehru read the speech. In any case, he would have preferred Prasad
not to go at all. The prime minister thought that public officials should never publicly associate with
faiths and shrines. The president, on the other hand, believed that it should be equally and publicly
respectful of all. Although he was a Hindu, said Prasadat Somnath, ‘I respect all religions and on
occasion visit a church, a mosque, a dargah and a gurdwara’.

Meanwhile, the growing Hindu tint of the Congress had led to the departure of some of its most
effervescent leaders. Already in 1948 a group of brilliant young Congress members had left to start
the Socialist Party. Now, in June1951, the respected Gandhian J. B. Kripalani left to form his Kisan
Majdoor Praja Party (KMPP), which, as its name indicated, stood for the interests of farmers,
workers and other toiling people. Like the Socialists, Kripalani claimed that the Congress under
Purushottamdas Tandon had become a deeply conservative organization.

As it happened, the formation of the KMPP strengthened Nehru’s hand against Tandon. The
Congress, he could now say, had to move away from the reactionary path it had recently adopted and
reclaim its democratic and inclusive heritage. In September, when the All-India Congress Committee
met in Bangalore, Nehru forced a showdown with Tandon and his supporters. The rank and file of the
party was increasingly concerned with the upcoming general election. And, as a southern journalist
pointed out, it was clear that the AICC would back the prime minister against Tandon, if only because
‘the Congress President is no vote-getter’. By contrast, ‘Pandit Nehru is unequalled as a vote-catcher.
On the eve of the general elections it is the votes that count and Pandit Nehru has a value to the
Congress which none else possesses’.2

That indeed, is what happened in Bangalore, where Tandon resigned as president of the
Congress, with Nehru being elected in his place. As head of both party and government, ‘Nehru could
now wage full war against all communal elements in the country’.22 The first battle in this war would
be the general election of 1952.



1

India’s first general election was, among other things, an act of faith. A newly independent country
chose to move straight into universal adult suffrage, rather than — as had been the case in the West — at
first reserve the right to vote to men of property, with the working class and women excluded from the
franchise until much later. India became free in August 1947, and two years later set up an Election
Commission. In March 1950 Sukumar Sen was appointed chief election commissioner. The next
month the Representation of the People Act was passed in Parliament. While proposing the Act, the
prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru, expressed the hope that elections would be held as early as the
spring of 1951.

Nehru’s haste was understandable, but it was viewed with some alarm by the man who had to
make the election possible. It is a pity we know so little about Sukumar Sen. He left no memoirs and
few papers either. Born in 1899, he was educated at Presidency College and at London University,
where he was awarded a gold medal in mathematics. He joined the Indian Civil Service (ICS) in
1921 and served in various districts and as a judge before being appointed chief secretary of West
Bengal, from where he was sent on deputation as chief election commissioner.

It was perhaps the mathematician in Sen which made him ask the prime minister to wait. For no
officer of state, certainly no Indian official, has ever had such as tupendous task placed in front of
him. Consider, first of all, the size of the electorate: 176 million Indians aged twenty-one or more, of
whom about 85 per cent could not read or write. Each one had to be identified, named and registered.
The registration of voters was merely the first step. For how did one design party symbols, ballot
papers and ballot boxes for a mostly unlettered electorate? Then, sites for polling stations had to be
identified, and honest and efficient polling officers recruited. Moreover, concurrent with the general
election would be elections to the state assemblies. Working with Sukumar Sen in this regard were
the election commissioners of the different provinces, also usually ICS men.

The polls were finally scheduled for the first months of 1952, although some outlying districts
would vote earlier. An American observer justly wrote that the mechanics of the election’presenta
problem of colossal proportions’.2l Some numbers will help us understand the scale of Sen’s
enterprise. At stake were 4,500 seats — about 500 for Parliament, the rest for the provincial
assemblies. 224,000 polling booths were constructed, and equipped with 2million steel ballotboxes,
to make which 8,200 tonnes ofsteel were consumed; 16,500 clerks were appointed on six-month
contracts to type and collate the electoral rolls by constituency;about 380,000 reams of paper
wereused for printing the rolls; 56,000 presiding officers were chosen to supervise the voting, these
aided by another 280,000 helpers; 224,000 policemen were puton duty to guard against violence and
intimidation.

The election and the electorate were spread over an area of more than a million square miles.
The terrain was huge, diverse and — for the exercise at hand — sometimes horrendously difficult. In the
case of remote hill villages, bridges had to be specially constructed across rivers; in the case of small
islands in the Indian Ocean,naval vessels were used to take the rolls to the booths. A second problem
was social rather than geographical: the diffidence of many women in northern India to give their own
names, instead of which they wished to register themselves as A’s mother or B’s wife.Sukumar Sen
was outraged by this practice, a ‘curious senseless relic of the past’, and directed his officials to
correct the rolls by inserting the names of the women ‘in the place of mere descriptions of such
voters’. Nonetheless, some 2.8 million women voters had finally to be struck off the list. The



resulting furore over their omission was considered by Sen to be a ‘good thing’, for it would help the
prejudice vanish before the next elections, by which time the women could be reinstated under their
OWn names.

Where in Western democracies most voters could recognize the parties by name, here pictorial
symbols were used to make their task easier. Drawn from daily life, these symbols were easily
recognizable: a pair of bullocks for one party, a hut for a second, an elephant for a third, an
earthenware lamp for a fourth. A second innovation was the use of multiple ballot boxes. On a single
ballot, the (mostly illiterate) Indian elector might make a mistake; thus each party had a ballot box wit
hits symbol marked in each polling station, so that voters could simply drop their paper in it. To
avoid impersonation, Indian scientists had developed a variety of indelible ink which, applied on the
voter’s finger, stayed there for a week. A total of 389,816 phials of this ink were used in the
election.22

Throughout 1951 the Election Commission used the media of film and radio to educate the
public about this novel exercise in democracy. A documentary on the franchise and its functions, and
the duties of the electorate, was shown in more than 3,000 cinemas. Many more Indians were reached
via All-India Radio, which broadcast numerous programmes on the constitution, the purpose of adult
franchise, the preparation of electoral rolls and the process of voting.23

IV

It is instructive to reflect on the international situation in the months leading up to India’s first general
election. Elsewhere in Asia the French were fighting the Viet-Minh and UN troops were thwarting a
North Korean offensive. In South Africa the Afrikaner National Party had disenfranchised the Cape
Coloureds, the last non-white group to have the vote. America had just tested its first hydrogen bomb;
Maclean and Burgess had just defected to Russia. The year had witnessed three political
assassinations: of the king of Jordan, of the prime minister of Iran and of the prime minister of
Pakistan, Liaqat Ali Khan, shot dead on 16 October 1951, nine days before the first votes were cast
in India.

Most interestingly, the polls in India were to coincide with a general election in the United
Kingdom. The old warhorse Winston Churchill was seeking to bring his Conservatives back into
power. In the UK the election was basically a two-party affair. In India, however, there was a
dazzling diversity of parties and leaders. In power was Jawaharlal Nehru’s Indian National
Congress, the chief legatee and beneficiary of the freedom movement. Opposing it were a variety of
new parties formed by some greatly gifted individuals.

Prominent among parties of the left were J. B. Kripalani’s KMPP and the Socialist Party, whose
leading lights included the young hero of the Quit India rebellion of 1942, Jayaprakash Narayan.
These parties accused the Congress of betraying its commitment to the poor. They claimed to stand
for the ideals of the old ‘Gandhian’ Congress, which had placed the interests of workers and peasants
before those of landlords and capitalists.2¢ A different kind of critique was offered by the Jana Sangh,
which sought to consolidate India’s largest religious grouping, the Hindus, into one solid voting bloc.
The party’s aims were well expressed in the symbolism of its inaugural meeting, held in New Delhi
on 21 September 1951. The session began with a recitation from the Vedas and a singing of the
patriotic hymn ‘Vande Matram’. On the rostrum, the party’s founder, Shyama Prasad Mukherjee, sat
along with other leaders, behind them a



white background [with] pictures of Shivaji, Lord Krishna persuading the remorse-striken
Arjunato take up arms to fight the evil forces of the Kauravas on the battle-field of
Kurukshetra,Rana Pratap Singh and of an earthen deepak [lamp], in saffron. From the Pandal
was hung banners inscribed with ‘Sangh Shakth Kali Yuge’, adictum taken from [the]
Mahabharata, professing to tell the people who attended the convention that in the age of Kali
there was force only in [Jana] Sangh.z

The imagery was striking: taken from the Hindu epics but also invoking those Hindu warriors who
had later fought the Muslim invader. But who, one wonders, represented the evil enemy, the
Kauravas? Was it Pakistan, the Muslims, Jawaharlal Nehru or the Congress Party? All figuredas hate
objects in the speeches of the Sangh’s leaders. The party stood for the reunification of the motherland
through the absorption (or perhaps conquest) of Pakistan. It suspected the Indian Muslims as a
problem minority, which had ‘not yet learnt to own this land and its culture and treat them as their
first love’. The Congress Party was accused of ‘appeasing’ these uncertainly patriotic Muslims.2¢

S. P. Mukherjee had once been a member of the Union Cabinet. So had B. R. Ambedkar, the
great Untouchable lawyer who, as the Union’s law minister, helped draft the Indian Constitution.
Ambedkar had resigned from office to revive the Scheduled Caste Federation in time for the election.
In his speeches he sharply attacked the Congress government for doing little to uplift the lower castes.
Freedom had meant no change for these peoples: it was ‘the same old tyranny, the same old
oppression, the same old discrimination. . .” After freedom was won, said Ambedkar, the Congress
had degenerated into a dharamsala or rest-home, without any unity of purpose or principles, and
‘open to all, fools and knaves, friends and foes, communalists and secularists, reformers and orthodox
and capitalists and anti-capitalists’ 2

Still further to the left was the Communist Party of India. As we have seen, in 1948 many
activists of the CPI had gone underground to lead a peasant insurrection that they hoped would
fructify into a countrywide revolutionary upsurge on the Chinese model. But the police and in some
places the army had cracked down hard. So the communists came overground in time to fight the
election. The Telengana struggle, said the party’s general secretary, had been withdrawn
‘unconditionally’. A temporary amnesty was granted and the militants put away their arms and went
seeking votes. This abrupt change of roles produced dilemmas no text by Marx or Lenin could help
resolve. Thus a woman communist standing for a seat in Bengal was not sure whether to wear
crumpled saris, which would certify her identity with the poor, or wash and iron them, to better
appeal to the middle-class audience. And a parliamentary candidate in Telengana (where the peasant
revolt had been at its most intense) recalled his confusion at being offered a drink by a senior official:
he said ‘yes’, and gulped down the offering, only to be hit by a ‘reeling sensation’ in his head as it
turned out to be whisky rather than fruit juice.2

The election campaign of 1951-2 was conducted through large public meetings, door-to-door
canvassing, and the use of visual media. ‘At the height of election fever’, wrote a British observer,
‘posters and emblems were profuse everywhere — on walls, at street corners, even decorating the
statues in New Delhi and defying the dignity of a former generation of Viceroys’. A novel method of
advertising was on display in Calcutta, where stray cows had ‘Vote Congress’ written on their backs
in Bengali. 2

Speeches and posters were used by all parties, but only the communists had access to the
airwaves. Not those transmitted by All-India Radio, which had banned party propaganda, but of
Moscow Radio, which relayed its programmes via stations in Tashkent. Indian listeners could, if they



wished, hear how the non-communist parties in the election were ‘corrupt stooges of Anglo-American
imperialists and oppressors of the workers’.32 For the literate, a Madras weekly had helpfully
translated an article from Pravda which called the ruling Congress ‘a government of landowners and
monopolists, a government of national betrayers, truncheons and bullets’, and announced that the
alternative for the ‘long-suffering, worn-out Indian people was the Communist Party, around which
‘all progressive forces of the country, everyone who cherishes the vital interests of his fatherland, are
grouping’ .3l

Adding to the list (and interest, and excitement) were regional parties based on affiliations of
ethnicity and religion. These included the Dravida Kazhagam in Madras, which stood for Tamil pride
against northIndian domination; the Akalis in Punjab, who were the main party of the Sikhs; and the
Jharkhand Party in Bihar, which wanted a separate state for tribal people. There were also numerous
splinter groupings of the left, as well as two Hindu parties more orthodox than the Jana Sangh: the
Hindu Mahasabha and the Ram Rajya Parishad.

The leaders of these parties all had years of political service behind them. Some had gone to jail
in the nationalist cause; others in the communist cause. Men like S. P. Mookerjee and Jayaprakash
Narayan were superb orators, with the ability to enchant a crowd and make it fall in line behind them.
On the eve of the election the political scientist Richard Park wrote that ‘the leading Indian parties
and party workers are surpassed by those of no other country in electioneering skill, dramatic
presentation of issues, political oratory, or mastery of political psychology’.32

Some might celebrate this diversity as proof of the robustness of the democratic process. Others
were not so sure. Thus a cartoon strip in Shankar’s Weekly lampooned the hypocrisy of the vote-
gathering exercise. It showed a fat man in a black coat canvassing among different groups of voters.
He told an emaciated farmer that ‘land for peasants is my aim’. He assured a well-dressed young man
that ‘landlords’ rights will be protected’. At one place he said that he was ‘all for nationalization’; at
another he insisted that he would ‘encourage private enterprise’. He told a lady in a sari that he stood
for the Hindu Code Bill (a reform aimed principally at enhancing the rights of women), but said to a
Brahmin with a pigtail that he would ‘safeguard our Ancient Culture’.33

\%

These varied parties all had one target: the ruling Congress. Its leader, Jawaharlal Nehru, had just
survived a challenge to his leadership of the party. With the death of Vallabhbhai Patel he was also
the dominant presence within the government. But he faced problems aplenty. These included angry
refugees from East and West Pakistan, not yet settled in their new homes. The Andhras in the south
and the Sikhs in the north were getting restive. The Kashmir question was, in the eyes of the world,
still unresolved. And Independence had not as yet made any dent in the problems of poverty and
inequality: a state of affairs for which, naturally, the ruling party was likely to be held responsible.
One way of telling the story of the election campaign is through newspaper headlines. These
makeinteresting reading,notleast because the issuesthey flag have remained at the forefront of Indian
elections ever since. ‘MINISTERS FACE STIFF OPPOSITION’ read a headline from Uttar Pradesh.
‘CASTE RIVALRIES WEAKEN BIHAR CONGRESS’, read another. From the north-eastern region
came this telling line: ‘AUTONOMY DEMAND IN MANIPUR’. From Gauhati came this one:
‘CONGRESS PROSPECTS IN ASSAM: IMPORTANCEOF MUSLIM AND TRIBAL VOTE’.
Gwalior offered ‘DISCONTENT AMONG CONGRESSMEN: LIST OF NOMINEES CREATES



WIDER SPLIT’. A Calcutta headline ran: ‘W. BENGAL CONGRESS CHIEF BOOED AT
MEETING’ (the hecklers being refugees from East Pakistan). ‘NO HOPES OF FREE AND FAIR
ELECTION’, started a story datelined Lucknow: this being the verdict of J. B. Kripalani, who
claimed that state officials would rig the polls in favour of the ruling party. And the city of Bombay
offered, at three different moments in the campaign, these more-or-less timeless headlines:
‘CONGRESS BANKS ON MUSLIM SUPPORT’; ‘CONGRESS APATHY TOWARDS
SCHEDULED CASTES: CHARGES REITERATED BY DR AMBEDKAR’; and ‘FOURTEEN
HURT IN CITY ELECTION CLASH’. But there was also the occasional headline that was of its time
butemphatically not of ours -notably the one in the Searchlight of Patna which claimed: ‘PEACEFUL
VOTING HOPED [FOR] IN BIHAR’.

Faced with wide-ranging opposition from outside, and with some dissidence within his own
party, Jawaharlal Nehru took to the road — and on occasion the plane and the train as well. From 1
October he commenced a tour which a breathless party functionary later described as comparable to
the ‘imperial campaigns of Samudragupta, Asoka and Akbar’ as well as to the ‘travel[s] of Fahien
andHieun Tsang’. In the space of nine weeks Nehru covered the country from end to end. He travelled
25,000 miles in all: 18,000 by air, 5,200 by car, 1,600 by train, and even 90 by boat.3

Nehru kicked off his party’s campaign with a speech in the Punjab town of Ludhiana on Sunday
30 September. The choice of venue was significant: as was the thrust of his talk, which declared ‘an
all-out war against communalism’. He ‘condemned the communal bodies which in the name of Hindu
and Sikh culture were spreading the virus of communalism as the Muslim League once did’. These
‘sinister communal elements would if they came to power ‘bring ruin and death to the country’. He
asked his audience of half a million to instead ‘keep the windows of our mind open and let in fresh
breeze from all corners of the world’.

The sentiment was Gandhi-like, and indeed Nehru’s next major speech was delivered in Delhi
on the afternoon of 2 October, the Mahatma’s birthday. To a mammoth crowd he spoke in Hindustani
about the government’s determination to abolish both untouchability and landlordism. Once more he
identified communalists as the chief enemies, who ‘will be shown no quarter’, and ‘overpowered
with all our strength’. His 95-minute speech was punctuated by loud cheers, not least when he made
this ringing declaration: ‘If any person raises his hand to strike down another on the ground of
religion, I shall fight him till the last breath of my life, both at the head of the Government and from
outside.’

Wherever he went Nehru spoke out strongly against communalism. In S. P. Mookerjee’s native
Bengal he dismissed the Jana Sangh as the ‘illegitimate child of the RSS and the Hindu Mahasabha’.
To be sure, he touched on other themes as well. In Bihar he deplored the ‘monster of casteism’. In
Bombay he reminded his audience that a vote for Congress was also a vote for its foreign policy of
principled neutralism. In Bharatpur and Bilaspur he deplored the impatience of his left-wing critics,
whose ends he shared but not their means: as he put it, ‘we can build the edifice of Socialism brick by
brick only’. In Ambala he asked the women to cast off their purdahs and ‘come forward to build the
country’. In many places he expressed his admiration for the best among his opposition: for men such
as Ambedkar, Kripalani, and Jayaprakash Narayan, who had once been his colleagues in the party or
in government. ‘We want a number of [such] men with ability and integrity’, he said. ‘They are
welcome. But all of them are pulling in different directions and doing nothing in the end’. He was
particularly sorry to find himself in opposition to the Socialist Party, which, he said, ‘contains some
of my old intimate friends whom I admire and respect’. These sentiments were not shared by his
daughter, Indira Gandhi, who in her own speeches alleged that the socialists were funded by



American dollars.33

In the course of his campaign Nehru ‘travelled more than he slept and talked more than he
travelled’. He addressed 300 mass meetings and myriad way side ones. He spoke to about 20 million
people directly, while an equal number merely had his darshan, eagerly flanking the roads to see him
as his car whizzed past. Those who heard and saw Nehru included miners, peasants, pastoralists,
factory workers and agricultural labourers. Women of all classes turned out in numbers for his
meetings. Sometimes there was a sprinkling of hostiles among the crowd. In parts of northern India
Jana Sangh supporters shouted out at Nehru’s rallies that he was not tobe trusted because he ate beef.
Coming across a group of communists waving the hammer and sickle, Nehru asked them to ‘go and
live in the country whose flag you are carrying’. ‘Why don t you go to New York and live with the
Wall Street imperialists?’ they shot back.3¢

But for the most part the people who came to hear Nehru were sympathetic, and often adulatory.
This summation by a Congress booklet exaggerates, but not by very much:

[At] almost every place, city, town, village or wayside halt, people hadwaited overnight to
welcome the nation’s leader. Schools and shops closed: milkmaids and cowherds had taken a
holiday; the kisan and his helpmate took a temporary respite from their dawn-to-dusk programme
of hard work in field and home. In Nehru’s name, stocks of soda and lemonadesold out; even
water became scarce . . . Special trains were run from out-of-the-way places to carry people to
Nehru’s meetings, enthusiasts travelling not only on foot-boards but also on top of carriages.
Scores of people fainted in milling crowds.Z

The independent press provided many instances of the popular mood. When Nehru spoke in Bombay,
a procession, mainly of Muslims, marched to Chowpatty to the accompaniment of pipes and cymbals.
It was headed by a pair of bullocks and a plough (the Congress symbol). Everywhere, crowds started
collecting from early morning for talks scheduled for the afternoon; almost everywhere, barricades
were broken in ‘the enthusiasm to catch a glimpse of Mr Nehru’. After he finished his speech in
Delhi, Nehru was met as he came off the dais by a famous wrestler, Massu Pahalwan, who offered
him a gold chain and remarked, ‘This is only a token. I am prepared to give my life for you and the
country. The media was much taken with a Telugu-speaking woman who went to listen to Nehru
speak in the railway town of Kharagpur. As the prime minister lectured on she was consumed by
labour pains. Immediately, a group of fellow Andhras made a ring around her: the baby was safely
delivered, no doubt while the mid wives had an ear cocked to hear what their hero was saying.

The extraordinary popular appeal of the Indian prime minister is best captured in the testimony
of the confirmed Nehru-baiter D. F. Karaka, editor of the popular Bombay weekly, the Current. He
was in the vast crowd at Chowpatty beach, one of 200,000 people gathered there, many standing in
the sea. Karaka noted — no doubt to his regret — ‘the instant affinity between the speaker and his
audience’. This 1s how the editor reported Nehru’s speech:

He had come to Bombay after along time, he told them. Many years.

He paused and looked at them with that wistful look he specialises in. In that pause, ominous
for his political opponents, a thousand votes must have swung in his favour.

Yes, he felt a personal attachment to the city.

Pause.



Two thousand votes. It was like coming home. Pause.

Five thousand votes.

In Bombay he had passed some of the happiest moments in his life. Yes, the happiest.

Five thousand votes . . .

He remembered those great moments so vividly. And some of the saddest moments too — the
sad, hard days of the [freedom] struggle.

Ten thousand votes for the Congress.

Pause. ‘By looking at the people who have struggled together with me in the fight for freedom,
I derive freedomand strength,” he said.

The affinity was complete.

Twenty thousand votes!

Pause.

A deep, sorrowful, soulful look in the fading twilight hour; with the air pregnant with emotion
. . . He told the gathering that he had taken upon himself the role of a mendicant beggar. Amidst
cheers, he said: ‘If at all I am abeggar, I am begging for your love, your affection and your
enlightened co-operation in solving the problems which face the country’.

Thirty thousand votes were sure for Nehru.

Pause.

Astir in the audience. A tear on the face of the man or woman sitting on the beach or standing
on the shore.Two tears, a sari-end wiping them gently off awoman’s face. She would give her
vote to Nehru no matter what anyone else said. Memories of Gandhi came back to the people —
the days when Nehru stood beside the Mahatma. Nehru . . . was the man he left to us as his
political heir.

Fifty thousand votes! a hundred thousand! Two hundred thousand!38

The crowds were moved by Nehru; and he, in turn, was moved by them. His own feelings are best
captured in a letter he wrote to one who with both delicacy and truth can be referred to as his closest
lady friend, Edwina Mountbatten:

Wherever I have been, vast multitudes gather at my meetings and I love to compare them, their
faces, their dress, their reactions to me and what I say. Scenes from past history of that very part
of India rise up before me and my mind becomes a picture gallery of past events. But, more than
the past, the present fills my mind and I try to probe into the minds and hearts of these multitudes.
Having long been imprisoned in the Secretariat of Delhi, I rather enjoy these fresh contacts with
the Indian people . . . The effort to explain in simple language our problems and our difficulties,
and to reach the minds of these simple folk is both exhausting and exhilarating.

As I wander about, the past and the present merge into one another and this merger leads me to
think of the future. Time becomes like allowing river in continuous motion with events connected
with one another.2

V1

One place even Nehru didn’t get to was the tahsil of Chini in Himachal Pradesh. Here resided the



first Indians to cast votes in a general election, a group of Buddhists. They voted on 25 October 1951,
days before the winter snows shut their valleys from the world. The villagers of Chini owed
allegiance to the Panchen Lama in Tibet, and were ruled by rituals administered by local priests.
These included gorasang, a religious service to celebrate the completion of a new house; kangur
zalmo,a ceremonial visit to the Buddhist library at Kanam; menthako, ‘where men, women, and
children climb hills, dance and sing’; and jokhiya chug simig, the interchange of visits between
relatives. Now, although they didn’t as yet know it, was added a new ritual, to be performed at five-
year intervals: voting in a general election.2

Polling began in the UK general election on the same day, although there the first voters were not
Buddhist peasants in a Himalayan valley but ‘milkmen, charwomen and all-night workers returning
home from work’.4L However, in those small islands the results of the election were known the
following day — Labour had been swept out of power and Winston Churchill returned as prime
minister. In India, the first voters had to wait months, for the rest of the country did not go to the polls
until January and February 1952.

The highest turnout, 80.5 per cent, was recorded in the parliamentary constituency of Kottayam,
in present-day Kerala; the lowest, 18.0, was in Shahdol in what is now Madhya Pradesh. For the
country as a whole, about 60 per cent of registered voters exercised their franchise, this despite the
high level of illiteracy. A scholar from the London School of Economics described how a young
woman in Himachal walked several miles with herfrail mother to vote: ‘for a day, at least, she knew
she was important’.422 A Bombay-based weekly marvelled at the high turnout in the forest districts
ofOrissa, where tribals came to the booths with bows and arrows. One booth in the jungle reported
more than 70 per cent voting; but evidently Sukumar Sen had got at least some things wrong, for the
neighbouring booth was visited only by an elephant and two panthers.22 The press highlighted the
especially aged: all0-year-old man in Madurai who came propped up on either side by a great-
grandson, a 95-year-old woman in Ambala, deaf and hunchbacked, who still turned up to vote. There
was alsothe90-year-old Muslim in rural Assam who had to return disappointed after being told by the
presiding officer that ‘he could not vote for Nehru’. A nonagenarian in rural Maharashtra cast his vote
for the Assembly election, but fell down and died before he could do the same for Parliament. And
there was a vindication of Indian democracy in the electoral roll of Hyderabad, where among the first
who voted was the Nizam himself.

One place in which there was especially brisk polling was Bombay. Delhi was where the rulers
lived, but this island metropolis was India’s financial capital. It was also a very politically aware
city. Altogether, 900,000 residents of Bombay, or 70 per cent of the city’s electorate, exercised their
democratic right on election day. The workers came in far greater numbers as compared to the
fashionable middle class. Thus, reported the Times of India, ‘in the industrial areas voters formed
long queues long before the polling stations opened, despite the particularly cold and dewy morning.
In contrast to this, at the WIAA Club [in Malabar Hill], which housed two polling stations, it
appeared as if people straggled in for a game of tennis or bridge and only incidentally to vote’.

The day after Bombay went to the polls it was the turn of the Mizo hills. With regard to both
culture and geography there could not have been a greater contrast. Bombay had a great density of
polling stations: 1,349 in all, packed into just 92 square miles; the Mizo, a tribal area bordering East
Pakistan and Burma, required a mere 113 booths spread over more than 8,000 square miles of
territory. The people who lived in these hills, said one scribe, ‘have not known any queues hit her to
except those in battle arrays’. But they had nonetheless ‘taken a strong fancy’ to the exercise, reaching
their booths after walking for days on ‘perilous tracks through wild jungles, camping at night on the



way amid song and community dances around the fire’. And so 92,000 Mizos, who ‘have through the
centuries decided an issue with their arrows and spears, came forward to give their decision for the
first time through the medium of the ballot’.

An American woman photographer on assignment in Himachal Pradesh was deeply impressed
by the commitment shown by the election officials. One official had walked for six days to attend the
preparatory workshop organized by the district magistrate; another had ridden four days on a mule.
They went back to their distant stations with sewn gunny sacks full of ballot boxes, ballots, party
symbols and electoral lists. On election day the photographer chose to watch proceedings at an
obscure hill village named Bhuti. Here the polling station was a school-house which had only one
door. Since the rules prescribed a different entry and exit, a window had been converted into a door,
with improvised steps on either side to allow the elderly and ailing to hop out after voting.24

At least in this first election, politicians and the public were both (to quote the chief election
commissioner) ‘essentially law-abiding and peaceful’. There were only 1,250 election offences
reported. These included 817 cases of the ‘impersonation of voters’, 106 attempts to take ballot
papers out of a polling station and 100 instances of ‘canvassing within onehundred yards of a polling
station’, some of these last offences doubtless committed unknowingly by painted cows.43

VIl

Polling for the general election ended in the last week of February 1952. When the votes were
counted, the Congress had won comfortably. The party secured 364 out of 489 seats in Parliament and
2,247 out of 3,280 seats in the state assemblies. As critics of the Congress were quick to point out,
the first-past-the-post system had produced a far from representative result. More than 50 per cent of
the electorate had voted for non-Congress candidates or parties. For Parliament as a whole, Congress
had polled 45 per cent of the vote and won 74.4 per cent of the seats; the corresponding figures for
the states were 42.4 per cent and 68.6 per cent. Even so, twenty-eight Congress ministers had failed
to win a seat. These included such men of influence as Jai Narayan Vyas, in Rajasthan, and Morarji
Desai, in Bombay. More striking still was the fact that it was a communist, Ravi Narayan Reddy -
hewho drank his first glass of whisky during the campaign — who achieved the largest majority,
larger even than Jawaharlal Nehru s.

One of the more notable defeats was that of the Scheduled Caste leader B. R. Ambedkar.
Opposing him in his Bombay constituency was an obscure milkman named Kajrolkar. The gifted
Marathi journalist P. K. Atre popularizeda slogan which went:

Kuthe to Ghatnakar Ambedkar,
Aani Kuthe ha Lonivikya Kajrolkar?

which, roughly translated, means:

Where is the (great) constitution-maker Ambedkar
And where the (obscure) butter-seller Kajrolkar? 4

Yet, in the end, the prestige and hold of the Congress, and the fact that Nehru made several speeches



in Bombay, carried Kajrolkar to victory. As one wag remarked, even a lamp-post standing on the
Congress ticket could have been elected. Or, as apolitical scientist more dispassionately put it, the
election was won on ‘Nehru’s personal popularity and his ability to express the aspirations of a
newly independent India in a vivid and forceful manner’.4Z

On the eve of the polls Sukumar Sen suggested they constituted ‘the biggest experiment in
democracy in human history’. A veteran Madras editor was less neutral; he complained that ‘a very
large majority [will] exercise votes for the first time: not many know what the vote 1s, why they
should vote, and whom they should vote for; no wonder the whole adventure is rated as the biggest
gamble in history’ .48 And a recently dispossessed maharaja told a visiting American couple that any
constitution that sanctioned universal suffrage in a land of illiterates was ‘crazy’. ‘Imagine the
demagoguery, the misinformation, the dishonesty possible’, said the maharaja, adding, ‘The world is
far too shaky to permit such an experiment.’42

Sharing this scepticism was Penderel Moon, a Fellow of All Souls College, and an ex-ICS man
who had chosen to stay on in India. In 1941, Moon had spoken to the graduating students of Punjab
University about the unsuitability of Western-style democracy to their social context. Now, eleven
years later, he was the chief commissioner of the hill state of Manipur, and had to depute election
officers and supervise the polling and the counting. As the people of Manipur went to the polls on 29
January, Moon wrote to his father that ‘a future and more enlightened age will view with astonishment
the absurd farce of recording the votes of millions of illiterate people’ .2

Just as sceptical as the All Souls man was the Organiser, a weekly published by the revanchist
Hindu group, the RSS. This hoped that Jawaharlal Nehru ‘would live to confess the failure of
universal adult franchise in India’. It claimed that Mahatma Gandhi had warned against ‘this
precipitate dose of democracy’, and that the president, Rajendra Prasad, was ‘sceptical about this
leap in the dark’. Yet Nehru, ‘who has all along lived by slogans and stunts, would not listen’.31

There were times when even Nehru had second thoughts about universal franchise. On 20
December 1951 he took a brief leave of absence from the campaign to address a UNESCO
symposium in Delhi. In his speech Nehru accepted that democracy was the best form of government,
or self-government, but still wondered whether

the quality of men who are selected by these modern democratic methods of adult franchise
gradually deteriorates because of lack of thinking and the noise of propaganda . . . He [the voter]
reacts to sound and to the din, he reacts to repetition and he produces either adictator or a dumb
politician who is insensitive. Such a politician can stand all the din in the world and still remain
standing on his two feet and, therefore, he gets selected in the end because the others have
collapsed because of the din.

This was a rare confession, based no doubt on his recent experiences on the road. A week later Nehru
suggested that it might be better to have direct elections at the lower levels — say within the village
and district — and indirect elections for the highest levels. For, as he put it, ‘direct election for such a
vast number 1s a complicated problem and the candidates may never come into touch with the
electorate and the whole thing becomes distant’.22

Nehru had an unusual capacity — unusual among politicians, at any rate — to view both sides of
the question. He could see the imperfections of the process even while being committed to it.
However, by the time the final results were in, and the Congress had emerged as the unchallenged
party of rule, the doubts in Nehru’s own mind had disappeared. ‘My respect for the so-called



illiterate voter’, he said, ‘has gone up. Whatever doubts I might have had about adult suffrage in India
have been removed completely.’3

The election itself also comprehensively set to rest the doubts of the new American ambassador
to India, Chester Bowles. This representative of the world’s richest democracy assumed his post in
Delhi in the autumn of 1951. He confessed that he was ‘appalled at the prospect of a poll 0f200
million eligible voters, most ofwhom were illiterate villagers’. He ‘feared a fiasco’, even (as the
Madras Mail put it), ‘the biggest farce ever staged in the name of democracy anywhere in the world’.
But a trip through the country during polling changed his mind. Once, he had thought that poor
countries needed a period of rule by a benevolent dictator as preparation for democracy. But the sight
of many parties contesting freely, and of Untouchables and Brahmins standing in the same
line,persuaded himotherwise. He no longer thought literacy was atest of intelligence, no longer
believed that Asia needed a ‘series of Ataturks’ before they would be ready for democracy. Summing
up his report on the election, Bowles wrote: ‘In Asia, as in America, I know no grander vision than
this, government by the consent of the governed.’

A visiting Turkish journalist focused on the content of the election rather than its form. He
admired Nehru’s decision not to follow other Asian countries in taking ‘the line of least resistance’
by developing ‘a dictatorship with centralisation of power and intolerance of dissent and criticism’.
The prime minister had ‘wisely kept away from such temptations’. Yet the ‘main credit’, according to
the Turkish writer, ‘goes to the nation itself;, 176,000,000 Indians were left all alone with their
conscience in face of the polling box. It was direct and secret voting. They had their choice between
theocracy, chauvinism, communal separatism and isolationism on the one side; secularism, national
unity, stability, moderation and friendly intercourse with the rest of the world on the other. They
showed their maturity in choosing moderation and progress and disapproving of reaction and unrest.’
So impressed was this observer that he took a delegation of his countrymen to meet Sukumar Sen. The
chief election commissioner showed them samples of ballot boxes, ballot papers and symbols, as
well as the plan of a polling station, so that they could work to resume the interrupted progress of
democracy in their own country.33

In one sense the Turkish journalist was right. There were indeed 176 million heroes; or, at least
107 million — those among the eligible who actually took the trouble to vote. Still, some heroes were
more special than others. As the respected Lucknow sociologist D. P. Mukerji pointed out, ‘great
credit is due to those who are in charge of this stupendous first experiment in Indian history.
Bureaucracy has certainly proved its worth by honestly discharging the duties imposed on it by a
honest prime minister.’3¢

The juxtaposition is important, and also ironical. For there was a time when Nehru had little but
scorn for the bureaucracy. As he put it in his autobiography, ‘few things are more striking today in
India than the progressive deterioration, moral and intellectual, of the higher services, more
especially the Indian Civil Services. This is most in evidence in the superior officials, but it runs like
a thread throughout the services.’3 This was written in 1935, when the objects of his derision had the
power to put him and his like in jail. And yet, fifteen years later, Nehru was obliged to place the polls
in the hands ofmen he would once have dismissedas imperialist stooges.

In this respect, the 1952 election was a script jointly authored by historical forces for so long
opposed to one another: British colonialism and Indian nationalism. Between them these forces had
given this new nation what could be fairly described as a jump-start to democracy.



HOME AND THE WORLD

Pandit Nehru is at his best when he i1s not pinned down to matters of detail.
Economic Weekly, 28 July 1951

I

NOT LONG AFTER THE 1952 election the Indian writer Nirad C. Chaudhuri produced an essay on
Jawaharlal Nehru for a popular magazine. The writer was by this time moderately well known, but
his subject still towered over both him and everybody else. Nehru’s leadership, remarked Chaudhuri,
‘1s the most important moral force behind the unity of India’. He was ‘the leader not of a party, but of
the people of India taken collectively, the legitimate successor to Gandhiji’. As he saw it,

Nehru 1s keeping together the governmental machine and the people, and without this nexus India
would probably have been deprived of stable government in these crucial times. He has not only
ensured co-operation between the two, but most probably has also prevented actual conflicts,
cultural, economic, and political. Not even Mahatmaji’s leadership, had it continued, would
have been quite equal to them.

If, within the country, Nehru is the indispensable link between the governing middle-classes
and the sovereign people, he is no less the bond between India and the world. [He serves
as]India’s representative to the great Western democracies, and, I must add, their representative
to India. The Western nations certainly look upon him as such and expect him to guarantee
India’s support for them, which is why they are so upset when Nehru takes an anti-Western or
neutral line. They feel they are being let down by one of themselves.!

Through his long tenure as prime minister, Nehru served simultaneously as foreign minister of
the government of India. This was natural, for among the Congress leadership he alone had a
genuinely internationalist perspective. Gandhi had been universal is tin outlook but had hardly
travelled abroad. The other Congress leaders, such as Vallabhbhai Patel, were determinedly inward-
looking. Nehru, on the other hand, ‘had always been fascinated by world trends and movements’.2

Through the inter-war period Nehru remained a close observer of and occasional participant in
European debates. In 1927 he visited Soviet Russia, and in the next decade travelled widely over the
Continent. In the 1930s he played an active part in mobilizing support for the Republican cause in
Spain. He became a pillar of the progressive left, speaking often on public platforms in England and
France. His name and fame in this regard were aided by the publication and commercial success of
his autobiography, which appeared in London in 1936.2

Representative of Nehru’s ideas is a speech he delivered on ‘Peace and Empire’ at Friends
House, Euston, in July 1938. This began by speaking of ‘fascist aggression but went on to see fascism
as merely another variant of imperialism. In Britain the tendency was to distinguish between the two.
But in Nehru’s mind there was little doubt that those who ‘sought complete freedom for all the subject
peoples of the world’ had to oppose both fascism and imperialism.



The crisis of the times, said Nehru, had promoted a ‘growing solidarity of the various peoples’
and a ‘feeling of international fellowship and comradeship’. His own talk ranged widely around the
hot spots of the world. He spoke of Spain, of Abyssinia, of China, of Palestine, and most sensitively,
of Africa. The ‘people of Africa deserve our special consideration’, he pointed out, for ‘probably no
other people in the world have suffered so much, and have been exploited so much’.

In the late summer of 1939 Nehru planned a trip to India’s great Asian neighbour, China. He had
been in friendly correspondence with Chiang Kai-shek, for, as he told a colleague, ‘more and more I
think of India and China pulling together in the future’. He hoped to go by air to Chungking, spend
three weeks travelling in the hinterland and to return home via the Burma Road. Sadly, the war in
Europe put paid to the tour.2

Nehru was jailed for his part in the Quit India movement of 1942. When he was released in July
1945 his energies were devoted to the endgames of empire. But after it became clear that India would
soon be free, his thoughts turned once more to foreign affairs. In a radio broadcast of September 1946
he singled out the United States, the Soviet Union and China as the three countries most relevant to
India’s future. The next year he spoke in the Constituent Assembly on how India would be friends
with both the US and the USSR, rather than become camp followers of one power ‘in the hope that
some crumbs might fall from their table’. As he put it, ‘we lead ourself™.¢

An early articulation of what came to be known as ‘non-alignment’ is contained in a letter
written by Nehru to K. P. S. Menon in January 1947, as the latter prepared to take up his assignment
as India’s first ambassador to China:

Our general policy is to avoid entanglement in power politics and not to join any group of
powers as against any other group. The two leading groups today are the Russian bloc and the
Anglo-American bloc. We must be friendly to both and yet not join either. Both America and
Russia areextraordinarily suspicious of each other as well as of other countries. This makes our
path difficult and we may well be suspected by each of leaning towards the other. This cannot be
helped.z

Nehru saw Indian independence as part of a wider Asian resurgence. Past centuries might have
belonged to Europe, or to the white racesin general, but it was now time for non-white and previously
subordinated peoples to come into their own.

A remarkable 1nitiative in this regard was the Asian Relations Conference, held in New Delhi in
the last week of March 1947. Twenty-eight countries sent representatives — these included India’s
close neighbours (Afghanistan, Burma, Ceylon and Nepal), the still colonized nations of Southeast
Asia (such as Malaya, Indonesia and Vietnam), China and Tibet (the two sent separate delegations),
seven Asian ‘republics’ of the Soviet Union and Korea. The Arab League was also represented and
there was a Jewish delegation from Palestine. As a Western journalist covering the event recalled,
for a week the city of Delhi ‘was filled with the most intricate variety of people, strange in costume
and countenance — brocades from South-East Asia, bell-bottoms from the Eastern Soviet Republics,
braided hair and quilted robes from Tibet . . . dozens of curious languages and poly-syllabic titles.
One way and another, as we kept reminding one another, this multitude represented nearly half the
population of the world.’8

The conference was held in the Purana Qila, a large, somewhat rundown yet still majestic stone
structure built by Sher Shah Suri in the sixteenth century. The opening and concluding sessions were
open to the public, and attracted large crowds — 20,000, by one estimate. The official language was



English but interpreters were provided for the delegates. Speakers spoke on a podium; behind them
was mounted a huge map of the continent, with ASIA written atop it in neon lights. The inaugural
address was by Nehru. ‘Rising to a great ovation, he talked of how, ‘after along period of
quiescence’, Asia had ‘suddenly become important in world affairs . Its countries could ‘no longer be
used as pawns by others’.2 However, as the journalist G. H. Jansen recalled, Nehru’s speech ‘was not
directly or strongly anti-colonial. “The old imperialisms are fading away”, he said. With an almost
contemptuous wave of the hand he did something worse than attack them; he pronounced a
valediction.’10

After Nehru had his say, each participating country, in alphabetical order, sent a speaker to the
podium. This took two whole days, after which the meeting broke up into thematic round-tables.
There were separate sections on ‘national movements for freedom’; ‘racial problems and inter-Asian
migration’; ‘economic development and social services’; ‘cultural problems’; and ‘status of women
and women’s movements’.

The conference concluded with a talk by Mahatma Gandhi. He regretted that the conference had
not met in the ‘real India of the villages but in the cities that were ‘influenced by the West’. The
‘message of Asia’, insisted Gandhi, was ‘not to be learnt through the Western spectacles or by
imitating the atom bomb . . . [ want you to go away with the thought that Asia has to conquer the West
through love and truth.” 1

Gandhi made his appearance, but this was really Nehru’s show. His admirers saw it as
confirmation of his status as the authentic voice of resurgent Asia. His critics were less generous. In
its account of the conference, the Muslim League newspaper, Dawn, complained of how ‘skilfully he
[Nehru] has worked himself into some sort of all-Asian leadership. That is just what this ambitious
Hindu leader had intended — to thrust himself upon the Asian nations as their leader and through his
attainment of that prestige and eminence to further the expansionist designs of Indian Hinduism.’12

I

Nehru had often been to Europe before Independence. His first trip to the United States, however,
took place two years after he had assumed office as prime minister. The US had not loomed large in
Nehru’s political imagination. His Glimpses of World History, for example, devotes far less space to
it than to China or Russia. And what he says is not always complimentary. The capitalism of the
American kind had led to slavery, gangsterism, and massive extremes of wealth and poverty. The
American financier J. Pierpont Morgan owned a yacht worth£6 million, yet New York was known as
‘Hunger Town’. Nehru admired Roosevelt’s attempts at regulating the economy, but he was not
hopeful that FDR would succeed. For ‘American Big Business is held to be the most powerful vested
interest in the modern world, and it is not going to give up its power and privileges merely at the
bidding of President Roosevelt’.13

Before Nehru’s trip to America in late 1949, an enterprising reporter at 7ime magazine went
through his writings.The exercise revealed that he had ‘simply never given the subject [of America]
much thought. As a British university man, he has perhaps looked down snobbishly at American
deficiency in culture. As a sentimental socialist, he has ticked off the U.S. as unrivalled in technology
but predatory in its capitalism.’4

Nehru’s feelings were widely shared. Like British aristocrats, the Indian elite tended to think of
America and Americans as uncouth and uncultured. Representative are the views of P. P.



Kumaramangalam, scion of an illustrious south Indian family. His father, Dr P. Subbaroyan, was a
rich landlord and an influential politician — he later served in Nehru’s Cabinet. The son studied at
Sandhurst — his siblings in Oxford and Cambridge. These, a brother named Mohan and a sister
named Parvathi, went on to become leading lights of the Communist Party of India. This predisposed
them to a dislike of America. But in this respect the brother who was an army officer outdid them.
After Indian independence he was sent for training to the artillery school at Fort Sill in Oklahoma.
From here he wrote to a Madras mentor of how

This country is not one that Iwill ever get fond of. I have not got a very high opinion of them. The
people that I have to deal with are very kind, hospitable and have been very good to the two of
us. But somehow I feel there is a trace of artificiality in that and also it is the result of trying to
impress one. They I think are very jealous of the old world and its background and culture and
this results in an aggressive inferiority complex. As for their state of morality, there is none.
People seem to delight in trying to outwit each other by any means, mainly crooked. The
politicians are racketeers and big business has a tight grip on everything in the country. The
small country tradesman and the farmer I think have their hands pretty securely tied by the big
men. I do hope our country proceeds with caution and doesn’t get entirely under the influence of
the [United] States.13

Americans, for their part, had their own prejudices about India. They admired Gandhi and his struggle
for national independence, but their knowledge of the country itself was scant. As Harold Isaac once
pointed out, for the postwar American there were really only four kinds of Indians. These were: (1)
the fabulous Indians, the maharajas and magicians coupled with equally exotic animals such as tigers
and elephants; (2) the mystical Indians, a people who were ‘deep, contemplative, tranquil, profound .
. .75 (3) the benighted Indians, who worshipped animals and many-headed gods, living in a country
that was even more heathen than China; and (4) the pathetic Indians, plagued by poverty and crippled
by disease — ‘children with fly-encircled eyes, with swollen stomachs, children dying in the streets,
rivers choked with bodies . . . Of these images perhaps the last two predominated. It was no accident
that the book on the subcontinent best known in America was Katherine Mayo’s Mother India, a book
that Gandhi had described as a ‘drain inspector’s report’.16

Nehru in part shared the prejudices of Indians, and he was sensible of the American ones. But
for this first high-level encounter between the youngest and richest to put them on hold. In August
1949, as he prepared for his trip, Nehru was uncharacteristically nervous. ‘In what mood shall 1
address America?’ he asked his sister Vijayalakshmi. ‘How shall I address people etc.? How shall
Ideal with the Government there and businessmen and others? Which facet of myself should I put
before the American public — the Indian or the European’ . . . [ want to be friendly with the Americans
but always making it clear what we stand for.lZ

Nehru spent three weeks in America, delivering a speech a day to audiences as diverseas the
UnitedStates Congress and a congregation in a Chicago chapel. He was awarded an honorary
doctorate by Columbia University and listened to by a crowd of 10,000 at the University of California
at Berkeley. He displayed the common touch, being photographed with a taxi driver in Boston, but
also made clear his membership of the aristocracy of the intellect, as in a much-publicized visit to
Albert Einstein in Princeton.

Addressing Congress, Nehru spoke respectfully of the founders of America, but then
counterposed to them a great man from his own country. This was Gandhi, whose message of peace



and truth had inspired independent India’s foreign policy. The Mahatma, however, ‘was too great for
the circumscribed borders of any one country, and the message he gave may help us in considering the
wider problems of the world’. For what the world most lacked, said Nehru, was ‘under-standing and
appreciation of each other among nations and peoples’.

This was diplomatically put, but elsewhere Nehru spoke more directly. At Columbia University
Nehru deplored the desire to ‘marshal the world into two hostile camps’. India, he said, would align
with neither, but pursue ‘an independent approach to each controversial or disputed issue’. In his
view, the main cause of war was the persistence of racialism and colonialism. Peace and freedom
could be secured only if the domination of one country or one race over another was finally brought
toan end.18

The American press was impressed with the Indian prime minister. The Chicago Sun Times
went so far as to say that ‘in many ways Nehru is the nearest thing this generation has to a Thomas
Jefferson in his way of giving voice to the universal aspirations for freedom of people everywhere’ .12
The Christian Science Monitor described himas a ‘World Titan’ . When he left, a columnist in the St.
Louis Post Dispatch observed that ‘Nehru has departed from us, leaving behind clouds of misty-eyed
women’.22 Even Time magazine admitted that, while Americans were still not sure what Nehru stood
for, ‘they sensed in him, if not rare truth, a rare heart’ .2

There was, however, one set of people who did not warm to the visitor from India — the
mandarins of the State Department. Nehru had several long discussions with the secretary of state,
Dean Acheson, but these went nowhere. In his memoirs Acheson wrote dismissively and with some
despair about Nehru’s visit. In their talks he found him ‘prickly’, arrogant ‘he talked to me . . . as
though I was a public meeting ),and too ready to pick on the faults of others (notably the French and
Dutch colonialists) without recognizing any of his own. When Acheson broached the subject of
Kashmir, he got ‘a curious combination of a public speech and flashes of anger and deep dislike of
his opponents’. Altogether, he found Nehru ‘one of the most difficult men with whom I have ever had
to deal’.22

Other American officials were more sympathetic to Nehru. One such was Chester Bowles, who
was ambassador in New Delhi from 1951-3. Witnessing Nehru at work in his own environment,
Bowles was visibly impressed by his commitment to democracy and democratic procedure, and to
the rights of minorities. Dean Acheson, and many other Americans, divided the world into two
categories: friends and foes.22 That was not a reading that Bowles endorsed. He insisted that ‘it is
immature and ridiculous for us [Americans] to jump to the conclusion that because he [Nehru] is not
100 per cent for us, he must be against us’.24

During Bowles’s tenure India and the United States drew closer. The US sent experts and
equipment to help with Indian programmes of agricultural development. But the popular mistrust
persisted. A writer from Delaware, touring the subcontinent in the early fifties, came across many
educated Indians for whom the United States was a country ‘isolated by gross faults, stewing alone in
the unthinkable sins of materialism, imperialist ambitions, war mongering, political corruption,
spiritual and cultural poverty, racial discrimination and injustice’.23

The mutual distrust deepened after 1953, when the Republicans found themselves back in power
after twenty years out of it. Towards the end of that year William F. Knowland, the Republican leader
in the Senate, undertook a six-week world tour. After he returned home he told the US News and
World Report that Jawaharlal Nehru did not represent all the nations or peoples of Asia. Said
Senator Knowland emphatically: ‘Certainly Nehru does not speak for the Republic of Korea, for
Japan, for Free China or Formosa, for Thailand, Viet Nam, Laos or Cambodia. He certainly does not



speak for Pakistan. The only countries he might be able to speak for with some authority, or at least
represent their views, would be India itself, Indonesia which is also neutralist in outlook, and
perhaps Burma . . .”.26

These views were shared by the new secretary of state, John Foster Dulles. Dulles was the
coldest of cold warriors, whose foreign policy was dominated by his obsession with communism. In
the battle against the Soviet Union, Dulles was prepared to disregard the internal political systems of
other nations. Generally speaking, dictators who toed the American linewere to be preferred to
democrats who didn’t: ‘If he is a bastard, at least he 1s our bastard, as he is famously supposed to
have said.

Dulles and Nehru disliked each other from the start. The American claimed that ‘the concept of
neutrality is obsolete, immoral, and short sighted’. Those who professed it were, in effect, crypto-
communists. Nehru, naturally, did not take kindly to this interpretation. As the Australian diplomat
Walter Crocker wrote, the Indian prime minister did not miss the irony that,

as regards the sanctity of the Free World and the Free Life proclaimed by Dulles, he, damned by
Dulles, was carrying India through a argantuan effort towards Parliamentary Democracy, the rule
of law, freedom and equality for all religions, and social and economic reforms, while among
the countries which Dulles praised and subsidized because they were ‘willing to stand up and be
counted’ as anti-Communist were effete or persecuting tyrannies, oligarchies and theocracies,
sometimes corrupt as well as retrograde.zZ

Dulles further offended Indian sensibilities when he suggested that Portugal — a trusted US ally —
could keep its colony of Goa as long as it chose to. However, the secretary’s decisive contribution to
wrecking Indo-US relations was the military pact he signed with Pakistan in February 1954. As one
historian drily remarked, ‘Mr Dulles wanted pacts . . . Pakistan wanted money and arms.’28

Almost from the time of Independence the United Kingdom had seen Pakistan as a potential ally
in the Cold War; as, in fact, a ‘strong bastion against Communism’. By contrast, India was seen as
being soft on the Soviets. Winston Churchill himself was much impressed by the argument that
Pakistan could be made to stand firm on Russia’s eastern flank, much as that reliable Western client,
Turkey, stood firm on the west. The brilliant young Harvard professor Henry Kissinger endorsed this
idea — in his view, the ‘defense of Afghanistan [from the Soviets] depends on the strength of
Pakistan’.2

For Republicans like Dulles, the fight against communism was paramount. Hence the tilt towards
Pakistan, which he saw as a key member of a defensive ring around the Soviet Union. From bases in
Pakistan American planes could strike deep into Soviet central Asia. Dulles’s view was seconded by
Vice-President Richard Nixon and their combined efforts ultimately prevailed over President
Eisenhower, who was worried about the fall-out in India following any formal alliance with
Pakistan.3¢

American military aid to Pakistan ran to about $80 million a year. The US also encouraged the
Pakistanis to join the anti-Soviet military alliances in central and Southeast Asia known as CENTO
and SEATO. Two months before Dulles signed his pact with the Pakistan is an American missionary
who had worked for years in the subcontinent warned that ‘to weigh Pakistan militarily over and
against India would alienate India’3! That it certainly did, although there were others trains on Indo-
American relations as well. In the ongoing conflicts of the Cold War — as in Korea and Indo-China —
India was seen as being too neutral by far. Nehru’s vigorous canvassing of the recognition of the



People’s Republic of China, and his insistence that it be given the permanent seat in the UN Security
Council then occupied by Taiwan, was also not taken to kindly by Washington. There were an
increasing number of Americans who felt that Nehru had ‘entered the arena of world politics as a
champion challenging American wisdom’.32

As perhaps he had. For, as Nehru wrote to the industrialist G. D. Birla in May 1954, ‘I do not
think that there are many examples in history of a succession of wrong policies being followed by a
country as by the United States in the Far East during the past five or six years. They have taken one
wrong step after another . . . They think that they can solve any problem withmoney and arms. They
forget the human element. They forget the nationalistic urges of people. They forget the strong
resentment of people in Asia against impositions.’33

The industrialist himself was rather keen that the two countries forge better relations. In October
1954 Birla visited the UnitedStates and spoke to across-section of influential people. He even had
half an hour withJohnFosterDulles, who complained about how India ‘misrepresented them as war-
mongers and so on andso forth’.34 In February 1956 Birla visited the United States again on a bridge-
building mission. He asked Nehru for advice, and got asermon. ‘Dulles’s statement about Goa has
angered everybody here’, said the prime minister. ‘Indo-American relations are much more affected
by this kind of thing than by the aid they may give. Then there is the American military aid to Pakistan,
which is a constant and growing threat to us and, in effect, adds to our burdens much more than the
actual aid they give to us.3

The next month John Foster Dulles made so bold as to visit New Delhi. The record of his talks
with the Indian government is still classified, but we do have the proceedings of a press conference
he addressed. Here, the secretary of state was subject to a series of hostile questions. He was asked
why he had said that Goa was an integral part of Portugal. Dulles did not deny this, but clarified that
he was for a ‘peaceful solution’ of the controversy. Then the talk turned to military aid to Pakistan,
and the possibility that it might lead to an escalation of the conflict in Kashmir. Dulles defensively
answered that ‘the arms supply to Pakistanis not designed in anyway to be a threat to India’. When the
questioner persisted, Dulles angrily remarked that ‘we do not feel that because there is a dispute over
Kashmir . . . Pakistan should be unarmed so that it could not resist Soviet Communist aggression’.
The secretary of state thenthreatened to walk out if any more questions were asked on Goa or
Kashmir.3¢

India and the United States did seem to have much in common -the democratic way of life, a
commitment to cultural pluralism, and (not least) a nationalist origin myth that stressed struggle
against the British oppressor. But on questions of international politics they resolutely differed.
America thought India soft on communism; India thought America soft on colonialism. In the end, that
which divided seemed to overwhelm that which united; in part because of the personal chemistry — or
rather, lack thereof — between the key players on either side.3Z

11

Jawaharlal Nehru visited the Soviet Union two decades before he toured North America. Arriving by
train from Berlin, he reached the Russian frontier on 7 November 1927, the tenth anniversary of the
Bolshevik seizure of power. ‘Lenin worship’ was abundantly on display. There were red flags and
busts of the Bolshevik hero everywhere. Nehru went on to Moscow, a city which impressed him both
with its physical grandeur and its apparent social levelling. ‘The contrasts between extreme luxury



and poverty are not visible, nor does one notice the hierarchy of class or caste.

Nehru wrote a travelogue on his trip; its tone is unfailingly gushing, whether speaking of peasant
collectives, the constitution of the USSR, the presumed tolerance of minorities, or economic progress.
A visit to Lenin’s tomb prompted a reverie on the man and his mission, ending with a ringing
endorsement of Romain Rolland’s claim that the Bolshevik leader was ‘the greatest man of action in
our century and at the same time the most selfless’. He was taken to a model prison, which he thought
illustrative of the ‘better social order and humane criminal law’ of the socialist system.

As compared to bourgeois countries, concluded Nehru, the Soviet Union treated its workers and
peasants better, its women and children better,even its prisoners better. The credulousness of the
narrative is made complete by the epigraph to the book of his travels — Wordsworth on the French
Revolution: ‘Bliss was it in that dawn to be alive / But to be young was very heaven.’38

Nehru’s biographer points out that he visited ‘the Soviet Union in the last days of its first,
halcyon period. If his reaction was idealistic, it was partly because there was still some idealism in
the air. 32 This is true, after a fashion; for there was still aglow about Lenin (whose own intolerance
was not yet widely known outside Russia); while the extermination of kulaks and the Siberian death
camps lay in the future. And of course there were other such endorsements provided by Western
fellow-travellers of the 1920s. Like them, Nehru had come intending to be impressed; and he was.40

It was, above all, the Soviet economic system which most appealed to Nehru. As a progressive
intellectual of his time, he thought state ownership more just than private property, state planning
more efficient than the market. His Glimpses of World History contains an admiring account of the
Sovietfive-year plans. Yet at no time was he attracted by the Bolshevik model of armed revolution or
by the one-party state. His training under Gandhi predisposed him towards non-violence, and his
exposure to Western liberalism made him an enthusiast for electoral democracy and a free press.

After Independence, relations with the Soviet Union were at first frosty. This was because the
Communist Party of India, with Moscow’s blessing, had attempted to overthrow the state. But the
insurrection failed, and the Soviets also thawed. Now they sought to woo India away from the
Western camp. In 1951, while the American Congress debated are quest for food aid from India, the
Soviets — unencumbered by democratic procedure — offered to send 50,000 tons of wheat at once.
Indian efforts in mediating in the Korean conflict were also appreciated by Moscow. Previously,
Asian states had been judged by their suitability for communism; but(as with Dulles’s America) the
Cold War made ideology more flexible. It no longer mattered if acountry was socialist; what was
crucial was whether it was on one’s side.4l

The consummation of this change was the reception given to Jawaharlal Nehru when he visited
the Soviet Union in 1955. ‘Wherever Nehru went in the Soviet Union’, wrote one observer, ‘there
were large crowds to greet him. In all the factories workmen gathered in thousands to have a glimpse
of him.” At Moscow University ‘the students left their classes and gave him a great ovation’. (One of
the students was Mikhail Gorbachev; years later, he was to recall in his memoirs the impact made on
him by Nehru and his idea of amoral politics.22)On the last day of his stay the Indian prime minister
was due to speak at a public meeting in Gorky Park. But the crowd turned out to be far larger than
anticipated, so the venue was shifted to the stadium of the Dynamo Moscow football team.43

Six months later the Soviet leaders Bulganin and Khrushchev came for a return visit. The Indians
in turn pulled out all the stops. Before the visitors arrived in Delhi, loudspeakers exhorted the people
to turn out in numbers, in grateful response to the reception the Russians had given Nehru. In the event
there were spectacular turnouts in all the cities the duo visited. There were several reasons for this
enthusiasm: the curiosity for the exotic and foreign, the Indian love of a good show and, not least, the



deep vein of anti-Western feeling which took vicarious pride in Russia’s challenge to the USA. The
crowds were biggest in radical, anti-imperialist Calcutta, where students and factory workers made
up a good proportion of the half a million who came out to cheer the Soviet leaders. But even New
Delhi was ablaze with illumination. ‘The brightly lit Delhi Stock Exchange vied with the Communist
Party office in a challenge of festive lights. 44

In their three weeks in India Bulganin and Khrushchev visited steel mills and hydroelectric
plants, and spoke at public meetings in no fewer than seven state capitals. The most significant of
these, without question, was Srinagar, the capital of Jammu and Kashmir state. Here they made clear
that they accepted the Valley as being part of the Indian Union, and the Kashmir is as being one of the
‘talented and industrious peoples of India’.4s Nothing could have sounded sweeter to Indian ears.

IV

On the eve of Nehru’s departure for Moscow in 1955 an Indian critic had worried that he would be
taken in by his hosts. For ‘like many another sensitive nature, accustomed in its late twenties and
early thirties to regard the Soviet Union as truly Progressive, the Prime Minister seems never to have
quite got over the vision of those days. Despite all that has happened since then, the Soviet [Union]
still retains for him some of that enchantment. To its virtues he continues to be very kind, to its vices
and cruelties, he is almost blind. 4

The writer was A. D.Gorwala, a Western-oriented liberal. There were others like him, Indians
who believed that India should ally more strongly with the democracies in the Cold War. 42 But these
were most likely outnumbered, and certainly outshouted, by those Indians who suspected the United
States and favoured the Soviet Union. One reason for this was that while the Americans were loath to
ask their European allies to disband their empires in Asia and Africa, the Russians spoke frequently
about the evils of racialism and colonialism.28

Nehru at first tried hard to avoid taking sides in the Cold War. But, as he often said, this non-
alignment was not mere evasion; it had a positive charge to it. Athird bloc might come to act as a
salutary moderating effect on the hubris of the superpowers. We have spoken already of the Asian
Relations Conference in 1947. Another such effort, in which Nehru played an important part, was the
Afro-Asian conference, held in the Indonesian city of Bandung in 1955.

Only countries that had independent governments were invited to Bandung. Twenty-nine sent
delegations, including India and China. Four African nations were represented (the others still lay
under the colonial yoke); but delegates from Iran, Iraq, Saudi Arabia and Syria all came. The meeting
discussed methods of cultural and economic co-operation, and committed itself firmly to the end of
colonial rule. For, as President Sukarno of Indonesia observed, ‘how can we say that colonialism is
dead so long as vast areas of Asia and Africa are unfree?’4

Nehru considered the Bandung Conference ‘a great achievement’; it ‘proclaimed the political
emergence in world affairs of over half the world’s population. [But] it presented no unfriendly
challenge or hostility to anyone . . .” Ashe told the Indian Parliament on his return, the historic links
between Asian and African countries had been sundered by colonialism; now, as freedom dawned,
they could be revived and reaffirmed.

This last protestation was in answer to the charge that Bandung and the like were, in essence,
anti-Western. How ‘non-aligned’, in fact, was non-alignment? In India, its ideals were put sternly to
the test in the second half of 1956. In July of that year Gamal Abdel Nasser nationalized the company



that managed the Suez Canal. Britain (whose strategic interests were most threatened by the action)
reacted by asking for international control over the Canal. Nehru, who knew both parties well, tried
hard to mediate. But he failed, and ultimately, in late October, the British, in collusion with the
French and the Israelis, undertook a military invasion of Egypt. This act of neocolonial aggression
drew worldwide condemnation. Finally, under American pressure, the Anglo-French alliance was
forced to withdraw .31

Close on the heels of the invasion of Egypt, Soviet tanks rolled into Budapest. This followed a
popular revolt which had overthrown the Soviet client regime in favour of a more representative
government. Moscow reacted in brutal fashion to restore the status quo ante. Their action, like that of
the British and the French in the Middle East, was viewed as an unacceptable infringement of national
sovereignty.

Indian commentators saw the invasions of Egypt and Hungary as wholly comparable. Both were
‘acts of international brigandage by powers that commanded permanent seats in the UN Security
Council — both had ‘spread a wave of cynicism throughout the world’. As a Madras journal pointed
out, while the independence of Egypt threatened the oil resources of Britain and France, ‘the
independence of Hungary would not only threaten the supply of uranium so essential for the
maintenance of the Red Army in top form, but would cause a dangerous rift in the Soviet empire.
London could not countenance the first and Moscow could not tolerate the second. Hence their acts of
naked aggression which amount to a savage exhibition of the predatory animal instinct.’32

Nehru had criticized the Anglo-French intervention as soon as it happened.33 But now, when the
United Nations met to discuss a resolution calling upon the Soviet Union ‘to withdraw all of its forces
without delay from Hungarian territory’, India, represented by V. K. Krishna Menon, abstained. This
caused great resentment in the Western world, and exposed the Indian government to the charge of
keeping double standards.3

There was also much domestic criticism of India’s stand. There was an angry debate in
Parliament, and sections of the press deplored ‘our shameful sycophancy to the Soviet rulers . . .” ‘By
kowtowing to Russia we have abdicated our moral pretensions’, wrote one journalist. It was
speculated that the government may have been influenced by its uncertain hold over Kashmir, since
one of the UN resolutions it had abstained from asked for an internationally supervised plebiscite in
Hungary.3

Later research has revealed that Nehru was actually deeply unhappy about the Soviet invasion.
He had sent several private messages to Moscow urging it to withdraw its troops. Afterwards, India
spoke out in public too, but the damage had been done. It was compounded when Nehru stood by
Krishna Menon’s original abstention, on the grounds that insufficient information was available at the
time.3¢

The fiasco over Hungary undermined Nehru’s international credibility. Non-alignment was seen
by some as meaning ‘fierce condemnation of the Western bloc when its actions are wrong’, but
‘equivocal language when the Soviet bloc goes off the rails’.3Z The episode also exposed the prime
minister to the charge of putting personal loyalty above national purpose. For while he privately
deplored what Krishna Menon had done, he stood by him in public.

Krishna Menon was an oldfriend of Nehru, and in his own way a remarkable man. Educated at
the London School of Economics, he was also the first editor of Penguin’s prestigious non-fiction
imprint, Pelican Books. In the 1930s he had worked tirelessly in canvassing British support for Indian
independence. But he also found time to act as an unofficial spokesman and literary agent for Nehru.
He was rewarded with the High Commissioner’s job in London after Independence. Here he worked



very hard, but also made enemies, through his arrogance and by frequently advertising his friendship
with the prime minister.38

After returning from London, Krishna Menon was made a Cabinet minister without portfolio. He
became a sort of roving ambassador, representing India at the UN and at disarmament meetings in
Geneva. A man of forceful opinions, he was controversial both in his homeland and out of it. The
‘lucidity of his intellect’, wrote one journalist who knew him well, ‘is sometimes clouded by
passions and resentments’. Since his ‘likes and dislikes are stronger than would seem quite safe for a
man 1in his position’, it did seem ‘strange that a man who carries such a storm around with him should
have been used for delicate diplomatic missions’ .32

Even before Hungary there had been adverse comment about the prime minister’s reliance on
Krishna Menon. Within the Congress, there were many who were uncomfortable with his pro-
communist leanings.?? And the Western press cordially hated him, a New York paper speaking of the
‘lack of loveableness’ in this ‘least tactful of diplomats’.o!

But Nehru would stand by Menon. As early as 1953 it was being noticed in Delhi that the prime
minister ‘turns blue when anyone criticises his diplomatic pet, Mr Krishna Menon’. This blindness
was to cost Nehru dearly over Hungary in 1956. But he still would not discard him. Why? A helpful
answer is provided by Alva Myrdal, who was Sweden’s ambassador in India at the time, and knew
Nehru well. The prime minister, concluded Myrdal, ‘knew Menon’s shortcomings but kept listening
to him because of his brilliance. Menon was the only genuine intellectual foil Nehru had in the
government’, the only man with whom he could discuss Marx and Mill, Dickens and Dostoevsky.2

\%

Let us now turn to India’s relationship with its larger and even more populous neighbour, China. The
two civilizations had long been linked by ties of trade and culture. More recently, each had keenly
watched the other’s struggle against European domination. The Congress, and Nehru, had a particular
regard for the Kuomintang leader Chiang Kai-shek, who had urged the Americans to in turn urge the
British to grant the Indians independence.

In 1949, however, the Kuomintang were overthrown by the communists. What would relations
now be like? To indicate continuity, India retained their serving ambassador to Beijing, who was the
historian K. M. Pannikar. In May 1950 Pannikar was granted an interview with Mao Zedong, and
came away greatly impressed. Mao’s face, he recalled later, was ‘pleasant and benevolent and the
look in his eyes is kindly’. There ‘is no cruelty or hardness either in his eyes or in the expression of
his mouth. In fact he gave me the impression of a philosophical mind, a little dreamy but absolutely
sure of itself. The Chinese leader had ‘experienced many hardships and endured tremendous
sufferings’, yet ‘his face showed no signs of bitterness, cruelty or sorrow . Mao reminded Pannikar of
his own boss, Nehru, for ‘both are men of action with dreamy, idealistic temperaments’, and both
‘may be considered humanists in the broadest sense ofthe term’.%3

This would be laughable if it were not so serious. Intellectuals have always had a curious
fascination for the man of power; George Bernard Shaw wrote about Lenin in much the same terms.
Yet Shaw was an unaffiliated writer, responsible only to himself. Pannikar was the official
representative of his government. What he said and believed would carry considerable weight. And
here he was representing one of history’s most ruthless dictators as a dreamy, soft, poetic kind of
chap.



In October 1950, not long after Mao met Pannikar, China invaded and annexed Tibet. They had
long claimed suzerainty over that country, and in the past had often exercised control over it. But there
had also been periods when Tibet was genuinely independent, as in the four decades before the
communist invasion. Tibet and China, after all, had sent separate, independent delegations to the
Asian Relations Conference in 1947.

Nehru was now placed in an unenviable position. India had close relations with Tibet, economic
as well as cultural. But a newly free and still vulnerable India could scarcely go to war on Tibet’s
behalf. Speaking in Parliament a few weeks after the Chinese action, Nehru hoped that the matter
would be resolved peacefully. He clarified that he believed that while China had historically
exercised some kind of ‘suzerainty’ over Tibet, this did not amount to ‘sovereignty’. He also added
that he did not see how Tibet could at all be a ‘threat’ to China.&

Privately, Nehru thought ‘the Chinese acted rather foolishly in annexing Tibet. There was ‘a
strong feeling here [in India] of being let down by them’. Still, thought the prime minister, ‘we have to
be careful not to overdo’ criticisms of a neighbouring country that was also emerging from the
shadows of European domination.6

Other members of the government urged a stronger line. Vallabhbhai Patel, for instance, was
convinced that the Chinese had made a dupe out of Pannikar. They had lulled him into a ‘false sense
of confidence’ which led the ambassador to overlook completely the plans for the invasion. But now
that the deed was done, it behoved India to be vigilant. Writing to Nehru on 7 November, Patel
warned that ‘China 1s no longer divided. It is united and strong.” ‘Recent and bitter history’, said the
home minister,

also tells us that communism is no shield against imperialism and that the Communists areas
good or as bad imperialists as any other. Chinese ambitions in this respect not only cover the
Himalayan slopes on our side but also include important parts of Assam . . . Chinese irredentism
and Communist imperialism are different from the expansionism or imperialism of the Western
Powers. The former has a cloak of ideology which makes it ten times more dangerous. In the
guise of ideological expansion lies concealed racial, national or historical claims.

Patel urged Nehru to be ‘alive to the new danger’ from China, and to makeIndia ‘defensively strong’.
He then outlined a series of steps to enhance security. He thought that in view of the ‘rebuff over
Tibet, India should no longer advocate China’s case for entry into the UN. Finally, he argued that the
latest developments should prompt afresh reconsideration of ‘our relationship with China, Russia,
America, Britain and Burma’. Patel seemed here to be hinting that India should reconsider its policy
of non-alignment in favour of an alliance with the West.%

This latter shift was advocated more vigorously by the journalist D. F. Karaka. Like Patel,
Karaka was appalled by Pannikar’s carelessness. (Apparently, the ambassador did not hear about the
Chinese invasion until it was announced on All-India Radio.) The annexation of Tibet had shown that
the Himalaya was no longer impregnable. And the Indian army lacked the equipment or training to
take on a determined and focused enemy. Thus, concluded Karaka, ‘whatever may be our past
unhappy relations with Britain, however much may be our fear of American imperialism spreading in
Asia, we have to decide now whether we will continue with this policy of neutrality and endanger
our frontiers, or whether we will take the lesser risk and make a military pact with the United States
and with Great Britain.’¢Z

Nehru would not deign to take notice of journalists such as Karaka. But he did answer Patel, in a



note on the subject circulated to the Cabinet. He thought it a pity that Tibet could not be ‘saved’. Yet
he considered it ‘exceedingly unlikely’ that India would now face an attack from China; it was
‘inconceivable’ that they would ‘undertake a wild adventure across the Himalayas’. He thought that
‘the idea that communism inevitably means expansion and war, or to put it more precisely, that
Chinese communism means inevitably an expansion towards India, is rather naive’. Regardless of the
happenings in Tibet, India should still seek ‘some kind of understanding’ with Beijing, for ‘India and
China at peace with each other would make a vast difference to the whole set-up and balance of the
world’.%8

A month later Patel died. Now there existed no real opposition to a policy of ‘understanding’
with China. The two countries shared vast borders — thousand of miles of mostly unmarked and
unsurveyed territory. On India’s west, the border ran along the Buddhist-dominated district of Ladakh
in Jammu and Kashmir state, which touched the Chinese provinces of Tibet and Sinkiang. On the east,
the border was defined by the McMahon Line, drawn on the crest of the Himalaya, as a result of a
treaty signed by the British and Tibet in 1914. In the middle, the two countries touched each other
near the water shed of the river Ganga, which divided Tibet from the Indian state of Uttar Pradesh.

The border in the centre was relatively uncontentious, whereas in the two extremes the situation
was more problematic. The Chinese regarded the McMahon Line in particular as an imperialist
imposition. For the moment they let the matter pass, and focused on getting India’s goodwill,
necessary at this time as a bridge to the Western world. In the summer of 1952 a government
delegation led by Mrs Vijayalakshmi Pandit visited Beijing. Mrs Pandit had served as India’s
ambassador to Moscow; more to the point, she was Nehru’s adored younger sister. She met Mao once
and Chou En-lai twice, and was profoundly impressed by both. Mao, wrote Mrs Pandit to her brother,
was ‘quiet [and] precise’, with a ‘great sense of humour . His appearance in public called Gandhi to
mind. As with the Mahatma, ‘the public doesn’t just applaud him, they worship him. There is both
love and adoration in the glances of those who look at him. It is moving to see.” As for Chou En-lai,
he ‘is a great statesman and possesses abundant vitality and charm. He is polished and has a sense of
humour which is terribly infectious. One has to join in his laughter — and he laughs often. He makes
one feel at home in a moment and his conversation loses nothing in translation.

The letter did strike the odd ambivalent note. ‘We have been wined and dined’, wrote Mrs
Pandit, ‘and have spoken of friendship and culture and peace until I am getting alittle tired.” And she
wasn’t sure whether the Great Helmsman reminded her more of Gandhi or of Stalin. For while ‘Mao
gives the impression of being kind and tolerant and wise’, the ‘tolerant part struck me almost as if it
might be apose as it is reminiscent of the Russian leaders particularly Stalin. He uses the same
gesture in greeting and has the same technique with the public. Still, what stood out was ‘the great
vitality of the people and the dedicated manner in which they are working. The oppression one feels
in Moscow is absent here. Everybody seems happy and determined to make the country prosperous’.&2

Mrs Pandit seems to have reacted to China in 1952 much as her brother had reacted to Russia in
1927. Perhaps this dawn might not turn out to be a false one after all. So Nehru was inclined to think,
too. Soon, romanticism was to be reinforced by realpolitik. The United States began to tilt markedly
towards Pakistan, giving New Delhi one more reason to befriend Beijing. In a wide-ranging
agreement signed in April 1954, India officially recognized Tibet as being part of China. The joint
declaration outlined five principles of peaceful co-existence (panch sheel), which included mutual
non-aggression and mutual respect for each other’s territorial integrity.Z

One person who did not welcome this agreement was the former secretary general of the Foreign
Ministry, Sir Girija Shankar Bajpai. Writing to acolleague, Bajpai warned that communist China was



no ‘different from Russian Communism in its expansionist aims . . .” The current thinking in New
Delhi was of ‘the naturalness of indefinite continuance of indefinite peace and friendship between
China and us’. Bajpai feared that ‘those on whom the P[rime] M[inister] now relies most for advice
completely and vehemently reject any possibility of a change in what appears to be China’s present
policy of peace with its Asian neighbours’.Zt

It is unlikely that this warning reached Nehru, and even if it had he would most likely have
disregarded it. Towards the end of 1954 he visited China for the first time. As in Russia six months
later, huge crowds were mobilized to greet the visitor, who appreciated this ‘tremendous emotional
response from the Chinese people . Nehru had discussions with Chou En-lai about border questions,
and with Mao about the world situation. He also pressed the case for Tibetan autonomy, the Chinese
assuring him in the Dalai Lama’s presence that the Buddhist state would enjoy a status which ‘no
other province enjoyed in the People’s Republic of China’.Z2

On his return from China Nehru addressed a mammoth public meeting on the Calcutta Maidan. A
million people heard him affirm that ‘the people of China do not want war’; they were too busy
uniting their country and getting rid of poverty. He spoke admiringly of the spirit of unity in China, the
absence of the provincial and sectarian interests that bedevilled India. As for the ‘mighty welcome’
he had received in the People’s Republic, this was ‘not because lam Jawaharlal with any special
ability, but because I am the Prime Minister of India for which the Chinese people cherish in their
hearts the greatest of love and with which they want to maintain the friendliest of relations’.Z2

Two years later the compliment was returned when Chou En-lai visited India. With him were the
Dalai and Panchen Lamas, who had been invited as part of the celebrations of the 2500th birth
anniversary of the Buddha. On a drive through the countryside the Dalai Lama escaped his Chinese
minders and travelled with Nehru. A revolt was brewing in Tibet against the occupiers, he said; he
himself was strongly tempted to seek asylum in India. If that was not possible, at least India could
send a consul to Lhasa who was not pro-Chinese or pro-communist. When Nehru asked Chou about
the situation in Tibet, the Chinese leader conceded that there had been ‘unfortunate incidents’ there,
and promised to look into them.Z

So there the matter rested. The Dalai Lama went back to Lhasa, and India and China continued to
be brothers-in-arms; as the slogan of the time went, Hindi-Chini bhai-bhai. Themanmost responsible
for this was the charming Chou. He impressed Nehru, of course, but also a man more cynical by far,
the veteran politician C. Rajagopalachari. ‘Rajaji’ had lunch with the Chinese prime minister and
later wrote to a friend that, ‘frankly my impression was very favourable. Apart from the general
thawing of all communists the Chinese Premier is I believe agood type of man and trustworthy.Zs

In public India and China expressed undying friendship, buton the ground each was working to
protect its strategic interests. India was more concerned with the eastern sector; China with the
western one. The British had drawn the McMahon Line to protect the prosperous tea estates of the
province of Assam from a putative raid down the Himalaya. There was an ‘Inner Line at the foot of
the hills, beyond which no one could venture without a permit. Between this and the border lay some
50,000 square miles of densely forested territory, inhabited by many self-contained and self-
administered tribes, each too small to form a separate state, each too remote to be subservient to any
existing one. Some of the tribes were Buddhist, and there was also an old Buddhist monastery at
Tawang. This paid tribute to Tibetan authorities and was ‘ecclesiastically subject’ to Lhasa.

Under the treaty of 1914, the British persuaded the Tibetans to relinquish control over Tawang.
For, as one colonial official argued, it was necessary to get this ‘undoubtedly Tibetan territory’ into
British India, ‘as otherwise Tibet and Assam will adjoin each other and, if Tibet should again come



under Chinese control, it will be a dangerous position for us’.Z

Other tribes living between the Inner and Outer Lines were beyond Tibetan influence. These,
like the Buddhists, became Indian citizens by default in August 1947, when the new government
inherited the borders bequeathed it by the British. Slowly, New Delhi moved to fill in the
administrative vacuum that the British had left behind. In February 1951 a small force accompanied
by apolitical officer visited Tawang, and instructed the lamas that they need no longer pay tribute to
Lhasa. Officials also began to fan out into what was now called the North-East Frontier Agency, or
NEFA. An Indian Frontier Administrative Service (IFAS) was formed, whose recruits were coached
on how best to deal with the sometimes truculent tribes by the British-born anthropologist Verrier
Elwin, who was now an Indian citizen and a confidant of Nehru.ZZ

The Chinese, for their part, focused on expanding their footprint in the western sector. Here, too,
the adjoining Indian territory, known as Ladakh, was Buddhist in its religious colouring. However, it
had been an independent state as early as the tenth century. And for the past 150 years it had been part
of the principality of Kashmir, whose own allegiances were all to the Indian side of the border.

Between north-east Ladakh and Sinkiang, on the Chinese side, lay an elevated table-land named
Aksai Chin, ‘absolutely bare’ for the most part, with occasional patches of ‘scant herbage’.Z8 In the
past, Ladakhi pastoralists had used Aksai Chin for grazing and salt collection. By an agreement of
1842 this area was identified as being part of Kashmir. This was confirmed by the British, who were
worried that the Russians, their adversary in the ‘Great Game’ ,might use the plateau to advance heavy
artillery into British India.

That didn’t happen, but after 1950 the Chinese saw in the same flat terrain a route to their
troublesome province of Tibet from the Sinkiang town of Yarkand. Peking sent surveyors to scout the
land, and in 1956 began buildingaroad across Aksai Chin. By October 1957 the road was ready,
equipped to carry 10-ton military trucks with arms and personnel from Yarkand to Lhasa.

We owe this information to accounts published much later. At the time, however, the Chinese
activities in the west, and the Indian activities in the east, were carried on out of each other’s gaze.
To the world at large, and to their own citizens, the two Asian neighbours were bound by an
exemplary relationship of friendship and co-operation.
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‘If there were ever two countries where every prospect promised brotherly understanding and
friendship’, wrote a Bombay newspaper in January 1952, ‘these two are India and Pakistan. Every
possible kind of tie exists between them; the tie of race, the ties of language, of geography, economy
and culture.”2

Yet India’s relations with Pakistan were poisoned from the start. The country had been divided
against a backdrop of violence; and the mutual suspicion and hostility persisted. In the winter of
1949/50 there was a wave of communal riots in East Pakistan. Several hundred thousand Hindus
crossed over the border into India. Nehru now suggested to his Pakistani counterpart, Liaqat Ali
Khan, that they together visit the affected areas to bring about peace. His offer was declined; but Khan
agreed to come to Delhi and sign an agreement binding both countries to the humane treatment of their
respective minorities. However, the ‘Nehru-Liaqat’ pact failed to stem the tide of refugees. There
was much anger among Hindus in West Bengal, some of whom even wanted the government to go to
war with Pakistan on their behalf.22



The two main conflicts, however, were about those elemental human needs, land and water. The
first, which this book has already alluded to and to which it will return, related to the unresolved
status of Kashmir. The second pertained to the fair use of the Indus and its five main tributaries. These
rivers ran from east to west, that is, from India towards Pakistan. The Indus and the Jhelum entered
Pakistan before any major extraction was possible, but the other four rivers ran for many miles in
Indian territory. This made it possible for India to regulate their flow and impound water before the
rivers reached the other country.

After Partition, the governments of East and West Punjab signed a ‘Standstill Agreement’
whereby water continued to flow uninterrupted. When this lapsed, in April 1948, India stopped the
waters of the Ravi and the Sutlej from flowing west. They claimed that no fresh agreement had been
signed, but it was widely believed that the action was revenge for the Pakistan-backed invasion of
Kashmir. Anyhow, the drying up of their canals created panic among the farmers of West Punjab.
Within a month a newagreement was signed, and water supply restored. However, the building of the
Bhakra-Nangal dam, on the Indian side of the Sutlej river, prompted fresh protests by Pakistan.

Both sides now sought amore permanent solution to the problem. Pakistan asked for the matter to
be referred to international arbitration, which India at first refused. The World Bank stepped in to
play the role of peacemaker. Knowing the recalcitrance of both sides, the Bank offered a surgical
solution — the waters of three rivers would go to Pakistan, the waters of the other three rivers to India.
This proposal was tabled in February 1954; it took another six years for the two sides to finally sign
it.8l

With the Indus, as with Kashmir or any other topic under the subcontinental sun, agreement was
made more difficult by domestic politics. An Indian or Pakistani head of government who promoted
dialogue was inevitably accused of selling out to the other side. An early example of this was the
trade war of 1949-51, prompted by the devaluation of the Indian rupee. Pakistan stopped the
shipment of jute in protest; India retaliated by refusing to supplycoal.£2 The conflict was resolved
only when, in February 1951, Nehru agreed to recognize the par value of the Pakistani rupee. His
decision was welcomed by chambers of commerce, but bitterly opposed by politicians of all stripes.
The general consensus in New Delhi was that ‘India has been completely defeated’. One Congress
member reported that the feeling in the party office was that ‘such a humiliation could not have been
possible if Sardar Patel were alive’. A refugee leader remarked, ‘The real question to be considered
now 1s to find out the next i1ssue on which Jawaharlal will surrender to Pakistan — Kashmir, or more
probably Evacuee Property’. A spokesman of the Hindu Mahasabha said, ‘In order to become a
world leader, Nehru can go to the extent of surrendering the whole of India to Pakistan.” And an RSS
organizer claimed, ‘This shows what is to come next. More appeasement and surrenders if the masses
do not check Nehru.83

On the Pakistani side, any concession to India was likewise seen by opposition politicians as
appeasement of the enemy. At the popular level, however, the feelings about the other side were
distinctly mixed. Nationalist ideology drove them apart; but mass culture brought them back together
again. It was not just that they ate the same food and lived in the same kinds of homes. They also had
the same sense of fun. Indian filmstars were widely admired in Pakistan; and Pakistani cricketers
given arousing reception when they played in India.

This ambivalence is captured in an exchange printed by the Karachi newspaper Dawn in 1955.
A lady who had recently visited her relatives in India wrote of her experiences while travelling by
train from Amritsar to Ambala. When they heard she was from Pakistan, she was set upon by
passengers who were refugees from Sindh and West Punjab. Apparently, ‘some of the non-refugee



Hindu passengers remonstrated, but the refugee Hindus and Sikhs brushed aside their remonstrance,
saying that the non-refugees could not realise the suffering of the refugees from Pakistan’. This
account of Indian animosity provoked several letters recounting the warmt hand hospitality on offer
on the other side of the border. A man advised any future traveller to India to ‘indulge in Amroods
and Pans [guavas and betel-leaf] which are at their best these days instead of indulging in such talks
as tend to injure the growing Indo-Pak accord’. A woman correspondent complained that such ‘mis-
statements created bitterness and precluded ‘amity between India and Pakistan’. This last ideal was
then endorsed by the original letter-writer, with this telling caveat: ‘I wish, however, that as a
Pakistani, which I suppose she is, she had the delicacy of stating “Pakistan and India” instead of
“India and Pakistan™.’8

VIl

Indian foreign policy was opposed to the continuance of colonial rule anywhere. This, naturally,
meant reclaiming the pieces of the motherland that were still under the control of foreigners. When the
British left in 1947, the Portuguese stayed on in Goa and their other possessions in India while the
French remained in control of three slivers of land in the south — most importantly the port of
Pondicherry — as well as the eastern enclave of Chandernagore.

In June 1949 the population of Chandernagore voted by an over-whelming majority to merge
withIndia. The electionhad witnessed a resounding display of patriotism, with posters representing a
mother in Indian dress reaching out to reclaim a child clad in Western apparel. A year later the
territory was transferred. But the French hung on to their slices of south India. In the spring of 1954
the situation became ‘increasingly tense’; there was a vigorous pro-merger movement afoot in
Pondicherry, and daily demonstrations in front of the French consulate in Madras. On 1 November the
French finally handed over their territories, which the Indians celebrated with a spectacular display
of fireworks. The following January’s annual Republic Day parade for the first time featured a float
from Pondicherry, with young girls singing French songs.8

In welcoming back these fragments, Jawaharlal Nehru praised the governments of both countries
for their ‘tolerance, good sense and wisdom’, thus solving the problem of French India ‘with grace
and goodwill’ .8 These remarks were intended above all for the Portuguese, who, however, were not
listening. They were determined to hang on to Goa for as long as they could. As the transfer of
Pondicherry was being finalized, the Portuguese dictator Antonio de Oliveira Salazar spoke on
national radio of their Indian colonies as belonging to ‘the Portuguese Nation by injunction of History
and force of Law’. ‘Goa constitutes a Portuguese community in India’, he insisted: ‘Goa represents
alight of the West in lands of the Orient. It had to be retained, so that it might ‘continue to be the
memorial of Portuguese discoveries and a small hearth of the spirit of the West in the East’.87

A Goa Congress Committee had been in operation since well before Independence; its activists
included resident Goans as well as exiles in Bombay. They argued that the conditions in Goa were far
worse than in British India; racial prejudice was rife and human rights wholly absent. In 1946 the
left-wing Congress politician Rammanohar Lohia visited the territory and exhorted the people to rise
against the rulers. A wave of strikes and protests followed; these were crushed by the authorities. On
15 August 1947 the Indian tricolour was hoisted here and there, but the protesters were quickly taken
away by the police.88

Apart from Goa, the Portuguese also held several smaller territories up the Konkan coast. One



was Daman, which had a garrison of 1,500 African soldiers from Portuguese East Africa. This
abutted the Indian province of Bombay, which after Independence had imposed prohibition. There
was now a flourishing trade in the smuggling of liquor. On Sunday evenings the frontier between
Daman and Bombay was ‘strewn with pilgrims to Bacchus, wending their way back to the land where
they belong, back to Bharat, land of scarcity and austerity.&

Alcoholics apart, most politically conscious Indians were outraged by the Portuguese attitude
over their colonies. Nehru at first moved slowly, hoping that the matter would be resolved by
dialogue. But his hand was being forced by radicals of the Socialist Party, who began a series of
satyagrahas to compel Goa to join the union. In July 1954 a group of activists from Bombay seized
the tiny enclave of Dadra. The next month the somewhat bigger enclave of Nagar-Haveli also fell
without a fight. Then 1,000 volunteers attempted to cross over to Daman on Independence Day. They
were stopped by the Indian police, whereupon they wired the prime minister for support. Nehru
wired back saying that such a showdown would not ‘help our cause’.2

The socialists were only temporarily deterred. A year later a group led by N. G. Goray entered
Goa shouting slogans. They walked several miles into the territory before being attacked by the
police. Several protesters were badly injured. The satyagrahis were put in Fort Aguada prison,
where they spent twenty months before being released. During these protests in 1954 and 1955, the
Portuguese arrested more than 2,000 people.2L

VI

For Jawaharlal Nehru, foreign policy was a means of making India’s presence felt in the world. After
Independence he personally supervised the creation of the Indian Foreign Service (IFS), transferring
to its cadre able officers of the ICS and making fresh selections from the young. A job in the IFS had a
nearly unique combination ofidealism and glamour; it also offered the chance of personal contact with
the prime minister. One IFS officer recalled how, early in 1948, Nehru called him to his room and
showed him a map of the world. The prime minister’s eyes ranged over the globe, and his fingers
pointed to places north, south, east and west. ‘We will have forty embassies!” he exclaimed. ‘We will
have forty missions!’2

Five years later, when India did have forty missions, Nehru wrote them all a letter of self-
congratulation. The ‘prestige of India has greatly increased since Independence, he said, for ‘we have
always avoided playing a flashy role in international affairs . . . Gradually, an appreciation has grown
in other countries of our own sincerity of purpose even though there has been disagreement. He asked
all those representing India abroad — ‘from the Head of the Mission to the humblest employee’ — to
‘feel and work as ahappy family,cooperating with each other . . .
We are all partners in a great adventure, and are all partners and comrades in the same undertaking.’%

Although presented and carried out as a collective enterprise, this particular adventure had
‘made by the prime minister’ stamped all over it. In 1950, one of his most intelligent and least
sycophantic cabinet ministers spoke of how Nehru was becoming ‘the biggest man in the world,
overtopping the USA men, the UK men and every otherman’. Through its leader, a country ‘without
material, men or money —the three means of power — was ‘now fast coming to be recognized as the
biggest moral power in the civilized world . . . her word listened to with respect in the councils of the
great’.24 Even opposition politicians appreciated what Nehru had done for India’s international
standing. Non-alignment seemed to them to be acreative application of Gandhian principles in world



affairs. Confidence in its viability was strengthened when India was called upon to play an important
mediatory role in the conflicts and civil wars of the time.

Intelligent foreigners also praised Nehru’s non-alignment. When that now great publishing firm,
Feltrinelli of Milan, began operationsin 1955, one of the first two books it published was Nehru’s
autobiography, which it celebrated both for its ‘consistent and coherent anti-fascism’ and as an
authentic voice of ‘the countries that were emerging from colonial domination . . . to take their place
forcefully in the global political system’.22 And from her post in the Swedish embassy in New Delhi,
Alva Myrdal wrote to her husband Gunnar of how Nehru was ‘naturally playing an authoritative, not
to say world-historical role without the slightest tendency to Caesarism. Isn’t it true that he is perhaps
the only person we have seen reach a high and powerful position without taking on new self-
importance?’2

Such was Nehru’s standing among the people of the front-line states in the Cold War, those who
stood between the United States and the Soviet Union. In 1955 non-alignment still had a glow and
moral halo about it. The next year was the Hungary fiasco, and the beginning of the Western
disillusionment with Nehru. It took longer for him to lose the enchanted support of his countrymen.



REDRAWING THE MAP

Some want to revive the tradition of Shivaji and to hoist the Bhagwa Jhanda in Samyukta
Maharashtra; others wish to extend the economic empire of the Bombay and Ahmedabad
millionaires all over Maha-Gujarat.Provincial prejudices, rivalries and jealousies are being
revived on all sides and everyone seems anxious to separate from, rather than unite with, the
others. The Assamese want this bit of land cut off from Bengal, the Bengalis want a slice of
Bihar, the Telugus are discontented in Orissa, the Tamilian minority wants to cut itself off from
Travancore . . .

K. A. Assas, left-wing writer, January 1951

I

Tue Leaping Inpian NaTioNaLisTs had long been sensible of the power of the mother tongue to rouse and
move. This was a land of many languages, each with its distinct script, grammar, vocabulary and
literary traditions. Rather than deny this diversity, the Congress sought to give space to it. As early as
1917 the party had committed itself to the creation of linguistic provinces in a free India. A separate
Andhra circle was formed in that year, a separate Sindh circle the following year. After the Nagpur
Congress of 1920, the principle was extended and formalized with the creation of provincial
Congress committees (PCCs) by linguistic zones: the Karnataka Pradesh PCC, the Orissa PCC, the
Maharashtra PCC, etc. Notably these did not follow, and were often at odds with, the administrative
divisions of British India.

The linguistic reorganization of the Congress was encouraged and supported by Mahatma
Gandhi. When Independence finally came Gandhi thought that the states of the new nation should be
defined on the basis of language. Shortly afterwards, on 10 October 1947, he wrote to a colleague: ‘I
do believe that we should hurry up with the reorganization of linguistic provinces’ . . . There may be
an illusion for the time being that different languages stand for different cultures, but there is also the
possibility[that with the creation] of linguistic provinces it may disappear. I shall write something
[about it] if I get the time’ . . . [ am not unaware that a class of people have been saying that linguistic
provinces are wrong. In my opinion, this class delights in creating obstacles..

Jawaharlal Nehru was also appreciative of the linguistic diversity of India. In an essay of 1937,
he wrote that ‘a living language 1s a throbbing, vital thing, ever changing, ever growing and mirroring
the people who speak and write 1t’. And ‘our great provincial languages are no dialects or
vernaculars, as the ignorant sometimes call them. They are ancient languages with a rich inheritance,
each spoken by many millions of people, each tied up inextricably with the life and culture and i1deas
of the masses as well as the upper classes. It is axiomatic that the masses can only grow educationally
and culturally through the medium of their own language.’2

That was Nehru’s view in 1937, but by 1947 he was having other thoughts. The country had just
been divided on the basis of religion: would not dividing it further on the basis of language merely
encourage the break-up of the Union? Why not keep intact the existing administrative units, such as



Madras, which had within it communities of Tamil, Mala-yalam, Telugu, Kannada, Urdu and Konkani
speakers, and Bombay, whose peoples spoke Marathi, Gujarati, Urdu, Sindhi, Gondi and other
tongues? Would not such multilingual and multicultural states provide an exemplary training in
harmonious living? In any case, should not the new nation unite on the secular ideals of peace,
stability and economic development, rather than revive primordial identities of caste and language?

Nehru gave voice to these reservations in a speech to the Constituent Assembly three months
after Independence. While the Congress had once promised linguistic provinces, he said, the country
now faced ‘a very critical situation resulting from partition’. Now ‘disruptionist tendencies had come
to the fore’; to check them, one had to underline ‘the security and stability of India . . . The first
essential therefore is for India as a whole to be strong and firmly established, confident in her
capacity to meet all possible dangers and face and meet all problems. If India lives, all parts of India
also live and prosper. If India is enfeebled, all her component elements grow weak.’3

The creation of linguistic provinces, then, had to be deferred until such time as India was strong
and sure of herself. Nehru seems to have persuaded even Gandhi of this, for in November 1947 the
Mahatma was writing that ‘the reluctance to enforce linguistic redistribution is perhaps justifiable in
the present depressing atmosphere. The exclusive spirit is ever uppermost. No one thinks of the
whole of India.” Gandhi now thought that the reorganization of provinces should be postponed until a
calmer time, when communal strife had died out and been replaced by ‘a healthy atmosphere,
promoting concord in the place of discord, peace in the place of strife, progress in the place of
retrogression and life in the place of death.’#

As ever, Gandhi extolled the need to take ‘one step at a time’. But the principle itself he would
not surrender. In a prayer meeting held on 25 January 1948 Gandhi returned to the subject of linguistic
states. ‘The Congress had decided some twenty years ago’, he recalled, ‘that there should be as many
provinces in the country as there are major languages.” Now it was in power, and in a position to

execute that promise. Gandhi thought that if new provinces were formed on the basis of language, and
if

they are all placed under the authority of Delhi there 1s no harm at all. But it will be very bad if
they all want to be free and refuse to accept central authority. It should not be that Bombay then
will have nothing to do with Maharashtra and Maharashtra with Karnataka and Karnataka with
Andhra. Let all live as brothers. Moreover if linguistic provinces are formed it will also give a
fillip to the regional languages. It would be absurd to make Hindusthani the medium of
instruction in all the regions and it is still more absurd to use English for this purpose.:

Within a week Gandhi was dead. And the men in power had other, and more urgent, matters to
attend to. Millions of refugees from East and West Pakistan had to be found homes and gainful
employment. An undeclared war was taking place in Kashmir. A new constitution had to be decided
upon. Elections had to be scheduled, economic policies framed and executed. For now, and perhaps
indefinitely, the creation of new provinces had to wait.

Nehru’s reluctance to superimpose divisions of language on the recent division by religion had
the support of both Vallabhbhai Patel and C. Rajagopalachari. The latter insisted that ‘further
fissiparous forces’ had to be checked forthwith.6 And Patel worked hard within the Constituent
Assembly to reverse the official Congress position. Under his direction, the Assembly appointed a
committee of jurists and civil servants to report on the question. This recognized the force of popular
sentiment — the ‘strong appeal’ that the demand for linguistic sentiments made on ‘many of our



countrymen’ — but concluded that in the prevailing unsettled conditions ‘the first and last need of India
at the present moment is that it should be made a nation . . . Everything which helps the growth of
nationalism has to go forward and everything which throws obstacles in its way has to be rejected or
should stand over. We have applied this test to linguistic provinces also, and judged by this test, in
our opinion [they] cannot be supported.’Z

This verdict caused dismay among large sections of the Assembly. For most Congress members
who spoke Marathi insisted on a separate Maharashtra state. Party members who claimed Gujarati as
a mother tongue likewise wanted a province of their own. Similar were the aspirations of Congress
members who spoke Telugu, Kannada, Malaya-lam or Oriya. To calm the clamour, a fresh committee
was appointed. Both Nehru and Patel served on it; the third member was the party historian and
former Congress President, Pattabhi Sitaramayya.

This committee, known as the ‘JVP Commuttee’ after the initials of its members, revoked the seal
of approval that the Congress had once put on the principle of linguistic provinces. It argued that
‘language was not only a binding force but also a separating one’. Now, when the ‘primary
consideration must be the security, unity and economic prosperity of India’, ‘every separatist and
disruptive tendency should be rigorously discouraged’.

I

To quote one authority, Robert King, the JVP Committee report was a ‘cold-water therapy’. It
‘slowed things for a while’.2 But the fires soon started up again. In 1948 and 1949 there was a
renewal of movements aimed at linguistic autonomy. There was the campaign for Samyukta (Greater)
Karnataka, aiming to unite Kannada speakers spread across the states of Madras, Mysore, Bombay
and Hyderabad. Complementing this was the struggle for Samyukta Maharashtra, which sought to
bring together Marathi speakers in a single political unit. The Malayalis wanted a state of their own,
based on the merger of the princely states of Cochin and Travancore with Malabar. There was also a
Mahagujarat movement.

In a class of its own was the struggle for a Sikh state in the Punjab. This brought together claims
of language as well as religion. The Sikhs had been perhaps the main sufferers of Partition. They had
lost their most productive lands to Pakistan. Now, in what remained of India, they had to share space
and influence with the Hindus.

Circa 1950 the Hindus comprised roughly 62 per cent of the population of the Indian Punjab,
with Sikhs being about 35 per cent. However, these figures marked a major regional divide. The
eastern half of the province was a chiefly Hindi-speaking region, with Hindus comprising about 88
per cent of the population. The western half was a Punjabi-speaking region, with Sikhs constituting a
little over half the population.

The division by religion did not perfectly map division by language. Where all Sikhs had
Punjabi as their first language, so did many Hindus. However, the Hindus were prone to view Punjabi
as merely a local dialect of Hindi, whereas the Sikhs insisted it was not just a language in its own
right, but also a holy one. The Sikhs wrote and read Punjabi in the Gurmukhi script, whose alphabet
they believed to have come from the mouth of the Guru.2

Since the 1920s the interests of the politically conscious Sikhs had been represented by the
Akali Dal. This was both a religious body and a political party. It controlled the Sikh shrines, or
gurdwaras, but also contested elections. The long-time leader of the Akali Dal was a man named



Master Tara Singh, an important, intriguing figure, who (like so many such figures in Indian history)
has yet to find his biographer.

Tara Singh was born in June 1885, as a Hindu. This fact should not unduly surprise us since the
first-generation convert is often the most effective — not to say fundamentalist — of religious leaders.
He studied at the Khalsa College in Amritsar, excelling in studies and also on the football field,
where his steadfastness as a defender earned him the sobriquet ‘Patthar’, the rock. Rather than join
the colonial government, he became headmaster of a Sikh school in Lyallpur, acquiring the title of
‘Master’.10

In the 1920s Tara Singh joined the movement to rid the Sikh shrines of the decadent priests who
then ran them. In 1931 he became the head of the Shiromani Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee, a post
with vast authority and influence, not least over money. For the next thirty years he was the most
resolute and persistent defender of the Sikh community, or panth. He was successfully able to project
himself as ‘the only consistent and long-suffering upholder of the Panth as a separate political entity,
as the one Sikh leader who relentlessly pursued the goal of political power territorially organized for
the Sikh community, and as a selfless leader without personal ambition’.1t

Before 1947 Tara Singh insisted that the Sikh panth was in danger from the Muslims and the
Muslim League. After 1947 he said it was in danger from the Hindus and the Congress. His rhetoric
became more robust in the run-up to the general election of 1951-2. He inveighed against Hindu
domination, and proclaimed that ‘for the sake of religion, for the sake of culture, for the sake of the
Panth, and to keep high the flag of the Guru, the Sikhs have girded their loins to achieve
independence’ .12

Tara Singh was arrested several times between 1948 and 1952, for defying bans on public
gatherings and for what were seen as ‘inflammatory’ speeches. Hundreds of his supporters went to
jail with him. He had strong support among the Sikh peasantry, particularly among the upper-caste
Jats. Tara Singh’s use of the term ‘independence’ was deliberately ambiguous. The Jat peasants
wanted a Sikh province within India, not a sovereign nation. They wanted to get rid of the Hindu-
dominated eastern Punjab, leaving a state where they would be in a comfortable majority. But by
hinting at secession Tara Singh put pressure on the government, and simultaneously convinced his
flock of his own commitment to the cause.

Not all Sikhs were behind Tara Singh, however. The low-caste Sikhs, who feared the Jats, were
opposed to the Akali Dal. Some Jats had joined the Congress. And in a tendentious move, many
Punjabi-speaking Hindus returned Hindi as their mother tongue in the 1951 census.

But the biggest blow to Tara Singh was the general election itself. In the Punjab Assembly,
which had 126 seats, the Akalis won a mere 14.

11

Without question the most vigorous movement for linguistic autonomy was that of the Telugu speakers
of the Andhra country. Telugu was spoken by more people in India than any other language besides
Hindi. It had a rich literary history, and was associated with such symbols of Andhra glory as the
Vijayanagara Empire. While India was still under British rule, the Andhra Mahasabha had worked
hard to cultivate a sense of identity among the Telugu-speaking peoples of the Madras presidency
whom, they argued, had been discriminated against by the Tamils. The Mahasabha was also active in
the princely state of Hyderabad.



After Independence the speakers of Telugu asked the Congress to implement its old resolutions
in favour of linguistic states. The methods they used to advance their case were various: petitions,
representations, street marches and fasts. In a major blow to the Congress, the former Madras Chiet
Minister T. Prakasam resigned from the party in 1950 on the issue of statehood. Cutting across party
lines, the Telugu-speaking legislators in the Madras Assembly urged the immediate creation of a state
to be named Andhra Pradesh. In the monsoon of 1951 a Congress-politician-turned-swami named
Sitaram went on hunger strike in support. After five weeks the fast was given up, in response to an
appeal by the respected Gandhian leader Vinoba Bhave.13

The case for Andhra was now put to the test of universal adult suffrage. During his campaign
tour in the Telugu-speaking districts, Jawaharlal Nehru was met at several places by protesters
waving black flags and shouting ‘We want Andhra’. 14 The official party paper wrote in dismay that
‘the Congress President witnessed demonstrations by protagonists of an Andhra State, with slogans,
placards and posters. At some place she smiled at them, at others he was enraged by their
behaviour.’12 The signs were ominous, and indeed despite its successes elsewhere the Congress did
very poorly here. Of the 145 seats from the region in the Madras Legislative Assembly, the party won
a mere 43. The bulk of the other seats were won by parties supporting the Andhra movement. These
included the communists, who returned an impressive 41 members.

The election results encouraged the revival of the Andhra movement. Towards the end of
February 1952 Swami Sitaram began a march through the Telugu-speaking districts, drumming up
support for the struggle. He said the creation of the state ‘could not wait any longer’. Andhras ‘were
ready to pay the price to achieve the same’. The swami urged all Telugu-speaking members of the
Madras Assembly to boycott its proceedings till such time as the state of their dreams had been
carved out.1¢

The agitating Andhras had two pet hates: the prime minister and the chief minister of Madras, C.
Rajagopalachari. Both had gone on record as saying that they did not think that the creation of Andhra
was a good idea. Both were clear that even if, against their will, the state came into being, the city of
Madras would not be part of it. This enraged the Andhras, who had a strong demographic and
economic presence in the city, and who believed that they had as good a claim on it as the Tamils.1Z

On 22 May Nehru told Parliament how ‘for some years now our foremost efforts have been
directed to the consolidation of India. Personally, I would look upon anything that did not help this
process of consolidation as undesirable. Even though the formation of linguistic provinces may be
desirable in some cases, this would obviously be the wrong time. When the right time comes, let us
have them by all means.’

As K. V. Narayana Rao has written, ‘this attitude of Nehru appeared too vague and evasive to
the Andhras. Nobody knew what the right time was and when it would come.’ Impatient for an
answer, the Andhras intensified their protest. On 19 October 1952 a man named Potti Sriramulu
began a fast-unto-death in Madras. He had the blessings of Swami Sitaram, and of thousands of other
Telugu speakers besides.8

Born in Madras in 1901, Sriramulu had studied sanitary engineering before taking a job in the
railways. In 1928 he suffered a double tragedy when his wife died along with their newly born child.
Two years later he resigned his post to join the salt satyagraha. Later he spent some time at Gandhi’s
Sabarmati ashram. Later still he spent eighteen months in jail as part of the individual satyagraha
campaign of 1940-1.

A hagiographic study published in 1985 by the Committee for History of Andhra Movement
claimed that Potti Sriramulu’s stay at Mahatma Gandhi’s ashram ‘was epoch-making. For here was a



seeker full of love and humility, all service and all sacrifice for his fellow-humanity; and here also
was a guru, the world-teacher, equally full of affection, truth, ahimsa and kinship with daridra
narayana or the suffering poor. While at Sabarmati, [Sriramulu] . . . did histasks with cheer and
devotion, and won the affection of the intimates and the approbation of the Kulapati [ Gandhi].”2

Gandhi did regard Sriramulu with affection but also, it must be said, with a certain exasperation.
On 25 November 1946 the disciple had begun a fast-unto-death to demand the opening of all temples
in Madras province to Untouchables. Other Congress representatives, their minds more focused on
the impending freedom of India, urged him to desist. When he refused they approached Gandhi, who
persuaded him to abandon the fast. The Mahatma then wrote to T. Prakasam that he was ‘glad that the
fast of Sreeramulu ended in the happy manner you describe. He had sent me a telegram immediately
he broke his fast. I know he is a solid worker, though a little eccentric.’20

That fast of 1946 Potti Sriramulu had called off at Gandhi’s insistence; but in 1952 the Mahatma
was dead. In any case, Andhra meant more to Sriramulu than the Untouchables once had. This fast he
would carry out till the end, or until the government of India relented.

On 3 December Nehru wrote to Rajagopalachari: ‘Some kind of fast is going on for the Andhra
Province and I get frantic telegrams. I am totally unmoved by this and I propose to ignore it
completely. By this time Sriramulu had not eaten for six weeks. As his ordeal went on, support for the
cause grew. Hartals (strikes) were called in many towns. The sociologist André Béteille, travelling
to Madras from Calcutta at this time, recalls having his train stopped at Vizag by an angry mob
shouting slogans against Rajaji and Nehru.2

Nehru was now forced to recognize the force of popular sentiment. On 12 December he wrote
again to Rajaji, suggesting that the time had come to accept the Andhra demand. ‘Otherwise complete
frustration will grow among the Andhras, and we will not be able to catch up with it. Two days later
Rajaji cabled the prime minister in desperation: ‘We might prevent more mischief if you summon
repeat summon Swami Sitaram to Delhi. He is now in Madras hanging round the fasting gentleman,
Sriramulu. The entire mischief starts from this focus, as the Andhra boys are highly emotional and
prone to rowdyism. If you invite Sitaram for a talk, the atmosphere may change and probably the
mischief may dwindle away.’22

By now it was too late. On 15 December, fifty-eight days into his fast, Potti Sriramulu died.
Now all hell broke loose. ‘The news of the passing away of Sriramulu engulfed entire Andhra in
chaos.” Government offices were attacked; trains were halted and defaced. The damage to state
property ran into millions of rupees. Several protesters were killed in police firings.z22 Nehru had
once claimed that ‘facts, not fasts’ would decide the issue. Now, faced with the prospect of
widespread and possibly uncontrollable protest, the prime minister gave in. Two days after
Sriramulu’s death, he made a statement saying that a state of Andhra would come into being.

Over the course of the next few months the Telugu districts of Madras province were identified
for separation. The division of the province, wrote the chief minister, was ‘accompanied by a lot of
bad language, bad behaviour and distrust and anger’2¢ Suppressing his feelings, Rajagopalachari
attended the inauguration of the new state of Andhra at Kurnool on 10October 1953. Also in
attendance, and as the chief guest no less, was that other erstwhile enemy of the Andhras, Prime
Minister Jawaharlal Nehru.

IV



The formation of Andhra Pradesh grated with the prime minister of the day. ‘You will observe’,
wrote Jawaharlal Nehru grimly to a colleague, ‘that we have disturbed the hornet’s nest and I believe
most of us are likely to be badly stung.’22

As Nehru had feared, the creation of Andhra led to the intensification of similar demands by
other linguistic groups. Somewhat against its will, the government of India appointed a States
Reorganization Commission (SRC) to ‘make recommendations in regard to the broad principles
which should govern the solution of this [linguistic] problem’. Through 1954 and 1955 members of
the Commission travelled across India. They visited 104 towns and cities, interviewed more than
9,000 people and received as many as 152,250 written submissions.

One of the longer and more interesting submissions was from the Bombay Citizens Committee.
This was headed by a leading cotton magnate, Sir Purushottamdas Thakurdas, and had within its ranks
other prominent industrialists such as J. R. D. Tata. On its masthead were many of the city’s most
successful lawyers, scholars and doctors.

The Bombay Citizens Committee had a one-point agenda — to keep the city out of the state of
Maharashtra. To make the case they printed an impressive 200-page book replete with charts, maps
and tables. The first chapter was historical, showing how the city was settled by successive waves of
settlers from different linguistic communities. It claimed that there had been little Maharashtrian
immigration before the end of the nineteenth century and that Marathi speakers comprised only 43 per
cent of the city’s current population. The second chapter spoke of Bombay’s importance in the
economic life of India. It was the premier centre of industry and finance, and of foreign trade. It was
India’s window to the world: more planes flew in and out of it than all the other Indian cities
combined. The third and fourth chapters were sociological, demonstrating the multilingual and
multicultural character of the city. To quote a European observer, it was ‘perhaps the most motley
assemblage in any quarter of this orb’; to quote another, it was ‘a true centre of the diverse varieties
and types of mankind, far surpassing the mixed nationalities of Cairo and Constantinople’. The fifth
chapter was geographical, an argument for Bombay’s physical isolation, with the sea and the
mountains separating it from the Marathi-speaking heartland.



Major language movements, 1950s
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The first settlers were Europeans; the chief merchants and capitalists Gujaratis and Parsis; the
chief philanthropists Parsis. The city was built by non-Maharashtrians. Even among the working
class, Marathi speakers were often outnumbered by north Indians and Christians. For the Bombay
Citizens Committee, it was clear that ‘on the grounds of geography, history, language and population
or the system of law, Bombay and North Konkan cannot be considered as a part of the Mahratta
region as claimed by the protagonists of Samyukta Maharashtra’.26

Behind the veneer of cosmopolitanism there was one language group that dominated the ‘save
Bombay’ movement: the Gujaratis. If Bombay became the capital of a greater Maharashtra state, the
politicians and ministers would be mostly Marathi speakers. The prospect was not entirely pleasing
to the Gujarati-speaking bourgeoisie, whether Hindu or Parsi. It was they who staffed, financed, and
basically ran the Bombay Citizens Committee.2Z

Nehru himself was somewhat sympathetic towards the idea of keeping Bombay out of the control
of a single language group. So was the Marathi-speaking M. S. Golwalkar, this a rare meeting of
minds between the prime minister and the RSS supremo. Both thought that the creation of linguistic
states would ‘lead to bitterness and give rise to fissiparous tendencies endangering the unity of the
country’.2 In May 1954 Golwalkar spoke in Bombay at the invitation of the Anti-Provincial
Conference, which saw linguistic demands as a manifestation of ‘the menace of provincialism and
sectionalism’. ‘Multiplicity breeds strife’, thundered Golwalkar: ‘One nation and one culture are my



principles.” To see oneself as Tamil or Maharashtrian or Bengali was to ‘sap the vitality of the
nation’. He wished them all to use the label’ ‘Hindu’, which is where he departed from Nehru, who
of course wished them all to be ‘Indian’.2

But just as some in the Congress Party did not see eye-to-eye with Nehru on this question, there
were RSS cadres who departed from their leader. From as early as 1946 there was a Samyukta
Maharashtra Parishad in operation. Within its ranks were Maharashtrians of all political persuasions,
left and right, secular and communal, Brahmin, Maratha and Harijan. The Parishad sought a state that
would unite Marathi speakers dispersed across many different political units. In their minds,
however, there was no doubt that such a state could have only one capital: Bombay.

The president of the Samyukta Maharashtra Parishad was the veteran Congress man Shankarrao
Deo, while its secretary and chief theoretician was the celebrated Cambridge-educated economist D.
R. Gadgil. In Gadgil’s opinion, while Bombay could still be the major port and economic centre of
Maharashtra, there must be a ‘compulsory decentralization’ of the city’s industries. Another
ideologue, G. V. Deshmukh, was more blunt. Unless Bombay city became part of their state, he said,
Maharashtrians would have to remain content with ‘playing the part of secondary brokers to brokers,
secondary agents to agents, assistant professors to professors, clerks to managers [and] hired
labourers to shopkeepers’.30

To answer the Citizens Committee of the Gujaratis, the Samyukta Maharashtra Parishad
prepared an impressive 200-page document of its own. The first part mounted a theoretical defence of
the principle of linguistic states. These, it argued, would deepen federalism by bringing together
speakers of the same language in one consolidated, cohesive unit. Thus, ‘a linguistic province with its
administration in the language of the common people, would make it possible for the people to feel
and understand the working of democracy and the need to participate in it’.

Coming specifically to their own state, the document claimed that ‘society all over the Marathi
country is remarkably homogeneous’. There was the same configuration of castes, the same deities
and saints, the same folklore and legends. That the Marathi speakers were presently spread out over
three political units — Hyderabad, Bombay state, and the Central Provinces — was an accident of
history that needed urgently to be undone.

A new and unified state of Maharashtra had to be created, argued the Parishad, with Bombay as
its capital. For the land on which this island city stood had long been inhabited by speakers of the
Marathi language. While the sea lay to Bombay’s west, the territory to its north, south and east was
dominated by Marathi speakers. The city itself was the main centre of the Marathi press, of
publications in the Marathi language and of Marathi culture. Economically, Bombay depended
heavily on its Marathi hinterland, from where it drew much of its labour and all its water and power.
Its ways of communication all lay through Maharashtra. In sum, it was ‘unthinkable to form a State of
Maharashtra which has not Bombay as its capital and it would render impossible the working of a
State of Maharashtra, if any attempt was made to separate the city of Bombay from it’. To the
argument that the city did not have a Marathi-speaking majority, the Parishad answered that there
were more people speaking this language than any other. In any case, it was in the nature of great port
cities to be multilingual. In Burma’s capital, only 32 per cent of the population spoke the national
language, but ‘nobody yet dared to suggest that Rangoon should be considered as non-Burmese
territory’.3L

Bombay was surrounded by Marathi-speaking districts; it must be the capital of a new state of
Maharashtra. So argued the Samyukta Maharashtra Parishad. But the Citizens Committee claimed that
Bombay had been nurtured mostly by non-Maharashtrians, and must therefore be constituted as a



separate city-state. Could the two sides ever agree? In June 1954 Shankarrao Deo visited Sir
Purushottamdas Thakurdasto discuss a compromise. Deo said that there was no negotiation possible
on their core demand — Bombay as capital of Maharashtra — but said that they could work together to
retain ‘the same autonomous character of the metropolitan city, ensuring its cosmopolitan life; its
trade, commerce and industry, etc.’. Sir Purushottamdas, for his part, was willing to give up the city-
state idea in favour of a composite bilingual province of Marathi and Gujarati speakers.32

The meeting was civil, but inconclusive. The matter of Bombay was referred to the States
Reorganization Commission, the hottest of the many hot potatoes it became their misfortune to handle.

\%

The members of the StatesReorganization Commission were ajurist, S. Fazl Ali, a historian and civil
servant, K. M. Pannikar, and a social worker, H. N. Kunzru. Notably, none had any formal ties, past
or present, with the Congress. After eighteen months of intensive work, the trio submitted their report
in October 1955. The report first carefully outlined the arguments for and against linguistic states. It
urged a ‘balanced approach’ which recognized ‘linguistic homogeneity as an important factor
conducive to administrative convenience and efficiency’ yet not ‘as an exclusive and binding
principle, over-riding all other considerations’. Among these other considerations were, of course,
the unity and security of India asawhole.33

Next, in nineteen chapters, the report outlined their specific proposals for reorganization. With
respect to the southern states, it seemed easy enough to redistribute areas according to the major
language zones: Telugu, Kannada, Tamil and Malayalam. Districts and taluks (sub-districts) were
reallocated with regard to which linguistic group was in a majority. Four compact states would
replace the melange of territories deriving from the British period.

With regard to north India, the SRC likewise sought to divide the huge Hindi-speaking belt into
four states: Bihar, Uttar Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan. In the east, the existing provinces
would stay as they were, with minor adjustments. The Commission rejected the demand for tribal
states to be carved out of Bihar and Assam.

The SRC did not agree to the creation of a Sikh state. And it refused to allocate Madras city to
Andhra. However, its most contentious recommendation was not to permit the creation of a united
Maharashtra. As a sop, the Commission proposed a separate state of Vidarbha, comprising the
Marathi-speaking districts of the interior. But Bombay state would stay as it was, a bilingual province
of Gujarati and Marathi speakers. They respected the arguments of the Samyukta Maharashtra
movement, said the Commission, but they could ‘not lightly brush aside the fears of the other
communities’.

V1

The SRC’s recommendation that Bombay be the capital of a bilingual state was discussed in
Parliamentonl SNovember 1955. The ambitious Bombay MP S. K. Patil thought the Commission
should have gone further. He thought the government should create a city-state of Bombay; no doubt
hoping that it might come to be managed by himself. The prospective city-state, he argued, had a



‘cosmopolitan population in every respect’; it had been ‘built upon the labour of everybody’. If left to
govern itself, Bombay would ‘be a miniature India run on international standards’ . . . [A] melting pot
which will evolve a glorious new civilisation . . . And it is an extraordinary coincidence that the
population of the city should be exactly one per cent of the population of the whole country. This one
per cent drawn from all parts of the country will set the pace for other states in the practice of
secularism and mutual understanding.’

Patil, like the SRC itself, asked the Maharashtrians to give up their claim on Bombay in the spirit
of compromise. But it soon became clear that he did not speak for his fellow Maharashtrians.
Speaking immediately after Patil in the Lok Sabha was the Congress MP from the city of Puné, N.V.
Gadgil. Gadgil insisted that while he was in favour of compromise, ‘there is a limit. That limit is,
nobody can compromise one’s self-respect, no woman can compromise her chastity and no country its
freedom’. Everywhere the principle of language had been recognized, except in this one case. The
report of the Commission had caused great pain throughout the Marathi-speaking world. The reports
of protest meetings should make it clear ‘that anything short of Samyukta Maharashtra with the city of
Bombay as capital will not be acceptable’. If these sentiments went unheeded, warned Gadgil, then
the future of Bombay would be decided on the streets of Bombay.

The SRC urged the Maharashtrians to accept the loss of Bombay in the name of national unity.
Gadgil protested against this attempt at blackmail. The last 150 years, he said, had seen
Maharashtrians contributing selflessly to the growth of national feeling. Marathi speakers founded the
first Indian schools and universities, and helped found the Indian National Congress. The Mahrattas
were ‘the pioneers of violent action’ against the British. Later, in the early twentieth century, when
the Congress Party languished, ‘who was it that brought in new life? Who propounded the new tenets
and new philosophy? It was Lokmanya Tilak. In the Home Rule movement he led and in the 1920
movement we were behind none and ahead of many provinces . . . I will merely quote the certificate
given to us by no less a person than Mahatma Gandhi that Maharashtra is the beehive of [national]
workers. Even now, in independent India, it was a Maharashtrian, Vinoba Bhave, who was ‘carrying
the flag of Gandhian philosophy and spreading his message from place to place’.

In the matter of Bombay, the Maharashtrians were being lectured on the need to ‘work for the
unity and safety and good of the country’. But,said the Pun¢ MP bitterly, all these years ‘we have done
nothing else’. Gadgil’s was a moving peroration — and the last line was the best: ‘To ask us to serve
the nation is to ask chandan [sandalwood] to be fragrant.’3

The matter now shifted, as Gadgil had warned, from the chamber to the streets. These, as one
Bombay weekly warned, were ‘literally seething with an unrest that may possibly erupt into
something terrifyingly coercive, making ordered life impossible for some time to come’.3 The
discontent was being stoked by politicians of both left and right. The prominent communist S. A.
Dange had thrown his weight behind Samyukta Maharashtra; so had the leading low-caste politician
B. R. Ambedkar. With them were the Jana Sangh, and the Socialist Party, who were perhaps the most
active of all. Many dissident Congress Party members had also joined, making this a comprehensively
representative coalition of angry and disillusioned Maharashtrians.

This capacious inclusiveness was reflected in an amended name: the Samyukta Maharashtra
Parishad had become the Samyukta Maharashtra Samiti.3¢ ‘Parishad’ is best translated as
‘organization’, thus implying the central role of office-bearers; ‘samiti’ as ‘society’, this connoting a
more co-operative and participatory endeavour.

Fearing trouble, in the early hours of 16 January the Bombay police swooped down on the
leaders and activists of the newly constituted All-Party Action Committee for Samyukta Maharashtra.



They made nearly 400 arrests in all. This prompted a call for a general strike on the 18th. That day
shops and factories were closed, and buses and trains didn’t run. Processions were made through the
streets, burning effigies of Nehru and of the Gujarati-speaking chief minister of Bombay state, Morarji
Desai. When a European journalist stopped to take a photograph of Nehru’s portrait smashed and
trampled at the roadside, ‘tremendous cheers rose from the balconies and the roofs. “Take it, take it
and show the world what we think of Nehru,” they shouted.’3?

Two days earlier, on the afternoon of the 16th, the first clashes between police and protesters
had been reported. Mobs went on the rampage, looting shops and offices. For nearly a week the city
was brought to a complete standstill and 15,000 policemen were called out to battle the rioters. When
the smoke lifted, there were more than a dozen people dead, and property worth billions of rupees
destroyed. It had been the worst riot in living memory.38

Jawaharlal Nehru was deeply shaken by the events in Bombay. The linguistic question, he wrote
to a colleague, ‘is more serious than even the situation created by the Partition and we have to give a
positive lead’.32 Meeting in Amritsar in the third week of January, the All-India Congress Committee
deplored the violence by which ‘Bombay and India were disgraced and dishonoured’. Under Nehru’s
direction, the party urged its members to discourage forces of ‘disruption, separatism and
provincialism’, and instead work for ‘the integration of all parts of this great country’. The Congress
chief ministers of Bihar and West Bengal issued a joint statement proposing that their two states be
merged into one. This union, they hoped, would quell ‘separatist tendencies’, aid economic progress
and, above all, be ‘a significant example of that positive approach to the problem of Indian unity’ that
the party bosses had called for.40

Among Nehru’s allies were the home minister, G. B. Pant, and his fellow-in-effigy Morarji
Desai. The intention of the protesters, said Desai, was to ‘overturn Government practically and to
take possession of the City by force. It was also their purpose in overawing the non-Maharashtrian
elements in the City into submission and into agreeing that Bombay City should go to Maharashtra.’

This interpretation was vigorously contested by N. V. Gadgil. He believed the administration
had overreacted. Gadgil wrote to both Nehru and Pant of how the firing and /athi-charges by the
police had been ‘on ascale which will make even the ex-British officials in England blush’. Back in
1919 the British had termed a peaceful meeting in Amritsar’s Jallianawala Bagh a ‘rebellion against
the government’, to justify the slaughter by General Dyer. In the same way, Morarji Desai had now
exaggerated the protests in Bombay to ‘justify police atrocities’. When ‘the choice was between
Morarji and Maharashtra’, wrote Gadgil bitterly, Delhi had chosen Morarji on the grounds that ‘one
who shoots is a good administrator’. But the costs to the party were huge. For ‘in Bombay
indiscriminate firing by the police and other atrocities have resulted in complete alienation of
Maharashtrian people from the Congress and the Government of India’.4

Meanwhile, the resentment smouldered on. The slogan on (almost) every Maharashtrian’s lips
was ‘Lathi goli khayenge, phir bhi Bambai layenge’ (We will face sticks and bullets, but get our
Bombay in the end).22 On 26 January, Republic Day, black flags were flown in several working-class
districts of Bombay. When Jawaharlal Nehru planned a visit to the city in February, the Samyukta
Maharashtra people organized a petition signed by 100,000 children, to be presented to the prime
minister with the slogan ‘Chacha Nehru, Mumbai dya’ (Uncle Nehru, hand over Bombay). Nehru
came, but amid tight security; he did not meet the press, let alone the children.4

In June 1956 the annual session of the Congress was to be held in Bombay. Nehru was met with
black flags at the airport and all along the route. The atmosphere outside the meeting hall was tense.
On the second day of the Congress a crowd threw stones at the members. Several were hurt,



prompting a volley of tear-gas shells by the police.

Nehru’s problems were compounded by the now open disaffection among the Maharashtrian
section of the Congress Party. The Union’s finance minister C. D. Deshmukh, MP for the coastal
district of Kulaba, resigned in protest against the city not being allotted to Maharashtra. Other
resignations followed.

Through the summer of 1956 both sides waited anxiously for the centre’s decision on Bombay.
While the Cabinet had accepted the other recommendations of the SRC, it was rumoured that both
Nehru and the home minister, Pant, were inclined to make Bombay city a separate union territory. In
the prevailing climate this was deemed unfeasible. On 1 November the new states based on language
came into being. Joining them was a bilingual state of Bombay. The only concession to the protesters
was the replacement of Morarji Desai as chief minister by the 41-year-old Maratha Y. B. Chavan.4

Vil

The creation of linguistic states was, among other things, a victory of the popular will. Jawaharlal
Nehru did not want it, but Potti Sriramulu did. Sriramulu’s fast lasted fifty-eight days, during the first
fifty-five of which the prime minister ignored it completely. In this time, according to one journalist,
he criss-crossed India, delivering 132 speeches on all topics other than language.s But once Nehru
conceded Andhra, and set up the States Reorganization Commission, it was inevitable that the country
as a whole would be reorganized on the basis of language.

The movements for linguistic states revealed an extraordinary depth of popular feeling. For
Kannadigas and for Andhras, for Oriyas as for Maharashtrians, language proved a more powerful
marker of identity than caste or religion. This was manifest in their struggles, and in their behaviour
when the struggle was won.

One sign of this was official patronage of the arts. Thus great effort, and cash, went into funding
books, plays and films written or performed in the official language of the state. Much rubbish was
funded as a result, but also much work of worth. In particular, the regional literatures have flourished
since linguistic reorganization.

Another manifestation was architecture. To build a new capital, or at least a new legislative
assembly, became a sine qua non of the new states. In Orissa, for example, two architects were
commissioned to design and plan a wide range of government buildings. These, the architects were
told, had to ‘represent Orissan culture and workmanship’. The final product made abundant use of
indigenous motifs: columns, arches, and sculpted images of gods. The architecture of new
Bhubaneshwar, writes its historian, ‘is an architecture which has risen from the native soil, sacred
and pure’ .46

Amore spectacular exhibition of provincial pride was the new assembly-cum-secretariat of the
state of Mysore. This was built opposite the Bangalore High Court, a fine columned building in red
which remains perhaps the city’s prettiest structure. However, the Mysore chief minister, Kengal
Hanumanthaiya, saw the High Court as a colonial excrescence. He first sought permission to demolish
1t; when this was denied, he resolved that the new Vidhan Souda would dwarf and tame it. It had to
convey an ‘idea of power and dignity, the style being Indian, particularly of Mysore and not purely
Western’.

The end product drew eclectically from the architecture of the great kingdoms of the Carnatic
plateau. Hanumanthaiya gave very specific instructions to the builders, asking them to copy pillars



from a particular room in the Mysore palace, doors from a particular old temple he named. The
building as it came up was, as it were, a mighty mishmash. Yet it has served its central purpose,
which was to stand, ‘measure for measure, in triumph over the colonial Attara Kacheri [High Court]’,
thus to ‘successfully function as a distilled essence of Kannada pride’.4

When it began, the movement for linguistic states generated deep apprehensions among the
nationalist elite. They feared it would lead to the Balkanization of India, to the creation of many more
Pakistans. ‘Any attempt at redrawing the map of India on the linguistic basis’, wrote the Times of
India in early February 1952, ‘would only give the long awaited opportunity to the reactionary forces
to come into the open and assert themselves. That will lay an axe at the very root of India’s integrity.48

In retrospect, however, linguistic reorganization seems rather to have consolidated the unity of
India. True, the artefacts that have resulted, such as Bangalore’s Vidhan Souda, are not to
everybody’s taste. And there have been some serious conflicts between states on the sharing of river
waters. However, on the whole the creation of linguistic states has acted as a largely constructive
channel for provincial pride. It has proved quite feasible to be peaceably Kannadiga — or Tamil, or
Oriya — as well as contentedly Indian.

An early illustration of this was the assembly elections in Andhra in 1955. Three years earlier,
the Congress had done disastrously in the region. They were suspect on account of their prevarication
on the question of statehood. By contrast, the communists had successfully ridden the bandwagon on
vishal (greater) Andhra. But in 1955, with Andhra Pradesh firmly established, the Congress won in a
landslide. Their main rivals, the communists, were comprehensively routed. Now, wrote one relieved
commentator, ‘Andhra Desa will no longer be suspect as the potential Yenan of India’.42

The Andhras would not secede from India, but they did redefine what it means to be Indian. Or
at least one Andhra did. Potti Sriramulu is a forgotten man today. This is a pity, for he had amore than
minor impact on the history, as well as geography, of his country. For his fast and its aftermath were
to spark off a wholesale redrawing of the map of India according to linguistic lines. If Jawaharlal
Nehru was the Maker of Modern India, then perhaps Potti Sriramulu should be named its Mercator.
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THE CONQUEST OF NATURE

[The Indian people] have to choose whether they will be educated or remain ignorant; whether
they will come into closer contact with the outer world and become responsive to its influences,
or remain secluded and indifferent; whether they will be organized or disunited, bold or timid,
enterprising or passive; an industrial or an agricultural nation, rich or poor; strong and respected
or weak and dominated by forward nations. Action, not sentiment, will be the determining factor.

M. Visveswaraya, engineer, 1920

The Indian commitment to the semantics of socialism is at least as deep as ours to the semantics
of free enterprise . . . Even the most intransigent Indian capitalist may observe on occasion that
he is really a socialist at heart.

J. K. GaLeraiTh, economist, 1958

I

Manatma Ganonr Likep to say that ‘India lives in her wvillages’. At Independence, this was
overwhelmingly a country of cultivators and labourers. Nearly three-quarters of the workforce was in
agriculture, a sector which also contributed close to 60 per cent of India’s gross domestic product.
There was a small but growing industrial sector, which accounted for about 12 per cent of the
workforce, and 25 per cent of GDP.

The peasant was the backbone of the Indian nation, and of the Indian economy. There existed
enormous variations in agricultural practices across the subcontinent. There was, for instance, a
broad division between the wheat regions of the north and west, where women generally did not
participate in cultivation, and the rice regions of the south and east, where women’s work was
critical to the raising of seedlings. Large parts of peninsular India grew neither rice nor wheat: here,
the chief cereals were an array of drought-resistant millets. Besides grain, peasants grew a wide
range of fruit crops, as well as market-oriented produce such as cotton and sugar cane.

These variations notwithstanding, everywhere in India agriculture was largely empirical, based
on knowledge and traditions passed down over the generations, rather than on ideas from books.
Everywhere it was chiefly based on local inputs. The water, the fuel, the fodder, the fertilizer; these
were all gathered in the vicinity of the village. The land was tilled with a plough pulled by a pair of
bullocks. The homes were built of wood and thatch fetched by hand from the nearby forests.

Everywhere, those who worked on the land lived cheek-by-jowl with those who didn’t. The
agriculturists who made up perhaps two-thirds of the rural population depended crucially on the
service and artisanal castes: on blacksmiths, barbers, scavengers and the like. In many parts there
were vibrant communities of weavers. In some parts there were large populations of nomadic
pastoralists.

On the social side, too, there were similarities in the way in which life was lived across the
subcontinent. Levels of literacy were very low. Caste feelings were very strong, with villages



divided into half a dozen or more endogamous jatis. And religious sentiments ran deep.

Rural India was pervaded by an air of timelessness. Peasants, shepherds, carpenters, weavers,
all lived and worked as their forefathers had done. As a survey of the 1940s putit, ‘there is the same
plainness of life, the same wrestling with uncertainties of climate (except in favoured areas), the same
love of simple games, sport and songs, the same neighbourly helpfulness, and the same financial
indebtedness’.1

To the Indian nationalist, however, continuity was merely a euphemism for stagnation.
Agricultural productivity was low; hence also levels of nutrition and health. About the only thing that
was rising was population growth. From the late nineteenth century, as medical services expanded,
the death rate rapidly fell. Consequently, since the birth rate remained constant, there was a steady
rise in population. Between 1881 and 1941 the population of British India rose from 257 to 389
million. But (or hence) the per capita availability of food grains declined from an already low level
0f200 kilograms per person per year to a mere 150.

Almost from the time the Congress was founded in 1885, Indian nationalists had charged the
British with exploitation of the peasantry. They resolved that when power came to them, agrarian
reform would be at the top of their agenda. Three programmes seemed critical. The first was the
abolition of land revenue. The second was the massive expansion of irrigation, both to augment
productivity and reduce dependence on the monsoon. The third was the reform of the system of land
tenure. Particularly in north and east India, the British had encouraged a system of absentee
landlordism. In many other districts too, those who tilled the land usually did not own it.

While tenants did not have security of tenure, agricultural labourers had no land to till in the first
place. Inequalities in the agrarian economy could be very sharp indeed. The forms of exploitation
were manifold and highly innovative. Thus, apart from land tax, zamindars (landowners) in the United
Provinces levied an array of additional cesses on their peasants such as motorana (to pay for the
zamindar’s new car) and hathiana (to pay for his elephants).2 The landlord was prone to treat his
animals and his vehicles far better than he did his labourers. Two weeks before Independence a
progressive weekly from Madras ran a story about distress in rural Malabar. This profiled a large
landlord who owned seven elephants, for which he needed some 25,000 kilograms of paddy. His own
tenants, meanwhile, were given three days’ ration for the whole week.2

The socialist elements in the Indian National Congress pushed the organization to commit itself
to thoroughgoing land reform, as in the abolition of large holdings, the promotion of the security of
tenants and the redistribution of surplus land. They also advocated an expansion in the provision of
credit to overcome the widespread problem of rural indebtedness.4

But, as the nationalists also recognized, agrarian reform had to be accompanied by a spurt in
industrial growth. The nation needed more factories to absorb the surplus of underemployed
labourers in the countryside. It also needed factories to prove to itself that it was modern. To enter the
comity of nations, India had to be educated, united, outward looking and, above all, industrialized.

In colonial times there had existed a sharp divide between factories owned by British firms and
those owned by Indians. Jute, for instance, was largely in the hands of the foreigner; cotton textiles in
the hands of the native. The Raj was frequently (and for the most part, justly) accused of deliberately
discouraging Indian enterprise, and of distorting the tariff and trade structure to favour British firms.
While some Indian capitalists were studiously apolitical, others had been vigorous supporters of the
Congress. They naturally hoped that when freedom came, the biases would be reversed, placing
foreign capitalists at a disadvantage.2

If India had to be industrialized, which model should it follow? To the leaders of the national



movement, ‘imperialism’ and ‘capitalism’ were both dirty words. As John Kenneth Galbraith pointed
out, ‘until recent times a good deal of capitalist enterprise in India was an extension of the arm of the
imperial power — indeed, in part its confessed raison d’étre. As a result, free enterprise in Asia
bears the added stigmata of colonialism, and this is a formidable burden.’¢

What, then, were the alternatives? Some nationalists wrote admiringly of the Soviet Union, and
of ‘the extraordinary use they have made of modern scientific knowledge in solving their problems of
poverty and want’, thus passing in a mere two decades ‘from a community of half-starved peasants to
well-fed and well-clad industrial workers’. This had been accomplished by ‘eliminating the profit
motive from her industries which belong to and are being developed in the interest of the nation’; by
feats of engineering that had made rivers into ‘mighty sources of electric power’; and by a system of
planning by disinterested experts which had increased production nine-fold and where
‘unemployment and anarchy of production are unknown’.Z

Another much admired model was Japan. Visiting that country during the First World War, the
prominent Congress politician Lala Lajpat Rai marvelled at the transformation it had undergone,
moving from (agrarian) primitivism to (industrial) civilization in a mere fifty years. Japan, he found,
had built its factories and banks by schooling its workers and keeping out foreign competition. The
role of the state was crucial — thus ‘Japan owes its present and industrial prosperity to the foresight,
sagacity and patriotism of her Government’. Once as backward as India, Japan had ‘grown into a
teacher of the Orient and a supplier of all the necessaries and luxuries of life which the latter used to
get from the Occident’ &

I

In 1938 the Congress setup a National Planning Committee (NPC), charged with prescribing a policy
for economic development in a soon- to-be-free India. Chaired by Jawaharlal Nehru, the committee
had some thirty members in all — these divided almost equally between the worlds of science,
industry and politics. Sub-committees were allotted specific subjects: such as agriculture, industry,
power and fuel, finance, social services and even ‘women’s role in planned economy’. The NPC
outlined ‘national self-sufficiency’ and the doubling of living standards in ten years as the main goals.
Planning itself was defined as ‘the technical co-ordination, by disinterested experts, of consumption,
production, investment, trade, and income distribution, in accordance with social objectives set by
bodies representative of the nation’.2

From Japan and Russia the NPC took the lesson that countries that industrialized late had to
depend crucially on state intervention. This applied with even more force to India, whose economy
had been distorted by two centuries of colonial rule. As one NPC report put it, planned development
upheld the principle of ‘service before profit’. There were large areas of the economy where the
private sector could not be trusted, where the aims of planning could be realized only ‘if the matter is
handled as a collective Public Enterprise’.12

Notably, the private sector concurred. In 1944 a group of leading industrialists issued what they
called 4 Plan of Economic Development for India (more commonly known as the Bombay Plan).
This conceded that ‘the existing economic organization, based on private enterprise and ownership,
has failed to bring about a satisfactory distribution of the national income’. Only the state could help
‘diminish inequalities of income’. But the state was necessary for augmenting production too. Energy,
infrastructure and transport were sectors where the Indian capitalists themselves felt the need for a



government monopoly. In the early stages of industrialization, they argued, it was necessary that ‘the
State should exercise in the interests of the community a considerable measure of intervention and
control’. Indeed, ‘an enlargement of the positive as well as preventative functions of the State is
essential to any large-scale economic planning’ .11

Now largely forgotten, the Bombay Plan gives the lie to the claim that Jawaharlal Nehru
imposed a model of centralized economic development on an unwilling capitalist class. One wonders
what free-market pundits would make of it now. They would probably see it as a dirigiste tract,
unworthy of capitalism and capitalists. In truth, it should be seen simply as symptomatic of the
Zeitgeist, of the spirit of the times.12

That spirit was all in favour of centralized planning, of the state occupying what was called the
‘commanding heights’ of the economy. Thus the Constitution of India directed the government to
ensure that ‘the ownership and control of the material resources of the community are so distributed
as best to subserve the common good’; and that ‘the operation of the economic system does not result
in the concentration of wealth and means of production to the common predicament’. Within a month
of the adoption of the constitution, the government set up a Planning Commission to carry out these
‘directive principles’. Chaired by Nehru, the Commission included high Cabinet ministers as well as
experienced members of the Indian Civil Service.

In the summer of 1951 the Planning Commission issued a draft of the first five-year plan. This
focused on agriculture, the sector hardest hit by Partition. Besides increasing food production, the
other major emphases of the plan were on the development of transport and communications, and the
provision of social services. Introducing the proposals in Parliament, Jawaharla Nehru praised the
plan as the first of its kind to ‘bring the whole of India — agricultural, industrial, social and economic
— into one framework of thinking’. The work of the Commission, he said, had ‘made the whole
country “planning conscious™’ .13

The expectations of the Planning Commission ran high. As one columnist wrote, ‘one drawback
of democracy is that it works slower than other political systems. But the people of India will not
tolerate undue delay in their economic advancement.’l4 After the first general election the urgency
intensified. Critics from left and right lambasted the first five-year plan as lacking in vision and
ambition. True, food-grain production increased substantially, but output in other sectors failed to
reach their targets.13

While introducing the first plan, Nehru had said that ‘it was obvious to me that we have to
industrialise India, and as rapidly as possible’. That objective was given pride of place in the second
five-year plan. Its drafting was the handiwork of Prasanta Chandra Mahalanobis, a Cambridge-
trained physicist and statistician who was steeped in Sanskrit philosophy and Bengali literature — in
sum, ‘an awesome polyglot, the kind of man for whom Nehru was guaranteed to fall’.1¢

Mahalanobis was, among other things, the man who brought modern statistics to India. In 1931
he setup the Indian Statistical Institute (ISI) in Calcutta. Within a decade, he had made the ISI a
world-class centre of training and research. He was also a pioneer of inter-disciplinary research,
innovatively applying his statistical techniques in the fields of anthropology, agronomy and
meteorology.

In February 1949, Mahalanobis was appointed honorary statistical adviser to the Union Cabinet.
The next year he helped establish the National Sample Survey (NSS) and the year following, the
Central Statistical Organization (CSO). These were setup to collect reliable data on changing living
standards in India — on wages, employment, consumption and the like. The NSS and the CSO are two
reasons why India has a set of official statistics more reliable than those found anywhere else in the



non-Western world.Z

Such are the uncontentious aspects of Mahalanobis’s legacy. Perhaps more important, and
certainly more controversial, are his contributions to the theory and practice of planning. In 1954
Nehru committed his party, and by extension his country, to the creation of a ‘socialistic pattern of
society’. The same year, the ISI was asked by the government to study the problem of unemployment.
Mahalanobis wrote a note on the subject, which seems to have impressed Nehru enough for him to
assign the ISI responsibility for drafting the second five-year plan itself.

Mahalanobis took the task very seriously indeed. In the late summer of 1954, he set off for a long
tour of Europe and North America. He had, he confessed, an ‘inferiority complex about economic
matters’. This trip abroad was thus educational — to improve his own knowledge about the subject —
but also frankly propagandist. By cultivating foreign economists, he hoped to bring their Indian
counterparts around to his own point of view. As he told a friend, ‘at the back of everything is one
single aim in my own mind — what effective help can we secure in making our own plans and in
implementing them’.18

Mahalanobis first went to the United States of America, where he collected information on
input—output coefficients, these maintained in a deck of 40,000 Hollerith punched cards. He talked to
the man who had done the work (Wassily Leontief, a future Nobellaureate), before crossing the
Atlantic to meet the dons of Cambridge. The ‘most brilliant’ of these was Joan Robinson, then just
back from a trip to China (where she was ‘much impressed by the progress they are making’.) She
thought that the export—import sector in India needed more government control. Mahalanobis agreed,
and 1n turn asked Joan Robinson to visit India as a guest of the ISI. This, he told her, ‘might be of very
great help to us because her support may carry conviction that our approach to Development planning
1s not foolish. She smiled and said — “Yes, I think I would be able to knock some sense into the heads
of the economists in your country.”’

Mahalanobis now crossed the Channel, to converse with the French Marxists. Then it was time
to shift to the other side of the Iron Curtain. He reached Moscow via Prague, and was at once
impressed by the ‘amazing’ pace of construction work: buildings far bigger, and built much faster,
than any he had ever seen. He had long talks with Soviet academicians, who said that if India wanted
‘to do any serious planning we must have the active help of, not scores, but hundreds of technologists
and scientists and engineers’. Mahalanobis agreed, and invited them to visit his country, so urgently in
need of ‘specialists and experts in the economics of planning’ .12

These travels and talks finally bore fruit in a long paper presented to the Planning Commission
in March 1954. Here Mahalanobis outlined eight objectives for the second five-year plan. The first of
these was ‘to attain a rapid growth of the national economy by increasing the scope and importance of
the public sector and in this way to advance to a socialistic pattern of society’; the second, ‘to
develop basic heavy industries for the manufacture of producer goods to strengthen the foundation of
economic independence’. Other (and we may presume lesser) objectives included the production of
consumer goods by both the factory and household sector, the increasing of agricultural productivity
and the provision of better housing, health and education facilities.

The emphasis on capital goods was justified in two principal ways. The first was that it would
safeguard this former colony’s economic, and hence political, independence. The second was that it
would help solve the pressing problem of unemployment. ‘Unemployment is chronic because of [the
unavailability of] capital goods’, argued Mahalanobis; it occurs ‘only when means of production
become idle’. The quickest way to create jobs was to build dams and factories.22

Mahalanobis’s draft plan was submitted to a panel of expert economists. With one exception, all



endorsed the emphasis on capital goods and the role of the public sector. To be sure, there were a
number of specific caveats. Some economists urged a greater complementarity of agricultural and
industrial production; others worried about where the funds for the plan would come from. Increasing
taxes would not by themselves suffice, while deficit financing might lead to high inflation.

Table 10.1 — Sectoral outlays in the first two five-year plans

Outlay in first plan Outlay in second plan

Sector Total* % Total* %
Agriculture and community development 372 16 530 11
Irrigation 395 17 420 9

Power 266 11 445 10
Industries and minerals 179 7 1075 24
Transport and communications 556 24 1300 28
Social services, housing, etc. 547 25 830 18

) 1

* In crores of rupees (1 crore = 10 million).

Source: Compiled from A. H. Hanson, The Process of Planning: A Study of India’s Five-Year
Plans, 1950—-1964 (London: Oxford University Press, 1966), table 7, p. 134.

But, on the whole, the leading economists of India were behind what was already being called ‘the
Mahalanobis Model of Planning’.2L

This model was, among other things, an evocation of the old nationalist model of swadeshi, or
self-reliance. Once, Gandhian protesters had burnt foreign cloth to encourage the growth of
indigenous textiles; now, Nehruvian technocrats would make their own steel and machine tools rather
than buy them from outside. As the second plan argued, underdevelopment was ‘essentially a
consequence of insufficient technological progress’.22 Self-reliance, from this perspective, became
the index of development and progress. From soap to steel, cashew to cars, Indians would meet their
material requirements by using Indian land, Indian labour, Indian materials and, above all, Indian
technology.

Table 10.1 compares the sectoral outlays for the first and second plans. In proportional terms the
sectors of power, transport and communications, and social services, retained broadly the same
importance. The decisive shift was from agriculture to industry, this compounded by a decline in the
importance of irrigation.

While the heavy industries would be owned by the state, there was still plenty of room for
private enterprise. For in ‘an expanding economy the private sector would have an assured market’.
Their main contribution would come in the form of consumer goods, these to be produced by units
large as well as small.z2

A government resolution of 1956 classified new industries into three categories. Class I would



be the ‘exclusive responsibility of the state; these included atomic energy, defence-related industries,
aircraft, iron and steel, electricity generation and transmission, heavy electricals, telephones, and
coal and other key minerals. Class Il would witness both public and private sector participation; here
fell the lesser minerals, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, fertilizers, pulp and paper, and road transport.
Class III consisted of all the remaining industries, to be undertaken ‘ordinarily through the initiative
and enterprise of the private sector’.2

Would the Mahalanobis model succeed? Many Indians thought so, most Indians certainly hoped
so. So did their sympathizers worldwide. Representative here are the views of J. B. S. Haldane, the
great British biologist who was then planning to move to India and the ISI. When shown the draft plan
by Mahalanobis, Haldane commented that

Even if one 1s pessimistic, and allows a 15 per cent chance of failure through interference by the
United States (via Pakistan or otherwise), a 10 per cent chance of interference by the Soviet
Union and China, a 20 per cent chance of interference with civil service traditionalism and
political obstruction, and a 5 percent chance of interference by Hindu traditionalism, that leaves
a 50 per cent chance for a success which will alter the whole history of the world for the
better.2s

11}

If Mahalanobis was the chief technician of Indian planning, then Nehru was its chief missionary. The
prime minister believed that, in the Indian context, planning was much more than rational economics.
It was good politics as well. While the plan was based on the work of economists and statisticians, to
realize its goal the ‘people must have the sensation of partnership in a mighty enterprise, of being
fellow-travellers towards the next goal that they and we have set before us’. Popular participation
was the only way to make ‘this Plan, which is enshrined in cold print, something living, vital and
dynamic, which captures the imagination of our people’.2¢

Planning was thus a ‘mighty co-operative effort of all the people of India’. Nehru hoped that the
new projects would be a solvent to dissolve the schisms of caste and religion, community and region.
Introducing the first plan to his chief ministers, he wrote that ‘the more we think of this